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EXPLANATORY NOTE
This Amendment No. 1 (“Amendment No. 1”) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A amends and restates certain items noted below in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Willscot
Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on February 26, 2021
(the “Original Filing”).
Restatement Background
We are filing this Amendment No. 1 to restate our financial statements to conform with the SEC staff’s April 12, 2021 Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations
for Warrants Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”) (the “SEC Staff Statement”). The SEC Staff Statement addressed certain accounting and reporting considerations
related to warrants of a kind similar to those issued by the Company that preclude our warrants from being classified as components of equity for certain reporting periods. Consistent with
common market practice, the Company’s financial statements, which had been audited by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, previously accounted for these
warrants as components of equity. These warrants will now be classified as liabilities.
On April 27, 2021, management of the Company, after consultation with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company and Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm, concluded that the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 and for each of the
interim quarterly periods therein (the “Non-Reliance Period”) which were included in the Company's Original Filing should no longer be relied upon and that the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 should be amended to restate the consolidated financial statements contained therein to conform our accounting for certain previously
issued warrants with the SEC Staff Statement.
In the SEC Staff Statement, the SEC staff clarified its interpretation of certain generally accepted accounting principles related to certain contractual terms that are commonly
included in warrants issued in connection with the initial public offerings of SPACs. This interpretation requires us to conform our accounting to the SEC Staff Statement and classify our
warrants as liabilities rather than as being components of equity. As a result of the SEC Staff Statement, the Company has restated its consolidated financial statements herein for the NonReliance Period to reflect the warrants as liabilities with the associated gains or losses recognized as a result of the changes in fair values and extinguishment. These non-cash adjustments
to the financial statements do not impact the Company’s operational performance indicators, GAAP metrics above Operating Income, non-GAAP metrics, or the Company’s free cash flow.
Internal Control Considerations
In connection with the restatement, management of the Company has reassessed the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. Management of the Company has concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial
reporting were not effective as of December 31, 2020, due to a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to the accounting for the Warrants. Management has
concluded that controls were ineffective due to required changes in our financial statements for certain previously issued warrants to conform with the SEC Staff Statement. Accordingly, the
Company’s control to evaluate the accounting for warrants did not operate effectively to apply the provision of ASC 815-40, as further interpreted by the SEC on April 12, 2021. As of April
30, 2021, the Company has implemented its remediation plan. For a discussion of management’s consideration of our disclosure controls and procedures, internal controls over financial
reporting, the material weaknesses identified, and remediation plans, see Part II, Item 9A, “Controls and Procedures” of this Form 10-K/A.
Items Amended
For the reasons discussed above, the Company is filing this Amendment No. 1 in order to amend the following items in our Original Filing to the extent necessary to reflect the
adjustments discussed above and make corresponding revisions to our financial data and certain other information included elsewhere in this Amendment No. 1.
•

Part I, Item 1A - Risk Factors

•
•

Part II, Item 5 - Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Part II, Item 6 - Selected Financial Data

•
•

Part II, Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Part II, Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

•
•
•

Part II, Item 9A - Controls and Procedures
Part IV, Item 15 - Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Signatures

However, for the convenience of the reader, this Amendment No. 1 sets forth the Original Filing in its entirety, as amended to reflect the restatement.
This Amendment speaks as of the filing date of the Original Filing and does not reflect events occurring after the filing date of the Original Filing.
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The Company has not filed, and does not intend to file, amendments to its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for any of the quarters for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019. Accordingly, investors should rely only on the financial information and other disclosures regarding the restated periods in this Form 10-K/A or in future filings with the SEC (as
applicable), and not on any previously issued or filed reports, earnings releases or similar communications relating to these periods.
In addition, as required by Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), new certifications by the Company’s principal executive
officer and principal financial officer are filed herewith as exhibits to this Amendment No. 1 pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the
United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

4

WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A
Table of Contents
PART I
Item 1

Business

Item 1A

Risk Factors

Item 1B

Unresolved Staff Comments

Item 2

Properties

Item 3

Legal Proceedings

Item 4

Mine Safety Disclosures

Item 5

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Item 6

Selected Financial Data

Item 7

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Item 7A

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Item 8

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Item 9

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Item 9A

Controls and Procedures

Item 9B

Other Information

Item 10

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Item 11

Executive Compensation

Item 12

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management Related Stockholder Matters

Item 13

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Item 14

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Item 15

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

PART II

PART III

PART IV

SIGNATURES

5

PART I
ITEM 1.

Business

Unless the context otherwise requires, “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refers to WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. ("WillScot Mobile Mini") and its subsidiaries.

Our Company
Headquartered in Phoenix, Arizona, we are a leading business services provider specializing in innovative flexible work space and portable storage solutions. We service diverse
end markets across all sectors of the economy from a network of approximately 275 branch locations and additional drop lots throughout the United States (“US”), Canada, Mexico, and the
United Kingdom ("UK").
With roots dating back more than 60 years, we lease modular space and portable storage units (our “lease fleet”) to customers in the commercial and industrial, construction,
education, energy and natural resources, government, and other end markets. We offer our customers an extensive section of “Ready to Work” solutions. In addition to our "Ready to Work"
solutions, we offer value-added products and services, such as the rental of steps, ramps, and furniture packages, damage waivers, and other amenities to improve the overall customer
experience. These turnkey solutions offer customers flexible, low-cost, and timely solutions to meet their flexible work space and storage needs on an outsourced basis.
On July 1, 2020, WillScot Corporation ("WillScot") combined with Mobile Mini, Inc. ("Mobile Mini") in a stock-for-stock merger (the "Merger"), and WillScot changed names to
WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. WillScot Mobile Mini is the holding company for the Williams Scotsman and Mobile Mini family of companies. As a result of the Merger, the Company
operates in four reportable segments as follows: North America Modular Solutions ("NA Modular"), North America Storage Solutions ("NA Storage"), United Kingdom Storage Solutions ("UK
Storage"), and Tank and Pump Solutions ("Tank and Pump"). The NA Modular segment aligns with the WillScot legacy business prior to the Merger, and the NA Storage, UK Storage, and
Tank and Pump segments align with the Mobile Mini segments prior to the Merger. Within this Annual Report, we have presented certain financial information on a pro forma basis and
supplemental pro forma financial statements within Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations to include Mobile Mini's results as if the Merger
and related financing transactions had occurred on January 1, 2019, as we believe this is a better representation of the go-forward combined company and is useful to investors.

Products and Services
Modular Space Solutions
Our modular space units meet a broad range of customer needs. Our modular units are typically made of steel and aluminum frames, as well as traditional building materials, and
range from standalone portable units as small as 24 square feet to large complex units that can be coupled together or stacked to create versatile work spaces in excess of 10,000 square
feet. In all cases, we deploy modular units to customers rapidly from our extensive branch network using our hybrid in-house and outsourced logistics and service infrastructure. We
specialize in turnkey ‘Ready to Work’ solutions, which means our units can arrive fully equipped with air conditioning, heating, and filtration units, electrical and Ethernet ports, plumbing and
utility hookups, as well as our proprietary line of furnishings and appliances, which we together refer to as Value-Added Products and Services (“VAPS”). Our units are transported by truck,
either towed (if fitted with axles and hitches) or mounted on flat-bed trailers.
Modular space units have attractive economic characteristics, and our ability to lease and maintain our assets’ profitability over economic lives, which often exceed 20 years, is a
unique capability and competitive advantage. We utilize standard fleet maintenance procedures across the branch network, monitor fleet condition and allocate capital expenditures
centrally, and ensure all units meet consistent quality and condition requirements, regardless of unit age, prior to delivery to a customer. Modular leasing is complemented by new unit sales
and sales of rental units. In connection with our leasing and sales activities, we provide services including delivery and installation, maintenance and ad hoc services, and removal services
at the end of lease transactions.
Panelized and Stackable Offices. Our FlexTM panelized and stackable offices are the next generation of modular space technology and offer maximum flexibility and design
configurations. These units provide a modern, innovative design, smaller footprint, ground level access, and interchangeable panels, including all glass panels that allow customers to
configure the space to their precise requirements. These units have the ability to expand upwards (up to three stories) and outwards, providing maximum versatility.
Single-Wide Modular Space Units. Single-wide modular space units include mobile offices and sales offices. These units offer maximum ease of installation and removal and are
deployed across the broadest range of applications in our fleet. These units typically have “open interiors,” which can be modified using movable partitions, and include tile floors, air
conditioning, heating, and filtration units, partitions and, if requested, toilet facilities.
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Section Modulars and Redi-Plex. Section modulars are two or more units combined into one structure. Redi-Plex complexes offer advanced versatility for large, open floor plans
or custom layouts with private offices. Redi-Plex is built with clearspan construction, which eliminates interference from support columns and allows for up to sixty feet of open building width
and building lengths that increase in twelve-foot increments based on the number of units coupled together. Our proprietary design meets a wide range of national and state building,
electrical, mechanical, and plumbing codes, which creates versatility in fleet management. Examples of section modular units include hospital diagnostic annexes, special events
headquarters, temporary data centers, and larger general commercial offices.
Classrooms. Classroom units are generally double-wide units adapted specifically for use by school systems or universities. Classroom units usually feature teaching aids, air
conditioning, heating, and filtration units, windows and, if requested, toilet facilities.
Ground Level Offices and Container Offices. We also offer steel ground level offices from 10 to 40 feet in length and 8 or 10 feet in width. Many of these units are converted to
office use from International Organization for Standardization ("ISO") certified shipping containers. These offices are available in various configurations, including all-office floor plans or
office and storage combination units that provide a 10‑ or 15‑foot office with the remaining area available for storage. Ground level offices provide the advantage of ground accessibility for
ease of access and high security in an all‑steel design. These office units are equipped with electrical wiring, air conditioning, heating, filtration units, phone jacks, carpet or tile, high security
doors, and windows with security bars or shutters. Some of these offices are also equipped with sinks, hot water heaters, cabinets, and toilet facilities.
Other Modular Space. We offer a range of other specialty products that vary across regions and provide flexibility to serve demands for local markets. Examples include workforce
accommodation units with dining facilities used to house workers, often in remote locations, blast-resistant units, and toilet facilities to complement office and classroom units.

Portable Storage Solutions
Portable Storage Containers. Our portable storage containers offer an assortment of differentiated features such as patented locking systems, premium and multiple door options,
optional climate control, and numerous configuration options. Standard portable storage containers are made from weather‑resistant corrugated steel and are available in lengths ranging
from 5 to 48 feet, widths of either 8 feet or 10 feet, and a variety of configuration options. Doors can be placed at the front, front and back, or the sides of containers. Other options include
partitions and shelving. Storage containers can be equipped with our patented Tri‑Cam Locking System®, which features a waist‑level opening lever and interlocking bars to provide easy
access for the owner without sacrificing security. We also offer ContainerGuardLock®, an optional security device, which features a hidden six‑pin tumbler system and is made from
drill‑resistant hardened steel. We believe these steel storage containers are a cost‑effective alternative to mass warehouse storage, with a high level of security to protect our customers'
goods.
Steel containers have a long useful life with no technical obsolescence. Our portable storage containers have estimated useful lives of 30 years from the date we build or acquire
and remanufacture them, with average residual values in excess of 50%. We maintain our steel containers on a regular basis by removing rust, painting them with rust inhibiting paint,
plug‑welding holes, and occasionally replacing the wooden floor or a rusted steel panel. Repainting the outside of storage units is the most common maintenance item. A properly
maintained container is essentially in the same condition as when it was initially remanufactured.
The remanufacturing process begins with the purchase of used ISO containers from leasing companies, shipping lines, and brokers. These containers were originally built to ISO
standards and are 8 feet wide, up to 9.5 feet high and 20, 40 or 45 feet long. After acquisition, we remanufacture and modify these ISO containers. Remanufacturing typically involves
cleaning, removing rust and dents, repairing floors and sidewalls, painting, adding our signs, and further customizing units by adding our proprietary easy opening door system and our
patented locking system. Modification typically involves splitting some containers into differing lengths.

VAPS
We offer a thoughtfully curated portfolio of VAPS that make modular space and portable storage units more productive, comfortable, secure, and “Ready to Work” for our
customers. We lease furniture, steps, ramps, basic appliances, internet connectivity devices, and other items to our customers for use in connection with our products. We also offer our
lease customers a damage waiver program that protects them in case the leased unit is damaged. For customers who do not select the damage waiver program, we bill them for the cost of
repairs above and beyond normal wear and tear. Importantly, management believes that our scale, branch network, supply chain, and sales performance management tools give us a
significant advantage in delivering “Ready to Work” solutions and growing VAPS revenue relative to our competitors.

Delivery, Installation and Removal
We operate a hybrid in-house and outsourced logistics and service infrastructure that provides delivery, site work, installation, disassembly, unhooking and removal, and other
services to our customers for an additional fee as part of our leasing and sales operations. Revenue from delivery, site work, and installation results from the transportation of units to a
customer's location, site work required prior to installation, and installation of the units which have been leased or sold. Typically, modular units are placed on temporary foundations
constructed by our in‑house service technicians or
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subcontractors. These in‑house service technicians or subcontractors also generally install any ancillary products and VAPS. We also derive revenue from disassembling, unhooking, and
removing units once a lease expires. We believe that our logistics and service capabilities are unrivaled in the industry, differentiate us from competitors, and enhance our value proposition
to our customers.

Tank and Pump Solutions
Our Tank and Pump Solutions business offers a broad range of liquid and solid specialty containment equipment and services complemented by an assortment of pumps, filtration
units, and waste hauling services. In addition, ancillary products for rental and for sale are available, such as hoses, pipes, filters, and spill containment. Our principal products and services
within our Tank and Pump Solutions business include steel tanks, stainless steel tank trailers, roll‑off boxes, vacuum boxes, dewatering boxes, pumps and filtration equipment, and
value‑added services.
Our fleet of steel tanks offers flexible sizes and other options such as weir, gas buster, and open top steel tanks for applications ranging from temporary storage of chemicals, water,
and other liquids, thorough mixing, agitation, and circulation of stored liquids with other products, and removal of gas from fluids circulated in the wellbore—such as mud used during drilling
operations and settling of solids in liquids prior to filtration or discharge. Our stainless-steel tankers meet Department of Transportation specifications for use in the storage and
transportation of chemical, caustics, and other liquids and are offered insulated or non‑insulated with level indication and vapor recovery capability. Roll‑off boxes provide simple, leak‑proof
storage and transportation of solid industrial byproducts and are utilized for a variety of containment applications where it is necessary to maintain the homogeneity of the contents. Rolltarps or rolling metal lids are available to protect the contents from the elements during transport or storage. Vacuum roll‑off boxes are also offered to pair with a vacuum truck for
containment, storage, or transportation of pressurized contents. Dewatering boxes are configured to provide for the draining of excess liquid from slurry or sludge which reduces storage,
transportation, and disposal costs. Upon completion of dewatering, the container is generally picked up by a roll‑off truck for content disposal. Vacuum dewatering boxes are also offered. In
addition, we offer a variety of pumps and filtration equipment that can be used primarily for liquid circulation and filtration in municipal and industrial applications.
Additional services performed by our specialty containment employees include transportation of containers for waste management between multiple locations or in-plant, waste
management oversight and service provision by an on-site dedicated team, system design including assessment of pumping, filtration and temporary storage needs, and field services to
correctly install and connect customer containment equipment.

Product Leases
We primarily lease our modular and portable storage units to customers, which results in a highly diversified and predictable recurring revenue stream. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, over 90% of new lease orders were on our standard lease agreement, pre-negotiated master lease, or national account agreements. The initial lease periods vary, and
our leases are customarily renewable on a month-to-month basis after their initial term. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the average effective duration of our consolidated lease
portfolio was approximately 32 months. As a result, our lease revenue is highly predictable due to its recurring nature and the underlying stability and diversification of our lease portfolio.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our average minimum contractual lease term at the time of delivery in our NA Modular segment for modular space units and portable
storage units was 11 months and 7 months, respectively. However, given that our customers value flexibility, they consistently extend their leases or renew on a month-to-month basis such
that the average effective duration of our NA Modular segment lease portfolio was over 34 months. Customers are responsible for the costs of delivery and set-up, dismantling and pick-up,
customer-specified modifications, costs to return custom modifications back to standard configuration at end of lease, and any loss or damage beyond normal wear and tear. Our leases
generally require customers to maintain liability and property insurance covering the units during the lease term and to indemnify us from losses caused by the negligence of the customer or
their employees.
Rental contracts with customers within our NA Storage and UK Storage segments are generally based on a 28‑day rate and billing cycle. The rental continues until cancelled by the
customer or us. On average, steel storage containers on rent in our NA Storage and UK Storage segments for the year ended December 31, 2020 had been in place for over 31 months,
and the steel ground level offices on rent for the year ended December 31, 2020 had been in place for approximately 15 months. Rental contracts provide that the customer is responsible
for the cost of delivery and pickup and specify that the customer is liable for any damage done to the unit beyond ordinary wear and tear. Customers may purchase a damage waiver to
avoid damage liability in certain circumstances, which provides an additional source of recurring revenue. Customer possessions stored within a portable storage unit are the responsibility
of that customer.
Rental contracts with Tank and Pump Solutions customers typically offer daily, weekly, or monthly rates. Certain larger customers have multi‑year agreements that limit rate
increases during the term of the contract. The rental duration varies widely by application, and the rental continues until the unit is returned in clean condition to us. Rental contracts specify
that the customer is responsible for carrying commercial general liability insurance, is liable for any damage to the unit beyond ordinary wear and tear, and for all materials the customer
contains in rented equipment. The customer is contractually responsible for the cost of delivery and pickup, as well as thoroughly emptying and cleaning the equipment before return.
Demand for our products varies by end market. Construction customers typically reflect higher demand during months with more temperate weather, while demand from large
retailers is stronger from September through December, when
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more space is needed to store holiday inventories. Retail customers usually return these rented units in December and early in the following year, but also undertake ongoing rolling store
renovations which present consistent recurring demand throughout the year. In our Tank and Pump Solutions business, demand from customers is typically higher in the middle of the year
from March to October, driven by the timing of customer maintenance projects.
As of December 31, 2020, we had over 368,000 total units including over 157,000 modular space units, over 197,000 portable storage units, over 12,500 tank and pump units, and
other value-added products representing fleet net book value of $2.9 billion. Approximately 109,766 of our modular space units, or 70% and 151,206 of our portable storage units, or 76%
were on rent as of December 31, 2020, and tank and pump Original Equipment Cost ("OEC") utilization was 64.8% as of December 31, 2020.

Product Sales
We complement our core leasing business by selling both new and used units, allowing us to leverage our scale, achieve purchasing benefits, and redeploy capital employed in our
lease fleet. Generally, we purchase new units from a broad network of third-party manufacturers. We only purchase new modular space units for resale when we have obtained firm
purchase orders (which normally are non-cancelable and include up-front deposits) for such units. Buying units directly for resale adds scale to our purchasing, which is beneficial to our
overall supplier relationships and purchasing terms. New unit sales are a natural extension of our leasing operations in situations where customers have long-lived or permanent projects,
making it more cost-effective to purchase rather than to lease a standard unit, and our customers benefit from our product expertise and delivery and installation capabilities.
In the normal course of managing our business, we also sell idle, used rental units at fair market value and units that are already on rent if the customer expresses interest in
owning, rather than continuing to rent, the unit. The sale of units from our rental equipment has historically been both a profitable and cost-effective method to finance the replenishment and
upgrade of our lease fleet, as well as to generate free cash flow during periods of lower rental demand and utilization. Our sales business may include modifying or customizing units to meet
customer requirements. We also offer delivery, installation, and removal-related services for an additional fee as part of our sales operations.

Customers
Our customers operate in a diversified set of end markets, including construction, commercial and industrial, retail and wholesale trade, education, energy and natural resources,
government, and healthcare. Core to our operating model is the ability to redeploy standardized assets across end markets. We have recently serviced emerging demand in the healthcare
and government sectors related to COVID‑19, as well as expanded space requirements related to social distancing. We track several market leading indicators in order to predict demand,
including those related to our two largest end markets, the commercial and industrial end market, and the construction end market, which collectively accounted for approximately 43% and
42% of our pro forma revenues, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2020. In order to optimize the use of fleet assets across our branch network, we centrally manage fleet
rebalancing across our end markets. This allows us to serve 15 distinct end markets in which no customer accounted for more than 2% of pro forma revenue for the year ended December
31, 2020.
For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, no one customer accounted for more than 3% of our total pro forma revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2020,
no one customer accounted for more than 2% of pro forma revenues, our top 10 customers accounted for approximately 6% of pro forma revenues, and our top 50 customers accounted for
less than 13% of revenues on a pro forma basis, reflecting low customer concentration and significant project diversification within our portfolio.
Our logistics and service infrastructure is designed to enable us to meet or exceed our customers’ expectations by reacting quickly, efficiently, and with consistent service levels. As
a result, we have established strong relationships with a diverse customer base, ranging from large multinational companies to local sole proprietors. Including customers acquired from
Mobile Mini, we served over 85,000 unique customers in 2020. We believe that our customers prefer our modular space and portable storage products over fixed, on-site built space
because they are a quick, flexible, cost‑effective, and low-risk solution for temporary or permanent expansion or storage.
Our strategy involves operating standardized rental equipment and "Ready to Work" solutions that can be redeployed across our diversified customer base and branch network in
15 discrete end markets. Key customer end markets include:

Construction and Infrastructure
We provide office and storage space to a broad array of contractors associated with non-residential buildings and non-building infrastructure. Our client portfolio includes many of
the largest general contractors and engineering, architecture, procurement, and construction companies in North America, as well as home builders, developers, and subcontractors.
Examples include highway, street, bridge, and tunnel contractors; water, sewer, communication, and power line contractors; and special construction trades, including glass, glazing, and
demolition. Our construction and infrastructure customer base is characterized by a wide variety of contractors that are associated with original construction as well as capital improvements
in the private, institutional, and municipal arenas. Units are used as offices, break rooms, accommodations, security offices, and other applications.
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Commercial and Industrial
Customers in this category use our products as their primary office or retail space, to expand their existing commercial workspace, to increase their storage capabilities, or as
temporary space for festivals, sporting, and other events. Customers in this category span a variety of industries ranging from commercial offices; chemicals and other manufacturing;
agriculture, forestry and fishing; arts, media, hotels, and entertainment; and other industrial end markets.
The commercial and industrial segment also includes customers in retail and wholesale trade. These include department, drug, grocery, and strip mall stores, logistics, warehousing
and distribution services, as well as restaurants, service stations, and dry cleaners. Our customers in retail and wholesale trade include big‑box retailers who have storage needs during
renovations or other large on-site projects. On a stand‑alone basis, retail and wholesale trade customers comprised approximately 11% of fiscal year 2020 rental revenue; on a pro forma
basis, these customers comprised approximately 12% of fiscal year 2020 rental revenue.

Energy and Natural Resources
Our products are leased to companies involved in electricity generation and transmission, utilities, up- mid- and down-stream oil and gas, mining exploration and extraction, and
other related sectors. Units are used as temporary offices, break rooms, accommodations, security offices, and other applications.

Education
Rapid shifts in populations within regions, as well as recent needs to expand square footage per student in in-person education settings, often necessitate quick expansion of
education facilities, particularly in elementary and secondary schools and universities and colleges. Regional and local governmental budgetary pressures, classroom size reduction
legislation, refurbishment of existing facilities, and the expansion of charter schools have made modular classrooms a convenient and cost-effective way to expand capacity in education
settings. In addition, our products are used as classrooms when schools are undergoing large scale modernization, which allows continuous operation of a school while modernization
progresses.

Government and Institutions
Government customers consist of national, state, provincial, and local public sector organizations. Modular space and portable storage solutions are particularly attractive to
focused niches such as healthcare facilities, small municipal buildings, courthouses, military installations, national security buildings, and offices during building modernization, as well as
disaster relief.

Competitive Strengths
We believe that the following competitive strengths have been instrumental to our success and position us for future growth:

North American Leader in Turnkey Modular Space and Portable Storage Solutions
The Mobile Mini Merger brought together WillScot’s leading modular space capabilities and Mobile Mini’s leading portable storage solutions to create an industry-leading specialty
leasing platform. We benefit from complementary capabilities, a diverse customer base with over 85,000 customers across different end markets, and an unrivaled geographic footprint of
approximately 275 branch locations and additional drop lots.
Our broad and complementary network serves the largest North American metropolitan areas with local teams who are experts in their respective markets. Our cost‑effective
coverage model serves smaller customers at the local and regional level, while also addressing the needs of larger national customers looking for a full suite of high-quality services that can
be provided on a consistent basis throughout North America. Since geographic proximity to customers can be a competitive advantage in the modular space and portable storage industry,
we believe that our extensive branch network allows us to better serve existing customers and attract new customers.
We believe our extensive scale results in significant operational benefits, such as optimization of fleet yield and utilization, efficient capital allocation, superior service capabilities,
and the ability to offer consistent "Ready to Work" solutions across all of our branch locations.

VAPS
We deliver "Ready to Work" solutions through our growing offering of VAPS, such as the rental of steps, ramps, furniture packages, damage waivers, and other amenities. This
thoughtfully curated portfolio of VAPS makes modular space and portable storage units more productive, comfortable, and secure for our customers and allows us to generate higher
revenue per transaction and return on capital. These turnkey solutions offer customers flexible, low‑cost, capital efficient, and timely solutions to meet their space needs on an outsourced
basis.
VAPS have been a substantial source of revenue growth in our NA Modular segment. We have been able to successfully drive a material increase in customer VAPS spend into our
recently acquired businesses, which generates highly tangible revenue synergies. We believe our ability to drive VAPS growth following our historical acquisitions highlights the value
proposition our VAPS provide to our customers. We expect to replicate a similar cross‑selling opportunity within Mobile Mini’s ground level offices.
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Sophisticated Logistics And Service Capabilities
Building off of the largest branch network in the industry, we operate a sophisticated hybrid in-house and outsourced logistics and service infrastructure that we believe is highly
differentiated from our competitors and enhances the value proposition we provide to customers. Precise scheduling of installations and removals, same-day delivery capabilities on certain
products, and ability to mobilize large volumes of equipment in any geography serviced by our branch network are all unique capabilities that differentiate WillScot Mobile Mini, particularly
among more demanding customer segments. We believe that continuing to further optimize our logistics and service capabilities through the deployment of technology is an opportunity for
further cost efficiency and differentiation with our customers.

Investments in Technology Provide a Competitive Advantage Over Our Small and Midsize Competitors
We believe our technology serves as a primary differentiator over small and midsize competitors in local markets and initiatives underway to consolidate our operations onto our
state of the art SAP enterprise resource planning platform will result in further efficiencies. Effective use of real‑time information allows us to monitor and optimize the utilization of our fleet,
allocate our fleet to the highest demand markets, optimize pricing, and determine the best allocation of our capital to invest in fleet and branches.
We are able to dynamically price and approach customer accounts in a strategic and statistically informed manner. We also believe our ability to leverage this data helps us to
increase our market share and effectively manage supply and demand dynamics in our fleet in order to maximize cash flow in all phases of the economic cycle, including identifying
opportunities where underutilized lease fleet can be sold to generate cash.
Similarly, technology is continuing to develop related to our fleet to offer an enhanced experience for our customers. Unit tracking, electronic locking/security systems, and other
customer‑facing technological benefits differentiate our fleet from competitors who have not invested in these capabilities. We believe we possess superior technology infrastructure relative
to our competition and we intend to extend this advantage further by leveraging our infrastructure investments.

Diversified Revenue Base by End Market, Product, Service and Geography
We have established strong relationships with a diverse customer base, ranging from large national accounts to small local businesses. Our customers operate in a diversified set
of end markets, including commercial and industrial, construction, education, energy and natural resources, government, and other end markets. For the year ended December 31, 2020,
the top 50 combined customers for WillScot Mobile Mini accounted for less than 13% of pro forma revenues. We believe that the diversity of our customer end markets reduces our
exposure to changes related to a given customer, shifts within an industry or geographic region, and end market industry seasonality, while also providing significant opportunities to grow
our business. Furthermore, the nature of our products is such that their use is generally agnostic to industry. This flexibility insulates utilization from exposure to industry‑specific shocks,
provided there are other needs and applications for these products within a reasonable distance. Accordingly, our business has been able to support front‑line workers and other essential
businesses during the COVID‑19 crisis by providing temporary testing sites, treatment centers, exam rooms, hospital swing space, temperature screening checkpoints, office space to
support social distancing, and storage for related supplies.
The following chart illustrates the breakdown of our customers and revenue by end markets, on a pro forma basis, as of December 31, 2020. In order to optimize the use of fleet
assets across our branch network, we centrally manage fleet rebalancing across our end markets. This allows us to serve 15 distinct end markets in which no customer accounted for more
than 2% of pro forma revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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REVENUE MIX BY END MARKET

CUSTOMER CONCENTRATION

Attractive Cost and Revenue Synergy Opportunities with the Ability to Leverage Best Practices Across Both Companies
We have a strong track record of integrations generating significant synergies with our acquisitions of Modular Space Holdings, Inc. ("ModSpace"), Onsite Space LLC ("Tyson"),
and Acton Mobile Holdings LLC ("Acton"), driving $61.0 million in cumulative annual synergies achieved as of December 31, 2020, and an additional $10.2 million in remaining synergies
expected to be realized in the future.
We anticipate approximately $50 million of annual cost savings opportunities from the combination with Mobile Mini from purchasing and procurement economies of scale and
general and administrative expense savings, particularly with respect to the consolidation of corporate‑related functions and elimination of redundancies. Similar to the ModSpace
integration, we expect to incur approximately $75 million of one‑time cash integration, capital investment, restructuring, lease impairment, and other related charges in the first two years
post-closing to realize the annual recurring cost savings. These costs will be incurred to integrate and consolidate information technology systems and for other consulting costs, breakage
costs for redundant and overlapping leased facilities, fleet relocation costs, severance, and other personnel costs. We anticipate approximately 80% of these cost savings to be realized in
our run rate by the end of 2022. However, there is no guarantee that we will achieve these cost savings in the amount or in the time frame that we anticipate. See “Risk Factors—Risks
Relating to the Mobile Mini Merger—We may be unable to successfully acquire and integrate new operations, including Mobile Mini and our conversion to its SAP enterprise resource
planning system, which could cause our business to suffer."

Our Asset Base Provides Highly Attractive Asset-Level Returns with Long Useful Lives
The combination of long, predictable lease durations, long asset lives, and attractive unit economics underpins the compelling cash generation capability in our business model. As
such, we have made significant investments in our lease fleet and consolidated several competitors. For the year ended December 31, 2020, our modular space and portable storage lease
fleet consisted of over 121 million square feet of relocatable space, comprising over 157,000 units, and over 197,000 storage solutions containers and office units.
We believe we generate an attractive internal rate of return ("IRR") in our modular space portfolio driven by the long economic life of our fleet, exceeding 20 years on average,
inclusive of any capital expenditure ("capex") required to maintain the fleet to its value maximizing earning potential. Adding VAPS to our modular units increases the IRR of those units over
the 20+ year useful life of the asset. On average, the payback period of a modular unit is only 36 months including VAPS.
Similarly, we believe portable storage containers are able to generate a higher IRR over their 30‑year useful life. These units require even less maintenance capex and have an
average payback period of only 30 months. We believe the stability of cash flows combined with strong economic returns make both modular space and portable storage containers highly
attractive specialty rental asset classes, and our logistics and service capabilities and investments in technology further enhance the returns we can generate from these assets.
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The following chart illustrates the breakdown of the net book value ("NBV") of our rental equipment between the various modular space product types, portable storage and VAPS
as of December 31, 2020.

Our Business Generates Predictable Recurring Cash Flow Due to Our Long-Term Leases and Flexible Capex Requirements
Our recurring revenue, combined with our flexible capex requirements, efficient working capital, and tax profile, has allowed us to generate substantial free cash flow, both in
periods of growth and economic downturn. The long term nature of our leases, with average lease durations in excess of 32 months as of December 31, 2020, produces strong operating
income and predictable cash flow.
We exercise control and discretion over capex, due to the longevity and relative simplicity of our products, the ability to invest only where needed and when needed to meet
demand, and the ability to sell excess fleet during lower utilization periods. During periods of economic stress, we have the ability to substantially reduce capex throughout the portfolio in
order to maximize cash flow, resulting in a counter‑cyclical free cash flow profile. See discussion of “COVID‑19 impact on business" within our "Recent Developments" section below.

Our Industry
We primarily operate within the modular space, portable storage, and specialty containment markets. Our services also span across a variety of related sectors, including furniture
rental, transportation and logistics, facilities rental services, and commercial real estate.

Modular Space Market
The modular space market is fragmented. Modular space units are non-residential structures designed to meet federal, provincial, state, and local building codes and, in most
cases, are designed to be relocatable. Modular space units are constructed offsite, utilizing manufacturing techniques to prefabricate single or multi-story whole building solutions in
deliverable modular sections. Units are typically constructed of steel, wood and conventional building materials and can be permanent or relocatable.
The modular space market has evolved in recent years as businesses and other potential customers increasingly recognize the value of modular space. The key growth drivers in
this market are similar to portable storage and include:
Growing need and demand for space: driven by general economic activity, including gross domestic product growth, industrial production, mining and natural resources activity,
non-residential construction, urbanization, public and education spending, and the scale and frequency of special events.
Shift from traditional fixed, on-site built space to modular space solutions: driven by several advantages as compared with fixed, on-site built space, including:
•
Quick to install: the pre-fabrication of modular space units allows them to be put in place rapidly, providing potential long-term solutions to needs that may have materialized
quickly.
•
Flexibility: flexible assembly design allows modular space units to be built to suit a customer’s needs while offering customers the ability to adjust their space as their needs
change.
•

Cost effectiveness: modular space units provide a cost-effective solution for temporary and permanent space requirements and allow customers to improve returns on capital
in their core business.
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•

Quality: the pre-fabrication of modular space units is based on a repeatable process in a controlled environment, resulting in more consistent quality.

•
•

Mobility: modular space units can easily be disassembled, transported to a new location and re-assembled.
Environmentally friendly: relocatable buildings promote the reuse of facilities, on an as-needed basis, by the occupants.

Portable Storage Market
The portable storage market, like the modular space market, is highly fragmented and remains primarily local in nature. Portable storage units are typically ground‑level entry,
windowless storage containers made of heavy exterior metals for secure storage and water tightness. Portable storage units can be built to specification or can be remanufactured from
existing storage products, such as ISO shipping containers. Remanufacturing typically involves cleaning, removing rust and dents, repairing floors and sidewalls, painting, and adding
company logos or signs as well as our patented Tri‑Cam Locking System®.
Portable storage units continue to find new applications as business needs change and develop. Demand for portable storage is driven by a number of factors, including:
Versatility: portable storage units can be easily customized to suit customer specifications. While standard applications include locking double‑door systems to facilitate loading.
However, custom entrances, such as rolling or sliding doors, can be added for personnel access.
Affordability: portable storage provides customers with a flexible and low‑cost storage alternative to permanent warehouse space and fixed‑site self‑storage.
Safety: units can be easily outfitted with fire and water‑resistant surfaces and materials. ISO containers are often wind and leak‑proof by virtue of their uses in logistics and
shipping. Nearly all units are made from steel, which is a low‑cost, durable material.
Security: a variety of enhanced locking mechanisms are available for portable storage units, including our patented Tri‑Cam Locking System® and ContainerGuardLock®. These
features offer additional protection for high‑value goods and inventory.
Convenience: portable storage units provide immediate ground‑level access for consumers and can be easily transported in large quantities via truck, rail, or cargo ship.
Aesthetics: portable storage units can be easily painted and decorated with company colors and logos and are less conspicuous than other portable storage alternatives such as
van trailers.

Specialty Containment Market
This market is served by our Tank and Pump Solutions business. In the specialty containment sector, we service different markets: the industrial market, comprised mainly of
chemical facilities and refineries, also known as the “downstream” market and, to a lesser extent, companies engaged in the exploration and production of oil and natural gas, or the
“upstream” market. Additionally, we serve a diversified group of customers engaged in projects in the construction, pipeline, and mining markets. Downstream customers utilize tank and
pump equipment and services to manage and remove liquid and solid waste generated by ongoing operating activities as well as turn‑around projects and large‑scale expansion projects.
Upstream customers, who we estimate represent approximately 2% of pro forma rental revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020, tend to rent steel tanks to store and transport water
and propellant used in well hydraulic fracturing. Other customers utilize a wide variety of our products differentiated by the type of project in which they are engaged.

Other Related Markets
In the normal course of providing our “Ready to Work” solutions, we perform services that are characteristic of activities in other industries. For example, we coordinate a broad
network of third-party and in-house transportation and service resources to support the timely movement of our products to, as well as maintenance on, customer sites. Additionally, we
design, source, lease, and maintain a broad offering of ancillary products, including furniture, which render our modular units immediately functional in support of our customers’ needs. We
have developed networks of third‑party service providers that we coordinate to expand the breadth of capabilities that our customers can source through us. These third‑party‑managed
services represent incremental revenue and margin opportunities for us and simplify the number of vendor touchpoints for our customers.
We also provide technical expertise and oversight for customers regarding building design and permitting, site preparation, and expansion or contraction of installed space based
on changes in project requirements. Further, we have the capability to compete in adjacent markets, such as commercial and institutional housing, which have received less focus
historically in the modular space market. We believe that this broad service capability differentiates us from other rental and business services providers and clearly differentiates us in the
marketplace.

Competition
Although our competition varies significantly by local market, the modular space and portable storage industry is highly competitive and fragmented as a whole. We believe that
participants in our industry compete on the basis of customer
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relationships, product quality and availability, delivery speed, VAPS and service capabilities, pricing, and overall ease of doing business. We typically compete with one or more local
providers in all of our markets, as well as with a limited number of national and regional companies.
Our competitors include lessors of storage units, mobile offices, van trailers, and other structures used for portable storage. As a provider of portable storage, we also compete with
conventional fixed self-storage facilities. Some of our competitors may have greater market share in certain geographic regions. Significant modular space and portable storage competitors
include McGrath RentCorp, PODS, Pac-Van, ATCO Structures & Logistics, BOXX Modular, and 1-800-PACK-RAT in North America, and Wernick Hire and Elliott in the UK. Numerous other
regional and local companies compete in individual markets.
Our Tank and Pump Solutions business offers liquid and solid containment products. The liquid and solid containment industry is also highly fragmented, consisting principally of
local providers, with a handful of regional and national providers. We compete based on factors including quality and breadth of equipment, technical applications expertise, knowledgeable
and experienced sales and service personnel, on‑time delivery and proactive logistics management, geographic areas serviced, rental rates, and customer service. Our competitors include
United Rentals, Rain For Rent, Adler Tanks, Sprint/Republic Services, and numerous other smaller competitors.

Strategic Acquisitions
We believe the scalability of our branch network, corporate and shared services infrastructure, technology, and processes allows us to integrate acquisitions efficiently, realize cost
savings, cross-sell VAPS, and improve the yield on acquired assets. As such, we manage an active acquisition pipeline and consider acquisitions to be an important component of our
growth strategy.

Human Capital Management
As of December 31, 2020, we employed approximately 4,300 people worldwide, the majority of which are full time. Of these employees, approximately 3,800 are employed in North
America, approximately 370 are employed in the UK, and approximately 100 are employed in Mexico. We have collective bargaining agreements in portions of our Mexico-based operations
representing approximately 2% of our employees. Approximately 86% of employees work in our branch locations, while 14% serve in various corporate functions. We have not experienced
a strike or significant work stoppage, and we consider our relations with the labor unions and employees to be good.
Our Chief Human Resources Officer along with other members of our executive leadership team develop and execute our human capital strategy. This includes attracting,
acquiring, developing and engaging talent to deliver our strategy, designing employee compensation and benefits programs, and developing and integrating our inclusion and diversity
("I&D") initiatives.

Company Values
We believe that our people are our most valuable asset. Our company values are lived through our employees, acknowledged by our vendors and aligned to the needs of our
customers and communities. We are:
Dedicated to Health & Safety: We are subject to certain environmental, health and safety and other laws and regulations in countries, states or provinces, and localities in which
we operate. Our health and safety programs are designed around global standards with appropriate variations addressing the multiple jurisdictions and regulations, specific hazards
and unique working environments of our operations. We take responsibility for our own well-being and for those around us. Health and safety are first, last and everything inbetween.
Committed to Inclusion & Diversity: We are stronger together when we celebrate our differences and strive for inclusiveness. We believe that a rich culture of inclusion and
diversity enables us to create, develop and fully leverage the strengths of our workforce to exceed customer expectations and meet our growth objectives. We encourage
collaboration and support the diverse voices and thoughts of our employees and communities.
Driven to Excellence: We measure success through our results and achievement of our goals. We continuously improve ourselves and our products and services in pursuit of
maximizing shareholder value.
Trustworthy & Reliable: We hold ourselves accountable to do the right thing especially when nobody’s looking.
Devoted to Our Customers: We anticipate the growing needs of our customers and strive to exceed their expectations and make it easy to do business with us.
Community Focused: We actively engage in the communities we serve and deliver sustainable solutions.

Inclusion and Diversity
We encourage and empower the diverse voices and contributions of our stakeholders to drive increased market share and global value. In 2020, we established a role in our
human resources department to lead our I&D efforts company-wide. Our developing inclusiveness resource teams are established to support our employees and provide opportunities for
exposure, development, and contribution to the organization.
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Environmental and Social Responsibility and Safety
We are committed to upholding the highest standards when it comes to our environmental and social responsibilities, as well as the safety of our employees and our business
partners, which we believe serves as a competitive advantage. We are a sustainable organization with long-lived, reusable and renewable assets that are constantly redeployed to
customers with minimal residual environmental impact.
Our policies and practices are evident of our commitment to environmental responsibility and accountability and respect for human rights and fair labor standards. We have a
company-wide focus on safety and have implemented numerous measures to promote workplace safety. Customers are increasingly focused on safety records in their sourcing decisions
due to increased regulations to report all incidents that occur at their sites and the costs associated with such incidents. Our consolidated Total Recordable Incident Rate ("TRIR") remains
well below 1.0, demonstrating what we believe to be exceptional performance in the area of workplace safety. TRIR is an important safety metric required by the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration ("OSHA").

COVID-19 Safety Protocols
Our business, along with the rest of the world, faced unprecedented challenges in 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19. We remained dedicated to protecting the health and safety
of our employees, vendors, and customers and adjusted our business to meet various country, state, and local requirements. We are considered an “essential business” and our employees
are considered “essential workers”. We have continued to service our customers throughout the pandemic, while implementing robust health and safety protocols to protect our employees
and customers, and we believe these robust protocols have differentiated us as a sophisticated partner in the eyes of our more demanding customer segments.
We follow US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and/or applicable country, state and local guidelines at the locations where we operate. To comply with public health
guidance and reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission, employees are required, prior to commencing work at our facilities and offices each day, to check their temperature and complete a
daily symptom certification that is documented and reviewed by our COVID-19 team members. We provide masks and hand sanitizer to our employees, as well as require adherence to
appropriate social distancing practices and regularly recurring cleaning/sanitization protocols at our locations. COVID-19 testing for employees is covered by insurance and we actively track
key COVID-19 metrics. We have also deployed robust remote-work capabilities and technology across the workforce providing employees flexibility to operate when not required to be onsite at a company location.

Health & Wellness
The health and wellness of our employees is an extremely important facet of our workplace environment. We offer several health and wellness incentives to our employees. Our
employee assistance program ("EAP") provides a variety of services to employees in need and was especially important during 2020 as COVID-19 impacted our workforce in different ways.
We responded to the pandemic by continuing to prioritize employee health and safety as we conducted our business.

Employee Engagement
We believe that engaged employees are vital to continued business success. As such, we provide consistent touchpoints with employees to ensure that we have a strong
understanding of employee sentiment. We have creative programming throughout the year designed to provide engagement opportunities for our workforce that unifies us, even as physical
distance separates us. These touchpoints became increasingly more important in 2020 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Talent and Recruitment
We work diligently to attract top talent from a variety of sources to meet the current and future demands of our business. We have a strong employee value proposition that
leverages our collaborative working environment, shared commitment to our company values. We strive to balance the recruitment of best-in-class external resources with the development
and advancement of our in-house talent to foster a rich diversity of skills and perspectives, which we believe is an important source of competitive advantage.

Community and Partnering
We are proud to make a difference in places that we live and work. We strive to help our communities and hometowns by giving our time and talent to improve our surroundings.
Our employees are encouraged to utilize up to 16 hours of paid time off to volunteer in their local communities. We have numerous partnerships with charitable organizations across the
country that allow our employees to get involved and give back. Many of our senior leaders serve on boards of non-profit organizations. In 2020, we and our employees generously gave
over $420,000 to a variety of causes that improve and advance our local communities.

Total Rewards or Pay Equity
We provide market competitive compensation and benefit packages to our employees. Beyond base compensation, we also offer short and long-term incentive programs, 401(k)
with employee matching opportunities, healthcare and insurance benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts, paid time off, family leave and tuition reimbursement among others
(programs may vary by country/region, job level, and time with the organization). We obtain annual employee feedback on the
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benefits we offer to ensure that we continue to offer competitive packages that appeal to top talent and allow us to recruit and retain our human capital.

Intellectual Property
We operate primarily under the WillScot and Mobile Mini brands. We protect our products and services through the use of trademarks and patents, none of which are individually
material to our business. Our trademarks and patents are registered or pending applications for registrations in the US Patent and Trademark Office and various non‑US jurisdictions. On our
Modular fleet, we maintain a patent for the design of our Flex units in the US and other patents in the US and non-US jurisdictions concerning various assembly and panel components. We
believe that Flex represents the most innovative and versatile purpose built modular space in the industry, which has helped us expand commercially into new end markets. On our Storage
fleet, we have patented our proprietary Tri‑Cam Locking System®, ContainerGuardLock® and other continued improvements in locking technology in the markets in which we operate, as
well as in Europe and China. We believe that continued innovation differentiates WillScot Mobile Mini with our customers and represents a source of long-term competitive advantage.

Recent Developments
Mobile Mini Merger
On July 1, 2020, we closed the Merger at which time Mobile Mini became a wholly-owned subsidiary of WillScot. Concurrent with the closing of the Merger, we changed our name
to WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. We believe that the Merger is resulting in strategic and financial benefits by combining the two industry leaders in the complementary modular space
and portable storage solutions markets. We are executing the integration of the two companies' operating and financial systems, with a significant portion of these efforts being focused
currently on the conversion of the combined company onto a single enterprise resource planning system, which is expected to take place in the first half of 2021.
Reportable Segments
Following the Merger, we modified our management structure and expanded from two reporting segments to four reporting segments: NA Modular, NA Storage, UK Storage, and
Tank and Pump. Prior to the Merger, WillScot had two reporting segments, US Modular and Other North America Modular. These two segments were combined to create the new NA
Modular segment, which represents the legacy WillScot operations. The other new segments, NA Storage, UK Storage, and Tank and Pump align to the legacy operations and segments
reported by Mobile Mini. The new reporting segments are aligned with how we operate and analyze our business results.
Financing Activities
In anticipation of the Merger, on June 15, 2020, WillScot completed a private offering of $650.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 6.125% senior secured notes due 2025 (the
“2025 Secured Notes”). The offering proceeds from the 2025 Secured Notes of $650.0 million were used to repay the 7.875% senior secured notes due 2022 (the “2022 Secured Notes”),
repay Mobile Mini senior notes and pay certain fees and expenses related to the Merger and financing transactions.
On July 1, 2020, in connection with the completion of the Merger, we entered into a new asset-based credit agreement (the "2020 ABL Facility"), that provides for revolving credit
facilities in the aggregate principal amount of up to $2.4 billion. Proceeds from the 2020 ABL Facility of $1.5 billion were used to repay the WillScot 2017 ABL facility, the Mobile Mini line of
credit, and fees and expenses related to the Merger and financing transactions. The 2020 ABL Facility matures July 1, 2025.
On August 11, 2020, we redeemed $49.0 million of our 6.875% senior secured notes (the “2023 Secured Notes”) at a redemption price of 103.0% plus accrued and unpaid interest.
This repayment was funded by the 2020 ABL facility.
On August 25, 2020, we completed a private offering of $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.625% senior secured notes due 2028 (the “2028 Secured Notes”).
Proceeds from the 2028 Secured Notes were used to repay the $441.0 million remaining outstanding principal of the 2023 Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103.438% plus accrued
and unpaid interest.
Sapphire Exchange
On June 30, 2020, as contemplated by the Merger Agreement, Sapphire Holding S.à r.l. (“Sapphire Holdings”), our largest shareholder, which is controlled by TDR Capital LLP (“TDR
Capital”), exchanged (the “Sapphire Exchange”) each of its shares of common stock of Williams Scotsman Holdings Corp. ("Holdings"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant
to an existing exchange agreement between WillScot and Sapphire Holdings, for 1.3261 shares of newly issued WillScot Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Class A
Common Stock”). As a result of the Sapphire Exchange, all issued and outstanding shares of WillScot’s Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, were automatically canceled
for no consideration and the existing exchange agreement was automatically terminated. As a result of the Sapphire Exchange, Sapphire Holdings received 10,641,182 shares of Class A
Common Stock.
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Share Conversion
In connection with the Merger, on July 1, 2020, WillScot issued 106,426,722 shares of its Class A Common Stock in exchange for the outstanding shares of common stock of
Mobile Mini, par value $0.01 per share, and subsequently filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which reclassified all outstanding shares of the Class A Common Stock
and converted such shares into shares of Common Stock, par value of $0.0001 per share, of WillScot Mobile Mini.

COVID‑19 impact on business
Since the outbreak of COVID‑19 was designated as a global pandemic by the World Health Organization (the “WHO”) in March 2020, our operations have generally continued to
operate normally, albeit at lower activity levels in the second and third quarters of 2020, and with additional safety protocols in place as we have been considered an essential business in
most jurisdictions. However, there have been significant changes to the global economic situation as a consequence of the COVID‑19 pandemic. The global pandemic has resulted in
significant global social and business disruption, and in response we have modified the way we communicate and conduct business with our customers, suppliers, and employees.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, financial results for our operations were impacted by the COVID‑19 pandemic as we experienced reduced demand, particularly in the
second and third quarters of the year. During this time, a portion of new project deliveries from our customers were either cancelled or delayed as a result of the COVID‑19 pandemic, and it
remains unclear as to what extent such disruptions may impact our financial results in the future. On a pro forma basis, our deliveries were down 25% in the second quarter year over year
and 13% in the third quarter year over year due to reduced demand primarily attributable to the current global economic situation as a consequence of the COVID‑19 pandemic. However,
these impacts moderated in the fourth quarter and demand rebounded with deliveries up 2% year over year in the fourth quarter and up 0.3% sequentially from the third quarter to the fourth
quarter of 2020. Furthermore, reduced delivery activity was substantially offset by reduced lease terminations which were approximately 19% below 2019 levels in the second and third
quarters which helped stabilize our units on rent. Though recent demand has improved, the reduced delivery demand during the the second and third quarters of 2020 caused us to reduce
variable costs and capital spending during those periods. These actions contributed to expanded profitability and cash flow in these periods, and activity levels and costs began to normalize
heading into the fourth quarter. Despite this unprecedented demand shock, our long lease durations, our predictable cash inflows, and the fact that the majority of our gross profit in any
given period is from units already out on rent, we believe we have visibility into our future cash flows and are able to plan ahead to adjust for varying demand levels.
The following summarizes many of the key actions we have taken in response to the COVID-19 pandemic:
Employee safety and health
We have implemented various employee safety measures to contain the spread of COVID‑19, including domestic and international travel restrictions, the promotion of social
distancing and work‑from‑home practices, extensive cleaning protocols, daily symptom assessments, and enhanced use of personal protective equipment such as masks. We continue to
closely monitor all guidance provided by applicable government agencies to ensure the safety of our employees, vendors, and customers as our top priority.
Sales and leasing operations
We continue to monitor government restrictions, which vary significantly across our geographic markets. As a result of the shelter‑in‑place orders and increased social distancing
measures, some of our markets, such as special events and sports and entertainment, have experienced sustained reductions in demand for new projects. Other sectors, such as health
care, have experienced increased demand, while other sectors such as construction have remained active but with varying degrees of project disruption, some of which are quite significant.
We are also responding to demand across our end markets from customers in need of additional office space to facilitate social distancing. As we serve many critical sectors of the
economy, we will continue to help support customers who remain operational, as well as those who are actively engaged in the COVID-19 response. We believe that our branch locations
are considered essential businesses in most jurisdictions and as such have continued to operate normally with the aforementioned safety protocols in place, while our customer service and
sales teams are working closely with customers to meet current demand.

Available Information
Our website address is www.willscotmobilemini.com. We make available, free of charge through our website, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) as soon as
reasonably practicable after such documents are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The SEC maintains an
internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding WillScot Mobile Mini.

Regulatory and Environmental Compliance
We are subject to certain environmental, transportation, anti-corruption, import control, health and safety, and other laws and regulations in countries, states or provinces, and
localities in which we operate. We incur significant costs in our business to comply with these laws and regulations. However, from time to time we may be subject to additional costs and
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penalties as a result of non-compliance. The discovery of currently unknown matters or conditions, new laws and regulations, or different enforcement or interpretation of existing laws and
regulations could materially harm our business or operations in the future.
We are subject to laws and regulations that govern and impose liability for activities that may have adverse environmental effects, including discharges into air and water and
handling and disposal of hazardous substances and waste. As of the date of this filing, no environmental matter has been material to our operations. Based on our management’s
assessment, we believe that any environmental matters relating to us of which we are currently aware will not be material to our overall business or financial condition.
The jurisdictions in which we operate are also subject to anti-bribery laws and regulations, such as the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”). These
regulations prevent companies and their officers, employees, and agents from making payments to officials and public entities of foreign countries to facilitate obtaining new contracts.
Violations of these laws and regulations may result in criminal sanctions and significant monetary penalties.
Certain of our units are subject to regulation in certain states under motor vehicle and similar registrations and certificate of title statutes. Management believes that the Company
has complied, in all material respects, with all motor vehicle registration and similar certificate of title statutes in states where such statutes clearly apply to modular space units. We have not
taken actions under such statutes in states where we have determined that such statutes do not apply to modular space units. However, in certain states, the applicability of such statutes to
modular space units is not clear beyond doubt. If additional registration and related requirements are deemed to be necessary in such states or if the laws in such states or other states were
to change to require us to comply with such requirements, we could be subject to additional costs, fees, and taxes as well as administrative burdens in order to comply with such statutes
and requirements. Management does not believe that the effect of such compliance will be material to our business or financial condition.

ITEM 1A.

Risk Factors

Risks Relating to Our Business
We may be unable to successfully acquire and integrate new operations, including Mobile Mini and our conversion to its enterprise resource planning
system, which could cause our business to suffer.
We may be unable to successfully make strategic acquisitions or integrate acquired businesses or assets into our operations, including Mobile Mini, for various reasons. We
completed the Mobile Mini Merger on July 1, 2020. While the Mobile Mini integration is underway, we may explore other acquisitions in the future that meet our strategic growth plans.
In particular, we are engaged in a conversion of the Company’s legacy enterprise resource planning system ("ERP") to Mobile Mini’s ERP. The ERP is designed to accurately
maintain the company’s books and records and provide information important to the operation of the business to the company’s management team. The Company’s ERP conversion will
continue to require significant investment of human and financial resources. In implementing the ERP, we may experience significant delays, increased costs and other difficulties. Any
significant disruption or deficiency in the design and implementation of the ERP could adversely affect our ability to process orders, deliver units, send invoices and track payments, fulfill
contractual obligations or otherwise operate our business. While we have invested significant resources in planning and project management, significant implementation issues may arise
which could significantly impact our operations and financial performance.
Additionally, we cannot predict if or when acquisitions will be completed, and we may face significant competition for acquisition targets. Acquisitions involve numerous risks,
including the following:
•
difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies, products and personnel of the acquired companies;
•
diversion of management’s attention from normal daily operations of the business;
•
loss of key employees;
•
difficulties in entering markets in which we have no or limited prior experience and where our competitors in such markets have stronger market positions;
•
difficulties in complying with regulations, such as environmental regulations, and managing risks related to an acquired business;
•
an inability to timely obtain financing, including any amendments required to existing financing agreements;
•
an inability to implement uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies;
•
•

undiscovered and unknown problems, defects, liabilities or other issues related to any acquisition that become known to us only after the acquisition, particularly relating to rental
equipment on lease that are unavailable for inspection during the diligence process; and
loss of key customers, suppliers or employees.
In connection with acquisitions, we may assume liabilities or acquire damaged assets, some of which may be unknown to us at the time of such acquisitions.
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We assess the condition and regulatory certification of an acquired fleet as part of our acquisition due diligence. In some cases, fleet condition or regulatory certification may be
difficult to determine due to the fleet being on lease at the time of acquisition and/or inadequate certification records. Fleet acquisitions may therefore result in a rectification cost that we may
not have factored into the acquisition price, impacting deployability and ultimate profitability of the fleet we acquired.
We must continue to take actions to realize the combined cost synergies that we forecast for the acquisition. We may incur more costs than we anticipated to achieve the forecast
synergies (thus reducing the net benefit of the cost synergies), realize synergies later than we expected or fail altogether to achieve a portion of the cost savings we anticipated. Any of these
events could cause reductions in our earnings per share, impact our ability to borrow funds under our credit facility, decrease or delay the accretive effect of the acquisitions that we
anticipated and negatively impact our stock price.
Acquisitions are inherently risky, and we cannot provide assurance that the Mobile Mini Merger, or any future acquisitions will be successful or will not materially adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition. If we do not manage new markets effectively, some of our new branches and acquisitions may lose money or fail, and we may have to
close unprofitable branches. Closing a branch in such circumstances would likely result in additional expenses that would cause our operating results to suffer. To manage growth
successfully, we will need to continue to identify additional qualified managers and employees to integrate acquisitions within our established operating, financial and other internal
procedures and controls. We will also need to effectively motivate, train and manage our employees. Failure to successfully integrate recent and future acquisitions and new branches into
existing operations could materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Global or local economic movements could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our business, which operates in the US, Canada, Mexico and the UK, may be negatively impacted by economic movements or downturns in the local markets in which we operate
or global markets generally. These adverse economic conditions may reduce commercial activity, cause disruption and extreme volatility in global financial markets and increase rates of
default and bankruptcy. Reduced commercial activity has historically resulted in reduced demand for our products and services. For example, reduced commercial activity in the
construction, energy and natural resources sectors in certain markets in which we operate, particularly the US and Canada, has negatively impacted our business in the past. Disruptions in
financial markets could negatively impact the ability of our customers to pay their obligations to us in a timely manner and increase our counterparty risk. If economic conditions worsen, we
may face reduced demand and an increase, relative to historical levels, in the time it takes to receive customer payments. If we are not able to adjust our business in a timely and effective
manner to changing economic conditions, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.
Moreover, the level of demand for our products and services is sensitive to the level of demand within various sectors, particularly the commercial and industrial, construction,
education, energy and natural resources, and government end markets. Each of these sectors is influenced not only by the state of the general global economy, but also by a number of
more specific factors as well. For example, a decline in global or local energy prices may materially adversely affect demand for modular buildings within the energy and resources sector.
The levels of activity in these sectors and geographic regions may also be cyclical, and we may not be able to predict the timing, extent or duration of the activity cycles in the markets in
which we or our key customers operate. A decline or slowed growth in any of these sectors or geographic regions could result in reduced demand for our products and services, which may
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations are exposed to operational, economic, political and regulatory risks.
We operate in the US, Canada, Mexico and the UK. For the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately 89.8%, 5.8%, 1.0%, and 3.4% of our revenue was generated in the US,
Canada, Mexico and the UK, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2020, approximately 76.9%, 16.2%, 3.4%, and 3.5% of our revenue was derived from our NA Modular
Solutions business, NA Storage Solutions business, UK Storage Solutions business and Tank and Pump Solutions business, respectively.
Our operations in any of these countries could be affected by foreign and domestic economic, political and regulatory risks, including the following:
•
regulatory requirements that are subject to change and that could restrict our ability to assemble, lease or sell products;
•
inflation, recession, and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest rates;
•
trade protection measures, including increased duties and taxes and import or export licensing requirements;
•
compliance with applicable antitrust and other regulatory rules and regulations relating to potential acquisitions;
•
different local product preferences and product requirements;
•
pressures on management time and attention due to the complexities of overseeing multi-national operations;
•
challenges in maintaining staffing;
•
•

different labor regulations and the potential impact of collective bargaining;
potentially adverse consequences from changes in, or interpretations of, tax laws;
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•

political and economic instability;

•
•

enforcement of remedies in various jurisdictions;
the risk that the business partners upon whom we depend for technical assistance will not perform as expected;

•
•

compliance with applicable export control laws and economic sanctions laws and regulations;
price controls and ownership regulations;

•
•

obstacles to the repatriation of earnings and cash;
differences in business practices that may result in violation of company policies, including, but not limited to, bribery and collusive practices; and

•

reduced protection for intellectual property in some countries.
These and other risks may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our operations may be adversely impacted as a result of COVID‑19.
As a result of the ongoing global pandemic, governments around the world have implemented quarantines and significant restrictions on travel as well as work restrictions that
prohibit many employees from going to work. As millions of cases of COVID‑19 have been confirmed around the world, we expect COVID‑19 to continue to impact general commercial
activity related to our supply chain and customer base, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or result of operations. To the extent that the
COVID‑19 pandemic continues, worsens, or vaccines are delayed, governments may impose additional restrictions or additional governments may impose restrictions. COVID‑19 and those
restrictions could result in additional businesses being shut down, additional work restrictions and supply chains being interrupted, slowed, or rendered inoperable. As a result, it may be
challenging to obtain and process raw materials to support our business needs, we may need to recognize material charges in future periods for impairments of our rental equipment,
property, plant, and equipment and/or intangible assets. Furthermore, our employees, suppliers or customers could become ill, quarantined or otherwise unable to work and/or travel due to
health reasons or governmental restrictions. The COVID‑19 global pandemic has affected and may continue to affect our industry and the industries in which our customers operate, and
there may be an adverse impact on customer demand for our rentals. We also have been, and will be, adversely impacted by project delays, early returns of equipment on rent with
customers and payment delay, or non‑payment, by customers who are significantly impacted by COVID‑19. If our customers’ businesses continue to be affected, they might delay or reduce
purchases from or payments to us, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
In addition, increased volatility and diminished expectations for the global economy, coupled with the prospect of decreased business and consumer confidence and increased
unemployment resulting from the COVID‑19 pandemic, may precipitate an economic slowdown and recession. If the economic climate deteriorates, our ability to continue to grow our
business organically or through additional acquisitions and integration of acquired businesses, as well as the financial condition of customers, suppliers and lenders, could be adversely
affected, resulting in a negative impact on the business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of our company.
The situation surrounding COVID-19 remains fluid. A delay in wide distribution of a vaccine, or a lack of public acceptance of a vaccine, could lead people to continue to self-isolate
and not participate in the economy at pre-pandemic levels for a prolonged period of time. Further, even if a vaccine is widely distributed and accepted, there can be no assurance that the
vaccine will ultimately be successful in limiting or stopping the spread of COVID-19. Therefore, it remains difficult to predict the potential impact of the virus on our results of operations and
financial position. The potential effects of COVID‑19 also could impact many of our risk factors, as discussed herein, including, but not limited to our exposure to operational, economic,
political and regulatory risks; risks related to global or local economic movements; changes in trade policies; and labor disruptions. However, given the evolving health, economic, social, and
governmental environments, the potential impact that COVID‑19 could have on our risk factors that are further described herein remains uncertain. Any future pandemics could similarly
negatively impact our operations and financial results.

Any failure of our management information systems could disrupt our business operations both in the field and back office, which could result in decreased
lease or sale revenue and increase overhead costs.
We rely heavily on information systems across our operations. We also utilize third-party cloud providers to host certain of our applications and to store data. Our ability to
effectively manage our business depends significantly on the reliability and capacity of these systems. The failure of our management information systems to perform as anticipated could
damage our reputation with our customers, disrupt our business or result in, among other things, decreased lease and sales revenue and increased overhead costs. Any such failure could
harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the delay or failure to implement information system upgrades and new systems effectively could disrupt our
business, distract management’s focus and attention from business operations and growth initiatives and increase our implementation and operating costs, any of which could materially
adversely affect our operations and operating results.
We believe we have implemented appropriate measures to mitigate potential risks; however, like other companies, our information technology systems may be vulnerable to a
variety of interruptions due to our own error or events beyond our control. The measures that we employ to protect our systems may not detect or prevent cybersecurity breaches, natural
disasters, terrorist attacks, telecommunication failures, computer viruses, hackers, phishing attacks, and other security issues. We have previously been the target of an attempted cyberattack and have from time to time experienced threats to our data
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and systems, computer virus attacks and phishing attempts, and we may be subject to breaches of the information systems that we use. We have not experienced a material cybersecurity
breach. We have programs in place that are intended to detect, contain and respond to data security incidents and that provide employee awareness training regarding phishing, malware,
and other cyber risks to protect against cyber risks and security breaches. However, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage
systems change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long periods of time, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. In
addition, because our systems contain information about individuals and other businesses, the failure to maintain the security of the data we hold, whether the result of our own error or the
malfeasance or errors of others, could harm our reputation or give rise to legal liabilities leading to lower revenue, increased costs, regulatory sanctions and other potential material adverse
effects on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Effective management of our fleet is vital to our business, and our failure to properly safeguard, design, manufacture, repair and maintain our fleet could
harm our business and reduce our operating results and cash flows.
Our modular space and portable storage units have long economic lives and managing our fleet is a critical element to our leasing business. Rental equipment asset management
requires designing and building long-lived products that anticipate customer needs and changes in legislation, regulations, building codes and local permitting in the various markets in which
we operate. In addition, we must cost-effectively maintain and repair our fleet to maximize the economic life of the products and the proceeds we receive from product sales. As the needs of
our customers change, we may incur costs to relocate or retrofit our assets to better meet shifts in demand. If the distribution of our assets is not aligned with regional demand, we may be
unable to take advantage of sales and leasing opportunities in certain regions, despite excess inventory in other regions. If we are not able to successfully manage our lease assets, our
business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.
If we do not appropriately manage the design, manufacture, repair and maintenance of our product fleet, or if we delay or defer such repair or maintenance or suffer unexpected
losses of rental equipment due to theft or obsolescence, we may be required to incur impairment charges for equipment that is beyond economic repair or incur significant capex to acquire
new rental equipment to serve demand. These failures may also result in personal injury or property damage claims, including claims based on poor indoor air quality and termination of
leases or contracts by customers. Costs of contract performance, potential litigation and profits lost from termination could materially adversely affect our future operating results and cash
flows.

Trade policies and changes in trade policies, including the imposition of tariffs, their enforcement and downstream consequences, may materially adversely
affect our business, results of operations, and outlook.
Tariffs and/or other developments with respect to trade policies, trade agreements and government regulations may materially, adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations. For example, the US government has imposed tariffs on steel, aluminum and lumber imports from certain countries, which could result in increased costs to us for
these materials. Without limitation, (i) tariffs currently in place and (ii) the imposition by the federal government of new tariffs on imports to the US could materially increase (a) the cost of our
products that we are offering for sale or lease, (b) the cost of certain products that we source from foreign manufacturers, and (c) the cost of certain raw materials or products that we utilize.
We may not be able to pass such increased costs on to our customers, and we may not be able to secure sources of certain products and materials that are not subject to tariffs on a timely
basis. Although we actively monitor our procurement policies and practices to avoid undue reliance on foreign-sourced goods subject to tariffs, when practicable, such developments may
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face significant competition in the modular space, portable storage and tank and pump industries. Such competition may result in pricing pressure or an
inability to maintain or grow our market share. If we are unable to compete successfully, we could lose customers and our revenue and profitability could
decline.
Although our competition varies significantly by market, the modular space, portable storage, and the tank and pump solutions industries are highly competitive, in general, and the
portable storage and tank and pump solutions industries are highly fragmented. We compete on the basis of a number of factors, including customer relationships, product quality and
availability, delivery speed, VAPS and service capabilities, pricing, and overall ease of doing business. We may experience pricing pressures in our operations as some of our competitors
seek to obtain market share by reducing prices, and we may face reduced demand for our products and services if our competitors are able to provide new or innovative products or
services that better appeal to customers. In most of our end markets, we face competition from national, regional and local companies who have an established market position in the
specific service area, and we expect to encounter similar competition in any new markets that we may enter. In certain markets, some of our competitors may have greater market share,
less debt, greater pricing flexibility, more attractive product or service offerings, better brand recognition or superior marketing and financial resources. Increased competition could result in
lower profit margins, substantial pricing pressure and reduced market share. Price competition, together with other forms of competition, may materially adversely affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition.
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If we do not manage our credit risk effectively, collect on our accounts receivable, or recover our rental equipment from our customers, it could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We perform credit evaluation procedures on our customers on each transaction and require security deposits or other forms of security from our customers when we identify a
significant credit risk. Failure to manage our credit risk and receive timely payments on our customer accounts receivable may result in the write-off of customer receivables and loss of units
if we are unable to recover our rental equipment from our customers’ sites. If we are not able to manage credit risk, or if a large number of customers should have financial difficulties at the
same time, our credit and rental equipment losses would increase above historical levels. If this should occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be
materially adversely affected.

We intend to continue to launch operations into new geographic markets and/or add other business unit operations in existing markets, which may be costly
and may not be successful.
WillScot and Mobile Mini have in the past, and we intend in the future, to expand our Modular Space, Storage Solutions and Tank and Pump Solutions operations into new
geographic markets in North America. This expansion could require financial resources that would not therefore be available for other aspects of our business. In addition, this expansion
could require the time and attention of management, leaving less time to focus on existing business. If we fail to manage the risks inherent in our geographic expansion, we could incur
capital and operating costs without any related increase in revenue, which would harm our operating results.

Changes in state building codes could adversely impact our ability to remarket our buildings, which could have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Building codes are generally reviewed, debated and, in certain cases, modified on a national level every three years as an ongoing effort to keep the regulations current and
improve the life, safety and welfare of the building’s occupants. All aspects of a given code are subject to change, including, but not limited to, such items as structural specifications for
earthquake safety, energy efficiency and environmental standards, fire and life safety, transportation, lighting and noise limits. On occasion, state agencies have undertaken studies of indoor
air quality and noise levels with a focus on permanent and modular classrooms. This process leads to a systematic change that requires engagement in the process and recognition that
past methods will not always be accepted. New modular construction is very similar to conventional construction where newer codes and regulations generally increase cost. New
governmental regulations may increase our costs to acquire new rental equipment, as well as increase our costs to refurbish existing equipment.
Compliance with building codes and regulations entails risk as state and local government authorities do not necessarily interpret building codes and regulations in a consistent
manner, particularly where applicable regulations may be unclear and subject to interpretation. These regulations often provide broad discretion to governmental authorities that oversee
these matters, which can result in unanticipated delays or increases in the cost of compliance in particular markets. The construction and modular industries have developed many “best
practices” which are constantly evolving. Some of our peers and competitors may adopt practices that are more or less stringent than ours. When, and if, regulators clarify regulatory
standards, the effect of the clarification may be to impose rules on our business and practices retroactively, at which time we may not be in compliance with such regulations and we may be
required to incur costly remediation. If we are unable to pass these increased costs on to our customers, our business, financial condition, operating cash flows and results of operations
could be negatively impacted.

Our operations face foreign currency exchange rate exposure, which may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
We hold assets, incur liabilities, earn revenue and pay expenses in certain currencies other than the US Dollar, primarily the Canadian Dollar, the Mexican Peso and the British
Pound. Our consolidated financial results are denominated in US Dollars, and therefore, during times of a strengthening US Dollar, our reported revenue in non-US Dollar jurisdictions will be
reduced because the local currency will translate into fewer US Dollars. Revenue and expenses are translated into US Dollars at the average exchange rate for the period. In addition, the
assets and liabilities of our non-US Dollar subsidiaries are translated into US Dollars at the exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date. Foreign currency exchange adjustments
arising from certain intercompany obligations with and between our domestic companies and our foreign subsidiaries are marked-to-market and recorded as a non-cash loss or gain in each
of our financial periods in our consolidated statements of operations. Accordingly, changes in currency exchange rates will cause our foreign currency translation adjustment in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) to fluctuate. In addition, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates will impact the amount of US Dollars we receive when we
repatriate funds from our non-US Dollar operations.

Fluctuations in interest rates and commodity prices may also materially adversely affect our revenues, results of operations and cash flows.
Although we have converted a portion of our senior secured revolving credit facility borrowings into fixed-rate debt through interest rate swaps, a significant portion of our
borrowings under the facility remain variable rate debt. Fluctuations in interest rates may negatively impact the amount of interest payments, as well as our ability to refinance portions of our
existing debt in the future at attractive interest rates. In addition, certain of our end markets, as well as portions of our cost structure,
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such as transportation costs, are sensitive to changes in commodity prices, which can impact both demand for and profitability of our services. These changes could impact our future
earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant.

Significant increases in raw material and labor costs could increase our operating costs significantly and harm our profitability.
We incur labor costs and purchase raw materials, including steel, lumber, siding and roofing, paint, glass, fuel and other products to perform periodic repairs, modifications and
refurbishments to maintain physical conditions of our units and in connection with get-ready, delivery and installation of our units. The volume, timing and mix of such work may vary quarterto-quarter and year-to-year. Generally, increases in labor and raw material costs will increase the acquisition costs of new units and also increase the repair and maintenance costs of our
fleet. We also maintain a truck fleet to deliver units to and return units from our customers, the cost of which is sensitive to maintenance and fuel costs and rental rates on leased equipment.
During periods of rising prices for labor or raw materials, and in particular, when the prices increase rapidly or to levels significantly higher than normal, we may incur significant increases in
our acquisition costs for new units and higher operating costs that we may not be able to recoup from customers through changes in pricing, which could materially adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition. If raw material prices decline significantly, we may have to write down our raw materials inventory values. If this happens, our results
of operations and financial condition could decline.

Fluctuations in fuel costs or oil prices, a reduction in fuel supplies, or a sustained decline in oil prices may have a material adverse effect on our business
and results of operations.
In connection with our business, to better serve our customers and limit our capex, we often move our fleet from branch to branch. In addition, the majority of our customers
arrange for delivery and pickup of our units through us. Accordingly, we could be materially adversely affected by significant increases in fuel prices that result in higher costs to us for
transporting equipment. In the event of fuel and trucking cost increases, we may not be able to promptly raise our prices to make up for increased costs. A significant or prolonged price
fluctuation or disruption of fuel supplies could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, oil prices have been volatile and are subject to fluctuations in response to changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that
are beyond our control. If oil prices remain volatile for an extended period of time or there is a sustained decline in demand for oil, demand for our Tank and Pump Solutions products from
refineries and companies engaged in the exploration and production of oil and natural gas could be adversely impacted, which would in turn have an adverse effect on our results of
operations and financial condition.

Third parties may fail to manufacture or provide necessary components for our products properly or in a timely manner.
We are often dependent on third parties to manufacture or supply components for our products. We typically do not enter into long-term contracts with third-party suppliers. We may
experience supply problems as a result of financial or operating difficulties or the failure or consolidation of our suppliers. We may also experience supply problems as a result of shortages
and discontinuations resulting from product obsolescence or other shortages or allocations by suppliers. Unfavorable economic conditions may also adversely affect our suppliers or the
terms on which we purchase products. In the future, we may not be able to negotiate arrangements with third parties to secure products that we require in sufficient quantities or on
reasonable terms. If we cannot negotiate arrangements with third parties to produce our products or if the third parties fail to produce our products to our specifications or in a timely manner,
our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

We are subject to risks associated with labor relations, labor costs and labor disruptions.
We are subject to the costs and risks generally associated with labor disputes and organizing activities related to unionized labor. From time to time, strikes, public demonstrations
or other coordinated actions and publicity may disrupt our operations. We may incur increased legal costs and indirect labor costs as a result of contractual disputes, negotiations or other
labor-related disruptions. We have collective bargaining agreements with employees in portions of our Mexico-based operations, which accounted for approximately 2.0% of our total
employees as of December 31, 2020. These operations may be more highly affected by labor force activities than others, and all collective bargaining agreements must be renegotiated
annually. Other locations may also face organizing activities or effects. Labor organizing activities could result in additional employees becoming unionized. Furthermore, collective
bargaining agreements may limit our ability to reduce the size of work forces during an economic downturn, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. We believe a unionized
workforce outside of Mexico would generally increase our operating costs, divert attention of management from servicing customers and increase the risk of work stoppages, all of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Failure to retain key personnel could impede our ability to execute our business plan and growth strategy.
Our ability to profitably execute our business plan depends on our ability to attract, develop and retain qualified personnel. Certain of our key executives, managers and employees
have knowledge and an understanding of our business and our industry, and/or have developed meaningful customer relationships, that cannot be duplicated readily. Our ability to attract
and retain qualified personnel is dependent on, among other things, the availability of qualified personnel and our ability to provide a competitive compensation package, including the
implementation of adequate drivers of retention and rewards
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based on performance, and work environment. Failure to retain qualified key personnel may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. The
departure of any key personnel and our inability to enforce non-competition agreements could have a negative impact on our business.
Moreover, labor shortages, the inability to hire or retain qualified employees and increased labor costs could have a material adverse effect on our ability to control expenses and
efficiently conduct our operations. We may not be able to continue to hire and retain the sufficiently skilled labor force necessary to operate efficiently and to support our operating strategies.
Labor expenses could also increase as a result of continuing shortages in the supply of personnel.

If we determine that our goodwill, intangible assets, and indefinite-life intangible assets have become impaired, we may incur impairment charges, which may
adversely impact our operating results.
We have a substantial amount of goodwill and indefinite-life intangible assets (trade names), which represents the excess of the total purchase price of our acquisitions over the fair
value of the assets acquired, and other intangible assets. As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately $1,171.2 million and $495.9 million of goodwill and intangible assets, net,
respectively, in our consolidated balance sheets, which represented approximately 21.0% and 9.0% of total assets, respectively, and primarily arose through our acquisition of Mobile Mini.
We test goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis and when events occur or circumstances change that indicate that the fair value of the
reporting unit or intangible asset may be below its carrying amount. Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are sensitive to inherent uncertainties and changes in
estimates and assumptions regarding revenue growth rates, EBIT margins, capex, working capital requirements, tax rates, terminal growth rates, discount rates, exchange rates, royalty
rates, benefits associated with a taxable transaction and synergistic benefits available to market participants. Impairment may result from, among other things, deterioration in the
performance of the business, adverse market conditions, stock price and adverse changes in applicable laws and regulations, including changes that restrict our activities. Declines in
market conditions, a trend of weaker than anticipated financial performance for our reporting units or declines in projected revenue, a decline in our share price for a sustained period of
time, an increase in the market-based weighted average cost of capital or a decrease in royalty rates, among other factors, are indicators that the carrying value of our goodwill or indefinitelife intangible assets may not be recoverable. These risks may be heightened by the COVID-19 pandemic. In the event impairment is identified, a charge to earnings would be recorded
which may materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited.
As of December 31, 2020, we had US net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $1,187.5 million and $700.5 million for US federal income tax and state tax
purposes, respectively, available to offset future taxable income, prior to consideration of annual limitations that Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 may impose. The US NOL
carryforwards begin to expire in 2021 for state and 2022 for federal if not utilized. In addition, we had foreign NOLs of $14.1 million as a result of operations in Canada and Mexico. Our
Mexico and Canadian NOL carryforwards begin to expire in 2025 and 2038, respectively, if not utilized.
Our US NOL and tax credit carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code and
corresponding provisions of US state law, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50% change, by value, in its equity ownership over a threeyear period, the corporation’s ability to use its US NOLs and other applicable tax attributes before the ownership change, such as research and development tax credits, to offset its income
after the ownership change may be limited. We have completed Section 382 analysis for the Mobile Mini Merger. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-Mobile
Mini Merger US NOL carryforwards to offset US federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us. In addition, at the
state level, there may be periods during which the use of US NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited, which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed.
Lastly, we may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which may be outside of our control. If we determine
that an ownership change has occurred and our ability to use our historical NOL and tax credit carryforwards is materially limited, it may result in increased future tax obligations and income
tax expense.
Some of the tax loss carryforwards could expire, and if we do not have sufficient taxable income in future years to use the tax benefits before they expire, the benefit may be
permanently lost. In addition, the taxing authorities could challenge our calculation of the amount of our tax attributes, which could reduce certain of our recognized tax benefits. Further, tax
laws in certain jurisdictions may limit the ability to use carryforwards upon a change in control.

We may be unable to recognize deferred tax assets such as those related to our tax loss carryforwards and, as a result, lose future tax savings, which could
have a negative impact on our liquidity and financial position.
We recognize deferred tax assets primarily related to deductible temporary differences based on our assessment that the item will be utilized against future taxable income and the
benefit will be sustained upon ultimate settlement with the applicable taxing authority. Such deductible temporary differences primarily relate to tax loss carryforwards and business interest
expense limitations. Tax loss carryforwards arising in a given tax jurisdiction may be carried forward to offset taxable
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income in future years from such tax jurisdiction and reduce or eliminate income taxes otherwise payable on such taxable income, subject to certain limitations. Deferred interest expense
exists primarily within our US operating companies, where interest expense was not previously deductible as incurred but may become deductible in the future subject to certain limitations.
We may have to write down, through income tax expense, the carrying amount of certain deferred tax assets to the extent we determine it is not probable we will realize such deferred tax
assets under US GAAP.

Unanticipated changes in our tax obligations, the adoption of a new tax legislation, or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect profitability.
We are subject to income taxes in the US, Canada, Mexico and the UK. Our tax liabilities are affected by the amounts we charged for inventory, services, funding and other
transactions on an intercompany basis. We are subject to potential tax examinations in these jurisdictions. Tax authorities may disagree with our intercompany charges, cross-jurisdictional
transfer pricing or other tax positions and assess additional taxes. We regularly assess the likely outcomes of these examinations to determine the appropriateness of our tax provision.
However, there can be no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of these potential examinations, and the amounts that we ultimately pay upon resolution of examinations
could be materially different from the amounts we previously included in our income tax provision and, therefore, could have a material impact on our results of operations and cash flows. In
addition, our future effective tax rate could be adversely affected by changes to our operating structure, changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes
in the valuation allowance of deferred tax assets, changes in tax laws and the discovery of new information in the course of our tax return preparation process. Changes in tax laws or
regulations, including changes in the US related to the treatment of accelerated depreciation expense, carry-forwards of net operating losses, and taxation of foreign income and expenses
may increase tax uncertainty and adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to various laws and regulations, including those governing government contracts, corruption and the environment. Obligations and liabilities
under these laws and regulations may materially harm our business.
Government Contract Laws and Regulations
We lease and sell our products to government entities, and this subjects us to statutes and regulations applicable to companies doing business with the government. The laws
governing government contracts can differ from the laws governing private contracts. For example, many government contracts contain favorable pricing terms and conditions that are not
typically included in private contracts, such as clauses that make certain obligations of government entities subject to budget appropriations. Many government contracts can be terminated
or modified, in whole or in part, at any time, without penalty, by the government. In addition, our failure to comply with these laws and regulations might result in administrative penalties or
the suspension of our government contracts or debarment and, as a result, the loss of the related revenue which would harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. We
are not aware of any action contemplated by any regulatory authority related to any possible non-compliance by or in connection with our operations.
Our operations are subject to an array of governmental regulations in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. For example, our activities in the US are subject to regulation by
several federal and state government agencies, including the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and by federal and state laws. Our operations and activities in other
jurisdictions are subject to similar governmental regulations. Similar to conventionally constructed buildings, the modular business industry is also subject to regulations by multiple
governmental agencies in each jurisdiction relating to, among others, environmental, zoning and building standards, and health, safety and transportation matters. These regulations affect
our Storage Solutions and Tank and Pump Solutions customers, most of whom use our storage units to store their goods on their own properties for various lengths of time. If local zoning
laws or planning permission regulations in one or more of our markets no longer allow our units to be stored on customers' sites, our business in that market will suffer. Noncompliance with
applicable regulations, implementation of new regulations or modifications to existing regulations may increase costs of compliance, require a termination of certain activities or otherwise
materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
US Government Contract Laws and Regulations
Our government customers include the US government, which means we are subject to various statutes and regulations applicable to doing business with the US government.
These types of contracts customarily contain provisions that give the US government substantial rights and remedies, many of which are not typically found in commercial contracts and
which are unfavorable to contractors, including provisions that allow the government to unilaterally terminate or modify our federal government contracts, in whole or in part, at the
government’s convenience. Under general principles of US government contracting law, if the government terminates a contract for convenience, the terminated company may generally
recover only its incurred or committed costs and settlement expenses and profit on work completed prior to the termination. If the government terminates a contract for default, the defaulting
company may be liable for any extra costs incurred by the government in procuring undelivered items from another source.
In addition, US government contracts and grants normally contain additional requirements that may increase our costs of doing business, reduce our profits, and expose us to
liability for failure to comply with these terms and conditions. These requirements include, for example:
• specialized disclosure and accounting requirements unique to US government contracts;

26

•
•

financial and compliance audits that may result in potential liability for price adjustments, recoupment of government funds after such funds have been spent, civil and criminal
penalties, or administrative sanctions such as suspension or debarment from doing business with the US government;
public disclosures of certain contract and company information; and

•

mandatory socioeconomic compliance requirements, including labor requirements, non-discrimination and affirmative action programs and environmental compliance requirements.
If we fail to comply with these requirements, our contracts may be subject to termination, and we may be subject to financial and/or other liability under our contracts or under the
Federal Civil False Claims Act (the "False Claims Act"). The False Claims Act’s “whistleblower” provisions allow private individuals, including present and former employees, to sue on behalf
of the US government. The False Claims Act statute provides for treble damages and other penalties, and if our operations are found to be in violation of the False Claims Act, we could face
other adverse action, including suspension or prohibition from doing business with the US government. Any penalties, damages, fines, suspension or damages could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our financial results.
Department of Transportation Regulations
We operate in the US pursuant to operating authority granted by the US Department of Transportation (the “DOT”). Our drivers must comply with the safety and fitness regulations
of the DOT, including those relating to drug and alcohol testing and hours of service. Such matters as equipment weight and dimensions are also subject to government regulations. Our
safety record could be ranked poorly compared to peer firms. A poor safety ranking may result in the loss of customers or difficulty attracting and retaining qualified drivers which could affect
our results of operations. Should additional rules be enacted in the future, compliance with such rules could result in additional costs.
Anti-Corruption Laws and Regulations
We are subject to various anti-corruption laws that prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to foreign governments and their officials by a US person for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business. We operate in countries that may present a more corruptible business environment than the US Such activities create the risk of unauthorized payments or
offers of payments by one of our employees or agents that could be in violation of various laws, including the FCPA. We have implemented safeguards and policies to discourage these
practices by our employees and agents. However, existing safeguards and any future improvements may prove to be ineffective and employees or agents may engage in conduct for which
we might be held responsible.
If employees violate our policies or we fail to maintain adequate record-keeping and internal accounting practices to accurately record our transactions, we may be subject to
regulatory sanctions. Violations of the FCPA or other anti-corruption laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions and penalties, including suspension or debarment from US
government contracting, and we may be subject to other liabilities which could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. We are also subject to
similar anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictions.
Environmental Laws and Regulations
We are subject to a variety of national, state, regional and local environmental laws and regulations. Among other things, these laws and regulations impose limitations and
prohibitions on the discharge and emission of, and establish standards for the use, disposal and management of, regulated materials and waste and impose liabilities for the costs of
investigating and cleaning up, and damages resulting from, present and past spills, disposals or other releases of hazardous substances or materials. In the ordinary course of business, we
use and generate substances that are regulated or may be hazardous under environmental laws. We have an inherent risk of liability under environmental laws and regulations, both with
respect to ongoing operations and with respect to contamination that may have occurred in the past on our properties or as a result of our operations. For example, we own, transport and
rent tanks and boxes in which waste materials are placed by our customers. Although we have a policy which, with certain limited exceptions, requires customers to return tanks and
containers clean of any substances, they may fail to comply with these obligations. Additionally, we may provide waste hauling services, which involves environmental risks during transport.
While we endeavor to comply with all regulatory requirements, from time to time, our operations or conditions on properties that we have acquired have resulted in liabilities under these
environmental laws. We may in the future incur material costs to comply with environmental laws or sustain material liabilities from claims concerning noncompliance or contamination.
Under certain environmental laws, we could be held responsible for all of the costs relating to any contamination at, or migration to or from, our or our predecessors' past or present facilities.
These laws often impose liability even if the owner, operator or lessor did not know of, or was not responsible for, the release of such hazardous substances. We have no reserves for any
such liabilities.
We are also required to obtain environmental permits from governmental authorities for certain of our operations. If we violate or fail to obtain or comply with these laws,
regulations, or permits, we could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators. We could also become liable if employees or other parties are improperly exposed to hazardous materials.
In addition, ongoing governmental review of hydraulic fracturing (“fracking”) and its environmental impact could lead to changes to this activity or its substantial curtailment, which
could adversely affect our revenue and results of operations. Approximately 2% of our consolidated rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 was related to customers involved
in the upstream exploration and production of oil and natural gas. A portion of this revenue involves rentals to customers that use the fracking method to extract natural gas. The US
Environmental Protection Agency has issued regulations or guidance regarding certain aspects of the process. Other federal, state and local governments and
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governmental agencies also investigate and/or regulate fracking. Additional governmental regulation could result in increased costs of compliance or the curtailment of fracking in the future,
which would adversely affect our revenue and results of operations.
We cannot predict what environmental legislation or regulations will be enacted in the future, how existing or future laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted, or what
environmental conditions may be found to exist at our facilities or at third party sites for which we may be liable. Enactment of stricter laws or regulations, stricter interpretations of existing
laws and regulations or the requirement to undertake the investigation or remediation of currently unknown environmental contamination at sites we own or third-party sites may require us
to make additional expenditures, some of which could be material.

Our customer base includes customers operating in a variety of industries which may be subject to changes in their competitive environment as a result of
the global, national or local economic climate in which they operate and/or economic or financial disruptions to their industry.
Our customer base includes customers operating in a variety of industries, including commercial and industrial, construction, education, energy and natural resources, government,
retail and other end markets. Many of these customers, across this wide range of industries, are facing economic and/or financial pressure from changes to their industry resulting from the
global, national and local economic climate in which they operate and industry‑specific economic and financial disruptions, including, in some cases, consolidation and lower sales revenue
from physical locations, resulting from the impact of the COVID‑19 pandemic and the related changes in political, social and economic conditions. These and any future changes to any of
the industries in which our customers operate could cause them to rent fewer units from us or otherwise be unable to satisfy their obligations to us. In addition, certain of our customers are
facing financial pressure and such pressure, from COVID‑19 or other factors, may result in consolidation in some industries and/or an increase in bankruptcy filings by certain customers.
Each of these facts and industry impacts, individually or in the aggregate, could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

Our operational measures designed to increase revenue while continuing to control operating costs may not generate the expected improvements and
efficiencies and may not drive growth or returns.
We continually initiate new operational processes designed to increase revenue while continuing to pursue our strategy of reducing operating costs where available. Additionally,
we employ a hybrid sales strategy of using local sales people in addition to a centralized call center team designed to meet customer needs and drive revenue growth. However, no
assurance can be given that these strategies will achieve the desired goals and efficiencies in the future. The success of these strategies is somewhat dependent on a number of factors
that are beyond our control.
Even if we carry out these processes in the manner we currently expect, we may not achieve the improvements or efficiencies we anticipate, or on the timetable we anticipate.
There may be unforeseen productivity, revenue or other consequences resulting from our strategies that will adversely affect us or impact our strategies for asset management. Therefore,
there can be no guarantee that our strategies will prove effective in achieving desired profitability, margins, or returns on capital employed. Additionally, these strategies may have adverse
consequences if our cost cutting and operational changes are deemed by customers to adversely impact product quality or service levels.

We may not be able to adequately protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights that are material to our business.
Our ability to compete effectively depends in part upon protection of our rights in trademarks, copyrights and other intellectual property rights we own or license, including patents to
the Mobile Mini locking system. Our use of contractual provisions, confidentiality procedures and agreements, and trademark, copyright, unfair competition, trade secret and other laws to
protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights may not be adequate. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights and protect our proprietary
information and patents, or to defend against claims by third parties that our services or our use of intellectual property infringe their intellectual property rights. Any litigation or claims
brought by or against us could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources. A successful claim of trademark, copyright or other intellectual property infringement against us could
prevent us from providing services, which could harm our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, a breakdown in our internal policies and procedures may lead to
an unintentional disclosure of our proprietary, confidential or material non‑public information, which could in turn harm our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our operations could be subject to natural disasters and other business disruptions, which could materially adversely affect our information systems, future
revenue, financial condition, cash flows and increase our costs and expenses.
Our operations could be subject to natural disasters and other business disruptions such as pandemics, fires, floods, hurricanes, earthquakes and terrorism, which could adversely
affect our information systems, future revenue, financial condition, and cash flows and increase our costs and expenses. See "Our operations may be adversely impacted as a result of
COVID-19." In addition, the occurrence and threat of terrorist attacks may directly or indirectly affect economic conditions, which could adversely affect demand for our products and
services. In the event of a major natural or man-made disaster, we could experience loss of life of our employees, destruction of facilities or business interruptions, any of which may
materially
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adversely affect our business. If any of our facilities or a significant amount of our rental equipment were to experience a catastrophic loss, it could disrupt our operations, delay orders,
shipments and revenue recognition and result in expenses to repair or replace the damaged rental equipment and facility not covered by asset, liability, business continuity or other
insurance contracts. Also, we could face significant increases in premiums or losses of coverage due to the loss experienced during and associated with these and potential future natural or
man-made disasters that may materially adversely affect our business. In addition, attacks or armed conflicts that directly impact one or more of our properties could significantly affect our
ability to operate those properties and thereby impair our results of operations.
In general, any of these events could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease or result in increased volatility in the global economy and worldwide financial markets.
Any such occurrence could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may incur property, casualty or other losses not covered by our insurance.
We are partly self-insured for a number of different risk categories, such as property, general liability (including product liability), workers' compensation, automobile claims, crime,
and cyber liability, with insurance coverage for certain catastrophic risks. The types and amounts of insurance may vary from time to time based on our decisions with respect to risk
retention and regulatory requirements. The occurrence of significant claims, a substantial rise in costs to maintain our insurance, or the failure to maintain adequate insurance coverage
could have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We may not be able to redeploy our units effectively should a significant number of our leased units be returned during a short period of time, which could
adversely affect our financial performance.
While our typical lease terms include contractual provisions requiring customers to retain units on lease for a specified period, our customers generally rent their units for periods
longer than the contractual lease terms. As of December 31, 2020, the average lease duration of our lease portfolio was approximately 32 months. If a significant number of leased units are
returned in a short period of time, a large supply of units would need to be remarketed. Our failure to effectively remarket a large influx of units returning from leases could materially
adversely affect our financial performance.

Failure to close our unit sales transactions as we project could cause our actual revenue or cash flow for a particular fiscal period to differ from expectations.
Sales of new and used modular space and portable storage units to customers represented approximately 6.7% of WillScot Mobile Mini's revenue during the year ended December
31, 2020. Sale transactions are subject to certain factors that are beyond our control, including permit requirements, the timely completion of prerequisite work by others and weather
conditions. Accordingly, the actual timing of the completion of these transactions may take longer than we expect. As a result, our actual revenue and cash flow in a particular fiscal period
may not consistently correlate to our internal operational plans and budgets. If we are unable to accurately predict the timing of these sales, we may fail to take advantage of business and
growth opportunities otherwise available, and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows may be materially adversely affected.

Certain of our warrants are accounted for as liabilities and the changes in the fair values of the warrants could have a material effect on our financial results.
The Company accounts for (i) the 2015 Private Warrants as liabilities for all periods presented, (ii) the 2015 Public Warrants as liabilities through the first quarter of 2020 and (iii) the
2018 Warrants as liabilities until June 30, 2020, the date all issued and outstanding shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock were cancelled. Prior to the SEC Staff Statement on
April 12, 2021, the Company had previously accounted for its Warrants as components of equity, consistent with common market practice. Under liability accounting treatment, the Company
is required to measure the fair value of the warrants at the end of each reporting period and recognize changes in the fair value from the prior period in the Company's operating results for
the current period. Fluctuations in the fair value of our Warrants are primarily driven by changes in our stock price. As a result of this recurring fair value measurement, our financial
statements and results of operations may fluctuate quarterly based on factors which are outside our control. We expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses due to the quarterly
mark-to-market of our Warrants and that such gains or losses could be material and may not be reflective of the performance of our underlying business operations.

A material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting related to our accounting for warrants was determined to exist. If we are unable to
maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results, which could lead to a loss of investor
confidence in our financial statements and have an adverse effect on our stock price.
Following the issuance of the SEC Staff Statement on April 12, 2021, management of the Company concluded that the Company’s previously issued consolidated financial
statements should be restated to conform our accounting for warrants with the SEC Staff Statement. In connection with the restatement, a material weakness in internal control over
financial reporting related to the accounting for the warrants was determined to exist.
The Company’s management has completed the restatement for warrant accounting and has developed and implemented a remediation plan to address the material weakness.
However, we cannot assure you that the testing of the
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operational effectiveness of the new control will be complete within a specific timeframe. There can be no assurances that the accounting for warrants and other financial instruments will not
change in the future and require restatement of previously accepted accounting positions.
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable and accurate financial statements and to effectively prevent fraud. We devote significant resources and time to
comply with the internal control over financial reporting requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as amended (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"). There is no assurance that material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies will not occur or that we will be successful in adequately remediating any such material weaknesses and significant deficiencies. We may in the future
discover areas of our internal controls that need improvement. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in maintaining adequate internal control over our financial reporting and
financial processes. Furthermore, as we grow our business, including through acquisition, our internal controls will become more complex, and we will require significantly more resources to
ensure our internal controls remain effective. Additionally, the existence of any material weakness or significant deficiency would require management to devote significant time and incur
significant expense to remediate any such material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and management may not be able to remediate any such material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies in a timely manner. The existence of any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting could also result in errors in our financial statements that could require
us to restate our financial statements, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, subject us to investigations from regulatory authorities or cause stockholders to lose confidence in
our reported financial information, all of which could materially and adversely affect us.

Risks Relating to Our Capital Structure
Global capital and credit market conditions could materially and adversely affect our ability to access the capital and credit markets or the ability of key
counterparties to perform their obligations to us.
Although we believe the banks participating in our credit facility have adequate capital and resources, we can provide no assurance that all of those banks will continue to operate
as a going concern in the future. If any of the banks in our lending group were to fail, it is possible that the borrowing capacity under our facility would be reduced. Practical, legal and tax
limitations may also limit our ability to access and service the working capital needs of our businesses. In the event that the availability under our credit facility were reduced significantly, we
could be required to obtain capital from alternate sources to finance our capital needs. The options for addressing such capital constraints would include, among others, obtaining
commitments from the remaining banks in the lending group or from new banks to fund increased amounts under the terms of our credit facility, and seeking to access the public capital
markets. In addition, we may delay certain capex to ensure that we maintain appropriate levels of liquidity. If it became necessary to access additional capital, any such alternatives could
have terms less favorable than those terms under our credit facility, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
In addition, in the future we may need to raise additional funds to, among other things, refinance existing indebtedness, fund existing operations, improve or expand our operations,
respond to competitive pressures or make acquisitions. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to achieve our business or strategic objectives or
compete effectively. Our ability to pursue certain future opportunities may depend in part on our ongoing access to debt and equity capital markets. We cannot assure you that any such
financing will be available on terms satisfactory to us or at all. If we are unable to obtain financing on acceptable terms, we may have to curtail our growth by, among other things, curtailing
the expansion of our fleet of units or our acquisition strategy. Additionally, future credit market conditions could increase the likelihood that one or more of our lenders may be unable to hone
their commitments under our credit facility, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Economic disruptions affecting key counterparties could also materially adversely affect our business. We monitor the financial strength of our larger customers, derivative
counterparties, lenders, vendors, service providers and insurance carriers on a periodic basis using publicly-available information to evaluate our exposure to those who have or who we
believe may likely experience significant threats to their ability to adequately perform their obligations to us. The information available will differ from counterparty to counterparty and may be
insufficient for us to adequately interpret or evaluate our exposure and/or determine appropriate or timely responses.

Our leverage may make it difficult for us to service our debt and operate our business.
As of December 31, 2020, we had $2,454.6 million of total indebtedness, excluding deferred financing fees and finance leases, consisting of $1,304.6 million of borrowings under
our 2020 ABL Facility, $650.0 million of our 2025 Secured Notes, and $500.0 million of our 2028 Secured Notes. Our leverage could have important consequences, including
•
making it more difficult to satisfy our obligations with respect to our various debt and liabilities;
•

requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to debt payments, thus reducing the availability of cash flow to fund internal growth through working
capital and capex on our existing fleet or a new fleet and for other general corporate purposes;

•
•

increasing our vulnerability to a downturn in our business or adverse economic or industry conditions;
placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt in relation to cash flow and that, therefore, may be able to take advantage of
opportunities that our leverage would prevent us from pursuing;
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•

limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and industry;

•
•

restricting us from pursuing strategic acquisitions or exploiting certain business opportunities or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures; and
limiting our ability to borrow additional funds or raise equity capital in the future and increasing the costs of such additional financings.

Our ability to meet our debt service obligations or to refinance our debt depends on our future operating and financial performance, which will be affected by our ability to
successfully implement our business strategy as well as general economic, financial, competitive, regulatory and other factors beyond our control. If our business does not generate
sufficient cash flow from operations, or if future borrowings are not available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs, we may
need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before its maturity, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments or seek to raise additional capital, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our operations. In addition, we may not be able to affect any of these actions, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any refinancing of our debt
could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. The terms of our existing or future debt
instruments may limit or prevent us from taking any of these actions. If we default on the payments required under the terms of certain of our indebtedness, that indebtedness, together with
debt incurred pursuant to other debt agreements or instruments that contain cross-default or cross-acceleration provisions, may become payable on demand, and we may not have sufficient
funds to repay all of our debts. As a result, our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt service obligations, or to refinance or restructure our obligations on commercially
reasonable terms or at all, would have an adverse effect, which could be material, on our business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as on our ability to satisfy our debt
obligations.

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries will still be able to incur significant additional amounts of debt, which could further
exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial indebtedness.
We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional debt in the future. Although the credit agreement that governs our credit facility and the indentures that govern
our outstanding notes contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional debt, these restrictions are subject to a number of significant qualifications and exceptions, and under certain
circumstances, the amount of debt that we could incur in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. In addition, the credit agreement that governs our credit facility and the
indentures do not prevent us from incurring other obligations that do not constitute indebtedness under those agreements. If we add debt to our and our subsidiaries’ existing debt levels, the
risks associated with our substantial indebtedness described above, including our possible inability to service our debt, will increase.

We are subject to and may, in the future become subject to, covenants that limit our operating and financial flexibility and, if we default under our debt
covenants, we may not be able to meet our payment obligations.
The credit agreement that governs our credit facility and the indentures that govern our outstanding notes, as well as any instruments that govern any future debt obligations,
contain covenants that impose significant restrictions on the way our subsidiaries can operate, including restrictions on the ability to:
• incur or guarantee additional debt and issue certain types of stock;
• create or incur certain liens;
• make certain payments, including dividends or other distributions, with respect to our equity securities;
• prepay or redeem junior debt;
• make certain investments or acquisitions, including participating in joint ventures;
• engage in certain transactions with affiliates;
• create unrestricted subsidiaries;
• create encumbrances or restrictions on the payment of dividends or other distributions, loans or advances to, and on
the transfer of, assets to the issuer or any restricted subsidiary;
• sell assets, consolidate or merge with or into other companies;
• sell or transfer all or substantially all our assets or those of our subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; and
• issue or sell share capital of certain subsidiaries.
Although these limitations are subject to significant exceptions and qualifications, these covenants could limit our ability to finance future operations and capital needs and our
ability to pursue acquisitions and other business activities that may be in our interest. Our subsidiaries’ ability to comply with these covenants and restrictions may be affected by events
beyond our control. These include prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. If any of our subsidiaries default on their obligations under our credit facility or our secured notes,
then the relevant lenders or holders could elect to declare the debt, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees, if any, immediately due and payable and proceed against any
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collateral securing that debt. If the debt under our credit facility, the indentures or any other material financing arrangement that we enter into were to be accelerated, our assets may be
insufficient to repay in full such indebtedness.
The credit agreement that governs our credit facility also requires our subsidiaries to satisfy specified financial maintenance tests in the event that we do not satisfy certain excess
liquidity requirements. Deterioration in our operating results, as well as events beyond our control, including increases in raw materials prices and unfavorable economic conditions, could
affect the ability to meet these tests, and we cannot assure that we will meet these tests. If an event of default occurs under our credit facility, the lenders could terminate their commitments
and declare all amounts borrowed, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable. Borrowings under other debt instruments that contain
cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions also may be accelerated or become payable on demand. In these circumstances, our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full that
indebtedness and our other indebtedness then outstanding.
The amount of borrowings permitted at any time under our credit facility is subject to compliance with limits based on a periodic borrowing base valuation of the collateral
thereunder. As a result, our access to credit under the credit facility is subject to potential fluctuations depending on the value of the borrowing base of eligible assets as of any measurement
date, as well as certain discretionary rights of the agent in respect of the calculation of such borrowing base value. As a result of any change in valuation, the availability under the credit
facility may be reduced, or we may be required to make a repayment of the credit facility, which may be significant. The inability to borrow under the credit facility or the use of available cash
to repay the credit facility as a result of a valuation change may adversely affect our liquidity, results of operations and financial position.

The uncertainty regarding the potential phase-out of LIBOR may negatively impact our operating results.
LIBOR, the interest rate benchmark used as a reference rate on our variable rate debt, including our credit facility and interest rate swaps, is expected to be phased out after 2021,
when private-sector banks are no longer required to report the information used to set the rate. Without this data, LIBOR may no longer be published, or the lack of quality and quantity of
data may cause the rate to no longer be representative of the market. At this time, no consensus exists as to what rate or rates will become accepted alternatives to LIBOR, although the US
Federal Reserve, in connection with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee ("ARRC"), a steering committee comprised of large US financial institutions, is considering replacing US
dollar LIBOR with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"). SOFR is a more generic measure than LIBOR and considers the cost of borrowing cash overnight, collateralized by US
Treasury securities. Given the inherent differences between LIBOR and SOFR or any other alternative benchmark rate that may be established, there are many uncertainties regarding a
transition from LIBOR, including but not limited to the need to amend all contracts with LIBOR as the referenced rate and how this will impact our cost of variable rate debt and derivative
financial instruments. We will also need to consider new contracts and if they should reference an alternative benchmark rate or include suggested fallback language, as published by the
ARRC. The consequences of these developments with respect to LIBOR cannot be entirely predicted and span multiple future periods but could result in an increase in the cost of our
variable rate debt or derivative financial instruments which may be detrimental to our financial position or operating results.

Our largest stockholder may have the ability to influence our business and matters requiring approval by our stockholders.
Sapphire Holding, which is controlled by TDR Capital, beneficially owns approximately 26% of the issued and outstanding shares of our Common Stock and warrants giving it the
right to buy 2,425,000 additional shares of our Common Stock. Pursuant to a stockholders agreement entered into on July 1, 2020, by and among us and TDR Capital and certain of its
affiliates, including Sapphire Holding, TDR Capital has the right to nominate two directors to our Board of Directors, for so long as TDR Capital beneficially owns at least 15% of our
Common Stock and one director for so long as TDR Capital beneficially owns at least 5% of our Common Stock. Two directors nominated by Sapphire Holding currently serve on our Board
of Directors. Sapphire Holding may have the ability to influence matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election and removal of directors, amendments to our certificate
of incorporation and bylaws, any proposed merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets and certain other corporate transactions. Sapphire Holding may have interests
that are different from those of other stockholders.
In August 2018, Sapphire Holding pledged all of the shares of WillScot’s Class A Common Stock that it owned as security for a margin loan under which Sapphire Holding
borrowed $125.0 million (the "Margin Loan"). The Margin Loan was scheduled to mature on August 23, 2020. On August 21, 2020, Sapphire Holdings entered into an amended and restated
margin loan agreement which, among other things, extends the maturity date of the Margin Loan to August 29, 2022. As of December 31, 2020, 59,725,558 shares of Common Stock are
pledged to secure repayment of amounts outstanding under the Margin Loan. An event of default under the Margin Loan could result in the foreclosure on the pledged securities and
another stockholder beneficially owning a significant amount of our Common Stock. There can be no assurance that Sapphire Holdings will be able to extend, repay or refinance the loan on
terms acceptable to it or at all.

32

The historical market price of WillScot Mobile Mini’s Common Stock has been volatile and the market price of our Common Stock may continue to be volatile
and the value of your investment may decline.
The historical market price of our Common Stock has been volatile and the market price of our Common Stock may continue to be volatile moving forward. Volatility may cause
wide fluctuations in the price of our Common Stock on Nasdaq. The market price of our Common Stock is likely to be affected by:
• changes in general conditions in the economy, geopolitical events or the financial markets;
• variations in our quarterly operating results;
• changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;
• our share repurchase or dividend policies;
• other developments affecting us, our industry, customers or competitors;
• changes in demand for our products or the prices we charge due to changes in economic conditions, competition or other factors;
• general economic conditions in the markets where we operate;
• the cyclical nature of our customers’ businesses and certain end markets that we service;
• rental rate changes in response to competitive factors;
• bankruptcy or insolvency of our customers, thereby reducing demand for our used units;
• seasonal rental patterns;
• acquisitions or divestitures and related costs;
• labor shortages, work stoppages or other labor difficulties;
• possible unrecorded liabilities of acquired companies;
•
possible write‑offs or exceptional charges due to changes in applicable accounting standards, goodwill impairment, or divestiture or impairment of assets;
• the operating and stock price performance of companies that investors deem comparable to us;
• the number of shares available for resale in the public markets under applicable securities laws; and
• the composition of our shareholder base.

ITEM 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 2.

Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Phoenix, Arizona. Prior to the Merger with Mobile Mini, WillScot's corporate headquarters were located in Baltimore, Maryland. Our
executive, financial, accounting, legal, administrative, management information systems, and human resources functions operate from these two leased offices.
We operate approximately 275 branch locations and additional drop lots across the US, Canada, Mexico, and the UK. Collectively, we lease approximately 84% of our branch
properties and own the remaining balance.
Our management believes that none of our properties, on an individual basis, is material to our operations, and we also believe that satisfactory alternative properties could be
found in all of our markets, if ever necessary.
Subject to certain exceptions, substantially all of our owned real and personal property in the US and Canada is encumbered under our credit facility and our secured notes. We do
not believe that the encumbrances will materially detract from the value of our properties, or materially interfere with their use in the operation of our business.

ITEM 3.

Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various lawsuits, claims, and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. These matters involve, among other things, disputes with vendors
or customers, personnel and employment matters, and personal injury. We assess these matters on a case-by-case basis as they arise and establish reserves as required.
As of December 31, 2020, there were no material pending legal proceedings in which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or to which any of our property is subject.
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ITEM 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Common Stock
Our Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “WSC.” Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of 500,000,000 shares of Common
Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. The Company had 229,038,158 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020. The outstanding shares of the
Company's Common Stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. As of December 31, 2020, no shares of
Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, and no designation of rights and preferences of preferred stock had been adopted. Our preferred stock is not quoted on any market or system,
and there is not currently a market for our preferred stock.

2015 Warrants
The Company issued warrants to purchase Common Stock as components of units sold in its initial public offering (the “2015 Public Warrants”). The Company also issued warrants
to purchase its Common Stock in a private placement concurrently with its initial public offering (the “2015 Private Warrants,” and together with the 2015 Public Warrants, the "2015
Warrants"). The 2015 Private Warrants are identical to the 2015 Public Warrants, except that, if held by original investors (or their permitted assignees), the 2015 Private Warrants may be
exercised on a cashless basis and are not subject to redemption. Each 2015 Warrant entitles its holder to purchase one half of one share of our Common Stock in accordance with its terms.
The 2015 Warrants became exercisable on December 29, 2017 and expire on November 29, 2022.
Pursuant to the warrant agreement, dated as of September 10, 2015 between Double Eagle Acquisition Corp. (defined below) and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company
(the “2015 Warrant Agreement”), WillScot’s share price performance target was achieved on January 21, 2020 and, on January 24, 2020, WillScot delivered a notice (the "Warrant
Redemption Notice") to redeem all of its 2015 Public Warrants that remained unexercised on February 24, 2020. As described in the Redemption Notice and permitted under the 2015
Warrant Agreement, holders of these 2015 Public Warrants who exercised them following the date of the Redemption Notice were required to do so on a cashless basis. From January 1,
2020 through January 24, 2020, 796,610 2015 Public Warrants were exercised for cash, resulting in WillScot receiving cash proceeds of $4.6 million and issuing 398,305 shares of Common
Stock. Between January 24, 2020 and February 24, 2020, 5,836,048 2015 Public Warrants were exercised on a cashless basis. An aggregate of 1,097,162 shares of Common Stock was
issued in connection with these cashless exercises. Thereafter, the Company completed the redemption of 38,509 remaining 2015 Public Warrants under the Redemption Notice for $0.01
per warrant. As of December 31, 2020, no 2015 Public Warrants were outstanding.
As of December 31, 2020, there were 12,710,000 2015 Private Warrants outstanding. The 2015 Private Warrants have not traded in an established public trading market within the
two most recent fiscal years.

2018 Warrants
On August 15, 2018, WillScot issued warrants ("the 2018 Warrants") to the former ModSpace shareholders as part of the acquisition of ModSpace. Our 2018 Warrants are listed on
an OTC Markets Group, Inc. Pink Open Market under the symbol "WSCTW." Over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or
commission, and may not represent actual transactions.
Each 2018 Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one share of WillScot Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $15.50 per share, subject to potential adjustment.
The 2018 Warrants were not exercisable or transferable until February 11, 2019 and expire on November 29, 2022. As of December 31, 2020, 9,730,241 2018 Warrants were outstanding.
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Holders
As of December 31, 2020, there were 47 holders of record of our Common Stock, no holders of record of our Preferred Stock, 8 holders of record of our 2015 Warrants, and 37
holders of record of our 2018 Warrants. The number of holders of record does not include a substantially greater number of “street name” holders or beneficial holders whose Common
Stock or warrants are held of record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Dividend Policy
To date, we have not declared or paid dividends on our common stock. We have strong recurring cash flows, which gives us flexibility in how we allocate capital, and we review the
appropriate mix of growth investments, debt reduction, and returns to shareholders on an ongoing basis. Declaration or payment of dividends, if any, in the future, will be at the discretion of
our Board of Directors and will depend on our then current financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans
On July 2, 2020, we filed a registration statement on Form S-8 registering 6,488,988 shares of Common Stock, relating to awards to be undertaken in the future, with such vesting
conditions, as applicable, to be determined in accordance with the WillScot Mobile Mini 2020 Incentive Award Plan (the "2020 Incentive Plan"). The following types of awards can be issued
under the 2020 Incentive Plan: non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance compensation
awards and stock bonus awards. See Note 18 in Part II, Item 8 herein for additional information.
Number of securities to be issued upon
exercise of outstanding options, warrants
and rights

Plan Category
As of December 31, 2020:
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
Total

Weighted-average exercise price of
outstanding options, warrants, and rights

Number of securities remaining available for
issuance under equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in column
(a))

2,043,695

$

13.83

4,422,773

—
2,043,695

$
$

—
13.83

—
4,422,773

Repurchases
On August 7, 2020, our Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program that authorizes us to repurchase up to $250 million of our outstanding shares of Common Stock
and equivalents. The stock repurchase program does not obligate us to purchase any particular number of shares, and the timing and exact amount of any repurchases will depend on
various factors, including market pricing and conditions, business, legal, accounting, and other considerations.
We may repurchase our shares in open market transactions from time to time or through privately negotiated transactions in accordance with federal securities laws, at our
discretion. The repurchase program, which has no expiration date, may be increased, suspended, or terminated at any time. The program is expected to be implemented over the course of
several years and is conducted subject to the covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, no shares of Common Stock were repurchased, and the Company repurchased $35.3 million warrants and share equivalents, including
withholding taxes on net share settlements of employee stock awards.
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2015 Warrants
The following information describes repurchases of the 2015 Warrants during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2020:

Period
October 1, 2020 - October 31, 2020
November 1, 2020 - November 30, 2020
December 1, 2020 - December 31, 2020
Total

Total Number of 2015
Warrants Purchased
—
1,650,000
3,131,700
4,781,700

Average price paid per
warrant
$
—
$
3.52
$
5.03

Total number of warrants
purchased as part of a
publicly announced plan
—
—
—
—

Maximum number of
warrants that may yet be
purchased under the plan
17,561,700
15,841,700
12,710,000
12,710,000

2018 Warrants
The following information describes the repurchases of the 2018 Warrants during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2020:

Period
October 1, 2020 - October 31, 2020
November 1, 2020 - November 30, 2020
December 1, 2020 - December 31, 2020
Total

Total Number of 2018
Warrants Purchased
—
37,156
14,709
51,865

Average price paid per
warrant
$
—
$
5.57
$
5.93
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Total number of warrants
purchased as part of a
publicly announced plan
—
—
—
—

Maximum number of
warrants that may yet be
purchased under the plan
9,782,106
9,744,950
9,730,241
9,730,241

Performance Graph
The following stock price performance graph should not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this Annual Report on Form 10K into any filing under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this information by reference and shall not otherwise
be deemed filed under such acts.
The graph below compares the cumulative total return of our Common Stock from January 1, 2016, through December 31, 2020, with the comparable cumulative return of two
indices, the Russell 2000 and the Nasdaq US Benchmark TR Index. The graph plots the growth in value of an initial investment in each of our common shares, the Russell 2000 Index, and
the Nasdaq US Benchmark Index over the indicated time periods, and assumes reinvestment of all dividends, if any, paid on the securities. We have not paid any cash dividends and,
therefore, the cumulative total return calculation for us is based solely upon share price appreciation and not upon reinvestment of cash dividends. The share price performance shown on
the graph is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.
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ITEM 6.

Selected Financial Data

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the three years in the period ending
December 31, 2020 have been restated to conform with the SEC Staff Statement related to accounting for warrants.
WillScot was incorporated under the name Double Eagle Acquisition Corporation ("Double Eagle") on June 26, 2015. Prior to November 29, 2017, Double Eagle was a Nasdaqlisted special purpose acquisition company. On November 29, 2017, Double Eagle acquired Williams Scotsman International, Inc. (“WSII”) from Algeco Scotsman Global S.à r.l., which is
majority owned by an investment fund managed by TDR Capital (the “Business Combination”). In connection with the Business Combination, Double Eagle domesticated to Delaware and
changed its name to WillScot Corporation.
On December 20, 2017, WSII acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding ownership of Acton Mobile Holdings LLC.
On August 15, 2018, WSII acquired ModSpace. Results of operations from ModSpace subsequent to the acquisition are included in our consolidated operating results.
On July 1, 2020, WillScot Corporation merged with Mobile Mini, Inc. Results of operations from Mobile Mini, Inc. subsequent to the Merger are included in our consolidated
operating results.
As a result of the Merger, we evaluated our operating structure and, accordingly, our segment structure and determined we operate in four reportable segments as follows: North
America Modular Solutions ("NA Modular"), North America Storage Solutions ("NA Storage"), United Kingdom Storage Solutions ("UK Storage") and Tank and Pump Solutions ("Tank and
Pump"). The NA Modular segment aligns with the WillScot legacy business prior to the Merger and the NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and Pump segments align with the Mobile Mini
segments prior to the Merger.
In connection with the Merger, we determined our reportable segments as discussed above and retrospectively adjusted prior years' presentation to conform to the current
presentation of reportable segments.
The following selected historical financial information should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” The selected historical financial information in this section is not intended to replace WillScot Mobile Mini’s consolidated
financial statements and the related notes.
Consolidated Results
2020
(as restated)

(in thousands)
Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total revenues
Costs:
Costs of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Costs of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment
Gross profit

$

Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Transaction costs
Other depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses on long-lived assets
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As of and for the Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018
(as restated)
(as restated)

1,001,447
274,156

$

744,185
220,057

$

518,235
154,557

53,093
38,949
1,367,645

59,085
40,338
1,063,665

53,603
25,017
751,412

227,376
220,102

213,151
194,107

143,120
143,950

34,841
24,772
200,581
659,973

42,160
26,255
174,679
413,313

36,863
16,659
121,436
289,384

360,626
64,053
43,249
—

271,004
—
12,395
2,848

234,820
20,051
13,304
1,600

Lease impairment expense and other related charges
Restructuring costs
Currency (gains) losses, net
Other income, net
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Income (loss) before tax
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini

$

4,876
6,527
(355)
(1,718)
182,715
119,886
(3,461)
42,401
23,889
(51,451)
75,340
1,213
74,127 $

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini – basic
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini – diluted

$
$

0.44
0.25

$
$

(1.11) $
(1.11) $

(0.29)
(0.53)

Cash Flow Data:
Net cash from operating activities
Net cash from investing activities
Net cash from financing activities

$
$
$

304,812 $
(125,360) $
(158,958) $

172,566 $
(152,582) $
(26,063) $

37,149
(1,217,202)
1,180,037

Other Financial Data:
Adjusted EBITDA - NA Modular(a)
Adjusted EBITDA - NA Storage(a)
Adjusted EBITDA - UK Storage(a)
Adjusted EBITDA - Tank and Pump(a)
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA(a)
Free Cash Flow(a)
Adjusted Gross Profit(a)
Net CAPEX(a)
Balance Sheet Data (end of year):
Cash and cash equivalents
Rental equipment, net
Total assets
Total debt, excluding current portion
Total shareholders’ equity

8,674
3,755
(688)
(2,200)
117,525
122,504
109,622
8,755
(123,356)
(2,191)
(121,165)
(421)
(120,744) $

—
15,468
2,454
(4,574)
6,261
98,433
(23,830)
—
(68,342)
(38,600)
(29,742)
(4,532)
(25,210)

$
$
$
$
$

394,805
99,837
17,822
17,843
530,307

$
$
$
$
$

356,548
—
—
—
356,548

$
$
$
$
$

215,533
—
—
—
215,533

$
$
$

162,279
860,554
142,533

$
$
$

19,984
587,992
152,582

$
$
$

(96,907)
410,820
134,056

$
$
$
$
$

24,937
2,933,722
5,572,205
2,453,809
2,063,873

$
$
$
$
$

3,045
1,944,436
2,897,649
1,632,589
490,609

$
$
$
$
$

8,958
1,929,290
2,752,485
1,674,540
593,665

(a) WillScot Mobile Mini presents Adjusted EBITDA, Free Cash Flow, Adjusted Gross Profit and Net CAPEX, which are measurements not calculated in accordance with GAAP and are defined below in the section
"Reconciliation of non-GAAP Financial Measures," because they are key metrics used by management to assess financial performance. Our business is capital intensive, and these additional metrics allow
management to further evaluate its operating performance. See below for reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures.
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Quarterly Consolidated Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(in thousands, except for units on rent and monthly rental rate)

Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Net CAPEX
Modular space units on rent (average during the period)
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Portable storage units on rent (average during the period)
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization
based on original equipment cost

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
255,821
106,190
89,544
30,540
87,989
69.2 %
653
16,346
64.1 %
119

Q2
256,862
109,964
97,520
36,383
87,096
68.5 %
669
15,869
62.5 %
120

$
$
$
$

$

$

—%

$
$
$
$

$

$

—%

Q3
417,315
209,564
163,559
33,323
111,227
70.6 %
640
143,840
73.2 %
131

$
$
$
$

$

$

58.2 %

Q4
437,647
234,255
179,684
42,287
111,793
70.9 %
670
160,538
81.2 %
136

$
$
$
$

$

$

65.2 %

Full Year
1,367,645
659,973
530,307
142,533
99,526
70.2 %
658
84,148
75.9 %
132
61.7 %

Quarterly Consolidated Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(in thousands, except for units on rent and monthly rental rate)

Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Net CAPEX
Modular space units on rent (average during the period)
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Portable storage units on rent (average during the period)
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
253,685
103,331
83,354
41,814
93,309
72.4 %
575
17,419
66.1 %
119

Q2
263,713
101,484
87,554
43,199
92,300
71.9 %
611
16,544
63.3 %
121

$
$
$
$

$

$
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$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
268,222
99,308
87,424
37,761
91,233
71.2 %
630
16,416
63.0 %
123

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
278,045
109,190
98,216
29,808
90,013
70.7 %
641
16,944
66.1 %
118

$
$
$
$

$

$

Full Year
1,063,665
413,313
356,548
152,582
91,682
72.0 %
614
16,878
65.8 %
120

Reconciliation of non-GAAP Financial Measures
The following presents definitions and reconciliations to the nearest comparable GAAP measure of certain non-GAAP financial measures used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Adjusted EBITDA
We define EBITDA as net income (loss) plus interest (income) expense, income tax expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization. Our adjusted EBITDA ("Adjusted EBITDA")
reflects the following further adjustments to EBITDA to exclude certain non-cash items and the effect of what we consider transactions or events not related to our core business operations:
•

Currency (gains) losses, net: on monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency. Substantially all such
currency gains (losses) are unrealized and attributable to financings due to and from affiliated companies.

•

Goodwill and other impairment charges related to non-cash costs associated with impairment charges to goodwill, other intangibles, rental fleet and property, plant and
equipment.

•

Restructuring costs, lease impairment expense, and other related charges associated with restructuring plans designed to streamline operations and reduce costs
including employee and lease termination costs.

•
•

Transaction costs including legal and professional fees and other transaction specific related costs.
Costs to integrate acquired companies, including outside professional fees, non-capitalized costs associated with system integrations, non-lease branch and fleet
relocation expenses, employee training costs, and other costs required to realize cost or revenue synergies.

•

Non-cash charges for stock compensation plans.

•
•

Gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value and extinguishment of common stock warrant liabilities.
Other expense includes consulting expenses related to certain one-time projects, financing costs not classified as interest expense, and gains and losses on disposals of
property, plant, and equipment.

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider the measure in isolation or as a substitute for net income (loss), cash flow from operations or
other methods of analyzing WillScot Mobile Mini’s results as reported under US GAAP. Some of these limitations are:
•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for our working capital needs;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments, on our indebtedness;

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our tax expense or the cash requirements to pay our taxes;

•
•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect historical cash expenditures or future requirements for capex or contractual commitments;
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impact on earnings or changes resulting from matters that we consider not to be indicative of our future operations;

•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future and Adjusted
EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

•

other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.
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Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as discretionary cash available to reinvest in the growth of our business or as measures of cash that will
be available to meet our obligations. The following tables provide an unaudited reconciliation of Net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA:
2020
(as restated)
(in thousands)
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Full Year
Net income (loss)
$
91,655 $
(14,130) $
(6,051) $
3,866 $
75,340
Income tax expense (benefit)
790
(285)
(66,675)
14,719
(51,451)
Income (loss) before income tax
92,445
(14,415)
(72,726)
18,585
23,889
Loss on extinguishment of debt
—
—
42,401
—
42,401
Interest expense
28,257
28,519
33,034
30,076
119,886
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant
liabilities
(95,329)
26,963
22,303
42,602
(3,461)
Depreciation and amortization
49,022
48,377
71,704
74,727
243,830
Currency losses (gains), net
898
(380)
(371)
(502)
(355)
Restructuring costs, lease impairment expense
and other related charges
1,601
2,143
4,798
2,861
11,403
Transaction costs
9,431
1,619
52,191
812
64,053
Integration costs
1,685
2,153
7,083
7,417
18,338
Stock compensation expense
1,787
2,227
2,944
2,921
9,879
Other
(253)
314
198
185
444
$
89,544 $
97,520 $
163,559 $
179,684 $
530,307
Adjusted EBITDA

2019
(in thousands)
Net loss
Income tax expense (benefit)
Loss before income tax
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Interest expense
Fair value loss on common stock warrant
liabilities
Depreciation and amortization
Currency (gains) losses, net
Goodwill and other impairment charges
Restructuring costs, lease impairment expense
and other related charges
Integration costs
Stock compensation expense
Other
Adjusted EBITDA

Q1
$

$

Q2
(27,574) $
378
(27,196)
—
31,115

(56,835) $
(1,180)
(58,015)
7,244
31,668

(as restated)
Q3
(1,197) $
(1,220)
(2,417)
—
30,005

Q4
(35,559) $
(169)
(35,728)
1,511
29,716

Full Year
(121,165)
(2,191)
(123,356)
8,755
122,504

17,545
43,887
(316)
2,290

45,397
46,917
(354)
348

2,194
47,358
234
—

44,486
48,912
(252)
210

109,622
187,074
(688)
2,848

4,741
10,138
1,290
(140)
83,354 $

3,152
8,242
1,900
1,055
87,554

1,863
5,483
1,812
892
87,424

2,673
2,744
1,684
2,260
98,216

12,429
26,607
6,686
4,067
356,548
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$

$

$

Net Income Excluding Gain/Loss from Warrants
We define Net Income Excluding Gain/Loss from Warrants as Net Income plus or minus the impact of the change in the fair value of the warrant liability. Management believes that
our financial statements that will include the impact of this mark-to-market expense or income may not be necessarily reflective of the actual financial performance of our business.
2020
(in thousands)
Net income (loss)
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock
warrant liabilities
Net (Loss) Income Excluding Gain/Loss from
Warrants

2019
(in thousands)
Net loss
Fair value loss on common stock warrant
liabilities
Net (Loss) Income Excluding Gain/Loss from
Warrants

Q1
$

91,655

$

(14,130)

(95,329)
$

(3,674) $ — $

Q1
$

$

(27,574)

$

(10,029) $ — $

Q4
$

3,866

$

Full Year
75,340

26,963

22,303

42,602

(3,461)

12,833 $ — $

16,252 $ — $

46,468 $ — $

71,879

(as restated)
Q3
(1,197)

Q2

17,545
$

(as restated)
Q3
(6,051)

Q2

(56,835)

$

45,397

Q4
$

(35,559)

2,194

(11,438) $ — $

Full Year
(121,165)

$

44,486

997 $ — $

109,622

8,927 $ — $

(11,543)

Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Percentage
We define Adjusted Gross Profit as gross profit plus depreciation on rental equipment. Adjusted Gross Profit Percentage is defined as Adjusted Gross Profit divided by revenue.
Adjusted Gross Profit and Percentage are not measurements of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to gross profit, gross profit
percentage, or other performance measures derived in accordance with GAAP. In addition, our measurement of Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Percentage may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Management believes that the presentation of Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Percentage provides useful
information to investors regarding our results of operations because it assists in analyzing the performance of our business.
The following table provides an unaudited reconciliation of gross profit to Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted Gross Profit Percentage on a historical basis:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Revenue (A)

2020

Gross profit (B)
Depreciation of rental equipment

1,367,645

$

1,063,665

$

659,973
200,581
860,554

$

413,313
174,679
587,992

$

Adjusted Gross Profit (C)
Gross Profit Percentage (B/A)
Adjusted Gross Profit Percentage (C/A)

2019

$

48.3 %
62.9 %
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$

38.9 %
55.3 %

Net CAPEX
We define Net CAPEX as purchases of rental equipment and refurbishments and purchases of property, plant and equipment (collectively, "Total Capital Expenditures"), less
proceeds from sale of rental equipment and proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment (collectively, "Total Proceeds"), which are all included in cash flows from investing
activities. Management believes that the presentation of Net CAPEX provides useful information to investors regarding the net capital invested into our rental fleet and property, plant and
equipment each year to assist in analyzing the performance of our business.
The following tables provide unaudited reconciliations of Net CAPEX on a historical quarterly basis:
Quarterly Consolidated Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(in thousands)
Q1
Total Capital Expenditures
$
Total Proceeds
Net CAPEX
$

41,166
10,626
30,540

$

Quarterly Consolidated Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(in thousands)
Q1
Total Capital Expenditures
$
Total Proceeds
Net CAPEX
$

53,502
11,688
41,814

$

Q2

$

Q3
41,702
5,319
36,383

$

63,485
20,286
43,199

$

$

Q2

$

Q4
48,484
15,161
33,323

$

50,490
12,729
37,761

$

$

Q3

$

57,485
15,198
42,287

$

45,969
16,161
29,808

$

$

Q4

$

$

Full Year
188,837
46,304
142,533

Full Year
213,446
60,864
152,582

Free Cash Flow
We define Free Cash Flow as net cash provided by operating activities, less purchases of, and proceeds from, rental equipment and property, plant and equipment, which are all
included in cash flows from investing activities. Management believes that the presentation of Free Cash Flow provides useful information to investors regarding our results of operations
because it provides useful additional information concerning cash flow available to meet future debt service obligations and working capital requirements.
Free Cash Flow for the three months ended June 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, is derived by subtracting the cash flows from operating activities and the relevant line items within
investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, from corresponding items for the six months ended June 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Free Cash
Flow for the three months ended September 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, is derived by subtracting the cash flows from operating activities and the relevant line items within investing activities
for the six months ended June 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, from corresponding items for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Free Cash Flow for the
three months ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, is derived by subtracting the cash flows from operating activities and the relevant line items within investing activities for the nine
months ended September 30, 2020, 2019 and 2018, from corresponding items for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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The following tables provide a reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities to Free Cash Flow:
Quarterly Consolidated Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2020
(in thousands)
Q1
Net cash provided by operating activities
$
38,348 $
Purchase of rental equipment and refurbishments
(39,648)
Proceeds from sale of rental equipment
6,786
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
(1,518)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
3,840
Free Cash Flow
$
7,808 $

Q2

Q3
75,379 $
(40,034)
5,316
(1,668)
3
38,996 $

Quarterly Consolidated Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(in thousands)
Q1
Net cash provided by operating activities
$
15,256 $
Purchase of rental equipment and refurbishments
(51,873)
Proceeds from sale of rental equipment
11,601
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
(1,629)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
87
Free Cash Flow
$
(26,558) $

Q2

Q4
61,368 $
(42,591)
13,179
(5,893)
1,982
28,045 $

Q3
44,798 $
(61,215)
11,482
(2,270)
8,804
1,599 $

129,717 $
(50,110)
13,668
(7,375)
1,530
87,430 $

Full Year
304,812
(172,383)
38,949
(16,454)
7,355
162,279

73,490 $
(44,229)
10,597
(1,740)
5,564
43,682 $

Full Year
172,566
(205,106)
42,101
(8,340)
18,763
19,984

Q4
39,022 $
(47,789)
8,421
(2,701)
4,308
1,261 $

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act. The words “estimates,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “forecasts,” “plans,” “intends,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “shall,” “outlook,” “guidance” and variations of these
words and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which are generally not historical in nature and relate to expectations for future financial performance or business
strategies or objectives.
Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors, many of which are outside our control, which could cause
actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Although we believe that these forward-looking statements are based on reasonable
assumptions, we can give no assurance that any such forward-looking statement will materialize.
Important factors that may affect actual results or outcomes include, among others:
•

our ability to successfully acquire and integrate new operations, including Mobile Mini and our conversion to its enterprise resource planning system, and to realize anticipated
synergies from the Merger with Mobile Mini;

•

operational, economic, political and regulatory risks;

•

the effect of global or local economic conditions in the industries and markets in which the Company operates and any changes therein, including financial market conditions and
levels of end market demand;
the impact of the global pandemic related to COVID-19, including the financial condition of the Company’s customers and suppliers and employee health and safety;

•
•

risks associated with cybersecurity and IT systems disruptions, including our ability to manage the business in the event a disaster shuts down our management information
systems;

•
•

effective management of our rental equipment;
trade policies and changes in trade policies, including the imposition of tariffs, their enforcement and downstream consequences;

•

our ability to effectively compete in the modular space, portable storage and tank and pump industries;

•

our ability to effectively manage our credit risk, collect on our accounts receivable, and recover our rental equipment;

•

our ability to effectively launch operations into new geographic markets and/or add other business unit operations in existing markets;
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•

the effect of changes in state building codes on our ability to remarket our buildings;

•

foreign currency exchange rate exposure;

•

fluctuations in interest rates and commodity prices;

•
•

significant increases in raw material and labor costs;
fluctuations in fuel costs or oil prices, a reduction in fuel supplies, or a sustained decline in oil prices;

•

our reliance on third party manufacturers and suppliers;

•

risks associated with labor relations, labor costs and labor disruptions;

•
•

failure to retain key personnel;
impairment of our goodwill, intangible assets and indefinite-life intangible assets;

•

our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes;

•

our ability to recognize deferred tax assets such as those related to our tax loss carryforwards and, as a result, utilize future tax savings;

•
•

unanticipated changes in our tax obligations, the adoption of a new tax legislation, or exposure to additional income tax liabilities;
various laws and regulations, including those governing government contracts, corruption and the environment;

•

changes in the competitive environment of our customer base as a result of the global, national or local economic climate in which they operate and/or economic or financial
disruptions to their industry;

•
•

risks associated with operational measures designed to increase revenue while continuing to control operating costs;
our ability to adequately protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights that are material to our business;

•

natural disasters and other business disruptions such as pandemics, fires, floods, hurricanes, earthquakes and terrorism;

•

property, casualty or other losses not covered by our insurance;

•

our ability to redeploy our units effectively should a significant number of our leased units be returned during a short period of time;

•
•

our ability to close our unit sales transactions;
fluctuations in the fair value of common stock warrant liabilities;

•

our ability to maintain an effective system of internal controls and accurately report our financial results and remediate material weaknesses;

•

public company requirements that may strain our resources and divert management's attention;

•
•

our ability to manage growth and execute our business plan;
changes in the supply and price of new and used products we lease;

•

unanticipated threats including market entry by a new competitor;

•

rising costs adversely affecting our profitability; and

•

other factors detailed under the section entitled "Risk Factors."
Any forward-looking statement speaks only at the date which it is made, and we undertake no obligation, and disclaim any obligation, to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
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ITEM 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to help the reader understand WillScot Mobile Mini
Holdings Corp. ("WillScot Mobile Mini"), formerly known as WillScot Corporation ("WillScot"), our operations and our present business environment. MD&A is provided as a supplement to,
and should be read in conjunction with, our financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto, contained in Part II, Item 8 of this report. The discussion of results of operations in this
MD&A is presented on a historical basis, as of or for the year ended December 31, 2020 or prior periods. As the Merger was completed on July 1, 2020, unless the context otherwise
requires, the terms “we”, “us”, “our” “Company” and “WillScot Mobile Mini” means WillScot and its subsidiaries when referring to periods prior to July 1, 2020 (prior to the Merger) and to
WillScot Mobile Mini and its subsidiaries when referring to periods on or after July 1, 2020 (after the Merger).
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the US (“GAAP”). We use certain non-GAAP financial
information that we believe is important for purposes of comparison to prior periods and development of future projections and earnings growth prospects. This information is also used by
management to measure the performance of our ongoing operations and analyze our business performance and trends. Reconciliations of non-GAAP measures are provided in the Other
Non-GAAP Financial Data and Reconciliations section.

Executive Summary
We are a leading business services provider specializing in innovative flexible work space and portable storage solutions. We service diverse end markets across all sectors of the
economy throughout the United States ("US"), Canada, Mexico, and the United Kingdom ("UK"). We are also a leading provider of specialty containment solutions in the US with over
12,500 tank and pump units in our fleet. As of December 31, 2020, our branch network included approximately 275 branch locations and additional drop lots to service our over 85,000
customers. We offer our customers an extensive selection of “Ready to Work” modular space and portable storage solutions with over 157,000 modular space units and over 197,000
portable storage units in our fleet.
We primarily lease, rather than sell, our modular and portable storage units to customers, which results in a highly diversified and predictable recurring revenue stream. Over 90%
of new lease orders are on our standard lease agreement, pre-negotiated master lease or national account agreements. The initial lease periods vary, and our leases are customarily
renewable on a month-to-month basis after their initial term. Our lease revenue is highly predictable due to its recurring nature and the underlying stability and diversification of our lease
portfolio. However, given that our customers value flexibility, they consistently extend their leases or renew on a month-to-month basis such that the average effective duration of our lease
portfolio, is 32 months. We complement our core leasing business by selling both new and used units, allowing us to leverage scale, achieve purchasing benefits and redeploy capital
employed in our lease fleet.
We remain focused on our core priorities of growing leasing revenues by increasing units on rent, both organically and through our consolidation strategy, delivering “Ready to
Work” solutions to our customers with value added products and services ("VAPS"), and on continually improving the overall customer experience.
The year ended December 31, 2020 was another transformational year for WillScot Mobile Mini as we completed the Merger with Mobile Mini on July 1, 2020 at which time Mobile
Mini became a wholly-owned subsidiary of WillScot. Concurrent with the closing of the Merger, we changed our name to WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, key drivers of our financial performance included:
•
•

Total revenues increased by $303.9 million, or 28.6%, attributable to the addition of Mobile Mini's revenues to our consolidated results once the Merger closed on July 1, 2020.
Leasing revenue increased $257.2 million, or 34.6%, delivery and installation revenue increased $54.1 million, or 24.6%, rental unit sales decreased $1.4 million, or 3.5%, and new
sales revenue decreased $6.0 million, or 10.2%.
Key leasing revenue drivers include:
–

Average modular space units on rent increased 7,844 units, or 8.6%, and average portable storage units on rent increased 67,270 units, or 398.6%. Both increases were
primarily driven by the Mobile Mini Merger.

–

Average modular space monthly rental rate increased $44, or 7.2%, to $658 driven by a $71, or 11.6% increase in the NA Modular segment, offset partially by the dilutive
impact of lower rates due to mix on the Mobile Mini modular space units.

–

Average portable storage monthly rental rate increased $12, or 10.0%, to $132 driven primarily by the accretive impact of higher rates from the Mobile Mini portable
storage fleet.
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–

•

Average utilization for modular space units decreased 180 basis points ("bps") to 70.2% and average utilization for portable storage units increased to 75.9%, or 10.1
percentage points, driven by higher utilization of the Mobile Mini portable storage units.

NA Modular segment revenue, which represents the activities of WillScot prior to the Merger and represented 76.9% of consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31,
2020, decreased $12.5 million, or 1.2%, to $1,051.2 million driven by decreased sales volumes of $26.6 million, or 26.8%, and a $12.0 million, or 5.5%, reduction in delivery and
installation revenues as a result of reductions in demand for new project deliveries. However, these reductions were partially offset by an increase in leasing revenue of $26.1
million, or 3.5%, due to continued growth of pricing and value-added products. NA Modular revenue drivers for the year ended December 31, 2020 include:
–

Modular space average monthly rental rate of $685 for the year, increased 11.6% representing a continuation of the long-term price optimization initiative and VAPS
penetration opportunities across our portfolio.

–

Average modular space units on rent for the year decreased 4,808 units, or 5.2% driven by lower deliveries, including reduced demand for new project deliveries as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Average modular space units on rent dropped 0.5% sequentially from Q3 into Q4 to 86,011, which compares to a 1.3% drop
from Q3 to Q4 in 2019, as delivery volumes returned to prior year levels and return volumes remained lower than 2019 levels.

–

Average modular space monthly utilization decreased 310 basis points to 68.9% for the year ended December 31, 2020, but only dropped 10 basis points sequentially
from Q3 into Q4.

•

Generated consolidated net income of $75.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, represented an increase of $196.5 million, and included a $42.4 million loss on
extinguishment of debt related to our recent financing activities and $93.8 million of discrete costs expensed in the period related to transaction and integration activities, partly
offset by a $51.5 million non-cash income tax benefit. Net income also included a $3.5 million fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities in the current period, while there
was a $109.6 million fair value loss on common stock warrant liabilities in the prior period. Discrete costs in the period included $64.1 million of Merger transaction costs, $18.3
million of integration costs, and $11.4 million of restructuring costs, lease impairment expense and other related charges. As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the $51.5 million income tax benefit was primarily driven by the reversal of $54.6 million of the federal valuation allowance and certain state valuation allowances during
the year ended December 31, 2020 due to the Merger, which partly offset these other discrete costs.

•

Generated Adjusted EBITDA of $530.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $173.8 million, or 48.8%, as compared to 2019. Of this increase,
$135.5 million was driven by the addition of Mobile Mini to our consolidated results and the remainder was driven by strong organic growth in our NA Modular segment.
–

Adjusted EBITDA in our NA Modular segment, which represents the activities of WillScot prior to the Merger, increased $38.3 million, or 10.7% primarily driven by
increases in leasing gross profit driven by increased pricing, including VAPS, and significant cost reductions both from acquisition synergy realization and actions taken to
reduce variable costs in a reduced demand environment during the second and third quarters of 2020.

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Margin was 38.8% and increased 530 bps versus prior year driven by a 410 bps increased in the NA Modular segment, as well as the
addition of the higher margin Mobile Mini operations.
Generated Free Cash Flow of $162.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $142.3 million as compared to 2019. Net cash provided by
operating activities increased $132.2 million to $304.8 million. Additionally, net cash used in investing activities, excluding cash acquired from the Merger, decreased $10.0 million
as a result of reduced capital spending needs across all segments given reduced demand for new project deliveries. Excluding the impact of $64.1 million of Merger transaction
costs paid during the year, we generated $226.3 million of free cash flow for year ended December 31, 2020 and have repaid approximately $162.4 million of the 2020 ABL Facility
since the Merger that closed on July 1, 2020. This was possible due to our resilient lease revenues and strong margin expansion and capex reductions across the NA Modular, NA
Storage, and UK segments, as well as reduced interest costs due to our financing activity during the year. Free cash flow increased sequentially to $87.4 million in the fourth
quarter of 2020, including $7.4 million of integration costs, which is the best indicator of our run-rate heading into 2021.
–

•

In addition to using GAAP financial measurements, we use Adjusted EBITDA and Free Cash Flow, which are non-GAAP financial measures, to evaluate our operating results. As
such, we include in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reconciliations to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. These reconciliations and descriptions of why we believe
these measures provide useful information to investors as well as a description of the limitations of these measures are included in "Item 6. Selected Financial Data."
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Recent Developments
Refer to the Recent Developments section in Part I, Item 1, Business, herein for further information about the Mobile Mini Merger and certain related financing transactions and the
impact of COVID-19 on our business.

Business Environment and Outlook
Our customers operate in a diversified set of end markets, including construction, commercial and industrial, retail and wholesale trade, education, energy and natural resources,
government and healthcare. We track several market leading indicators in order to predict demand, including those related to our two largest end markets, the commercial and industrial
sector and the construction sector, which collectively accounted for approximately 85% of our revenues in the year ended December 31, 2020. Market fundamentals underlying these end
markets were impacted in 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic which resulted in delivery volume declines, primarily in the second and third quarters, in response to shelter-in-place
orders and other market restrictions. Gross Domestic Product ("GDP") in the US, where the majority of our revenues are generated, is estimated to have declined by over 2% in 2020, and
estimates from Dodge Data & Analytics suggest that non-residential construction square footage starts in the US declined by over 15% as compared to 2019. Based on our analyses of
industry forecasts and macroeconomic indications, we expect modest market recovery in 2021 following the declines experienced in 2020, and expect both GDP and non-residential
construction square footage starts in the US to grow 2-3% in 2021.
Core to our operating model is the ability to redeploy standardized assets across end markets, and we have recently serviced emerging demand in the healthcare and government
sectors related to COVID-19, as well as expanded space requirements related to social distancing. Current improving market conditions, potential market catalysts such as increased
infrastructure spending, and idiosyncratic growth levers such as continued penetration of our customer base with our VAPS offering, long-term pricing tailwinds, cross-selling between our
Modular and Storage segment customers, and other commercial best practice sharing between our segments provide us confidence in our continued organic growth outlook.

Our Business and Growth Strategies
We will maintain a leading market position and continue pursuing the following strategies, all of which we have demonstrated in our historical results and are contributing to our
growth, expanding profitability and free cash flow, and overall growth in return on invested capital:

Optimize Pricing Across Fleet
We continue to advance multiple pricing strategies across our fleet to drive revenue growth. Leveraging our expertise developed in NA Modular, we plan to implement dynamic
pricing, customer segmentation, and contract standardization in our other segments. Our long history of success, demonstrated by 13 consecutive quarters of double-digit rate growth as of
December 31, 2020 in the U.S. within our NA Modular segment, gives us confidence that we can successfully deploy this strategy. The turnover of our fleet, with average lease durations of
nearly three years, creates natural and recurring opportunities to capture incremental price increases. As the market leader in our industry, with an estimated 45% market share in the
modular sector and 25% market share in the storage sector, we offer the broadest fleet portfolio, the most differentiated turnkey VAPS, and the most consistent service capabilities across
the largest branch network to help our customers be 'Ready to Work'.

Expand Penetration of Value-Added Products and Services
As of December 31, 2020, we estimate that we have over $150 million of annual organic revenue growth opportunity as the average VAPS rate of our units on rent in our NA
Modular segment converges over time to the VAPS price and penetration levels achieved on our most recently delivered units, and as we begin to cross-sell this offering into our NA Storage
segment ground level office fleet. We believe this growth opportunity could be substantially larger if we successfully penetrate more of our modular space orders, and expand our VAPS
offering for portable storage units.

Enhance Cross-Selling Between Segments
The combination of WillScot and Mobile Mini created a leading business services provider specializing in innovative flexible work space and portable storage solutions. At the
outset of the merger, we recognized that there was 80% end-market overlap and 40% customer overlap, a clear strategic opportunity for our complementary product lines. By offering a
combined product suite, we simplify our customers' procurement needs and enable productivity from start to finish for projects. We believe cross-selling will also increase utilization and yield
of our combined fleet. Our sales force is optimally positioned to improve efficiency by leveraging our management information systems and using real-time information to monitor and
optimize conversion of customer opportunities across our core segments. In turn, we expect that our broadened and enhanced fleet will attract new customers, increase customer retention,
and increase margins and return on invested capital.

Generate Cash Flow Through Operational Efficiencies, Cost Reductions, and Technology
We are implementing many initiatives designed to improve operations and increase profitability. We continually assess our branch operating footprint, vendor base, and operating
structure to maximize revenue generation while minimizing costs. The Merger provides us with increased scale, numerous operational best practices from both the legacy WillScot and
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legacy Mobile Mini businesses, and a state-of-the-art SAP ERP platform, all of which we believe will significantly improve the operating efficiency of the combined businesses. We have a
proven track record of efficiently integrating acquisitions and quickly eliminating operational redundancies while maintaining acquired customer relationships.

Deploy Capital to Strategically Support Organic Growth and Optimize Returns
We maintain a disciplined focus on our return on capital and the Merger allows us to invest opportunistically across multiple attractive asset classes prioritizing our investments to
where we see the strongest potential returns. We continually assess both our existing lease fleet and customer demand for opportunities to deploy capital more efficiently. We manage our
maintenance capex and growth capex to align with the economic conditions in which we operate. Within our existing lease fleet, we examine the potential cash and earnings generation of
an asset sale versus continuing to lease the asset. In addition, we examine the relative benefits of organic expansion opportunities versus expansion through acquisition to obtain a
favorable return on capital.

Leverage Scale and Organic Initiatives with Accretive Acquisitions
Our markets for modular space and portable storage solutions are fragmented. We estimate that approximately 55% of the modular market and approximately 75% of the portable
storage market in North America are supplied by regional and local competitors. We have the broadest network of operating branches in North America, as well as a scalable corporate
center and information technology systems, which position us to continue to acquire and integrate other companies while expanding the products and services available and offered to
acquired customers. Furthermore, we have realized over $60 million of cost synergies from acquisitions in the past three years and have identified nearly $60 million of additional cost
reductions that we have yet to execute. We expect to pursue acquisitions opportunistically that will provide further scale efficiencies and allow us to improve returns generated by the
acquired assets. We continually evaluate our portfolio of businesses to ensure that our operations remain in line with our broader strategic goals.

Use Free Cash Flow to Drive Value Creation
Free cash flow generation has accelerated rapidly in recent years, and we expect this trend to continue as we execute our strategy. While we see numerous organic and inorganic
opportunities to re-invest in our core businesses, we believe we can generate surplus free cash flow with which we can both reduce leverage and return capital to shareholders over time.
We view this as an additional powerful value creation lever, and we are committed to deploying this capital as productively as possible in the interests of our shareholders.

Components of Our Consolidated Historical Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue consists mainly of leasing, services and sales revenue. We derive our leasing and services revenue primarily from the leasing of modular space and portable storage
units. Included in leasing revenue are VAPS, such as furniture, steps, ramps, basic appliances, internet connectivity devices, and other items our customers use in connection with our
products. Delivery and installation revenue includes fees that we charge for the delivery, site work, installation, disassembly, unhooking and removal, and other services to our customers for
an additional fee as part of our leasing and sales operations.
The key drivers of changes in our leasing revenue are:
•

the number of units in our lease fleet;

•
•

the average utilization rate of our lease units; and
the average monthly rental rate per unit, including VAPS.

The average utilization rate of our lease units is the ratio of (i) the average number of units in use during a period (which includes units from the time they are leased to a customer
until the time they are returned to us) to (ii) the average total number of units available for lease in our fleet during a period. Our average monthly rental rate per unit for a period is equal to
the ratio of (i) our rental income for that period including VAPS but excluding delivery and installation services and other leasing-related revenues, to (ii) the average number of lease units
rented to our customers during that period.
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The table below sets forth the average number of units on rent in our lease fleet, the average utilization of our lease units, and the average monthly rental rate per unit, including
VAPS:
(in thousands, except unit numbers and rates)
Modular space units on rent (average during the period)
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Portable storage units on rent (average during the period)
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization based on original equipment cost

2020

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2019
99,526
91,682
70.2 %
72.0 %
658
$
614
$
84,148
16,878
75.9 %
65.8 %
132
$
120
$
61.7 %
—%

2018
70,257
71.6 %
552
15,480
68.9 %
119
—%

In addition to leasing revenue, we also generate revenue from sales of new and used modular space and portable storage units to our customers, as well as delivery, installation,
maintenance, removal services and other incidental items related to accommodation services for our customers. Included in our sales revenue are charges for modifying or customizing
sales equipment to customers’ specifications.

Gross Profit
We define gross profit as the difference between total revenues and cost of revenues. Cost of revenues associated with our leasing business includes payroll and payroll-related
costs for branch operations personnel, material and other costs related to the repair, maintenance, storage and transportation of rental equipment. Cost of revenue also includes
depreciation expense associated with our rental equipment. Cost of revenues associated with our new unit sales business includes the cost to purchase, assemble, transport and customize
units that are sold. Cost of revenues for our rental unit sales consist primarily of the net book value of the unit at date of sale.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense
Our selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense includes all costs associated with our selling efforts, including marketing costs, marketing salaries and benefits, as well as
the salary and commissions of sales personnel. It also includes the leasing of facilities we occupy, professional fees and information systems, our overhead costs, such as salaries of
management, administrative and corporate personnel, and integration costs associated with acquisitions and business combinations.

Transaction Costs
Transaction costs include discrete expenses incurred related to the Merger and the 2018 acquisition of ModSpace.

Other Depreciation and Amortization
Other depreciation and amortization includes depreciation of our property, plant and equipment, as well as the amortization of our intangible assets.

Impairment Losses on Long-Lived Assets
We recognize property, plant, and equipment impairment charges when an indicator of impairment is present and the carrying value of assets exceeds the estimated undiscounted
cash flows and fair value of the assets.

Lease Impairment Expense and Other Related Charges
Lease impairment expense and other related charges include impairment of right-of-use ("ROU") assets, gain or loss on the exit of a leased property generally associated with lease
termination payments and rent expense for locations which have been closed but have not been abandoned or impaired.

Restructuring Costs
Restructuring costs include charges associated with exit or disposal activities that meet the definition of restructuring under Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") ASC
Topic 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations (“ASC 420”). Our restructuring plans are generally country or region specific and are typically completed within a one-year period. Prior to the
adoption of FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases ("ASC 842") effective January 1, 2019, restructuring costs incurred under these plans included (i) one-time termination benefits related to
employee separations, (ii) contract termination costs and, (iii) other related costs associated with exit or disposal activities including, but not limited to, costs for consolidating or closing
facilities. After the adoption of ASC 842, restructuring costs include one-time termination benefits related to employee separation costs. The restructuring costs incurred in 2020, 2019 and
2018 primarily relate to the integration of our acquisitions. Costs related to the integration of acquired businesses that do not meet the definition of restructuring under ASC 420, such as
employee training costs, duplicate facility costs, and professional services expenses, are included within SG&A expense.
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Currency (Gains) Losses, Net
Currency (gains) losses, net include unrealized and realized gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than our functional
currency at the reporting date.

Other Income, Net
Other income, net primarily consists of the gain (loss) on disposal of non-operational property, plant and equipment, other financing related costs and other non-recurring charges.

Interest Expense
Interest expense consists of the costs of external debt including the Company’s ABL credit facility, 2022 Secured Notes, 2023 Secured Notes, 2025 Secured Notes, 2028 Secured
Notes, and the senior unsecured notes due November 15, 2023 (the "Unsecured Notes") and interest on obligations under finance leases.

Fair Value (Gain) Loss on Common Stock Warrant Liabilities
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities consists of non-cash gains and losses recorded related to changes in the fair value of common stock warrant liabilities as
the common stock warrant liabilities are marked-to-market liabilities. It also includes gains and losses recorded related to the settlement of common stock warrant liabilities.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt
In connection with the Merger and related financing transactions in 2020, using proceeds from the 2025 Secured Notes, we redeemed all of our 2022 Secured Notes. We also
completed a private offering of our 2028 Secured Notes in August 2020 and used the offering proceeds to repay our 2023 Secured Notes. As a result of these transactions, we recorded
losses on extinguishment of debt.

Income Tax Benefit
We are subject to income taxes in the US, Canada, Mexico and the UK. Our overall effective tax rate is affected by a number of factors, such as the relative amounts of income we
earn in differing tax jurisdictions, tax law changes, and certain non-deductible expenses such as compensation disallowance. The rate is also affected by discrete items that may occur in
any given year, such as legislative enactments. These discrete items may not be consistent from year to year. Income tax expense (benefit), deferred tax assets and liabilities and liabilities
for unrecognized tax benefits reflect our best estimate of current and future taxes to be paid.

Consolidated Results of Operations
Our consolidated statements of net income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 are presented below. The below results only include results from Mobile
Mini and ModSpace for the periods subsequent to their acquisition dates and do not include any incremental unrealized cost savings, revenue growth, or pro forma adjustments that
management expects to result from the integration of the acquired businesses.
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Years Ended December 31,
in thousands
Revenues:
Leasing and
services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and
installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total
revenues
Costs:
Costs of leasing
and services:
Leasing
Delivery and
installation
Costs of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of
rental equipment
Gross profit
Expenses:
Selling, general and
administrative
Transaction costs
Other depreciation
and amortization
Impairment losses
on long-lived assets
Lease impairment
expense and other related
charges
Restructuring costs
Currency (gains)
losses, net
Other income, net
Operating
income
Interest expense
Fair value (gain)
loss on common stock
warrant liabilities
Loss on
extinguishment of debt
Income (loss) before
tax
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss)
attributable to non-controlling
interest, net of tax
Net income (loss)
attributable to WillScot common
shareholders

2020
(as restated)

$

$

2019
(as restated)

1,001,447

$

744,185

2020 vs. 2019
Change

2018
(as restated)

$

518,235

$

257,262

2019 vs 2
Change

$

22

274,156

220,057

154,557

54,099

6

53,093
38,949

59,085
40,338

53,603
25,017

(5,992)
(1,389)

1

1,367,645

1,063,665

751,412

303,980

31

227,376

213,151

143,120

14,225

7

220,102

194,107

143,950

25,995

5

34,841
24,772

42,160
26,255

36,863
16,659

(7,319)
(1,483)

200,581
659,973

174,679
413,313

121,436
289,384

25,902
246,660

5
12

360,626
64,053

271,004
—

234,820
20,051

89,622
64,053

3
(2

43,249

12,395

13,304

30,854

—

2,848

1,600

(2,848)

4,876
6,527

8,674
3,755

—
15,468

(3,798)
2,772

(355)
(1,718)

(688)
(2,200)

2,454
(4,574)

333
482

(

182,715
119,886

117,525
122,504

6,261
98,433

65,190
(2,618)

11
2

(3,461)

109,622

(23,830)

(113,083)

13

42,401

8,755

—

33,646

23,889
(51,451)
75,340

(123,356)
(2,191)
(121,165)

(68,342)
(38,600)
(29,742)

147,245
(49,260)
196,505

1,213

(421)

(4,532)

1,634

74,127

$

(120,744)
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$

(25,210)

$

194,871

(1

(5
3
(9

$

(9

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenue: Total revenue increased $303.9 million, or 28.6%, to $1,367.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $1,063.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2019. The increase was driven primarily by the addition of Mobile Mini's revenues to our consolidated results. The Merger closed on July 1, 2020 and drove $316.5 million of the year over
year increase. Leasing revenue increased $257.2 million, or 34.6%, as compared to the same period in 2019 driven by an increase of 75,114 average modular space and portable storage
units on rent as a result of the Merger, and improved pricing and value-added products in our NA Modular segment. Delivery and installation revenues increased $54.1 million, or 24.6%, due
to increased overall activity as a result of the Merger, but was partially offset by lower delivery volumes due to the impact of new project cancellations and delays in the second and third
quarter of 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. New unit sales decreased $6.0 million, or 10.2%, and rental unit sales decreased $1.4 million, or 3.5%, as a result of lower demand
in 2020.
Total average modular space and portable storage units on rent for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were 183,674 and 108,560, respectively. The increase was due
primarily to the units acquired as part of the Merger, partially offset by lower delivery volumes in the NA Modular segment, including reduced demand for new projects as a result of the
COVID-19 global pandemic disruption on social and business activities. In total, modular space average units on rent increased 7,844 units, or 8.6%, for the year ended December 31, 2020
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. Modular space average monthly rental rates increased 7.2% to $658 for the year ended December 31, 2020. Improved pricing was
driven by a continuation of the long-term price optimization and VAPS penetration opportunities across our portfolio, partially offset by the dilutive impact of lower rates on the Mobile Mini
modular space units due to product mix. Portable storage average units on rent increased by 67,270 units, or 398.6%, for the year ended December 31, 2020. Average portable storage
monthly rental rates of $132 represented an increase of $12, or 10.0%, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase was driven by the accretive impact of higher rates
from the Mobile Mini portable storage fleet. The average modular space unit utilization rate during the year ended December 31, 2020 was 70.2%, as compared to 72.0% during the same
period in 2019. This decrease was driven by lower demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by higher utilization on units acquired as part of the Merger. The average
portable storage unit utilization rate during the year ended December 31, 2020 was 75.9%, as compared to 65.8% during the same period in 2019. The increase in average portable storage
utilization rate was driven by higher utilization on the acquired Mobile Mini units.
Gross Profit: Our gross profit percentage was 48.3% and 38.9% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Our gross profit percentage, excluding the effects
of depreciation ("adjusted gross profit percentage"), was 62.9% and 55.3% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Gross profit increased $246.7 million, or 59.7%, to $660.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $413.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase
in gross profit is a result of a $243.0 million increase in leasing gross profit, increased delivery and installation gross profit of $28.1 million, and increased new and rental unit sale margins of
$1.5 million. These increases were primarily a result of increased revenues due to the Merger and to favorable average monthly rental rates in the NA Modular segment on modular space
units, as well as modular leasing cost savings due to lower delivery volumes that were achieved as a result of actions we took to scale back variable labor and material costs in response to
lower demand for new project deliveries. These increases were offset partially by lower delivery and installation activity volumes in the NA Modular segment in the second and third quarters
of 2020 due to reduced delivery demand and by increased depreciation of $25.9 million as a result of fleet acquired in the Merger and capital investments made over the past twelve months
in our existing rental equipment.
SG&A Expense: SG&A expense increased $89.6 million, or 33.1%, to $360.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $271.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The primary driver of the increase is related to additional SG&A expense as a result of operating a larger business due to the Merger. SG&A expense for the NA
Storage, UK Storage, and Tank and Pump segments totaled $90.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Transaction Costs: Transaction costs increased $64.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. Transaction costs were related to the Merger.
Other Depreciation and Amortization: Other depreciation and amortization increased $30.8 million, or 248.4%, to $43.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared
to $12.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. $18.2 million of the increase was driven by increased Other depreciation as a result of the inclusion of Mobile Mini beginning in the
third quarter of 2020 and $13.4 million was driven by the amortization of the customer relationship intangible asset acquired in the Merger.
Impairment losses on Long-Lived Assets: Impairment losses on long-lived assets were $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 related to the valuation of properties
classified as assets held for sale as a result of the ModSpace acquisition. No similar impairments occurred during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Lease Impairment Expense and Other Related Charges: Lease impairment expense and other related charges were $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as
compared to $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in Lease impairment expense and other related charges of $3.8 million in 2020 is a result of fewer remaining
closed locations in 2020 due to successful lease exits related to the ModSpace acquisition.
Restructuring Costs: Restructuring costs were $6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The
restructuring charges in the year ended December 31, 2020 were
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primarily due to employee terminations costs as a result of the Merger and, to a lesser extent, reductions in force across our branch network in response to COVID-19 economic conditions.
The restructuring charges in the year ended December 31, 2019 related primarily to employee termination costs related to the ModSpace and Acton acquisitions and integrations.
Currency (Gains) Losses, net: Currency (gains) losses, net decreased by $0.3 million to a $0.4 million gain for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to a $0.7 million
gain for the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in currency (gains) losses, net, are primarily attributable to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on loans and
borrowings and intercompany receivables and payables denominated in a currency other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency.
Other Income, Net: Other income, net was $1.7 million and $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Other income, net of $1.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily related to the reversal of non-operating liabilities of $2.5 million. Other income, net of $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 was
driven primarily by the receipt of $3.2 million of insurance proceeds related to assets damaged during Hurricane Harvey.
Interest Expense: Interest expense decreased $2.6 million, or 2.1%, to $119.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $122.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2019. The decrease was driven by lower interest rates on our ABL facilities, the repayment of our 10% Unsecured Notes in 2019 and the lower interest rates on our 2025 Secured Notes
and 2028 Secured Notes, partially offset by an $800 million increase in debt outstanding as a result of the Merger.
Fair Value (Gain) Loss on Common Stock Warrant Liabilities: The fair value of common stock warrant liabilities increased $113.1 million, to a $3.5 million gain for the year
ended December 31, 2020 from a $109.6 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to the change in estimated fair value of common stock
warrant liabilities.
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt: As a result of the Merger and the related financing transactions, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $42.4 million in the year ended
December 31, 2020. This loss on extinguishment of debt was comprised of the redemption premium and write off of unamortized deferred financing costs associated with the following: (i)
$15.2 million due to the redemption of the 2022 Secured Notes, (ii) $22.7 million due to the redemption of the 2023 Secured Notes, and (iii) $4.4 million associated with the 2017 ABL
Facility. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded $8.8 million of losses on extinguishment of debt consisting of $1.5 million related to the $30 million redemption of the 2022
Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103% and $7.2 million related to the redemption of the 2023 senior unsecured notes at a redemption price of 102.0%, plus a make-whole premium of
1.1%, for total premiums of 3.1%.
Income Tax Benefit: Income tax benefit increased $49.3 million to a $51.5 million benefit for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to a $2.2 million benefit for the year
ended December 31, 2019. The increase in income tax benefit was driven by a reversal of our valuation allowance of $56.5 million based on our assessment of deferred tax assets, a
reduction of reserves for uncertain tax positions of $11.2 million, partially offset by tax expense from pre-tax income and non-deductible expense in the year ended December 31, 2020 as
compared to discrete benefits recorded in the year ended December 31, 2019.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Revenue: Total revenue increased $312.3 million, or 41.6%, to $1,063.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $751.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The increase was primarily the result of a 43.3% increase in leasing and services revenue driven by increased volumes from acquisitions and improved pricing. Improved volumes were
driven by units acquired as part of the ModSpace acquisition, as well as, increased modular delivery and installation revenues on the combined rental fleet of 42.4% due to increased
transaction volumes and higher revenues per transaction. Average modular space monthly rental rates increased 11.2% for the year ended December 31, 2019, and average modular space
units on rent increased 21,425 units, or 30.5%, due to the impact of an additional 8.5 months of contribution from the ModSpace acquisition. Improved pricing was driven by a combination of
our price optimization tools and processes, as well as, by continued growth in our “Ready to Work” solutions and increased VAPS penetration across our customer base, offset partially by
the average modular space monthly rental rates on acquired units for ModSpace. The increase in leasing and services revenues was further complemented by an increase of $5.5 million, or
10.3%, in new unit sales as compared to 2018. This increase was primarily driven by increased sales as a result of the ModSpace acquisition. Rental unit sales increased $15.3 million, or
61.2%, as compared to 2018.
Total average units on rent for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 108,560 and 85,737, respectively. The increase was due to units acquired as part of the
ModSpace acquisition, with modular space average units on rent increased by 21,425 units, or 30.5%, for the year ended December 31, 2019. Modular space average monthly rental rates
increased 11.2% for the year ended December 31, 2019. Portable storage average units on rent increased by 1,398 units, or 9.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2019. Average portable
storage monthly rental rates increased 0.8% for the year ended December 31, 2019. The average modular space unit utilization rate for the year ended December 31, 2019 was 72.0%, as
compared to 71.6% in 2018. The increase in average modular space utilization rate was driven by a reduction in the combined modular space unit fleet size across the combined WillScot
and ModSpace fleet in 2019. The average portable storage unit utilization rate during the year ended December 31, 2019 was 65.8%, as compared to 68.9% in 2018. The decrease in
average portable storage utilization rate was driven by organic declines in the number of portable storage average units on rent in the Modular - US segment.
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Gross Profit: Our gross profit percentage was 38.9% and 38.5% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our gross profit percentage, excluding the effects
of depreciation ("adjusted gross profit percentage"), was 55.3% and 54.7% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Gross profit increased $123.9 million, or 42.8%, to $413.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $289.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase
in gross profit is a result of a $291.5 million increase in modular leasing and services revenue and increased new unit sales gross profit of $0.2 million, offset by increases of $120.2 million
in modular leasing and services costs. Increases in modular leasing and services revenues and costs were primarily as a result of increased revenues due to additional units on rent as a
result of recent acquisitions as well as increased margins due to favorable average monthly rental rates on modular space units and increased delivery and installation margins driven
primarily by higher pricing per transaction. These increases were partially offset by increased depreciation of $53.3 million as a result of additional rental equipment acquired as part of the
ModSpace acquisition, as well as continued capital investment in our existing rental equipment.
SG&A Expense: SG&A expense increased $16.1 million, or 6.3%, to $271.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $254.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. Employee costs increased $19.5 million driven by the increased size of the workforce, offset partially by employee savings achieved as a result of restructuring
activities; and occupancy costs increased $10.3 million largely due to the expansion of our branch network and storage lots, including a portion of the expected cost savings as we have now
exited approximately 85% of redundant real estate locations.
Discrete items included in SG&A expense decreased for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, by $17.7 million as decreases in
transaction and integration costs related to the ModSpace and Acton acquisitions and subsequent integrations of $20.1 million and $4.0 million, respectively, were partially offset by
increases in stock compensation expense and other acquisition-related activities of $3.3 million and $3.1 million, respectively.
The remaining increases of $4.0 million are primarily related to increased professional fees, insurance, computer, travel, office and other expenses related to operating a larger
business as a result of our recent acquisitions and our expanded employee base and branch network.
We estimate incremental cost synergies of approximately $36.0 million related to the ModSpace and Acton acquisitions were realized in 2019, which compares to approximately
$6.4 million of synergies realized in 2018 related to the Acton and Onsite Space LLC (d/b/a Tyson Onsite (“Tyson”) acquisitions, bringing cumulative synergies related to the Acton, Tyson,
and ModSpace acquisitions from the dates of the acquisitions to December 31, 2019 to approximately $42.4 million. These cost synergies are consistent with our integration plans and we
expect to achieve annual recurring cost savings of over $70.0 million once our integration plans are fully executed and in our annual results.
Transaction Costs: Transaction costs decreased $20 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Transaction costs in 2018 were related to the ModSpace acquisition that
closed on August 15, 2018.
Other Depreciation and Amortization: Other depreciation and amortization decreased $0.9 million, or 6.8%, to $12.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to
$13.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease in other depreciation and amortization was driven primarily by lower depreciation as a result of the decrease in property,
plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment decreased as a result of the transfer of non-producing branches to assets held for sale which are no longer depreciated and the impact
of the adoption of ASC 842 which resulted in the reversal of branch assets previously accounted for as failed sale-lease back locations which are compliant sales under ASC 842.
Impairment losses on Long-Lived Assets: Impairment losses on long-lived assets were $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $1.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018. In 2019 and 2018, we reclassified certain branch facilities from property, plant and equipment to assets held for sale and recognized an impairment on
these assets as the estimated fair value was less than the carrying value of the facilities.
Lease Impairment Expense and Other Related Charges: Lease impairment expense and other related charges was $8.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Effective January 1,2019, in connection with the adoption of ASC 842, we recorded $4.2 million in ROU asset impairments, $2.6 million in rent on closed locations and $1.9 million in lease
termination fees.
Restructuring Costs: Restructuring costs were $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The 2019
restructuring charges related primarily to employee termination costs as a result of the ModSpace acquisition and integration. The 2018 restructuring charges are comprised of employee
termination and lease breakage costs related to the Acton and ModSpace acquisitions and integrations. Prior to the adoption of ASC 842 effective January 1. 2019, the costs associated
with leases exited as a result of a restructuring plan were recorded in restructuring expense.
Currency (Gains) Losses, net: Currency (gains) losses, net were a $0.7 million gain for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to a $2.5 million loss for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The decrease in currency losses was primarily attributable to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on loans and borrowings and intercompany
receivables and payables denominated in a currency other than the subsidiaries’ functional currency.
Other Income, Net: Other income, net was $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease in other
income was driven by the receipt of insurance proceeds related to
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assets damaged during Hurricane Harvey and other settlements which contributed $5.6 million to other expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2018, offset by the receipt of $2.4
million in insurance proceeds related to assets damaged during hurricanes and the receipt of a $0.9 million settlement during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Interest Expense: Interest expense increased $24.1 million, or 24.5%, to $122.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $98.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2018. The increase in interest expense is attributable to the increased financing costs for the full year in 2019, as a result of the ModSpace acquisition which occurred in the third quarter of
2018, offset in part by the one-time bridge financing and upfront commitment fees expensed in 2018 and lower interest costs due to the redemption of our Unsecured Notes in June 2019. In
the third quarter of 2018, as part of financing the ModSpace acquisition, we upsized our 2017 ABL Facility to $1.425 billion, issued the 2023 Secured Notes, and issued the Unsecured
Notes and incurred bridge financing fees and upfront commitment fees of $20.5 million which were recorded to interest expense.
Fair Value (Gain) Loss on Common Stock Warrant Liabilities: The fair value of common stock warrant liabilities decreased $133.5 million, to a $109.6 million loss for the year
ended December 31, 2019 from a $23.8 million gain for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was primarily attributable to the change in estimated fair value of common stock
warrant liabilities.
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt: $1.5 million related to the $30 million redemption on December 13, 2019 of the 2022 Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103% and $7.2
million related to the redemption on June 19, 2019 of the 2023 senior unsecured notes. Refer to Part II, Item 8, Note 11 for further information.
Income Tax Benefit: Income tax benefit decreased $36.4 million to $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $38.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2018. The decrease in tax benefit was driven by the lower loss before income tax for the year ended December 31, 2019, approximately $17.0 million less tax benefit, and discrete tax
benefits in 2018 related to a reduction in the valuation allowance, tax benefit of $11.9 million, and a tax benefit of $7.0 million related to a change in the Company asserting indefinite reinvestment in certain of its foreign businesses.

Business Segments
As a result of the Merger, we evaluated our operating structure and, accordingly, our segment structure and determined we operate in four reportable segments as follows: NA
Modular, NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and Pump. The NA Modular segment represents the activities of WillScot prior to the Merger. The NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and Pump
segments align to the three segments reported by Mobile Mini prior to the Merger.
The following tables and discussion summarize our reportable segment financial information for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Consistent with the
presentation of our consolidated financial statements, the below segment results only include results from ModSpace and Mobile Mini for the periods subsequent to the respective
acquisition and Merger and do not include any unrealized incremental cost savings, revenue growth or pro forma adjustments that management expects to result from the integration of the
acquired and merged businesses.
A Summary Business Segment Supplemental Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information section has been included in this MD&A in order to provide period over period
comparable financial information for the NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and Pump reporting segments, as these segments were not included in our 2019 reported results.
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Business Segment Results
Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Year Ended December 31, 2020
(in thousands, except for units on rent and rates)
Revenue
$
Gross profit
$
Adjusted EBITDA
$
Capex for rental equipment
$
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
$
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate
$
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization based on
original equipment cost

(in thousands, except for units on rent and rates)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization based on
original equipment cost
(in thousands, except for units on rent and rates)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization based on
original equipment cost

$
$
$
$

$

$

NA Modular
1,051,162
451,642
394,805
153,327
86,874
68.9 %
685
15,823
63.5 %
122

NA Storage
221,829
156,785
99,837
14,969
8,333
80.6 %
526
56,415
78.2 %
147

$
$
$
$

$

$

—%

NA Modular
1,063,665
413,313
356,548
205,106
91,682
72.0 %
614
16,878
65.8 %
120

—%

NA Storage
$
$
$
$

$

$

—%

$
$
$
$

$

$

NA Modular
751,412
289,384
215,533
160,883
70,257
71.6 %
552
15,480
68.9 %
119

$
$
$
$

$

$

—%

$

—%

Tank and Pump
48,293
23,904
17,843
2,394
—
—%
$
—
—
—%
$
—
$
$
$
$

—%

—%

$
$
$
$

$

$

61.7 %

—%

Total
1,367,645
659,973
530,307
172,383
99,526
70.2 %
658
84,148
75.9 %
132
61.7 %

$
$
$
$

$

$

—%

Year Ended December 31, 2018
UK Storage
Tank and Pump
—
$
—
$
—
—
$
—
$
—
—
$
—
$
—
—
$
—
$
—
—
—
—
—%
—%
—%
—
$
—
$
—
—
—
—
—%
—%
—%
—
$
—
$
—
—%
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$

UK Storage
46,361
27,642
17,822
1,693
4,319
80.8 %
367
11,910
85.9 %
76

Year Ended December 31, 2019
UK Storage
Tank and Pump
—
$
—
$
—
—
$
—
$
—
—
$
—
$
—
—
$
—
$
—
—
—
—
—%
—%
—%
—
$
—
$
—
—
—
—
—%
—%
—%
—
$
—
$
—
—%

NA Storage

$
$
$
$

Total
1,063,665
413,313
356,548
205,106
91,682
72.0 %
614
16,878
65.8 %
120
—%

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
751,412
289,384
215,533
160,883
70,257
71.6 %
552
15,480
68.9 %
119
—%

NA Modular Segment
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenue: Total revenue decreased $12.5 million, or 1.2%, to $1,051.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $1,063.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The decrease was primarily driven by declines in new unit sales revenue, which decreased $17.2 million, or 29.1%, compared to 2019, and by declines in rental unit sales revenue, which
decreased $9.4 million, or 23.3%. Additionally, delivery and installation revenues declined $12.0 million, or 5.5%, driven by lower delivery volumes related to the impact of new project
cancellations and delays as a result of COVID-19 global pandemic disruption on social and business activities. These declines were partially offset by an increase in leasing revenue of
$26.1 million, or 3.5%. Average modular space monthly rental rates increased 11.6% for the year ended December 31, 2020 to $685 driven by continuation of the long-term price
optimization and VAPS penetration opportunities across our portfolio. Improved pricing was partially offset by lower volumes as average modular space units on rent decreased by 4,808
units, or 5.2% year over year. The decrease was driven primarily by lower delivery volumes, including reduced demand for new projects since mid- March of 2020 as a result of COVID-19.
Gross Profit: Gross profit increased $38.3 million, or 9.3%, to $451.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $413.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The increase in gross profit was driven by a $44.9 million increase in leasing gross profit driven by improved pricing and VAPS, as well as by lower modular leasing cost due to lower
delivery demand in the second and third quarter of 2020 and reduced variable costs. The increase in gross profit from leasing revenues was partially offset by a $7.9 million increase in
depreciation of rental equipment primarily as a result of capital investments made over the past twelve months in our existing rental equipment for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA increased $38.3 million, or 10.7%, to $394.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $356.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2019. The increase was driven by higher leasing gross profits discussed above, partially offset by increases in SG&A, excluding discrete and other items, of $6.8 million. SG&A
increases were primarily related to increases in occupancy and office costs, insurance costs, and increased bad debt expense, partially offset by decreased travel and entertainment costs
due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Capex for rental equipment: Capex for rental equipment decreased $51.8 million, or 25.3%, to $153.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $205.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019. Net CAPEX also decreased $31.3 million, or 20.5%, to $121.3 million. The decreases for both were driven by decreased spend for refurbishments and
VAPS due to less constrained fleet and reduced demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and cost improvements experienced over the prior year related to better unit selection and
scoping on refurbishments. Decrease to Net CAPEX was also partially driven by lower demand for sales of rental units.
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
Revenue: Total revenue increased $312.3 million, or 41.6%, to $1,063.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $751.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The increase was primarily the result of a 43.3% increase in leasing and services revenue driven by increased volumes from acquisitions and improved pricing. Improved volumes were
driven by units acquired as part of the ModSpace acquisition, as well as, increased modular delivery and installation revenues on the combined rental fleet of 42.4% due to increased
transaction volumes and higher revenues per transaction. Average modular space monthly rental rates increased 11.2% for the year ended December 31, 2019, and average modular space
units on rent increased 21,425 units, or 30.5%, due to the impact of an additional 8.5 months of contribution from the ModSpace acquisition. Improved pricing was driven by a combination of
our price optimization tools and processes, as well as, by continued growth in our “Ready to Work” solutions and increased VAPS penetration across our customer base, offset partially by
the average modular space monthly rental rates on acquired units for ModSpace. The increase in leasing and services revenues was further complemented by an increase of $5.5 million, or
10.3%, in new unit sales as compared to 2018. This increase was primarily driven by increased sales as a result of the ModSpace acquisition. Rental unit sales increased $15.3 million, or
61.2%, as compared to 2018.
Total average units on rent for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were 108,560 and 85,737, respectively. The increase was due to units acquired as part of the
ModSpace acquisition, with modular space average units on rent increased by 21,425 units, or 30.5%, for the year ended December 31, 2019. Modular space average monthly rental rates
increased 11.2% for the year ended December 31, 2019. Portable storage average units on rent increased by 1,398 units, or 9.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2019. Average portable
storage monthly rental rates increased 0.8% for the year ended December 31, 2019. The average modular space unit utilization rate for the year ended December 31, 2019 was 72.0%, as
compared to 71.6% in 2018. The increase in average modular space utilization rate was driven by a reduction in the combined modular space unit fleet size across the combined WillScot
and ModSpace fleet in 2019. The average portable storage unit utilization rate during the year ended December 31, 2019 was 65.8%, as compared to 68.9% in 2018. The decrease in
average portable storage utilization rate was driven by organic declines in the number of portable storage average units on rent in the Modular - US segment.
Gross Profit: Our gross profit percentage was 38.9% and 38.5% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our gross profit percentage, excluding the effects
of depreciation ("adjusted gross profit percentage"), was 55.3% and 54.7% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Gross profit increased $123.9 million, or 42.8%, to $413.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $289.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The increase
in gross profit is a result of a $291.5 million increase in modular leasing and services revenue and increased new unit sales gross profit of $0.2 million, offset by increases of $120.2 million
in modular leasing and services costs. Increases in modular leasing and services revenues and costs were primarily as a result of increased revenues due to additional units on rent as a
result of recent acquisitions as well as increased margins due to favorable average monthly rental rates on modular space units and increased delivery and installation margins driven
primarily by higher pricing per transaction. These increases were partially offset by increased depreciation of $53.3 million as a result of additional rental equipment acquired as part of the
ModSpace acquisition, as well as continued capital investment in our existing rental equipment.
Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA increased $141.0 million, or 65.4%, to $356.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $215.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018. The increase was driven by higher revenues and gross profits discussed above excluding depreciation, partially offset by increases in SG&A expense, excluding
discrete items, of $33.8 million primarily related to the acquisitions of Acton and ModSpace during the year. Discrete items included in SG&A expense decreased for the year ended
December 31, 2019, compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, by $17.7 million as decreases in transaction and integration costs related to the ModSpace and Acton acquisitions
and subsequent integrations of $20.1 million and $4.0 million, respectively, were partially offset by increases in stock compensation expense and other acquisition-related activities of $3.3
million and $3.1 million, respectively. The remaining increases of $4.0 million are primarily related to increased professional fees, insurance, computer, travel, office and other expenses
related to operating a larger business as a result of our recent acquisitions and our expanded employee base and branch network.
Capex for rental equipment: Capex for rental equipment increased $44.2 million, or 27.5%, to $205.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from $160.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018. The increase was driven by increased spend for new units, VAPS, and refurbishments as a result of the increased fleet size due to the Acton, Tyson and
ModSpace acquisitions. During the year, our average modular space unit fleet grew over 30% in 2019 as compared to 2018.

Supplemental Pro Forma Information
The following pro forma financial information has been prepared for WillScot Mobile Mini, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. These pro forma statements of operations
present the historical consolidated statements of operations of WillScot Mobile Mini, giving effect to the following items as if they had occurred on January 1, 2019:
(i)
(ii)

the Merger with Mobile Mini;
borrowings under the Company’s 2025 Secured Notes and the 2020 ABL Facility;

(iii)

extinguishment of the Mobile Mini line of credit and senior notes assumed in the Merger and subsequently repaid;

(iv)

repayment of the 2017 ABL Facility and the 2022 Secured Notes repaid contemporaneously with the Merger;

(v)

the transaction costs incurred in connection with the Merger; and

(vi)

elimination of non-controlling interest in connection with the Sapphire Exchange as contemplated by the Merger.
The adjustments presented on the pro forma financial statements have been identified and presented to provide relevant information necessary for an accurate understanding of
the combined company following the transactions and events described above. The pro forma financial information set forth below is based upon available information and assumptions that
we believe are reasonable and is for illustrative purposes only. The financial results may have been different if the transactions described above had been completed sooner. You should not
rely on the pro forma financial information as being indicative of the historical results that would have been achieved if these transactions and events had been completed as of January 1,
2019. The pro forma combined financial information below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes of the Company included elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. All pro forma adjustments and their underlying assumptions are described more fully in the notes below.
Accounting Policies
During the preparation of these pro forma combined financial statements, we assessed whether there were any material differences between the Company’s accounting policies
and Mobile Mini’s accounting policies. The assessment performed did not identify any material differences and, as such, these pro forma combined financial statements do not adjust for or
assume any differences in accounting policies between WillScot and Mobile Mini.
Pro forma Presentation
The following pro forma combined financial information and associated notes are based on the historical financial statements of WillScot and Mobile Mini as described below. In
preparing the pro forma combined statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, certain historical financial information for Mobile Mini was reclassified to align
to the reporting classifications of WillScot.
The pro forma combined statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are based on, derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, WillScot’s
historical financial statements. The aforementioned pro forma financial statements are also based on, derived from, and should be read in conjunction with Mobile Mini's historical financial
statements.
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Year Ended December 31, 2020
WillScot Mobile Mini
Holdings Corp.
(as restated)

(in thousands)
Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total revenues
Costs:
Costs of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Costs of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment (b)
Gross profit
Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Transaction costs (a)
Other depreciation and amortization (c)
Lease impairment expense and other related charges
Restructuring costs
Currency losses, net
Other income, net
Operating income
Interest expense (d)
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt (e)
Income before income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense (f)
Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax (g)
Net income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini

$

1,001,447
274,156

Historical Mobile Mini
(as reclassified)

$

62

$

Pro Forma
Combined

—
—

$

1,209,821
334,155

53,093
38,949
1,367,645

8,402
7,465
284,240

—
—
—

61,495
46,414
1,651,885

227,376
220,102

28,584
42,476

—
—

255,960
262,578

34,841
24,772
200,581
659,973

5,457
4,625
15,360
187,738

—
—
2,334
(2,334)

40,298
29,397
218,275
845,377

360,626
64,053
43,249
4,876
6,527
(355)
(1,718)
182,715
119,886
(3,461)
42,401
23,889
(51,451)
75,340
1,213
74,127 $

$

208,374
59,999

Pro Forma
Adjustments

96,170
16,799
19,695
—
—
39
186
54,849
16,974
—
—
37,875
12,330
25,545
—
25,545

$

—
(80,852)
11,397
—
—
—
—
67,121
(9,808)
—
(19,682)
96,611
73,670
22,941
(1,213)
24,154 $

456,796
—
74,341
4,876
6,527
(316)
(1,532)
304,685
127,052
(3,461)
22,719
158,375
34,549
123,826
—
123,826

Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total revenues
Costs:
Costs of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Costs of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment (b)
Gross profit
Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Other depreciation and amortization (c)
Impairment losses on long-lived assets
Lease impairment expense and other related charges
Restructuring costs
Currency (gains) losses, net
Other (income) expense, net
Operating income
Interest expense (d)
Fair value loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt (e)
(Loss) income before income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense (f)
Net (loss) income
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax (g)
Net (loss) income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Historical Mobile Mini
Pro Forma
(as reclassified)
Adjustments

Historical WillScot
(as restated)

(in thousands)

$

744,185
220,057

$

$

—
—

$

16,681
13,713
620,018

—
—
—

75,766
54,051
1,683,683

213,151
194,107

67,396
99,634

—
—

280,547
293,741

42,160
26,255
174,679
413,313

10,885
9,480
31,802
400,821

—
—
4,667
(4,667)

53,045
35,735
211,148
809,467

208,461
38,781
—
—
—
274
99
153,206
41,378
—
123
111,705
27,971
83,734
—
83,734

$

—
22,399
—
—
—
—
—
(27,066)
(37,756)
—
(1,512)
12,202
3,112
9,090
421
8,669 $

Notes to Pro Forma Statements
(a)
(b)
(c)

Represents the elimination of discrete transaction costs expensed by WillScot Mobile Mini as part of the Merger.
Represents the adjustment for depreciation of rental fleet relating to the estimated increase in fair value purchase accounting adjustments as a result of the Merger.
Represents the differential in other depreciation and amortization expense related to the estimated fair value purchase accounting adjustments as a result of the Merger.
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1,191,821
362,045

59,085
40,338
1,063,665

271,004
12,395
2,848
8,674
3,755
(688)
(2,200)
117,525
122,504
109,622
8,755
(123,356)
(2,191)
(121,165)
(421)
(120,744) $

$

447,636
141,988

Pro Forma Combined

479,465
73,575
2,848
8,674
3,755
(414)
(2,101)
243,665
126,126
109,622
7,366
551
28,892
(28,341)
—
(28,341)

(d)

Reflects the incremental interest expense related to our debt structure after the Merger as though the following had occurred on January 1, 2019 (i) borrowings under the 2020 ABL
Facility, (ii) borrowings under the 2025 Secured Notes, (iii) repayment of the 2017 ABL Facility, (iv) repayment of the 2022 Secured Notes and repayment of the Mobile Mini credit
facility and secured notes (the "Mobile Mini debt").

(e)

Represents the elimination of the loss on extinguishment of debt in connection with the repayment of the 2022 Secured Notes and the 2017 ABL Facility in 2020 and partial
redemption of the 2022 Secured Notes in 2019.
Reflects the adjustment to recognize the income tax impacts of the unaudited pro forma adjustments for which a tax expense is recognized using a US federal and state statutory tax
rate of 25.5%. This rate may vary from the effective tax rates of the historical and combined businesses. In addition, the year ended December 31, 2020 included an adjustment of
$56.8 million to eliminate the reversal of valuation allowance as a result of reassessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets as a result of the Merger.
Reflects the pro forma adjustment for the extinguishment of non-controlling interest as a result of the Sapphire Exchange on June 30, 2020.

(f)

(g)

The pro forma adjustment to interest expense consists of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
ABL Facility interest
2022 Secured Notes interest
2025 Secured Notes interest
Mobile Mini debt interest
Deferred financing fee amortization

2020
$

$

Net pro forma adjustment

2019
(2,561)
(10,631)
18,247
(15,921)
1,058
(9,808)

$

(16,422)
(23,507)
39,813
(39,672)
2,032
(37,756)

$

Reconciliation of Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDA
The following unaudited table provides a reconciliation of Net income to pro forma unaudited adjusted EBITDA:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2020
(as restated)

Net income (loss)
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Income tax expense
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Currency gains, net
Goodwill and other impairment charges
Restructuring costs, lease impairment expense, other related charges
Transaction fees
Integration costs
Stock compensation expense
Other

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

2019
(as restated)
123,826 $
22,719
34,549
127,052
292,616
(3,461)
(316)
—
11,403
—
18,338
15,280
4,459
646,465 $

(28,341)
7,366
28,892
126,126
284,723
109,622
(414)
2,848
12,429
3,129
26,607
21,807
4,647
599,441

Summary Business Segment Supplemental Pro Forma Financial Information
As a result of the Merger and the significant related financing transactions, we believe presenting supplemental pro forma financial information is beneficial to the readers of the
financial statements. The following table sets forth key metrics used by management to run the business on a pro forma basis as if the Merger and related financing transactions had
occurred on January 1, 2019. Refer to the Supplemental Pro Forma Financial Information section below for the full reconciliation of the statements of operations.
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Following the Merger, we modified our management structure and expanded from two reporting segments to four segments: NA Modular, NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and
Pump. Prior to the Merger, WillScot had two reportable segments, US Modular and Other North America Modular. These two segments were combined to create the new NA Modular
segment, which represents the legacy WillScot operations. The other new segments, NA Storage, UK Storage, and Tank and Pump align to the legacy operations and segments reported by
Mobile Mini. The new reporting segments are aligned with how we operate and analyze our business results.

Pro Forma Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
(in thousands)
Revenue
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Net income
Adjusted EBITDA
Other Financial Data:
Adjusted EBITDA - NA Modular
Adjusted EBITDA - NA Storage
Adjusted EBITDA - UK Storage
Adjusted EBITDA - Tank and Pump
Combined Adjusted EBITDA

$
$
$
$

Pro Forma Combined Year Ended December 30,
2020
2019
(as restated)
(as restated)
1,651,885 $
1,683,683
456,796 $
479,465
123,826 $
(28,341)
646,465 $
599,441

$

394,805 $
184,601
31,080
35,979
646,465 $

$

356,548
169,697
25,758
47,438
599,441

2020 vs. 2019
$ Change

% Change

$
$
$
$

(31,798)
(22,669)
152,167
47,024

(1.9)%
(5.0)%
122.9 %
7.3 %

$

38,257
14,904
5,322
(11,459)
47,024

9.7 %
8.1 %
17.1 %
(31.8)%
7.3 %

$

NA Modular - Quarterly Results
Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2020:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
255,821
106,190
89,544
39,648
87,988
69.2 %
653
16,346
64.1 %
119

$
$
$
$

$

$

65

Q2
256,862
109,964
97,520
40,034
87,096
68.5 %
669
15,869
62.5 %
120

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
267,867
112,079
100,281
34,249
86,400
68.3 %
693
15,473
61.3 %
124

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
270,612
123,409
107,460
39,396
86,011
68.2 %
724
15,603
62.6 %
124

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
1,051,162
451,642
394,805
153,327
86,874
68.9 %
685
15,823
63.5 %
122

Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2019:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
253,685
103,331
83,354
51,873
93,309
72.4 %
575
17,419
66.1 %
119

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q2
263,713
101,484
87,554
61,215
92,300
71.9 %
611
16,544
63.3 %
121

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
268,222
99,308
87,424
47,789
91,233
71.2 %
630
16,416
63.0 %
123

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
278,045
109,190
98,216
44,229
90,013
70.7 %
641
16,944
66.1 %
118

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
1,063,665
413,313
356,548
205,106
91,682
72.0 %
614
16,878
65.8 %
120

The NA Modular segment represents the activities of WillScot prior to the Merger. As a result, there are no differences between pro forma results and actual results on a reported
basis. Please see comparison of results for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 within "Business Segment Results" above.

NA Storage - Quarterly Results
Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2020:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
103,495
71,400
43,994
5,200
15,509
77.8 %
497
105,441
73.1 %
146

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q2
92,826
66,639
40,770
7,272
15,757
78.6 %
463
101,463
70.6 %
143

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
104,493
73,384
46,465
7,234
16,383
80.4 %
505
105,221
73.4 %
145

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
117,336
83,401
53,372
7,735
16,948
80.9 %
547
120,439
83.0 %
150

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
418,150
294,824
184,601
27,441
16,152
79.4 %
504
108,167
75.1 %
146

Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2019:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
99,565
68,357
37,957
11,841
15,974
80.5 %
413
107,658
76.1 %
144

$
$
$
$

$

$

66

Q2
98,045
66,523
37,474
16,166
15,522
80.5 %
449
105,770
74.5 %
143

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
104,641
73,302
43,084
11,107
15,835
80.9 %
470
109,723
76.8 %
145

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
113,262
80,740
51,182
7,200
16,192
80.4 %
502
119,642
82.5 %
151

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
415,513
288,922
169,697
46,314
15,881
80.6 %
458
110,728
77.5 %
146

Pro Forma Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
NA Storage
Revenue: Total revenue increased $2.7 million, or 0.6%, to $418.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $415.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Leasing revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020 increased year-over-year by $4.8 million, or 1.6%, resulting from the combination of increased revenues in the first quarter,
decreased year-over-year revenue in the second quarter due to the impact of COVID-19, flat year-over-year revenue in the third quarter and increased revenues in the fourth quarter, when
compared to the prior-year periods. Modular space average units on rent increased 1.7% compared to 2019 and average modular space monthly rental rates increased 10.0% year-overyear but were offset by a 2.3% decrease in average portable storage units on rent. Delivery and installation revenues decreased $7.3 million year-over year. Beginning late in the first
quarter, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in fewer new units placed on rent as well as a decrease in returned units leading to a year-over-year decrease in our delivery and installation
revenues. Sales revenues increased $5.1 million compared to the prior year.
Gross Profit: Gross profit increased $5.9 million, or 2.0%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 to $294.8 million from $288.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. This
gross profit increase was driven primarily by a $6.8 million, or 2.5%, year-over-year increase within leasing and a $1.3 million increase related to sales, offset by decreased delivery and
installation gross profit of $1.5 million. Within leasing activity, reduced expenses of $2.0 million from strong cost management in response to the COVID-19 pandemic combined with the $4.8
million revenue increase resulted in a $6.8 million year-over-year increase in leasing gross profit. Reduced expenses in this area include lower maintenance costs of $2.0 million and
reductions in personnel costs. For delivery and installation, gross profit decreased $1.5 million as the effect of reduced revenue was largely mitigated by proactive cost management
resulting in a $3.0 million reduction in outside hauling expense combined with reduced salaries for drivers and lower fuel costs. Sales gross profit increased $1.3 million on larger sales
volume.
Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA increased $14.9 million, or 8.8%, to $184.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $169.7 million for the year ended December
31, 2019 and the margin expanded to 44.1% from 40.8%. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA was driven by a reduction in SG&A expense and the higher gross profit discussed above.
Excluding integration and stock-based compensation, SG&A expense decreased due to reduced costs for personnel of approximately $8.0 million and $2.3 million due to curtailed travel,
partially offset by increased occupancy and other costs.
Capex for Rental Equipment: Purchases of rental equipment and refurbishments of $27.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $18.9 million lower than for the year
ended December 31, 2019. Rental fleet expenditures were reduced significantly during the year ended December 31, 2020 in response to COVID-19, especially after the first quarter of
2020, and were primarily to meet demand for specific products, largely ground level offices.

UK Storage - Quarterly Results
Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2020:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
20,197
11,372
6,405
337
7,850
74.2 %
326
23,328
83.7 %
73

$
$
$
$

$

$

67

Q2
17,154
10,991
6,853
522
7,912
74.6 %
313
22,870
82.2 %
70

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
21,653
12,671
8,306
677
8,444
79.1 %
356
23,146
83.2 %
75

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
24,708
14,971
9,516
1,016
8,834
82.4 %
377
24,496
88.6 %
78

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
83,712
50,005
31,080
2,552
8,262
77.6 %
344
23,462
84.4 %
74

Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2019:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average modular space units on rent
Average modular space utilization rate
Average modular space monthly rental rate
Average portable storage units on rent
Average portable storage utilization rate
Average portable storage monthly rental rate

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q1
20,959
11,129
6,070
921
8,440
79.0 %
319
23,910
85.9 %
70

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q2
20,920
11,367
6,396
1,190
8,460
79.0 %
327
23,594
85.0 %
70

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q3
20,499
11,106
6,704
1,546
8,360
78.0 %
320
23,927
85.9 %
69

$
$
$
$

$

$

Q4
20,179
11,329
6,588
561
8,008
75.4 %
336
24,910
88.9 %
72

$
$
$
$

$

$

Total
82,557
44,931
25,758
4,218
8,316
77.8 %
326
24,087
86.4 %
70

Pro Forma Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
UK Storage
Revenue: Total revenue increased $1.1 million, or 1.3%, to $83.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $82.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Currency fluctuations were immaterial for the current period. Leasing revenues increased 4.0% and delivery and installation revenues decreased 9.8%. Within leasing activity, average
monthly rental rates for modular space units and portable storage units increased 5.5% and 5.7% year-over-year, respectively. These increases were partially offset by a 0.6% decline in
modular space average units on rent and a 2.6% decrease in average portable storage units on rent. The decrease in delivery and installation revenues is due to an overall decrease in
newly placed and returned units primarily resulting from a slower economy during the current-year period as a result of COVID-19. Sales revenues increased $0.6 million compared to the
prior year.
Gross Profit: Gross profit increased $5.1 million, or 11.4%, to $50.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $44.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Proactive cost management fully mitigated the lower delivery and installation revenues and included reduced delivery and installation cost of $2.3 million. Gross profit on leasing increased
6.9% year-over-year. Gross profit on sales increased $1.3 million. Depreciation on rental equipment also decreased by $0.2 million.
Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA increased $5.3 million, or 20.5%, to $31.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $25.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2019 and the margin expanded to 37.1% from 31.2%. The increase resulted primarily from the favorable gross profit discussed above and decreased SG&A expense related largely to lower
travel costs.
Capex for Rental Equipment: Purchases of rental equipment and refurbishments of $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $1.6 million lower than for the year
ended December 31, 2019. Rental fleet expenditures were reduced in 2020 in response to COVID-19.

Tank and Pump - Quarterly Results
Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2020:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization based on
original equipment cost

$
$
$
$

Q1
26,884
13,279
9,477
4,514

$
$
$
$

66.4 %

68

Q2
23,684
11,723
8,659
941
60.5 %

$
$
$
$

Q3
23,302
11,430
8,507
431
58.2 %

$
$
$
$

Q4
24,991
12,474
9,336
1,963
65.2 %

$
$
$
$

Total
98,861
48,906
35,979
7,849
62.6 %

Pro Forma Quarterly Results for the year ended December 31, 2019:
(in thousands, except for units on rent and
monthly rental rate)
Revenue
Gross profit
Adjusted EBITDA
Capex for rental equipment
Average tank and pump solutions rental fleet utilization based on
original equipment cost

$
$
$
$

Q1
30,934
16,210
12,203
10,254

$
$
$
$

74.1 %

Q2
32,961
16,643
13,037
6,025
73.5 %

$
$
$
$

Q3
30,185
15,573
11,885
2,197
68.3 %

$
$
$
$

Q4
27,867
13,875
10,313
1,843
68.6 %

$
$
$
$

Total
121,947
62,301
47,438
20,319
71.1 %

Pro Forma Comparison of Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Tank and Pump
Revenue: Total revenue decreased $23.0 million, or 18.9%, to $98.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $121.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Industrial softening, which began in the second half of 2019, was exacerbated in 2020 by an oversupply of oil leading to lower oil prices. Further, the effects of COVID-19 have resulted in
decreased demand for oil. The business environment during 2020 resulted in reduced demand for our products as utilization based on OEC reduced from 71.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to 62.6% for year ended December 31, 2020 and experienced a decrease in average rental rates compared to the prior-year period. However, utilization levels stabilized
sequentially during the third quarter of 2020 and increased 700 bps to 65.2% in the fourth quarter as compared to the third quarter. Year-over-year leasing revenue decreased $15.2 million,
or 18.7%, while delivery and installation revenue decreased $6.8 million, or 19.3%. Sales revenues decreased $1.0 million compared to the prior-year period.
Gross Profit: Gross profit decreased $13.4 million, or 21.5%, for the year ended December 31, 2020 to $48.9 million from $62.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Gross profit for leasing activity decreased $12.2 million driven by the decreased revenue as discussed above offset by reduced costs of $3.1 million, including decreased repairs and
maintenance of $1.2 million and lower re-rent expense due to the lower activity. Gross profit for delivery and installation activity decreased $2.1 million reflecting the lower revenues offset by
a $4.7 million decrease in expense, including $1.9 million less expense for outside hauling and a reduction in employee costs for delivery drivers. Depreciation of rental equipment
decreased $1.4 million.
Adjusted EBITDA: Adjusted EBITDA decreased $11.4 million, or 24.1%, to $36.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 from $47.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2019 and the margin contracted to 36.4% from 38.9%. The decrease in Adjusted EBITDA was driven by the lower gross profit discussed above, offset by a $3.4 million reduction SG&A
expense including $2.0 million in decreased employee costs.
Capex for rental equipment: Purchases of rental equipment and refurbishments were reduced significantly during 2020 due to the unfavorable environment for this segment. For
the year ended December 31, 2020, expenditures of $7.8 million were $12.5 million lower than for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
WillScot Mobile Mini is a holding company that derives all of its operating cash flow from its operating subsidiaries. Our principal sources of liquidity include cash generated by
operating activities from our subsidiaries, borrowings under the 2020 ABL Facility, and sales of equity and debt securities. We believe that our liquidity sources and operating cash flows are
sufficient to address our operating, debt service and capital requirements over the next twelve months.
We have been consistently engaged in the debt and equity capital markets both opportunistically and as necessary to support the growth of our business, desired leverage levels,
and other capital allocation priorities. Subsequent to the Merger, we believe we have ample liquidity in the 2020 ABL Facility to support both organic operations and other capital allocation
priorities as they arise.
We continue to review available acquisition opportunities with the awareness that any such acquisition may require us to incur additional debt to finance the acquisition and/or to
issue shares of our Common Stock or other equity securities as acquisition consideration or as part of an overall financing plan. In addition, we will continue to evaluate options to improve
our liquidity, such as the issuance of additional unsecured and secured debt, equity securities and/or equity-linked securities. There can be no assurance as to the timing of any such
issuance. If we obtain additional capital by issuing equity, the interests of our existing stockholders will be diluted. If we incur additional indebtedness, that indebtedness may contain
significant financial and other covenants that may significantly restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that we could obtain refinancing or additional financing on favorable terms or at
all. From time to time, we may also seek to streamline our capital structure and improve our financial position through refinancing or restructuring our existing debt or retiring certain of our
securities for cash or other consideration.

69

In anticipation of the Merger, on June 15, 2020, we completed a private offering of $650.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Secured Notes. The proceeds from the
2025 Secured Notes of $650.0 million were used to consummate the Merger and the related financing transactions, which included repayment of the 2022 Secured Notes, repayment of the
Mobile Mini senior notes, and payment of certain fees and expenses related to the Merger and the related financing transactions. The 2025 Secured Notes mature on June 15, 2025 and
bear interest at a rate of 6.125% per annum. Interest is payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning December 15, 2020.
On July 1, 2020, in connection with the completion of the Merger, Holdings, WSII, and certain of its subsidiaries, entered into the 2020 ABL Facility, which provides for revolving
credit facilities in the aggregate principal amount of up to $2.4 billion, consisting of: (i) a senior secured asset-based US dollar revolving credit facility in the aggregate principal amount of
$2.0 billion (the “US Facility”), available to WSII and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “US Borrowers”), and (ii) a $400 million senior secured asset-based multicurrency revolving
credit facility (the "Multicurrency Facility") together with the US Facility (collectively, the “2020 ABL Facility”), available to be drawn in US Dollars, Canadian Dollars, British Pounds Sterling or
Euros by the US Borrowers, and certain of WSII’s wholly-owned subsidiaries organized in Canada and in the UK. Borrowing availability under the 2020 ABL Facility is equal to the lesser of
$2.4 billion and the applicable borrowing bases. The borrowing bases are a function of, among other things, the value of the assets in the relevant collateral pool of which our rental
equipment represents the largest component. On July 1, 2020, in connection with the completion of the Merger, approximately $1.47 billion of proceeds from the 2020 ABL Facility were
used to repay the 2017 ABL Facility, repay Mobile Mini's asset-backed lending facility, and pay fees and expenses related to the Merger and the related financing transactions. On August
11, 2020, we redeemed $49.0 million of our 2023 Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103.0% plus accrued and unpaid interest using proceeds from the 2020 ABL Facility. At December
31, 2020, we had $1.1 billion of available borrowing capacity under the 2020 ABL Facility.
On August 25, 2020, we completed a private offering of $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes. Proceeds from the 2028 Secured notes were used
to repay the $441.0 million remaining outstanding principal of the 2023 Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103.438% plus accrued and unpaid interest. The 2028 Secured Notes mature
on August 15, 2028 and bear interest at a rate of 4.625% per annum. Interest is payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each year, beginning February 25, 2021.

COVID-19 Impact on Liquidity
Although there is uncertainty related to the continued impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on future results, we believe our predictable lease revenue streams underpinned by long
lease durations, combined with steps we have taken to reduce cost and capital spending, increased our internally generated free cash flow in 2020, and we expect our free cash flow
generation to continue to increase. Further, the approximately $1.1 billion of availability under our 2020 ABL Facility as of December 31, 2020, provides additional liquidity in excess of our
free cash flow generation. We continue to manage all aspects of our business including, but not limited to, monitoring the financial health of our customers, suppliers and other third-party
relationships, actively managing our cost structure, reducing or delaying capital spending and developing new opportunities for growth. We believe that the actions we have taken in recent
years to increase our scale and competitive position and strengthen our balance sheet have positioned us well to manage through periods of economic disruption.

Cash Flows
Significant factors driving our liquidity include cash flows generated from operating activities and capex. Our ability to fund our capital needs will be affected by our ongoing ability to
generate cash from operations and access to capital markets.
The following summarizes our change in cash and cash equivalents for the periods presented:
(in thousands)
Net cash from operating activities
Net cash from investing activities
Net cash from financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

$

$
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Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
304,812 $
172,566 $
(125,360)
(152,582)
(158,958)
(26,063)
1,398
166
21,892 $
(5,913) $

2018
37,149
(1,217,202)
1,180,037
(211)
(227)

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and December 31, 2019 and 2018
Cash Flows from operating activities
Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $304.8 million as compared to $172.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, an increase
of $132.2 million. The increase in cash provided by operating activities was driven by an increase of $136.7 million of net income, adjusted for non-cash items, primarily due to the impact of
the Merger on revenues and gross profit. This was partially offset by a decrease of $4.4 million in the net movements of the operating assets and liabilities which was primarily attributable to
a decrease in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities of $20.9 million, an increase in prepaid and other assets of $12.7 million, and a decrease in accrued interest of $7.7 million,
compared to the same period in 2019. This was partially offset by a decrease in cash used from accounts receivable of $36.9 million compared to the same period in 2019.
Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $172.6 million as compared to $37.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase
of $135.5 million. This increase was primarily due to an increase in net income of $159.1, million, adjusted for non-cash items, in 2019 as compared to 2018, as a result of the impact of the
ModSpace acquisition on operations, which is reflected in our results for all of 2019, but is only included for four and a half months in 2018. This increase in net income, adjusted for noncash items, was partially offset by a decrease of $23.7 million in the net movements of the operating assets and liabilities. The decrease in operating assets and liabilities was attributable to
an increase in trade receivables and an increase in cash interest payments during the year ended December 31, 2019, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $125.4 million as compared to $152.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, a decrease of
$27.2 million. The decrease in cash used in investing activities was driven by a $32.7 million decrease in cash used for purchase of rental equipment and refurbishments. Cash used for
purchase of rental equipment and refurbishments decreased compared to 2019 as fleet was less constrained due to reduced utilization and reduced demand for new project deliveries as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the current period impact of prior year spend. Additionally, $17.2 million of cash was acquired as part of the Merger. This increase was partially offset
by an $11.4 million decrease in proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, an increase of $8.2 million on purchases of property, plant and equipment and a $3.2 million decrease
in proceeds from the sale of rental equipment. Proceeds from sale of rental equipment decreased compared to the prior year due to lower sales demand.
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $152.6 million as compared to $1,217.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, a decrease of
$1,064.6 million. The decrease in cash used in investing activities was driven by a $1,083.1 million decrease in cash used for business acquisitions, an $11.3 million increase in proceeds
from the sale of rental equipment, and an $18.1 million increase in proceeds from the sale of property, plant, and equipment. The decrease in cash used in business acquisitions was due to
the acquisition of ModSpace during the year ended December 31, 2018, with no business acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2019. Proceeds from the sale of rental
equipment increased due to increased sales volume as a result of the acquisition of ModSpace. Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment increased primarily as a result of
the sale of non-operating branch locations during the year ended December 31, 2019, as part of the ongoing integration and consolidation process following the acquisition of ModSpace.
The overall decrease in cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was partially offset by an increase in capex of $44.2 million in 2019, which was primarily
driven by increased refurbishments of existing fleet, following our recent acquisitions, and purchases of VAPS to drive revenue growth.
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $159.0 million as compared to $26.1 million cash provided by financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2019, an increase of $132.9 million cash used. The increase in cash used in financing activities was driven by an increase of $62.9 million for payment of financing costs, an
increase of $27.4 million for payment of debt extinguishment costs, payment of $21.8 million for the repurchase and cancellation of warrants, payment of $4.2 million for Common Stock
issuance costs, an increase of $12.8 million of taxes paid on employee stock awards, and an increase of $8.4 million of principal payments on finance lease obligations. Additionally, there
was a net increase of $5.1 million of payments on borrowings, comprised of an increase in repayments of borrowings of $2,239.7 million that was partially offset by an increase receipts from
borrowings of $2,234.6 million. The cash used in financing activities was partially offset by an increase in receipts from the issuance of Common Stock from the exercise of options and
warrants of $9.7 million.
Cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $26.1 million as compared to $1,180.0 million cash provided by financing activities for the year ended
December 31, 2018, an increase of $1,206.1 million cash used. The increase in cash used by financing activities is primarily due to a reduction in borrowings, net of repayments of $1,086.0
million, a decrease in receipts from the issuance of Common Stock of $146.3 million primarily related to the financing of the ModSpace acquisition and an increase in debt extinguishment
costs of $7.1 million. In connection with the ModSpace acquisition, in 2018 we borrowed an aggregate of $1,097.1 million related to the issuance of the 2023 Secured Notes and the
Unsecured Notes, and through the up-sized 2017 ABL Facility. The 2018 stock issuance was used to finance the acquisition of ModSpace. We paid redemption premium costs of $7.1
million in 2019 as a result of the redemption of the Unsecured Notes and the $30.0 million prepayment on the 2022 Secured Notes. The decrease in cash provided by financing activities
was

71

partially offset by a decrease in financing fees payments of $34.0 million due to the significant fees incurred in 2018 as part of the financing activities noted above in connected with the
acquisition of ModSpace.

Contractual Obligations
The following
(in
thousands)
Long-term
indebtedness,
including current
portion and interest
(a)(b)
Payroll tax
withholding (c)
Operating
lease liabilities
Total
(a)
(b)
(c)

table

presents

information

Total

$

relating

our

contractual

Less than 1 year

2,915,812

$

10,350

$

to

279,677
3,205,839

87,613

$

5,175

$

60,120
152,908

obligations and
Between 1 to 3
years

262,839

commercial commitments
Between 3 to 5
years

$

5,175

$

92,258
360,272

of

59,878
2,059,796

December

31,

2020:

More than 5 years

1,999,918
—

$

as

$
—

565,442
—

$

67,421
632,863

Long-term indebtedness includes borrowings and interest under the 2020 ABL Facility, the 2025 Secured Notes, the 2028 Secured Notes, and finance leases.
Includes the obligations under our interest rate swap agreement that effectively convert $400 million in aggregate notional amount of variable-rate debt under the Company’s 2020 ABL Facility into fixedrate debt. The future obligations under the interest rate swaps were calculated using the 1-month LIBOR rate as of December 31, 2020.
Amounts relate to the delay in payment of employer payroll taxes in accordance with the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the ‘‘CARES Act’’).

At December 31, 2020, in addition to the above contractual obligations, we had $14.5 million of potential long-term tax liabilities, including interest and penalties, related to
uncertain tax positions. Because of the high degree of uncertainty regarding the future cash flows associated with these potential long-term tax liabilities, we are unable to estimate the years
in which settlement will occur with the respective taxing authorities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capex or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and capital resources is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP. GAAP requires that we make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and the related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base these estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we consider reasonable under the circumstances and
reevaluate our estimates and judgments as appropriate. The actual results experienced by us may differ materially and adversely from our estimates. We believe that the following critical
accounting policies involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity in the preparation of financial statements:

Revenue Recognition
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied.
Leasing and Services Revenue
The majority of revenue is generated by rental income subject to the guidance of ASC 840, Leases ("ASC 840") in 2018 and ASC 842 in 2019 and 2020. The remaining revenue is
generated by performance obligations in contracts with customers for services or sale of units subject to the guidance in ASC 605, Revenue ("ASC 605"), in 2018 and ASU 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) ("ASC 606") in 2019 and 2020.
Leasing Revenue
Income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company's lease arrangements can include multiple lease and non-lease components.
Examples of lease components include, but are not limited to, the lease of modular space, portable storage units and VAPS. Examples of non-lease components include, but are not limited
to, the delivery, installation, maintenance, and removal services commonly provided in a bundled transaction with the lease components. Arrangement consideration is allocated between
lease deliverables and non-lease components based on the relative estimated selling (leasing) price of each deliverable. Estimated selling (leasing) price of the lease deliverables is based
upon the estimated stand-alone selling price of the related performance obligations using an adjusted market approach.
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When leases and services are billed in advance, recognition of revenue is deferred until services are rendered. If equipment is returned prior to the contractually obligated period,
the excess, if any, between the amount the customer is contractually required to pay over the cumulative amount of revenue recognized to date is recognized as incremental revenue upon
return.
Rental equipment is leased primarily under operating leases and, from time to time, under sales-type lease arrangements. Operating lease minimum contractual terms within the
NA Modular segment generally range from 1 month to 60 months and averaged approximately 9 months across this segment's rental fleet for the year ended December 31, 2020.Rental
contracts with customers within the NA Storage and UK Storage segments are generally based on a 28-day rate and billing cycle. The rental continues until cancelled by the Company or
the customer. There were no material sales-type lease arrangements as of December 31, 2020 or 2019.
The Company may use third parties to satisfy its performance obligations, including both the provision of rental units and other services. To determine whether it is the principal or
agent in the arrangement, the Company reviews each third-party relationship on a contract-by-contract basis. The Company is considered an agent when its role is to arrange for another
entity to provide the rental units and other services to the customer. In these instances, the Company does not control the rental unit or service before it is provided. The Company is
considered the principal when it controls the rental unit or service prior to transferring control to the customer. WillScot Mobile Mini may be a principal in the fulfillment of some rental units
and services and an agent for other rental units and services within the same contract. Revenue is recognized on a gross basis when the Company is the principal in the arrangement and
on a net basis when it is the agent.
The adoption of ASC 842 at January 1, 2019, did not have a significant impact on the recognition of leasing revenue. Based on the requirements of ASC 842, the Company records
changes in estimated collectability, directly against leasing revenue.
Services Revenue
The Company generally has three non-lease service-related performance obligations in its contracts with customers:
•
Delivery and installation of the modular or portable storage unit;
•

Maintenance and other ad hoc services performed during the lease term; and

•

Removal services that occur at the end of the lease term.

Consideration is allocated to each of these performance obligations within the contract based upon their estimated relative standalone selling prices using the estimated cost plus a
margin approach. Revenue from these activities is recognized as the services are performed.
Sales Revenue
Sales revenue is generated by the sale of new and rental units. Revenue from the sale of new and rental units is generally recognized at a point in time upon the transfer of control
to the customer, which occurs when the unit is delivered and installed in accordance with the contract. Sales transactions constitute a single performance obligation.
Other Matters
The Company's non-lease revenues do not include material amounts of variable consideration, other than the variability noted for services arrangements expected to be performed
beyond a twelve-month period.
The Company's payment terms vary by the type and location of its customer and the product or services offered. The time between invoicing and when payment is due is not
significant. While the Company may bill certain customers in advance, its contracts do not contain a significant financing component based on the short length of time between upfront
billings and the performance of contracted services. For certain products, services, or customer types, the Company requires payment before the products or services are delivered to the
customer.
Revenue is recognized net of taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

Goodwill and Goodwill Impairment
For acquired businesses, the Company records assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the respective acquisition dates. Based on these values,
the excess purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Generally, reporting units are at the operating segment level or one level below the
operating segment (the component level), if discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is
assigned to each of the Company’s reporting units that are expected to benefit from the combination.
The Company performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as of October 1 at the reporting unit level, as well as during any reporting period in which events or changes in
circumstances occur that, in management’s judgment, may constitute triggering events under ASC 350-20, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, Testing Goodwill for Impairment. The Company
performs its assessment of goodwill utilizing either a qualitative or quantitative impairment test. The qualitative impairment test assesses company-specific, industry, market and general
economic factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes that it is more likely than
not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or elects not to use the qualitative
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impairment test, a quantitative impairment test is performed. The quantitative impairment test involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount. The
Company uses an independent valuation specialist for its annual impairment tests to assist in the valuation.
The Company has historically used the quantitative impairment test to evaluate goodwill for impairment. The Company used the qualitative approach for the reporting units acquired
in the Merger due to the proximity of the July 1, 2020 acquisition date to the October 1, 2020 measurement date.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include
revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, value of net operating losses, future economic and market conditions
and determination of appropriate market comparables. Management bases fair value estimates on assumptions it believes to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently
uncertain. Actual future results may differ from these estimates.
If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the calculated fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment charge would be recognized for the excess, not to exceed the
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

Intangible Assets Other than Goodwill
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually. The
Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the Williams Scotsman trade name and the Mobile Mini trade name. The Company performs its assessment of indefinite-lived
intangible assets utilizing either a qualitative or quantitative impairment test. When utilizing a quantitative impairment test, the Company calculates fair value using a relief-from-royalty
method. This method is used to estimate the cost savings that accrue to the owner of an intangible asset who would otherwise have to pay royalties or license fees on revenues earned
through the use of the asset. If the carrying amount of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded to the extent the recorded
indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the fair value.
Other intangible assets that have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. Amortization is recognized in profit or loss
over the estimated useful lives of the intangible asset.

Purchase Accounting
The Company accounts for acquisitions of businesses under the acquisition method. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the Company records assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their estimated fair value on the date of acquisition. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets. Estimated fair values of acquired assets and liabilities are provisional and could change as additional information is received. When appropriate, our estimates of the
fair values of assets and liabilities acquired include assistance from independent third-party valuation firms. Valuations are finalized as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from
the acquisition date. Any subsequent changes to purchase price allocations result in a corresponding adjustment to goodwill.
Long-lived assets (principally rental equipment), goodwill and other intangible assets generally represent the largest components of our acquisitions. Rental equipment is valued
utilizing a replacement cost approach. Intangible assets are recognized at their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition and generally consist of customer relationships and trade
names. Determination of the estimated fair value of intangible assets requires judgment. The estimated fair value of customer relationships is determined based on estimates and judgments
regarding discounted future after-tax earnings and cash flows arising from lease renewals and new lease arrangements expected from customer relationships. The fair value of trade name
intangible assets is determined utilizing the relief from royalty method. Under this form of the income approach, a royalty rate based on observed market royalties is applied to projected
revenue supporting the trade name and discounted to present value.

Rental Equipment
Rental equipment is comprised of modular space and portable storage units held for rent or on rent to customers, tank and pump solutions products, which consist primarily of liquid
and solid containment units, pumps and filtration equipment, and VAPS which are in use or available to be used by customers. Rental equipment is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Costs of improvements and betterments to rental equipment are
capitalized when such costs extend the useful life of the equipment or increase the rental value of the unit. Costs incurred for equipment to meet a particular customer specification are
capitalized and depreciated over the lease term taking in consideration the residual value of the asset. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation

is

generally

computed

using

the

straight-line

Modular space units
Portable storage units
Tank and pump
VAPS and other related rental equipment
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method

over

estimated
useful
Estimated Useful
Life
10 - 20 years
30 years
7 - 25 years
1 - 8 years

lives,

as

follows:

Residual Value
20 - 50%
55%
—%
—%

Trade Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses
The Company is exposed to credit losses from trade receivables generated through its leasing and sales business. The Company assesses each customer’s ability to pay for the
products it leases or sells by conducting a credit review. The credit review considers expected billing exposure and timing for payment and the customer’s established credit rating. The
Company performs its credit review of new customers at inception of the customer relationship and for existing customers when the customer transacts new leases after a defined period of
dormancy. The Company also considers contract terms and conditions, country risk and business strategy in the evaluation.
The Company monitors ongoing credit exposure through an active review of customer balances against contract terms and due dates. The Company may employ collection
agencies and legal counsel to pursue recovery of defaulted receivables. The allowances for credit losses reflect the estimate of the amount of receivables that the Company will be unable to
collect based on historical write-off experience and, as applicable, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect collectability. This estimate could require change
based on changing circumstances, including changes in the economy or in the particular circumstances of individual customers. Accordingly, the Company may be required to increase or
decrease our allowances.
In accordance with the adoption of Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-2, Leases (Topic 842) ("ASC 842"), effective January 1, 2019, and the adoption of ASU 2016-13,
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) ("ASC 326"), effective January 1, 2020, specifically identifiable lease revenue receivables and sales receivables not deemed probable of
collection are recorded as a reduction of revenue. The remaining provision for credit losses is recorded as selling, general and administrative expense. For the year ended December 31,
2018, the entire provision for credit losses was recorded as a selling, general and administrative expense. The Company reviews the adequacy of the allowance on a quarterly basis.

Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to the Merger, stock awards were granted under the WillScot Corporation 2017 Incentive Award Plan (the "2017 Incentive Plan"), which included Restricted Stock Awards
("RSAs") and Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs"). On June 24, 2020, WillScot's stockholders approved the WillScot Mobile Mini 2020 Incentive Award Plan ("2020 Incentive Plan") to take effect
pending completion of the Merger. The plan amended and restated in its entirety the 2017 Incentive Plan. As a result, all historical and future incentive awards to the Company's Board of
Directors, executive officers and employees, as determined by the Company's Compensation Committee ("the Comp Committee"), are granted under the 2020 Incentive Plan. The 2020
Incentive Plan is administered by the Comp Committee. Under the 2020 Incentive Plan, the Comp Committee may grant an aggregate of 6,488,988 shares of Common Stock in the form of
non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, RSAs, RSUs, performance compensation awards and stock bonus awards. Stock-based payments, including
the grant of stock options, RSAs and RSUs, are subject to service-based vesting requirements, and expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Forfeitures are
accounted for as they occur.
Stock-based compensation expense includes grants of stock options, time-based RSUs ("Time-Based RSUs") and performance-based RSUs ("Performance-Based RSUs",
together with Time-Based RSUs, the "RSUs"). The 2020 Incentive Plan continues the former Market-Based RSUs renamed as "Performance-Based RSUs." RSUs are recognized in the
financial statements based on their fair value. In addition, stock-based payments to non-executive directors include grants of RSAs. Time-Based RSUs and RSAs are valued based on the
intrinsic value of the difference between the exercise price, if any, of the award and the fair market value of WillScot Mobile Mini's Common Stock on the grant date. Performance-Based
RSUs are valued based on a Monte Carlo simulation model to reflect the impact of the Performance-Based RSUs market condition. The probability of satisfying a market condition is
considered in the estimation of the grant-date fair value for Performance-Based RSUs and the compensation cost is not reversed if the market condition is not achieved, provided the
requisite service has been provided.
RSAs cliff vest in a one year period. Time-Based RSUs vest ratably over a period of four years. Performance-Based RSUs cliff vest based on achievement of the relative total
stockholder return ("TSR") of the Company's Common Stock as compared to the TSR of the constituents of the Russell 3000 Index at the grant date over the performance period of three
years. The target number of RSUs may be adjusted from 0% to 150% based on the TSR attainment levels defined by the Comp Committee. The 100% target payout is tied to performance
at the 50% percentile, with a payout curve ranging from 0% (for performance less than the 25% percentile) to 150% (for performance at or above the 75% percentile). Vesting is also subject
to continued service requirements through the vesting date.
Stock options vest in tranches over a period of four years and expire ten years from the grant date. The fair value of each stock option award on the grant date is estimated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield, expected stock price volatility, weighted-average risk-free interest rate and weightedaverage expected term of the options. The volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was based on a blend of peer group volatility and Company trading history
as the Company did not have a sufficient trading history as a stand-alone public company. Future calculations will use the Company trading history. Additionally, due to an insufficient history
with respect to stock option activity and post-vesting cancellations, the expected term assumption is based on the simplified method under GAAP, which is based on the vesting period and
contractual term for each tranche of awards. The mid-point between the weighted-average vesting term and the expiration date is used as the expected term under this method. The riskfree interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is based on the implied US Treasury bill yield curve
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at the date of grant with a remaining term equal to the Company’s expected term assumption. WillScot Mobile Mini has never declared or paid a cash dividend on common shares.

Warrants
The Company accounts for warrants in accordance with applicable accounting guidance provided in ASC 815-40, as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments depending
on the specific terms of the warrant agreements. In periods subsequent to issuance, warrants classified as liabilities are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date and
transaction date with changes in the estimated fair values of the common stock warrant liabilities and gains and losses on extinguishment of common stock warrant liabilities reported in the
consolidated statements of operations.
The Company accounts for its warrants in the following ways: (i) the 2015 Private Warrants as liabilities for all periods presented, (ii) the 2015 Public Warrants as liabilities through
their final redemption in February 2020 and (iii) the 2018 Warrants as liabilities until June 30, 2020, the date all issued and outstanding shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock
were cancelled.
Prior to their redemption, the Company's 2015 Public Warrants traded in active markets. When classified as liabilities, warrants traded in active markets with sufficient trading
volume represent Level 1 financial instruments as they were publicly traded in active markets and thus had observable market prices which were used to estimate the fair value adjustments
for the related common stock warrant liabilities. When classified as liabilities, warrants not traded in active markets, or traded with insufficient volume, represent Level 3 financial instruments
that are valued using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value adjustments for the related common stock warrant liabilities.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the
financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on
deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
The Company records deferred tax assets to the extent it believes that it is more likely than not that these assets will be realized. In making such determination, the Company
considers all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent results of
operations. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized.
The Company assesses the likelihood that each of the deferred tax assets will be realized. To the extent management believes realization of any deferred tax assets is not likely,
the Company establishes a valuation allowance. When a valuation allowance is established or there is an increase in an allowance in a reporting period, tax expense is generally recorded in
the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. Conversely, to the extent circumstances indicate that a valuation allowance is no longer necessary, that portion of the valuation
allowance is reversed, which generally reduces the Company’s income tax expense.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for the income taxes on the undistributed earnings of wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries unless such earnings are indefinitely reinvested, or
will only be repatriated when possible to do so at minimal additional tax cost. Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in profit (loss)
for the year.
In accordance with applicable authoritative guidance, the Company accounts for uncertain income tax positions using a benefit recognition model with a two-step approach; a morelikely-than-not recognition criterion; and a measurement approach that measures the position as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. If it is not more-likely-than-not that the benefit of the tax position will be sustained on its technical merits, no benefit is recorded. Uncertain tax positions that relate only to
timing of when an item is included on a tax return are considered to have met the recognition threshold. The Company classifies interest on tax deficiencies and income tax penalties within
income tax expense.
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ITEM 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to certain market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Changes in these factors cause fluctuations in our earnings and cash
flows. We evaluate and manage exposure to these market risks as follows:

Interest Rate Risk
We are primarily exposed to interest rate risk through our ABL Facility, which bears interest at variable rates based on LIBOR. We had $1.3 billion in outstanding principal under the
ABL Facility at December 31, 2020.
In order to manage this risk, we maintain an interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts $400.0 million in aggregate notional amount of variable-rate debt under our ABL
Facility into fixed-rate debt. The swap agreement provides for us to pay a fixed rate of 3.06% per annum on the outstanding debt in exchange for receiving a variable interest rate based on
1-month LIBOR. The effect is a synthetically fixed rate of 4.94% on the $400.0 million notional amount, when including the current applicable margin.
An increase in interest rates by 100 basis points on our ABL Facility, inclusive of the impact of our interest rate swaps, would increase annual interest expense by approximately
$9.0 million based on current outstanding borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risk
We currently generate the majority of our consolidated net revenues in the US, and the reporting currency for our consolidated financial statements is the US dollar. However, we
are exposed to currency risk through our operations in Canada, Mexico, and the UK. For the operations outside the US we bill customers primarily in their local currency, which is subject to
foreign currency rate changes. As our net revenues and expenses generated outside of the US increase, our results of operations could be adversely impacted by changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Since we recognize foreign revenues in local foreign currencies, if the US dollar strengthens, it could have a negative impact on our foreign revenues upon
translation of those results into the US dollar for consolidation into our financial statements.
In addition, we are exposed to gains and losses resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on transactions generated by our foreign subsidiaries in currencies
other than their local currencies. These gains and losses are primarily driven by intercompany transactions and rental equipment purchases denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the purchasing entity. These exposures are included in currency (gains) losses, net, on the consolidated statements of operations. To date, we have not entered into
any hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency risk.

Seasonality
Although demand from certain of our customers is seasonal, our operations as a whole are not impacted in any material respect by seasonality.

Impact of Inflation
Inflationary factors such as increases in the cost of our product and overhead costs may adversely affect our operating results if we are unsuccessful in passing such inflationary
increases on to our customers in the form of higher prices. We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our results of operations.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

Restatement of Financial Statements
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2020 have been restated to correct a misstatement in the classification of the Company's 2015 Warrants and 2018 Warrants.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 26, 2021, except for the effect of the material weakness described in the second paragraph of that report, as to which the date
is May 10, 2021, expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical
audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Valuation of Intangible Assets Acquired through Mobile Mini Merger
Description of the
Matter

During 2020, the Company completed its merger with Mobile Mini, Inc. for net consideration of $1.4 billion, as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements. The transaction was accounted for as a business combination.
Auditing the Company's accounting for its merger with Mobile Mini was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation uncertainty in
management’s determination of the fair value of identified intangible assets of $383 million, which principally consisted of $217 million and $164 million of
customer relationship and tradename intangibles, respectively. The significant estimation uncertainty was primarily due to the sensitivity of the respective fair
values to changes in the underlying assumptions. The Company used a discounted cash flow model to measure the customer relationship and tradename
intangible assets. The significant assumptions used to estimate the value of the intangible assets included discount rates, royalty rates, and assumptions that
form the basis of the forecasted results, in particular revenue growth rates, projected EBITDA margins and customer retention assumptions. These significant
assumptions are forward looking and could be affected by future economic and market conditions.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company's controls over its valuation of acquired
intangible assets. Our tests included controls over the estimation process supporting the recognition and measurement of customer-relationship and
tradename intangible assets. For example, we tested controls over management’s review of the valuation models and significant assumptions used to
estimate the fair value of the customer relationship and tradename intangible assets, including controls over the completeness and accuracy of the data used
in the valuation models.
To test the estimated fair value of the customer relationship and tradename intangible assets, we performed audit procedures that included, among others,
evaluating the Company's selection of the valuation methodology, evaluating the methods and significant assumptions described above, and evaluating the
completeness and accuracy of the underlying data supporting the significant assumptions and estimates. We involved our valuation specialists to assist with
our evaluation of the methodology used by the Company and significant assumptions included in the fair value estimates. For example, our valuation
specialists compared management’s assumptions used to develop the discount rates to the weighted average cost of capital of guideline public companies.
Additionally, we compared the significant assumptions related to prospective financial information to the historical results of the Mobile Mini business and to
guideline companies in the same industry. We also performed a sensitivity analysis of the significant assumptions to evaluate the change in the fair values
that would result from changes in assumptions.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
Baltimore, Maryland
February 26, 2021, except for the impact of the matter discussed in Note 1 - Restatement of Previously Reported Financial Statements, as to which the date is May 10, 2021
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WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share data)
December 31,
2020
2019
(as restated)
(as restated)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 of $29,258 and $15,828,
respectively
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Assets held for sale
Total current assets
Rental equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other non-current assets
Total long-term assets

$

24,937

Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Accounts payable
Accrued interest and liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Operating lease liabilities - current
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Common stock warrant liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 19)
Preferred Stock: $0.0001 par, 1,000,000 shares authorized and zero shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 and
2019
Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 500,000,000 shares authorized and 229,038,158 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2020
Class A Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 400,000,000 shares authorized and 108,818,854 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2019
Class B Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 100,000,000 shares authorized and 8,024,419 shares issued and outstanding at December
31, 2019
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

$

330,942
21,655
29,954
12,004
419,492
2,933,722
303,650
232,094
1,171,219
495,947
16,081
5,152,713
5,572,205

Total liabilities and equity

$
See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

80

$

106,926
141,672
135,485
48,063
16,521
448,667
2,453,809
307,541
183,761
77,404
37,150
3,059,665
3,508,332

$

3,045

$

247,596
15,387
14,621
11,939
292,588
1,944,436
147,689
146,698
235,177
126,625
4,436
2,605,061
2,897,649

$

109,926
98,375
82,978
29,133
—
320,412
1,632,589
70,693
118,429
153,756
46,571
2,022,038
2,342,450

—

—

23

—

—

11

—
3,852,291
(37,207)
(1,751,234)
2,063,873
—
2,063,873
5,572,205 $

1
2,378,733
(62,775)
(1,825,361)
490,609
64,590
555,199
2,897,649

WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Years Ended December 31,
2019
(as restated)

2020
(as restated)
Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total revenues
Costs:
Costs of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Costs of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment
Gross profit
Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Transaction costs
Other depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses on long-lived assets
Lease impairment expense and other related charges
Restructuring costs
Currency (gains) losses, net
Other income, net
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax

$

Net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

1,001,447
274,156

$

$

518,235
154,557

53,093
38,949
1,367,645

59,085
40,338
1,063,665

53,603
25,017
751,412

227,376
220,102

213,151
194,107

143,120
143,950

34,841
24,772
200,581
659,973

42,160
26,255
174,679
413,313

36,863
16,659
121,436
289,384

$

360,626
64,053
43,249
—
4,876
6,527
(355)
(1,718)
182,715
119,886
(3,461)
42,401
23,889
(51,451)
75,340
1,213
74,127 $

$
$

0.44
0.25

$
$

169,230,177
177,268,383

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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744,185
220,057

2018
(as restated)

271,004
—
12,395
2,848
8,674
3,755
(688)
(2,200)
117,525
122,504
109,622
8,755
(123,356)
(2,191)
(121,165)
(421)
(120,744) $

234,820
20,051
13,304
1,600
—
15,468
2,454
(4,574)
6,261
98,433
(23,830)
—
(68,342)
(38,600)
(29,742)
(4,532)
(25,210)

(1.11) $
(1.11) $

(0.29)
(0.53)

108,683,820
108,683,820

87,209,605
88,950,564

WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands)

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of income tax benefit of $685, $0 and $161 for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Net loss on derivatives, net of income tax benefit of $(539), $(1,471) and $(1,822) for the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to non-controlling interest

$

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini

$

2020
(as restated)
75,340

Years Ended December 31,
2019
(as restated)
$
(121,165) $

28,404
(1,749)
26,655
101,995
(672)
102,667 $

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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10,586
(4,809)
5,777
(115,388)
105
(115,493) $

2018
(as restated)
(29,742)

(11,639)
(5,955)
(17,594)
(47,336)
(6,137)
(41,199)

WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (as restated)
(in thousands)
Common Stock (1)

Shares

Balance at December 31, 2017 (as restated) (2)
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Adoption of ASU 2018-02
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of Common Stock and contribution of proceeds
to WSII
Acquisition of ModSpace and related financing
transactions including stock
Common Stock issued in warrant exchange
Issuance of Common Stock from the exercise of options
and warrants
Balance at December 31, 2018 (as restated)
Net loss
Other comprehensive income
Adoption of ASC 606
Adoption of ASC 842
Issuance of Common Stock from the exercise of options
and warrants
Stock-based compensation and issuance of Common
Stock from vesting
Balance at December 31, 2019 (as restated)
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Mobile Mini Merger
Sapphire Exchange - See Note 12
Issuance of Common Stock from the exercise of options
and warrants
Repurchase and cancellation of options and warrants
Withholding taxes on net share settlement of stock-based
compensation and option exercises
Stock-based compensation and issuance of Common
Stock from vesting
Reclassification of ModSpace Warrants
Balance at December 31, 2020 (as restated)

Class B Common Stock

Amount

Shares

Amount

Additional Paidin Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

84,645 $
—
—
—
—

8
—
—
—
—

8,024 $
—
—
—
—

9,200

1

—

—

131,460

—

6,458
8,206

1
1

—
—

—

82,195
100,557

—
—

—
108,509 $
—
—
—
—

—
11
—
—
—
—

—
8,024 $
—
—
—
—

—

—
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1 $ 2,053,711 $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
3,439

—
1
1 $ 2,371,363 $
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
6,032
1 $ 2,378,733 $
—
—
—
—
—
1,348,619
(1)
66,890

(49,497) $ (1,687,014) $
—
(25,210)
(15,989)
—
(2,540)
2,540
—
—

NonControlling
Interest

Total Equity

317,209 $ 48,931 $
(25,210)
(4,532)
(15,989)
(1,605)
—
—
3,439
—

366,140
(29,742)
(17,594)
—
3,439

—

131,461

7,574

139,035

—
—

82,196
100,558

13,614
—

95,810
100,558

—
—
(68,026) $ (1,709,684) $
—
(120,744)
5,251
—
—
345
—
4,722
—

Total
Shareholders'
Equity

—

—
—
(62,775) $ (1,825,361) $
—
74,127
28,540
—
—
—
(2,972)
—

1
—
1
593,665 $ 63,982 $ 657,647
(120,744)
(421) (121,165)
5,251
526
5,777
345
—
345
4,722
503
5,225
1,338

—

1,338

229
108,819 $
—
—
106,427
10,641

—
11
—
—
11
1

2,836
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

35,727
(300)

—
—

—
—

35,727
(300)

—
—

35,727
(300)

—

—

—

—

(13,473)

—

—

(13,473)

—

(13,473)

—
—
23

—
—
— $

—
9,879
—
26,216
— $ 3,852,291 $

315
—
229,038 $

—
8,024 $
—
—
—
(8,024)

1,338

Accumulated
Deficit

—
—
—
—
(37,207) $ (1,751,234) $

(1) See Note 1 for information regarding the Company's conversion of Class A Common Stock to Common Stock on July 1, 2020 concurrent with the Merger.
(2) Additional Paid-in Capital and Accumulated Deficit opening balances have been reduced by $68,215 and $50,195, respectively, as a result of the restatement described in Note 1.
See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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6,032
—
6,032
490,609 $ 64,590 $ 555,199
74,127
1,213
75,340
28,540
(1,885)
26,655
1,348,630
— 1,348,630
63,918
(63,918)
—

9,879
26,216
2,063,873 $

—
9,879
—
26,216
— $ 2,063,873

WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
2020
(as restated)
Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for credit losses
Impairment losses on long-lived assets
Impairment losses on right of use assets
Gain on sale of rental equipment and other property, plant and equipment
Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income tax benefit
Unrealized currency losses (gains), net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of businesses acquired:
Trade receivables
Inventories
Prepaid and other assets
Operating lease assets and liabilities
Accrued interest
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of a businesses, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of rental equipment
Purchase of rental equipment and refurbishments
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Receipts from issuance of Common Stock from the exercise of options and warrants
Repurchase and cancellation of warrants
Payment of Common Stock issuance costs
Receipts from borrowings
Payment of financing costs
Repayment of borrowings

$
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75,340

Years Ended December 31,
2019
(as restated)
$

(121,165) $

2018
(as restated)
(29,742)

246,948
32,593
—
57
(14,124)
13,085
(3,461)
42,401
9,879
(55,155)
424

189,436
14,496
2,848
4,160
(11,660)
11,450
109,622
8,755
6,686
(2,624)
(745)

136,467
7,656
1,600
—
(12,878)
7,652
(23,830)
—
3,439
(40,192)
1,982

(26,723)
2,775
(4,547)
789
(11,877)
(16,046)
12,454
304,812

(63,648)
869
8,237
(438)
(4,217)
4,865
15,639
172,566

(36,452)
(1,241)
8,416
—
17,526
(14,462)
11,208
37,149

17,173
38,949
(172,383)
7,355
(16,454)
(125,360)

—
42,101
(205,106)
18,763
(8,340)
(152,582)

(1,083,146)
30,761
(160,883)
688
(4,622)
(1,217,202)

10,616
(21,777)
(4,222)
2,786,793
(65,475)
(2,808,370)

921
—
—
552,230
(2,623)
(568,686)

147,201
—
—
1,212,629
(36,579)
(143,094)

Payment of debt extinguishment premium costs
Principal payments on finance lease obligations
Taxes paid on employee stock awards
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

$

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid (refunded), net
Capital expenditures accrued or payable
Non-cash acquisition of a business

$
$
$
$

(34,610)
(8,440)
(13,473)
(158,958)
1,398
21,892
3,045
24,937 $

108,740
4,234
23,553
—

$
$
$
$

See the accompanying notes which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(7,152)
(99)
(654)
(26,063)
166
(5,913)
8,958
3,045 $

115,582
(1,148)
23,946
—

$
$
$
$

—
(120)
—
1,180,037
(211)
(227)
9,185
8,958

51,986
2,617
20,785
148,108

WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
NOTE 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (as restated)
Organization and Nature of Operations
WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. (“WillScot Mobile Mini” and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) is a leading provider of modular space and portable storage solutions
in the United States (“US”), Canada, Mexico and the United Kingdom ("UK"). The Company also maintains a fleet of specialty containment products, including liquid and solid containment
solutions. The Company leases, sells, delivers and installs mobile solutions and storage products through an integrated network of branch locations that spans North America and the UK.
WillScot Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“WillScot”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 1, 2020, as amended on May 28, 2020 (as so
amended, the “Merger Agreement”), by and among WillScot, Mobile Mini, Inc. (“Mobile Mini”), and Picasso Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of WillScot (“Merger Sub”). On July
1, 2020, Merger Sub merged with and into Mobile Mini (the “Merger”). At the effective time of the Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub ceased, and Mobile Mini continued
its existence as the surviving corporation in the Merger and a wholly-owned subsidiary of WillScot. As a result of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of Mobile Mini Common
Stock, par value $0.01 per share (other than treasury shares held by Mobile Mini), was converted automatically into the right to receive 2.405 shares of WillScot’s Class A Common Stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “WillScot Class A Common Stock”), and cash in lieu of any fractional shares. Immediately following the Merger, WillScot changed its name to “WillScot
Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.” and filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the “A&R Charter”), which reclassified all outstanding shares of WillScot Class A Common Stock
and converted such shares into shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of WillScot Mobile Mini (“WillScot Mobile Mini Common Stock”). The WillScot Class A Common
Stock was listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market (Nasdaq: WSC) up until the Merger, and the WillScot Mobile Mini Common Stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market (Nasdaq:
WSC) since the Merger. As used herein, the term “Common Stock” or “the Company’s Common Stock” refers to WillScot Class A Common Stock prior to filing of the A&R Charter on July 1,
2020 and to WillScot Mobile Mini Common Stock as of and following the filing of the A&R Charter July 1, 2020.
As the Merger closed on July 1, 2020 the preparation of financial statements in accordance with US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) requires that our
consolidated financial statements and most of the disclosures in these Notes be presented on a historical basis. Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Company” and “WillScot
Mobile Mini” as used in these financial statements mean WillScot and its subsidiaries when referring to periods prior to July 1, 2020 (prior to the Merger) and to WillScot Mobile Mini, when
referring to periods on or after July 1, 2020 (after the Merger).

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with GAAP.

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of WillScot Mobile Mini and its subsidiaries that it controls due to ownership of a majority voting interest.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control
ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as WillScot Mobile Mini. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated.

Restatement of Previously Reported Financial Statements
On April 12, 2021, in the SEC Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies (“SPACs”) (the “SEC
Staff Statement”), the SEC staff clarified its interpretations of certain generally accepted accounting principles related to certain terms that are common in warrants issued in connection with
the initial public offerings of SPACs. The SEC Staff addressed certain accounting and reporting considerations related to warrants of a kind similar to those issued by the Company that
preclude the warrants from being classified as components of equity.
In April 2021, management of the Company concluded that the Company’s previously issued consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
2018 and for each of the interim quarterly periods therein (the “Non-Reliance Period”) should no longer be relied upon. As such, the Company is restating its financial statements in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K/A to make the necessary accounting adjustments related to the accounting for certain previously issued warrants to conform with the SEC Staff Statement
described below. These warrants include (i) warrants to purchase 9,750,000 shares of common stock at a price of $5.75 per half share issued in a private placement concurrently with the
initial public offering (the "IPO") in 2015 (the “2015 Private Warrants”), (ii) warrants to purchase 25,000,000 shares of common stock at a price of $5.75 per half share issued as components
of units sold in the IPO in 2015 (the "2015 Public Warrants") and (iii) warrants to purchase 9,999,579 shares of common stock at a price of $15.50 per share issued to former shareholders
as part
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of a 2018 acquisition (the "2018 Warrants" and collectively with the 2015 Private Warrants and the 2015 Public Warrants, the "Warrants"). Since issuance, the Warrants were classified
within equity in the Company's financial statements.
As clarified by the SEC staff interpretation of Accounting Standards Codification 815-40, Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, ("ASC 815-40"), the Company's warrant instruments
are classified as liabilities for certain periods with changes in the estimated fair values of the derivative instruments reported in the statement of operations.
As a result of the above, the Company has restated its consolidated financial statements for the Non-Reliance Period to reflect (i) the 2015 Private Warrants as liabilities for all
periods presented, (ii) the 2015 Public Warrants as liabilities through their final redemption in February 2020 and (iii) the 2018 Warrants as liabilities until June 30, 2020, the date all issued
and outstanding shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock were cancelled.
The impact of the restatement on the consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of cash flows for the Non-Reliance Period
is presented below. The restatement had no impact on net cash flows from operating, investing or financing activities.
The tables below sets forth the consolidated balance sheet amounts originally reported, adjustments, and the restated amounts as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

(in thousands, except share data)
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Common stock warrant liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Preferred Stock: $0.0001 par, 1,000,000 shares authorized and zero shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2020
Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 500,000,000 shares authorized and 229,038,158 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2020
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity

December 31, 2020
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
5,572,205 $
—

$

$

$
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$

—

$

Total liabilities and equity

448,667
2,453,809
307,541
183,761
—
37,150
2,982,261
3,430,928

23
3,797,168
(37,207)
(1,618,707)
2,141,277
5,572,205 $

—
—
—
—
77,404
—
77,404
77,404

—
—
55,123
—
(132,527)
(77,404)
— $

As Restated
5,572,205
448,667
2,453,809
307,541
183,761
77,404
37,150
3,059,665
3,508,332

—
23
3,852,291
(37,207)
(1,751,234)
2,063,873
5,572,205

December 31, 2019
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
2,897,649 $
—

(in thousands, except share data)

Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Total current liabilities
$
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Common stock warrant liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Class A Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 400,000,000 shares authorized and 108,818,854 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2019
Class B Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 100,000,000 shares authorized and 8,024,419 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2019
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest
Total equity
$
Total liabilities and equity
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320,412
1,632,589
70,693
118,429
—
46,571
1,868,282
2,188,694

$

11
1
2,396,501
(62,775)
(1,689,373)
644,365
64,590
708,955
2,897,649 $

—
—
—
—
153,756
—
153,756
153,756

$
$

—
—
(17,768)
—
(135,988)
(153,756)
—
(153,756)
— $

As Restated
2,897,649
320,412
1,632,589
70,693
118,429
153,756
46,571
2,022,038
2,342,450

11
1
2,378,733
(62,775)
(1,825,361)
490,609
64,590
555,199
2,897,649

The tables below set forth the consolidated statements of operations amounts originally reported, adjustments, and the restated balances for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018.
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
182,715 $
— $
119,886
—
—
(3,461)
42,401
—
20,428
3,461
(51,451)
—
71,879
3,461
1,213
—
$
70,666 $
3,461 $

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Income before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Earnings per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.42
0.41

$
$

169,230,177
173,650,251

0.02 $
(0.16) $
—
3,618,132

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
117,525 $
— $
122,504
—
—
109,622
8,755
—
(13,734)
(109,622)
(2,191)
—
(11,543)
(109,622)
(421)
—
$
(11,122) $
(109,622) $

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net loss
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net loss attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Loss per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.10) $
(0.10) $
108,683,820
108,683,820
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(1.01) $
(1.01) $
—
—

As Restated
182,715
119,886
(3,461)
42,401
23,889
(51,451)
75,340
1,213
74,127

0.44
0.25
169,230,177
177,268,383

As Restated
117,525
122,504
109,622
8,755
(123,356)
(2,191)
(121,165)
(421)
(120,744)

(1.11)
(1.11)
108,683,820
108,683,820

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
6,261 $
— $
98,433
—
—
(23,830)
(92,172)
23,830
(38,600)
—
(53,572)
23,830
(4,532)
—
(49,040)
23,830
(2,135)
2,135
$
(51,175) $
25,965 $

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
(Loss) income before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net (loss) income
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net (loss) income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini
Non-cash deemed dividend related to warrant exchange
Net (loss) income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
(Loss) earnings per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.59) $
(0.59) $
87,209,605
87,209,605

0.30
0.06

$
$

—
1,740,959

As Restated
6,261
98,433
(23,830)
(68,342)
(38,600)
(29,742)
(4,532)
(25,210)
—
(25,210)

(0.29)
(0.53)
87,209,605
88,950,564

The tables below set forth the consolidated statements of cash flow amounts originally reported, adjustments, and the restated balances for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018.
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
71,879 $
3,461 $
232,933
—
—
(3,461)
304,812
—
(125,360)
—
(158,958)
—
1,398
—
21,892
3,045
—
$
24,937 $
— $

(in thousands)
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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As Restated
75,340
232,933
(3,461)
304,812
(125,360)
(158,958)
1,398
21,892
3,045
24,937

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
(11,543) $
(109,622) $
184,109
—
—
109,622
172,566
—
(152,582)
—
(26,063)
—
166
—
(5,913)
—
8,958
—
$
3,045 $
— $

As Restated
(121,165)
184,109
109,622
172,566
(152,582)
(26,063)
166
(5,913)
8,958
3,045

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
(53,572) $
23,830 $
90,721
—
—
(23,830)
37,149
—
(1,217,202)
—
1,180,037
—
(211)
—
(227)
—
9,185
—
$
8,958 $
— $

As Restated
(29,742)
90,721
(23,830)
37,149
(1,217,202)
1,180,037
(211)
(227)
9,185
8,958

Supplemental cash flow information:
Non-cash deemed dividend related to warrant exchange

$

(in thousands)
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Fair value loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

(in thousands)
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
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2,135

$

(2,135) $

—

The tables below set forth the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet and condensed consolidated statement of operations originally reported, adjustments, and the
restated balances as of and for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and the condensed consolidated statement of cash flow amounts originally reported, adjustments, and
the restated balances for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

(in thousands, except share data)
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Common stock warrant liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Common Stock: $0.0001 par, 380,000,000 shares authorized and 227,980,928 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2020
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity

September 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
5,624,850 $
— $
$

451,202
2,498,207
359,593
11,816
187,056
—
22,471
3,079,143
3,530,345

$

23
3,825,940
(66,283)
(1,665,175)
2,094,505
5,624,850 $

Total liabilities and equity

$

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit

As Previously Reported
$
25,012 $
33,034
—
42,401
(50,423)
(66,675)
$
16,252 $

—
—
—
—
—
56,724
—
56,724
56,724

As Restated
5,624,850

$

451,202
2,498,207
359,593
11,816
187,056
56,724
22,471
3,135,867
3,587,069

—
33,200
—
(89,924)
(56,724)
— $

23
3,859,140
(66,283)
(1,755,099)
2,037,781
5,624,850

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
Adjustments
As Restated
— $
25,012
—
33,034
22,303
22,303
—
42,401
(22,303)
(72,726)
—
(66,675)
(22,303) $
(6,051)

Net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.07
0.07
226,649,993
231,216,573
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$
$

(0.10) $
(0.10) $
—
(4,566,580)

(0.03)
(0.03)
226,649,993
226,649,993

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
91,452 $
— $
91,452
89,810
—
89,810
—
(46,063)
(46,063)
42,401
—
42,401
(40,759)
46,063
5,304
(66,170)
—
(66,170)
25,411
46,063
71,474
1,213
—
1,213
$
24,198 $
46,063 $
70,261

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Loss on extinguishment of debt
(Loss) income before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Earnings per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.16
0.16
149,283,083
152,544,647

$
$

0.31 $
(0.01) $
—
(111,702)

0.47
0.15
149,283,083
152,432,945

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 (unaudited)
As Previously Reported Restatement Adjustments
As Restated
$
25,411 $
46,063 $
71,474
149,684
—
149,684
—
(46,063)
(46,063)
175,095
—
175,095
(83,073)
—
(83,073)
(75,612)
—
(75,612)
542
—
542
16,952
—
16,952
3,045
—
3,045
$
19,997 $
— $
19,997

(in thousands)
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
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The tables below set forth the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet and condensed consolidated statement of operations originally reported, adjustments, and the
restated balances as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and the condensed consolidated statement of cash flow amounts originally reported, adjustments, and the
restated balances for the six months ended June 30, 2020.

(in thousands, except share data)
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Common stock warrant liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Class A common stock: $0.0001 par, 400,000,000 shares authorized and 121,233,232 shares issued
and outstanding
at June 30, 2020
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity

June 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
3,501,540 $
— $
$

590,925
1,971,010
69,044
12,284
117,159
—
36,028
2,205,525
2,796,450

$

12
2,471,312
(84,807)
(1,681,427)
705,090
3,501,540 $

—
—
—
—
—
34,421
—
34,421
34,421

As Restated
3,501,540

$

590,925
1,971,010
69,044
12,284
117,159
34,421
36,028
2,239,946
2,830,871

—
33,200
—
(67,621)
(34,421)
— $

12
2,504,512
(84,807)
(1,749,048)
670,669
3,501,540

Total liabilities and equity

$

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value loss on common stock warrant liabilities
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net income (loss)
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
41,067 $
— $
41,067
28,519
—
28,519
—
26,963
26,963
12,548
(26,963)
(14,415)
(285)
—
(285)
12,833
(26,963)
(14,130)
1,343
—
1,343
$
11,490 $
(26,963) $
(15,473)

Net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.10
0.10
110,692,426
111,432,963
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$
$

(0.24) $
(0.24) $
—
(740,537)

(0.14)
(0.14)
110,692,426
110,692,426

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
66,440 $
— $
66,440
56,776
—
56,776
—
(68,366)
(68,366)
9,664
68,366
78,030
505
—
505
9,159
68,366
77,525
1,213
—
1,213
$
7,946 $
68,366 $
76,312

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Income before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
Earnings per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.07
0.07
110,174,536
112,209,212

$
$

0.62 $
(0.01) $
—
126,906

0.69
0.06
110,174,536
112,336,118

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
9,159 $
68,366 $
77,525
104,568
—
104,568
—
(68,366)
(68,366)
113,727
—
113,727
(66,923)
—
(66,923)
614,693
—
614,693
(394)
—
(394)
661,103
—
661,103
3,045
—
3,045
$
664,148 $
— $
664,148

(in thousands)
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
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The tables below set forth the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet and condensed consolidated statement of operations originally reported, adjustments, and the
restated balances as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the condensed consolidated statement of cash flow amounts originally reported, adjustments, and the restated
balances for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
March 31, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
$
2,857,737 $
— $

(in thousands, except share data)

Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Total current liabilities
$
Long-term debt
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Operating lease liabilities - non-current
Common stock warrant liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Class A common stock: $0.0001 par, 400,000,000 shares authorized and 110,555,295 shares issued
and outstanding
at March 31, 2020
Class B common stock: $0.0001 par, 100,000,000 shares authorized and 8,024,419 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2020
Additional paid-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest
Total equity
$
Total liabilities and equity
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313,284
1,625,772
67,017
12,666
119,322
—
38,603
1,863,380
2,176,664

$

11
1
2,402,195
(89,974)
(1,692,917)
619,316
61,757
681,073
2,857,737 $

—
—
—
—
—
34,049
—
34,049
34,049

$

—
—
6,610
—
(40,659)
(34,049)
—
(34,049)
— $

As Restated
2,857,737
313,284
1,625,772
67,017
12,666
119,322
34,049
38,603
1,897,429
2,210,713

11
1
2,408,805
(89,974)
(1,733,576)
585,267
61,757
647,024
2,857,737

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
25,373 $
— $
25,373
28,257
—
28,257
—
(95,329)
(95,329)
(2,884)
95,329
92,445
790
—
790
(3,674)
95,329
91,655
(130)
—
(130)
$
(3,544) $
95,329 $
91,785

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Operating income
Interest expense
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
(Loss) income before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net (loss) income
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest, net of tax
Net (loss) income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders
(Loss) earnings per share attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.03) $
(0.03) $
109,656,646
109,656,646

0.87 $
(0.02) $
—
3,016,351

0.84
(0.05)
109,656,646
112,672,997

Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 (unaudited)
Restatement
As Previously Reported
Adjustments
As Restated
$
(3,674) $
95,329 $
91,655
42,022
—
42,022
—
(95,329)
(95,329)
38,348
—
38,348
(30,540)
—
(30,540)
(5,582)
—
(5,582)
(629)
—
(629)
1,597
—
1,597
3,045
—
3,045
$
4,642 $
— $
4,642

(in thousands)
Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Fair value gain on common stock warrant liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Trade Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses
The Company is exposed to credit losses from trade receivables generated through its leasing and sales business. The Company assesses each customer’s ability to pay for the
products it leases or sells by conducting a credit review. The credit review considers expected billing exposure and timing for payment and the customer’s established credit rating. The
Company performs its credit review of new customers at inception of the customer relationship and for existing customers when the customer transacts new leases after a defined period of
dormancy. The Company also considers contract terms and conditions, country risk and business strategy in the evaluation.
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The Company monitors ongoing credit exposure through an active review of customer balances against contract terms and due dates. The Company may employ collection
agencies and legal counsel to pursue recovery of defaulted receivables. The allowances for credit losses reflect the estimate of the amount of receivables that the Company will be unable to
collect based on historical write-off experience and, as applicable, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect collectability. This estimate could require change
based on changing circumstances, including changes in the economy or in the particular circumstances of individual customers. Accordingly, the Company may be required to increase or
decrease our allowances.
In accordance with the adoption of Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-2, Leases (Topic 842) ("ASC 842"), effective January 1, 2019, and the adoption of ASU 2016-13,
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) ("ASC 326"), effective January 1, 2020, specifically identifiable lease revenue receivables and sales receivables not deemed probable of
collection are recorded as a reduction of revenue. The remaining provision for credit losses is recorded as selling, general and administrative expense. For the year ended December 31,
2018, the entire provision for credit losses was recorded as a selling, general and administrative expense. The Company reviews the adequacy of the allowance on a quarterly basis.
Activity in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended December 31 was as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year
Provision for credit losses, net of recoveries(a)
Write-offs
Foreign currency translation and other

2020
$

$

Balance at end of period

2019
15,828 $
31,386
(18,034)
78
29,258 $

2018
9,340 $
14,496
(7,945)
(63)
15,828 $

4,845
7,656
(3,089)
(72)
9,340

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the provision for credit losses includes $18.0 million and $10.0 million, respectively, recorded as a reduction to revenue for the provision of specific
receivables whose collection is not considered probable.

Concentration of Credit Risk
The Company’s trade accounts receivable subject the Company to potential concentrations of credit risk. The Company performs on-going credit evaluations of its customers.
Receivables related to sales are generally secured by the product sold to the customer. The Company generally has the right to repossess its rental units in the event of non-payment of
receivables relating to the Company’s leasing operations. The Company’s large number of customers in diverse geographic areas and end markets mitigates the concentration of credit risk.
No single customer accounted for more than 1.2% and 1.5% of the Company’s receivables at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company’s top five customers accounted for
4.9% and 4.1% of the receivables at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, supplies, and finished units. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value based on the weighted-average cost. The
cost includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Rental Equipment
Rental equipment is comprised of modular space and portable storage units held for rent or on rent to customers, tank and pump solutions products, which consist primarily of liquid
and solid containment units, pumps and filtration equipment, and value-added products and services (“VAPS”) which are in use or available to be used by customers. Rental equipment is
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Costs of improvements and
betterments to rental equipment are capitalized when such costs extend the useful life of the equipment or increase the rental value of the unit. Costs incurred for equipment to meet a
particular customer specification are capitalized and depreciated over the lease term taking in consideration the residual value of the asset. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as
incurred.
Depreciation is generally computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives, as follows:
Estimated Useful Life
10 - 20 years
30 years
7 - 25 years
1 - 8 years

Modular space units
Portable storage units
Tank and pump equipment
VAPS and other related rental equipment
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Residual Value
20 - 50%
55%
—%
—%

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The Company capitalizes external costs and directly attributable internal costs to acquire or create internal use software incurred subsequent to the completion of the preliminary
project stage. Costs associated with post-implementation activities are expensed as incurred. The Company evaluates implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that
is a service contract as described in Cloud Computing Arrangements below.
Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of 15 years or the lease term. Assets leased under capital leases are depreciated over the shorter
of the lease term or their useful life, unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as
incurred.
Depreciation is generally computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives as follows:
Estimated Useful Life
10 - 40 years (a)
3 - 30 years
3 - 10 years
3 - 10 years

Buildings and leasehold improvements
Vehicles, machinery, and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software
(a) Improvements to leased properties are depreciated over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the respective lease.

Held for Sale
Property, plant and equipment to be sold is classified as held for sale in the period in which: (i) the Company has approved and committed to a plan to sell the asset, (ii) the asset is
available for immediate sale in its present condition, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer and other actions required to sell the asset have been initiated, (iv) the sale of the asset is
probable, (v) the asset is being actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair value, and (vi) it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made
or that the plan will be withdrawn.
Assets held for sale are initially measured at the lower of the carrying value or the fair value less cost to sell. Losses resulting from this measurement are recognized in the period in
which the held for sale criteria are met while gains are not recognized until the date of sale. Once designated as held for sale, the Company stops recording depreciation expense on the
asset. The Company assesses the fair value less cost to sell of long-lived assets held for sale at each reporting period until the assets no longer meet this classification.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
When circumstances indicate the carrying amount of long-lived assets in a held-for-use asset group may not be recoverable, the Company evaluates the assets for potential
impairment using internal projections of undiscounted cash flows resulting from the use and eventual disposal of the assets. Events or changes in circumstances that may necessitate a
recoverability evaluation include, but are not limited to, adverse changes in the regulatory environment or an expectation it is more likely than not that the asset will be disposed of before the
end of its previously estimated useful life. If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment expense is recognized for the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value (subject to the carrying amount not being reduced below fair value for any individual long-lived asset that is determinable without
undue cost and effort).
Consistent with the provisions of ASC 842, the Company assesses whether any operating lease asset impairment exists in accordance with the measurement guidance in
Accounting Standard Codification ("ASC") 360, Property Plant and Equipment.

Cloud Computing Arrangements
In accordance with ASU 2018-15, Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40) (“ASC 350-40"), the Company evaluates implementation costs incurred in a cloud
computing arrangement that is a service contract under the internal-use software framework. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities are expensed
as incurred. Costs incurred in the development stage are generally capitalized as other assets. Amortization expense is calculated on a straight-line basis over the contractual term of the
cloud computing arrangement and recorded as selling, general and administrative expense. Capitalized implementation costs for cloud computing arrangements totaled $4.0 million at
December 31, 2020. The comparative financial statement information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods. The
adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2020.

Goodwill and Goodwill Impairment
For acquired businesses, the Company records assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated fair values on the respective acquisition dates. Based on these values,
the excess purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Generally, reporting units are at the operating segment level or one level below the
operating segment (the component level), if discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management.
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Goodwill acquired in a business combination is assigned to each of the Company’s reporting units that are expected to benefit from the combination.
The Company performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as of October 1 at the reporting unit level, as well as during any reporting period in which events or changes in
circumstances occur that, in management’s judgment, may constitute triggering events under ASC 350-20, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other, Testing Goodwill for Impairment. The Company
performs its assessment of goodwill utilizing either a qualitative or quantitative impairment test. The qualitative impairment test assesses company-specific, industry, market and general
economic factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes that it is more likely than
not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or elects not to use the qualitative impairment test, a quantitative impairment test is performed. The quantitative
impairment test involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying amount. The Company uses an independent valuation specialist for its annual impairment
tests to assist in the valuation.
The Company has historically used the quantitative impairment test to evaluate goodwill for impairment. The Company used the qualitative approach for the reporting units acquired
in the Merger due to the proximity of the July 1, 2020 acquisition date to the October 1, 2020 measurement date.
Determining the fair value of a reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include
revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, value of net operating losses, future economic and market conditions
and determination of appropriate market comparables. Management bases fair value estimates on assumptions it believes to be reasonable but that are unpredictable and inherently
uncertain. Actual future results may differ from these estimates.
If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the calculated fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment charge would be recognized for the excess, not to exceed the
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

Intangible Assets Other than Goodwill
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually. The
Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the Williams Scotsman trade name and the Mobile Mini trade name. The Company performs its assessment of indefinite-lived
intangible assets utilizing either a qualitative or quantitative impairment test. When utilizing a quantitative impairment test, the Company calculates fair value using a relief-from-royalty
method. This method is used to estimate the cost savings that accrue to the owner of an intangible asset who would otherwise have to pay royalties or license fees on revenues earned
through the use of the asset. If the carrying amount of the indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge would be recorded to the extent the recorded
indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the fair value.
Other intangible assets that have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. Amortization is recognized in profit or loss
over the estimated useful lives of the intangible asset.

Purchase Accounting
The Company accounts for acquisitions of businesses under the acquisition method. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the Company records assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their estimated fair value on the date of acquisition. Goodwill is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets. Estimated fair values of acquired assets and liabilities are provisional and could change as additional information is received. When appropriate, our estimates of the
fair values of assets and liabilities acquired include assistance from independent third-party valuation firms. Valuations are finalized as soon as practicable, but not later than one year from
the acquisition date. Any subsequent changes to purchase price allocations result in a corresponding adjustment to goodwill.
Long-lived assets (principally rental equipment), goodwill and other intangible assets generally represent the largest components of our acquisitions. Rental equipment is valued
utilizing a replacement cost approach. Intangible assets are recognized at their estimated fair values as of the date of acquisition and generally consist of customer relationships and trade
names. Determination of the estimated fair value of intangible assets requires judgment. The estimated fair value of customer relationships is determined based on estimates and judgments
regarding discounted future after-tax earnings and cash flows arising from lease renewals and new lease arrangements expected from customer relationships. The fair value of trade name
intangible assets is determined utilizing the relief from royalty method. Under this form of the income approach, a royalty rate based on observed market royalties is applied to projected
revenue supporting the trade name and discounted to present value.

Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs are recorded as direct deductions to the corresponding debt in long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets. If no amounts are outstanding under the
Company’s credit agreement as of a period end, the related debt issuance costs are recorded in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Debt issuance costs are
deferred and amortized to interest expense over the term of the respective debt using the effective interest method or straight-line interest method as appropriate.
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Retirement Benefit Obligation
The Company provides benefits to certain of its employees under defined contribution benefit plans. The Company’s contributions to these plans are generally based on a
percentage of employee compensation or employee contributions. These plans are funded on a current basis. For its US and Canada employees, the Company sponsors defined
contribution benefit plans that have discretionary matching contribution and profit-sharing features. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company made matching
contributions of $7.1 million, $5.4 million and $3.8 million to these plans, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to the Merger, stock awards were granted under the WillScot Corporation 2017 Incentive Award Plan (the "2017 Incentive Plan"), which included Restricted Stock Awards
("RSAs") and Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs"). On June 24, 2020, WillScot's stockholders approved the WillScot Mobile Mini 2020 Incentive Award Plan ("2020 Incentive Plan") to take effect
pending completion of the Merger. The plan amended and restated in its entirety the 2017 Incentive Plan. As a result, all historical and future incentive awards to the Company's Board of
Directors, executive officers and employees, as determined by the Company's Compensation Committee ("the Comp Committee"), are granted under the 2020 Incentive Plan. The 2020
Incentive Plan is administered by the Comp Committee. Under the 2020 Incentive Plan, the Comp Committee may grant an aggregate of 6,488,988 shares of Common Stock in the form of
non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, RSAs, RSUs, performance compensation awards and stock bonus awards. Stock-based payments, including
the grant of stock options, RSAs and RSUs, are subject to service-based vesting requirements, and expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Forfeitures are
accounted for as they occur.
Stock-based compensation expense includes grants of stock options, time-based RSUs ("Time-Based RSUs") and performance-based RSUs ("Performance-Based RSUs",
together with Time-Based RSUs, the "RSUs"). The 2020 Incentive Plan continues the former Market-Based RSUs renamed as "Performance-Based RSUs." RSUs are recognized in the
financial statements based on their fair value. In addition, stock-based payments to non-executive directors include grants of RSAs. Time-Based RSUs and RSAs are valued based on the
intrinsic value of the difference between the exercise price, if any, of the award and the fair market value of WillScot Mobile Mini's Common Stock on the grant date. Performance-Based
RSUs are valued based on a Monte Carlo simulation model to reflect the impact of the Performance-Based RSUs market condition. The probability of satisfying a market condition is
considered in the estimation of the grant-date fair value for Performance-Based RSUs and the compensation cost is not reversed if the market condition is not achieved, provided the
requisite service has been provided.
RSAs cliff vest in a one year period. Time-Based RSUs vest ratably over a period of four years. Performance-Based RSUs cliff vest based on achievement of the relative total
stockholder return ("TSR") of the Company's Common Stock as compared to the TSR of the constituents of the Russell 3000 Index at the grant date over the performance period of three
years. The target number of RSUs may be adjusted from 0% to 150% based on the TSR attainment levels defined by the Comp Committee. The 100% target payout is tied to performance
at the 50% percentile, with a payout curve ranging from 0% (for performance less than the 25% percentile) to 150% (for performance at or above the 75% percentile). Vesting is also subject
to continued service requirements through the vesting date.
Stock options vest in tranches over a period of four years and expire ten years from the grant date. The fair value of each stock option award on the grant date is estimated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: expected dividend yield, expected stock price volatility, weighted-average risk-free interest rate and weightedaverage expected term of the options. The volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model was based on a blend of peer group volatility and Company trading history
as the Company did not have a sufficient trading history as a stand-alone public company. Future calculations will use the Company trading history. Additionally, due to an insufficient history
with respect to stock option activity and post-vesting cancellations, the expected term assumption is based on the simplified method under GAAP, which is based on the vesting period and
contractual term for each tranche of awards. The mid-point between the weighted-average vesting term and the expiration date is used as the expected term under this method. The riskfree interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is based on the implied US Treasury bill yield curve at the date of grant with a remaining term equal to the Company’s
expected term assumption. WillScot Mobile Mini has never declared or paid a cash dividend on common shares.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
The Company’s reporting currency is the US Dollar (“USD”). Exchange rate adjustments resulting from foreign currency transactions are recognized in profit or loss, whereas
effects resulting from the translation of financial statements are reflected as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, which is a component of shareholders’ equity.
The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries whose functional currency is different from the USD are translated into USD at exchange rates at the reporting date and income and
expenses are translated using average exchange rates for the respective period.
Exchange rate adjustments resulting from transactions in foreign currencies (currencies other than the Company entities’ functional currencies) are remeasured to the respective
functional currencies using exchange rates at the dates of the transactions and are recognized in currency (gains) losses on the consolidated statements of operations.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a receivable or payable to a consolidated Company entity, the settlement of which is neither planned nor anticipated in the
foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment in the Company entity and are included within accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments, specifically interest rate swaps, to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on variable rate debt. The Company
does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.
The Company records derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value within prepaid expenses and other current assets and other non-current assets (if in an unrealized gain
position) or within accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities (if in an unrealized loss position). If a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge and meets the highly effective
threshold, the changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
related to the cash flow hedges are reclassified to earnings within interest expense when the hedged item impacts earnings. For any derivative instruments not designated as hedging
instruments, changes in fair value would be recognized in earnings within interest expense in the period that the change occurs. Cash flows from derivative instruments are presented within
net cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company assesses, both at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing quarterly basis,
whether the derivatives designated as cash flow hedges are highly effective in offsetting the changes in cash flows of the hedged items.
The use of derivative financial instruments carries certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements are not able to perform under the
agreements. To mitigate this risk, the Company enters into derivative financial instruments only with counterparties with high credit ratings and with major financial institutions. The Company
does not anticipate that any of the counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Revenue Recognition
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied.
Leasing and Services Revenue
The majority of revenue is generated by rental income subject to the guidance of ASC 840, Leases ("ASC 840") in 2018 and ASC 842 in 2019 and 2020. The remaining revenue is
generated by performance obligations in contracts with customers for services or sale of units subject to the guidance in ASC 605, Revenue ("ASC 605"), in 2018 and Accounting Standards
Update ("ASU") 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) ("ASC 606") in 2019 and 2020.
Leasing Revenue
Income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company's lease arrangements can include multiple lease and non-lease components.
Examples of lease components include, but are not limited to, the lease of modular space, portable storage units and VAPS. Examples of non-lease components include, but are not limited
to, the delivery, installation, maintenance, and removal services commonly provided in a bundled transaction with the lease components. Arrangement consideration is allocated between
lease deliverables and non-lease components based on the relative estimated selling (leasing) price of each deliverable. Estimated selling (leasing) price of the lease deliverables is based
upon the estimated stand-alone selling price of the related performance obligations using an adjusted market approach.
When leases and services are billed in advance, recognition of revenue is deferred until services are rendered. If equipment is returned prior to the contractually obligated period,
the excess, if any, between the amount the customer is contractually required to pay over the cumulative amount of revenue recognized to date is recognized as incremental revenue upon
return.
Rental equipment is leased primarily under operating leases and, from time to time, under sales-type lease arrangements. Operating lease minimum contractual terms within the
NA Modular segment, as defined in Note 20, generally range from 1 month to 60 months and averaged approximately 9 months across this segment's rental fleet for the year ended
December 31, 2020. Rental contracts with customers within the NA Storage and UK Storage segments are generally based on a 28-day rate and billing cycle. The rental continues until
cancelled by the Company or the customer. There were no material sales-type lease arrangements as of December 31, 2020 or 2019.
The Company may use third parties to satisfy its performance obligations, including both the provision of rental units and other services. To determine whether it is the principal or
agent in the arrangement, the Company reviews each third-party relationship on a contract-by-contract basis. The Company is considered an agent when its role is to arrange for another
entity to provide the rental units and other services to the customer. In these instances, the Company does not control the rental unit or service before it is provided. The Company is
considered the principal when it controls the rental unit or service prior to transferring control to the customer. WillScot Mobile Mini may be a principal in the fulfillment of some rental units
and services and an agent for other rental units and services within the same contract. Revenue is recognized on a gross basis when the Company is the principal in the arrangement and
on a net basis when it is the agent.
The adoption of ASC 842 at January 1, 2019, did not have a significant impact on the recognition of leasing revenue. Based on the requirements of ASC 842, the Company records
changes in estimated collectability, directly against leasing revenue.
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Services Revenue
The Company generally has three non-lease service-related performance obligations in its contracts with customers:
•
•

Delivery and installation of the modular or portable storage unit;
Maintenance and other ad hoc services performed during the lease term; and

•

Removal services that occur at the end of the lease term.

Consideration is allocated to each of these performance obligations within the contract based upon their estimated relative standalone selling prices using the estimated cost plus a
margin approach. Revenue from these activities is recognized as the services are performed.
Sales Revenue
Sales revenue is generated by the sale of new and rental units. Revenue from the sale of new and rental units is generally recognized at a point in time upon the transfer of control
to the customer, which occurs when the unit is delivered and installed in accordance with the contract. Sales transactions constitute a single performance obligation.
Other Matters
The Company's non-lease revenues do not include material amounts of variable consideration, other than the variability noted for services arrangements expected to be performed
beyond a twelve-month period.
The Company's payment terms vary by the type and location of its customer and the product or services offered. The time between invoicing and when payment is due is not
significant. While the Company may bill certain customers in advance, its contracts do not contain a significant financing component based on the short length of time between upfront
billings and the performance of contracted services. For certain products, services, or customer types, the Company requires payment before the products or services are delivered to the
customer.
Revenue is recognized net of taxes collected from customers, which are subsequently remitted to governmental authorities.

Leases as Lessee
The Company leases real estate for certain of its branch offices, administrative offices, rental equipment storage properties, vehicles and equipment, and administrative operations.
The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. Leases are classified as either finance or operating at inception of the lease, with classification affecting the
pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. Short-term leases, defined as leases with an initial term of 12 months or less, are not recorded on the balance sheet. Lease expense
for short-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company has leases that contain both lease and non-lease components and has elected, as an accounting policy, to not separate lease components and non-lease
components. Operating and finance lease right of use ("ROU") assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease
term. The lease liability is calculated as the present value of the remaining minimum rental payments for existing leases using either the rate implicit in the lease or, if none exists, the
Company's incremental borrowing rate, as the discount rate. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments
for those leases where the implicit rate is not known. The Company's incremental borrowing rate is a hypothetical rate based on its understanding of what would be the Company's secured
credit rating. Variable lease payments are expensed in the period in which the obligation for those payments is incurred. Variable lease payments include payments for common area
maintenance, real estate taxes, management fees and insurance.
Many of the Company’s real estate lease agreements include options to extend the lease, which are not included in the minimum lease terms unless the Company is reasonably
certain it will exercise the option. Many of these leases include one or more options to renew. Additionally, the Company’s leases do not generally include options to terminate the lease prior
to the end of the lease term. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Advertising and Promotion
Advertising and promotion costs, which are expensed as incurred, were $7.3 million, $4.0 million and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

Shipping Costs
The Company includes third-party costs to deliver rental equipment to customers in costs of leasing and services, and cost of sales.

Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the
financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences
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are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
The Company records deferred tax assets to the extent it believes that it is more likely than not that these assets will be realized. In making such determination, the Company
considers all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent results of
operations. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized.
The Company assesses the likelihood that each of the deferred tax assets will be realized. To the extent management believes realization of any deferred tax assets is not likely,
the Company establishes a valuation allowance. When a valuation allowance is established or there is an increase in an allowance in a reporting period, tax expense is generally recorded in
the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. Conversely, to the extent circumstances indicate that a valuation allowance is no longer necessary, that portion of the valuation
allowance is reversed, which generally reduces the Company’s income tax expense.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for the income taxes on the undistributed earnings of wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries unless such earnings are indefinitely reinvested, or
will only be repatriated when possible to do so at minimal additional tax cost. Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in profit (loss)
for the year.
In accordance with applicable authoritative guidance, the Company accounts for uncertain income tax positions using a benefit recognition model with a two-step approach; a morelikely-than-not recognition criterion; and a measurement approach that measures the position as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon
ultimate settlement. If it is not more-likely-than-not that the benefit of the tax position will be sustained on its technical merits, no benefit is recorded. Uncertain tax positions that relate only to
timing of when an item is included on a tax return are considered to have met the recognition threshold. The Company classifies interest on tax deficiencies and income tax penalties within
income tax expense.
The Company accounts for any impacts of the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") in the period in which they are incurred.

Fair Value Measurements
The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instrument’s categorization within the
fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The inputs are prioritized into three levels that may be used to measure fair value.
See further discussion of the levels in Note 16.

Warrants
The Company accounts for warrants in accordance with applicable accounting guidance provided in ASC 815-40, as either derivative liabilities or as equity instruments depending
on the specific terms of the warrant agreements. In periods subsequent to issuance, warrants classified as liabilities are subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date and
transaction date with changes in the estimated fair values of the common stock warrant liabilities and gains and losses on extinguishment of common stock warrant liabilities reported in the
consolidated statements of operations.
The Company accounts for its warrants in the following ways: (i) the 2015 Private Warrants as liabilities for all periods presented, (ii) the 2015 Public Warrants as liabilities through
their final redemption in February 2020 and (iii) the 2018 Warrants as liabilities until June 30, 2020, the date all issued and outstanding shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock
were cancelled.
Prior to their redemption, the Company's 2015 Public Warrants traded in active markets. When classified as liabilities, warrants traded in active markets with sufficient trading
volume represent Level 1 financial instruments as they were publicly traded in active markets and thus had observable market prices which were used to estimate the fair value adjustments
for the related common stock warrant liabilities. When classified as liabilities, warrants not traded in active markets, or traded with insufficient volume, represent Level 3 financial instruments
that are valued using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value adjustments for the related common stock warrant liabilities.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Standards
The Company qualified as an emerging growth company (“EGC”) as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) until December 31, 2019. Using
exemptions provided under the JOBS Act, the Company elected to defer compliance with new or revised financial accounting standards until a company that is not an issuer (as defined
under section 2(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) was required to comply with such standards. WillScot ceased to be an EGC as of December 31, 2019, and as such, is required to comply with
the standards and compliance dates for large accelerated filers.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which
simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles for income taxes. The new standard is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within
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those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of adoption of the pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements
and does not expect the impact to be material.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), which is elective, and provides for optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to
contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of reference rate reform
and potential impact of adoption of these elective practical expedients on its consolidated financial statements and does not expect the impact to be material.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt, Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity
(Subtopic 815-40). The new ASU eliminates the beneficial conversion and cash conversion accounting models for convertible instruments. It also amends the accounting for certain
contracts in an entity’s own equity that are currently accounted for as derivatives because of specific settlement provisions. In addition, the new guidance modifies how particular convertible
instruments and certain contracts that may be settled in cash or shares impact the diluted EPS computation. The amendments in the ASU are effective for public entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of the pronouncement on its
consolidated financial statements.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies that are adopted by the Company as of the specified effective date.
ASU 2014-09: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASC 606. ASC 606, along with its subsequent related updates prescribe a single comprehensive model for entities to use in the accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. The core principle contemplated by this new standard was that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount reflecting the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. New disclosures about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers are also required.
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASC 606 as well as subsequent updates using the modified retrospective transition approach to those contracts that were not
completed as of January 1, 2019. The comparative financial statement information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those
periods. The adoption of the guidance did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2019. The Company's accounting for modular leasing
revenue is primarily outside the scope of ASC 606 and is recorded under ASC 842.
ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842)
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASC 842. This guidance revises existing practice related to accounting for leases under ASC 840, for both lessees and lessors. ASC 842
requires that lessees recognize: a) a lease liability, which is a lessee’s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and b) a ROU asset, which
is an asset that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. ASC 842 also requires that the seller recognize any gain or loss (based on the
estimated fair value of the asset at the time of sale) when control of the asset is transferred instead of amortizing it over the lease period for qualifying sale-leaseback transactions.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company retrospectively adopted ASC 842. In connection with the adoption of ASC 842, the Company reversed the previous accounting for certain
failed sale-leaseback transactions, and reduced property, plant and equipment by $31.0 million, reduced outstanding debt by $37.9 million, increased deferred tax liability by $1.8 million and
increased January 1, 2019 equity by $5.2 million. The Company recognized lease liabilities and ROU assets of $138.5 million and $141.4 million as of January 1, 2019, primarily related to
its real estate and equipment leases. The comparative financial statement information has not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those
periods.
The adoption of ASC 842 at January 1, 2019, did not have a significant impact on the recognition of leasing revenue. Per the requirements of ASC 842 the Company records
changes in estimated collectability, directly against lease revenue. Such amounts were previously classified as selling, general and administrative expenses.
The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard that allows it to not reassess: (a) whether any expired or
existing contracts are or contain leases, (b) the lease classification for any expired or existing leases and (c) initial direct costs for any expired or existing leases. Historical financial
information was not updated, and the financial disclosures required under ASC 842 are not provided for periods prior to January 1, 2019.
ASU 2016-13: Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326)
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASC 326, which prescribes that financial assets (or a group of financial assets) should be measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the
net amount expected to be collected based on relevant historical information from historical experience, adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect
collectability. Credit losses relating to these financial assets are recorded through an allowance for credit losses. The Company
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adopted ASC 326 effective January 1, 2020. The effect of this guidance was immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
ASU 2018-15, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40)
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASC 350-40, which provides guidance on accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service
contract. The amendments in this update align the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license.
This guidance also requires entities to present the expense related to capitalized implementation costs in the same line item in the statement of operations as the fees associated
with the hosting element (service) of the arrangement and classify payments for capitalized implementation costs in the statement of cash flows in the same manner as payments made for
fees associated with the hosting element. The entity is also required to present the capitalized implementation costs in the balance sheet in the same line item that a prepayment for the fees
of the associated hosting arrangement would be presented. The Company adopted ASC 350-40 on a prospective basis effective January 1, 2020. As a result of the adoption, capitalized
implementation costs incurred in cloud computing arrangements were capitalized in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The impact of this guidance did not
materially impact the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 - Business Combinations and Acquisitions (as restated)
Tyson Acquisition
On January 3, 2018, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding membership interests of Onsite Space LLC, d/b/a Tyson Onsite (“Tyson”) for $24.0 million in cash
consideration, net of cash acquired.

ModSpace Acquisition
On August 15, 2018, the Company acquired Modular Space Holdings, Inc. ("ModSpace"), a privately-owned national provider of modular and portable storage units.
Purchase Price
The aggregate purchase price for ModSpace was $1.2 billion and consisted of (i) $1.1 billion in cash, (ii) 6,458,229 shares of WillScot's Class A Common Stock (the "Stock
Consideration") with a fair market value of $95.8 million, (iii) warrants to purchase an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of WillScot’s Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $15.50 per
share with a fair market value of $52.3 million, and (iv) a working capital adjustment of $4.7 million.
The acquisition was funded by the net proceeds of WillScot's issuance of 9,200,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, the net proceeds of the issuance of $300.0 million in senior
secured notes and $200.0 million in unsecured notes, and borrowings under the ABL Facility.
As of the date of acquisition, the fair market values of the Stock Consideration and 2018 Warrants were $14.83 per share and $5.23 per warrant, respectively, with the warrant
values determined using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair market value of the Class A shares was determined utilizing the $15.78 per share closing price of the Company's
shares on August 15, 2018, discounted by 6.0%, to reflect a lack of marketability based on the lock-up restrictions contemplated by the merger agreement.
The estimated fair values of the Stock Consideration and 2018 Warrants are Level 3 fair value measurements, as defined in Note 16. The fair value of each share and warrant was
estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following table summarizes the key inputs utilized to determine the fair value of the Stock Consideration and 2018 Warrants
included within the purchase price of ModSpace.
Stock Consideration
fair value inputs
28.6 %
2.2 %
—%
0.5

Expected volatility
Risk-free rate of interest
Dividend Yield
Expected life (years)
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2018 Warrants fair value
inputs
35.0 %
2.7 %
—%
4.3

Pro Forma Information
The unaudited pro forma information below has been prepared using the purchase method of accounting, giving effect to the ModSpace acquisition as if it had been completed on
January 1, 2018. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the Company’s results of operations had the acquisition been completed on the above date, nor is it necessarily
indicative of the Company’s future results.
The pro forma information does not reflect any cost savings from operating efficiencies or synergies that could result from the acquisition, and also does not reflect additional
revenue opportunities following the acquisition.
Year Ended December 31, 2018
(as restated)
(a)
$
751,412
312,609
$
1,064,021

(unaudited, in thousands)
WillScot revenues
ModSpace revenues
Pro forma revenues
WillScot loss from operations before income tax
ModSpace loss from operations before income tax
Loss from operations before income tax before pro forma adjustments
Pro forma adjustments to combined loss from operations before income tax:
Impact of fair value adjustments/useful life changes on depreciation
Intangible asset amortization
Interest expense
Elimination of ModSpace interest
Pro forma loss from operations before income tax
Income tax benefit

$

Pro forma net loss

$

(68,342)
(7,457)
(75,799)
10,135
(625) (b)
(41,178) (c)
20,279 (d)
(87,188) (e)
(43,462) (f)
(43,726)

(a) Pro forma results for the year ended December 31, 2018 include ModSpace historical activity. Post-acquisition ModSpace revenues and pre-tax income are reflected in the Company's historical revenue and
pre-tax income amounts.
(b) Amortization of the trade names acquired. The ModSpace trade name was assigned a value of $3.0 million and a life of three years.
(c) In connection with the ModSpace acquisition, the Company drew an incremental $419.0 million on the ABL Facility and issued $300.0 million of 2023 Secured Notes and $200.0 million of unsecured notes. An
interest rate of 6.54% was used to calculate pro forma interest expense as a result of the ModSpace acquisition, which represents the weighted-average interest rate for the aforementioned borrowings at
December 31, 2018. Interest expense includes amortization of related deferred financing fees on debt incurred in conjunction with the ModSpace acquisition.
(d) Interest on ModSpace historical debt was eliminated.
(e) Pro forma loss from operations before income taxes includes $15.5 million of restructuring expense, $30.0 million of integration costs, and $20.1 million of transaction costs incurred by WillScot for the year
ended December 31, 2018. Additionally, pro forma pre-tax loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 also includes $20.5 million of interest expense associated with bridge financing fees incurred in connection
with the acquisition of ModSpace.
(f) As the combined pro forma company was in a tax loss position in 2018, all pro forma adjustments for US tax effects are at the federal and state US statutory tax rate of 25.8% since the adjustments represent
future deductible or taxable temporary differences.

Mobile Mini Merger
On March 1, 2020, the Company, along with its newly formed subsidiary, Merger Sub, entered into the Merger Agreement with Mobile Mini, hereby referred to as the “Merger”. The
Merger was completed on July 1, 2020 and Merger Sub merged with and into Mobile Mini and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub ceased, and Mobile Mini continued its
existence as the surviving corporation in the Merger and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mobile Mini is a leading provider of portable storage solutions in North America and the
UK and a leading provider of specialty containment solutions in the US.
Purchase Price
Upon completion of the Merger, each issued and outstanding share of Mobile Mini Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, converted to 2.405 shares of WillScot Class A
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and cash in lieu of any fractional shares.
The Company issued 106,426,721 shares of Class A Common Stock to Mobile Mini stockholders as consideration for the Merger. The trading price of the Class A Common Stock
was $12.53 per share on the closing date. In addition, Mobile Mini stock options converted into WillScot Mobile Mini stock options.
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The purchase price has been determined to be as follows:
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Mobile Mini Common Stock outstanding
Share conversion ratio
Common Stock issued
Common Stock per share price as of July 1, 2020
Fair value of shares of WillScot Class A Common Stock issued
Cash paid for fractional shares
Fair value of Mobile Mini Options converted to WillScot Mobile Mini Options
Total purchase price

$
$

$

44,252,275
2.405
106,426,721
12.53
1,333,527
30
19,279
1,352,836

The Merger was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, and WillScot is considered the accounting acquirer. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the
Company is required to assign the purchase price to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values at the closing date. The excess of
the purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. The Company's acquisition of Mobile Mini represents a non-cash investing outflow activity of $1,352,836 and the related
issuance of equity including stock options represents a non-cash financing inflow activity of $1,352,836.
The purchase price for the Merger was assigned to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their fair values at the date of acquisition, July 1, 2020. The
Company recorded the fair values based on independent valuations, discounted cash flow analyses, quoted market prices, contributory asset charges, and estimates made by management.
The following table summarizes the July 1, 2020 preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The final assignment of the fair value of the Merger, including the final
valuation of acquired rental equipment, intangible assets, and the related deferred tax liabilities and the final assignment of goodwill to reporting units, was not complete as of December 31,
2020, but will be finalized within the allowable one-year measurement period.
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Opening Balance Sheet
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Rental equipment
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill identified
Other non-current assets
Total identifiable assets acquired
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and interest
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Operating lease liabilities
Debt and finance lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired (purchase price)
(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)

Current Balance
$

$

17,203
87,492
8,987
13,264
1,033,190
161,401
92,054
382,500
928,974
2,387
2,727,452
(29,797)
(38,759)
(38,846)
(89,968)
(897,244)
(278,727)
(1,275)
(1,374,616)
1,352,836

(a)

(b)
(c)
(b)
(d)

(e)

As of the acquisition date, the fair value of accounts receivable was $87.5 million, and the gross contractual amount was $99.8 million. The Company analyzed information available at the time of
acquisition in estimating uncollectible receivables and the fair value of remaining receivables. The Company's analysis, as of the acquisition date, included an assessment of the risk of collectability of
receivables by analyzing historical payment trends, the status of collection efforts, and any other pertinent customer specific information that existed as of the acquisition date.
The initial fair value assumptions used included preliminary estimates of the replacement cost of rental equipment, discount rates, royalty rates, and customer attrition rates which have been updated in
preparing these valuations and the underlying assets have been adjusted from those previously recorded accordingly. Rental equipment and intangible assets were reduced by approximately
$109.8 million and $183.1 million from amounts previously reported, respectively.
The initial fair value assumptions have been updated in preparing these valuations and the underlying assets have been adjusted from those previously recorded accordingly. Property, plant and
equipment, net increased by approximately $8.2 million.
The goodwill is reflective of Mobile Mini’s going concern value and operational synergies that the Company expects to achieve that would not be available to other market participants. Goodwill from the
Mobile Mini acquisition is not deductible for income tax purposes.
The deferred tax liability is reflective of a deferred tax asset valuation reversal, partially offset by a permanent difference for transaction costs. The change from the preliminary balance of deferred tax
liabilities to the current balance was driven by the updates to the preliminary estimates of the replacement cost of rental equipment, discount rates, royalty rates, and customer attrition rates discussed in
(b) above. Deferred tax liabilities decreased approximately $68 million from amounts previously reported.

Mobile Mini has generated $316.5 million of revenue and $23.1 million of pre-tax income since the acquisition date, which is included in the consolidated statement of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2020.
Pro Forma Information
The below pro forma results give effect to the following as if they occurred on January 1, 2019, (i) the Merger, (ii) borrowings under the Company's 2025 Secured Notes and 2020
ABL Facility (terms as defined in Note 11) used to repay certain debt in connection with the Merger, (iii) extinguishment of the Mobile Mini revolving credit facility and senior notes assumed
in the Merger and immediately repaid, (iv) extinguishment of WillScot's 2017 ABL Facility and WillScot's 2022 Secured Notes (both as defined in Note 11) repaid in connection with the
Merger and (v) elimination of WillScot's non-controlling interest and WillScot's Class B Common Stock in connection with the Merger. The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative
of the Company’s results of operations had the Merger been completed on January 1, 2019, nor is it necessarily indicative of the Company’s future results. The pro forma information does
not reflect any cost savings from operating efficiencies, synergies, or revenue opportunities that could result from the Merger.
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The tables below present unaudited pro forma combined statements of operations information for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
(unaudited, in thousands)
WillScot revenues
Mobile Mini revenues
Pro forma revenues
WillScot Mobile Mini pretax income (loss)
Mobile Mini pretax income
Pro forma pretax income
Pro forma adjustments to combined pretax income:
Elimination of Merger transaction costs
Impact of fair value mark-ups on rental fleet depreciation
Other depreciation expense and intangible asset amortization
Interest expense
Elimination of Mobile Mini interest
Elimination of loss on extinguishment of debt
Pro forma pretax income
Income tax expense
Pro forma net income
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

Year Ended December 31, 2020
(as restated)
$
1,367,645
284,240
$
1,651,885

Year Ended December 31, 2019
(as restated)
$
1,063,665
620,018
$
1,683,683

$

$

$

23,889
37,875
61,764

80,852
(2,334)
(11,397)
(6,113)
15,921
19,682
158,375
(34,549)
123,826 $

(123,356) (a)
111,705
(11,651)
—
(4,667)
(22,399)
(1,916)
39,672
1,512
551
(28,892)
(28,341)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

Excludes impact of non-controlling interest which was eliminated as part of the Sapphire Exchange. See Note 12.
Eliminates discrete Merger transaction costs incurred as a result of the Mobile Mini Merger.
Depreciation on rental equipment and property, plant and equipment were adjusted for the preliminary determination of the fair value of equipment acquired in the Mobile Mini Merger.
Represents the differential in other depreciation and amortization expense related to the provisional fair value purchase accounting adjustments as a result of the Merger, principally the amortization of the
Mobile Mini customer relationship estimated at $263 million over 13 years.
In connection with the Merger, the Company entered into a new ABL Facility and drew $1.47 billion at close with an estimated interest rate of 2.046%, issued the 2025 Secured Notes at 6.125%, repaid
the 2022 Secured Notes and repaid the 2017 ABL Facility. Interest and amortization of deferred financing fees for the 2020 ABL Facility and the 2025 Secured Notes has been included offset by the
removal of interest and amortization of deferred financing fees attributable to the 2022 Secured Notes and the 2017 ABL Facility. See Note11 for definitions of terms.
Interest and amortization of deferred financing fees on the senior notes and line of credit maintained by Mobile Mini which were assumed at acquisition and repaid immediately using proceeds from the
2020 ABL Facility and 2025 Secured Notes was eliminated. See Note 11 for definition of terms.
Elimination of loss on extinguishment of debt in connection with the redemption premium on the 2022 Secured Notes and unamortized deferred financing costs on the 2022 Secured Notes and 2017 ABL
Facility. See Note11 for definitions of terms.
Reflects the recorded income tax provision plus the adjustment to recognize the income tax impacts of the unaudited pro forma adjustments for which a tax expense is recognized using a US federal and
state statutory tax rate of 25.5%. This rate may vary from the effective tax rates of the historical and combined businesses. In addition, eliminates the 2020 reversal of $54.6 million of valuation allowance
as a result of reassessment of the realizability of deferred tax assets as a result of the Merger. See Note 14.

Transaction and Integration Costs
The Company incurred $64.1 million in transaction costs related to the Mobile Mini Merger during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company incurred $20.1 million in
transaction costs during the year ended December 31, 2018 related to the ModSpace acquisition.
The Company records integration costs within selling, general and administrative ("SG&A") expense. The Company incurred $16.6 million in integration costs related to the Mobile
Mini Merger for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company incurred $26.6 million in integration costs related to the ModSpace acquisition for the year ended December 31, 2019.
The Company incurred $30.0 million in integration costs related to the ModSpace, Acton, and Tyson acquisitions for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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NOTE 3 - Revenue
Revenue Disaggregation
Geographic Areas
The Company had total revenue in the following geographic areas for the years ended December 31, as follows:
(in thousands)
US
Canada
Mexico
UK

$

$

Total revenues

2020
1,227,465
79,630
14,190
46,360
1,367,645

Year Ended December 31,
2019
$
966,766 $
80,514
16,385
—
$
1,063,665 $

2018
685,350
50,144
15,918
—
751,412

Major Product and Service Lines
Equipment leasing is the Company's core business, which significantly impacts the nature, timing and uncertainty of the Company's revenue and cash flows. This includes rental
modular space, portable space and tank and pump units along with VAPS, which include furniture, steps, ramps, basic appliances, internet connectivity devices, and other items used by
customers in connection with the Company's products. Leasing is complemented by new unit sales and sales of rental units. In connection with its leasing and sales activities, the Company
provides services including delivery and installation, maintenance and ad hoc services and removal services at the end of lease transactions.
The Company’s revenue by major product and service line for the years ended December 31, was as follows:
(in thousands)
Modular space leasing revenue
Portable storage leasing revenue
Tank and pump leasing revenue
VAPS and third party leasing revenues(a)
Other leasing-related revenue(b)
Leasing revenue
Delivery and installation revenue
Total leasing and services revenue
New unit sales revenue
Rental unit sales revenue

2020
$

$

Total revenues

596,880
125,216
29,798
202,938
46,615
1,001,447
274,156
1,275,603
53,093
38,949
1,367,645

Year Ended December 31,
2019
$
516,299 $
24,277
—
159,327
44,282
744,185
220,057
964,242
59,085
40,338
$
1,063,665 $

2018
360,240
21,682
—
104,870
31,443
518,235
154,557
672,792
53,603
25,017
751,412

(a) Includes $18.8 million, $15.9 million, and $10.8 million of VAPS service revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
(b) Includes primarily damage billings, delinquent payment charges, and other processing fees.

Leasing and Services Revenue
The majority of revenue (72%, 68%, and 68% for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively) is generated by lease income subject to the guidance of ASC
840, or ASC 842 for periods after January 1, 2019. The remaining revenue is generated by performance obligations in contracts with customers for services or sale of units subject to the
guidance in ASC 605, or ASC 606 for periods after January 1, 2019.
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Future committed leasing revenues under non-cancelable operating leases with the Company’s customers at December 31, 2020 for the years ended December 31, 2021 - 2025
and thereafter were as follows:
(in thousands)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

Operating Leases
$

$

Total

232,730
75,664
29,419
11,643
4,284
2,738
356,478

Receivables, Contract Assets and Liabilities
The Company manages credit risk associated with its accounts receivables at the customer level. Because the same customers generate the revenues that are accounted for
under both ASC 606 and ASC 842, the discussions below on credit risk and the Company's allowance for credit losses address the Company's total revenues.
Concentration of credit risk with respect to the Company's receivables is limited because of a large number of geographically diverse customers who operate in a variety of end
user markets. The Company's top five customers with the largest open receivables balances represented 4.9% and 4.1% of the total receivables balance as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. The Company manages credit risk through credit approvals, credit limits, and other monitoring procedures.
The Company's allowance for credit losses reflects its estimate of the amount of receivables that it will be unable to collect. The estimated losses are based upon a review of
outstanding receivables, the related aging, including specific accounts if deemed necessary, and on our historical collection experience. The estimated losses are calculated using the loss
rate method based upon a review of outstanding receivables, related aging, and historical collection experience. The Company's estimates reflect changing circumstances, including
changes in the economy or in the particular circumstances of individual customers, and as a result, the Company may be required to increase or decrease its allowance. During the years
ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the Company recognized bad debt expense of $13.4 million, $4.5 million, and $7.7 million, respectively, within SG&A expense in its
consolidated statements of operations, which included changes in its allowances for credit losses. In accordance with the collectability provisions of ASC 842, the Company has recorded
$18.0 million and $10.0 million as reductions of revenue in 2020 and 2019, respectively, that would have been recorded as bad debt expense prior to the adoption of ASC 842.
When customers are billed in advance, the Company defers recognition of revenue until the related services are performed, which generally occurs at the end of the contract.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, $37.5 million and $14.0 million, respectively, of deferred revenue relating to these services, was recognized as revenue. At December
31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had approximately $74.1 million and $42.6 million, respectively, of deferred revenue related to these services.
The Company does not have material contract assets, and it did not recognize any material impairments of any contract assets.
The Company's uncompleted contracts with customers have unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) performance obligations. For the future services revenues that are expected to be
recognized within twelve months, the Company has elected to utilize the optional disclosure exemption made available regarding transaction price allocated to unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) performance obligations. The transaction price for performance obligations that will be completed in greater than twelve months is variable based on the costs ultimately incurred
to provide those services and therefore the Company is applying the optional exemption to omit disclosure of such amounts.
The primary costs to obtain contracts for new and rental unit sales with the Company's customers are commissions. The Company pays its sales force commissions on the sale of
new and rental units. For new and rental unit sales, the period benefited by each commission is less than one year. As a result, the Company has applied the practical expedient for
incremental costs of obtaining a sales contract and expenses commissions as incurred.
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NOTE 4 - Leases
As of December 31, 2020, the undiscounted future lease payments for operating and finance lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
Operating
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: interest
Present value of lease liabilities

$

Finance
60,120 $
51,184
41,074
33,336
26,542
67,421
279,677
(47,853)
231,824 $

$

18,252
17,158
13,707
10,786
10,893
13,410
84,206
(6,332)
77,874

As of December 31, 2019, the undiscounted future lease payments for operating and finance lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):
Operating
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: interest
Present value of lease liabilities

$

$

Finance lease liabilities are included within long-term debt and current portion of long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Finance
37,648 $
33,903
27,769
21,926
16,685
47,916
185,847
(38,285)
147,562 $

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

The Company’s lease activity during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
Financial Statement Line (in thousands)
Finance Lease Expense
Amortization of finance lease assets
Interest on obligations under finance leases

2020
$
$

Total finance lease expense
Operating Lease Expense
Fixed lease expense
Cost of leasing and services
Selling, general and administrative
Lease impairment expense and other related charges
Short-term lease expense
Cost of leasing and services
Selling, general and administrative
Lease impairment expense and other related charges
Variable lease expense
Cost of leasing and services
Selling, general and administrative
Lease impairment expense and other related charges

$

$

Total operating lease expense

2019
9,556
1,081
10,637

$

5,723
43,482
2,800

$

$

—
—
—

6,737
34,058
2,611

25,576
2,067
471

29,729
2,071
—

6,981
5,436
855
93,391

3,787
4,231
—
83,224

$

The Company initiated certain restructuring plans associated with the 2018 ModSpace acquisition in order to capture operating synergies as a result of integrating ModSpace into
WillScot. The restructuring activities primarily included the termination of leases for duplicative branches, equipment, and corporate facilities. As part of these plans, certain of its leased
locations were vacated and leases were terminated or impaired.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded $4.9 million in lease impairment expense and other related charges which is comprised of $0.7 million loss on
lease exit and impairment charges and $4.2 million in closed location rent expense. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recorded $8.7 million in lease impairment
expense and other related charges which is comprised of $4.2 million in ROU asset impairment on leased locations no longer used in operations, $1.9 million loss on lease exit and
$2.6 million in closed location rent expense.
Rent expense included in the consolidated statement of operations was $31.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Supplemental
cash
flow
information
related
to
leases
for
the
years
ended
December
31,
2020

2020
and
2019
were
as
Year Ended December 31,
2019

follows:

Supplemental Cash Flow Information (in thousands)
Cash paid for the amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases
Financing cash outflows from finance leases

$
$

45,883
9,568

$
$

42,111
—

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
Assets obtained in exchange for finance leases

$
$

33,576
9,089

$
$

43,013
—
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Weighted-average remaining operating lease terms and the weighted average discount rates as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Lease Terms and Discount Rates
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases
Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases

December 31, 2020
6.4 years
5.7 %
4.6 years
2.9 %

December 31, 2019
6.5 years
7.0 %
—
—

The Company presents information related to leasing revenues in Note 3.

NOTE 5 - Inventories
Inventories at December 31, consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Raw materials
Finished units

2020
$
$

Inventories

2019
19,560
2,095
21,655

$

4,618
5,859
19,477
29,954

$

15,387
—
15,387

$

NOTE 6 - Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets at December 31 consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Tax receivables
Prepaid insurance
Other prepaid expenses

$

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

2020

2019
1,211
2,099
11,311
14,621

$

NOTE 7 - Rental Equipment, net
Rental equipment, net at December 31 consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Modular space units
Portable storage units
Tank and pump products
Value added products
Total rental equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

2020
$

$

Rental equipment, net
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2019
2,520,704 $
931,363
132,071
143,652
3,727,790
(794,068)
2,933,722 $

2,372,069
83,402
—
121,855
2,577,326
(632,890)
1,944,436

NOTE 8 – Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment, net at December 31 consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Land, buildings, and leasehold improvements
Vehicles, machinery, and office equipment
Software and other
Total property, plant and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

2020
$

$

Property, plant and equipment, net

2019
154,210 $
227,009
20,800
402,019
(98,369)
303,650 $

139,861
62,169
27,342
229,372
(81,683)
147,689

Depreciation expense related to property, plant and equipment was $28.9 million, $11.4 million, and $12.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2020, the gross cost of property, plant and equipment assets under finance leases was $78.7 million, with related accumulated depreciation of $9.5 million. The
depreciation expense for these assets is presented in other depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statement of operations. No property, plant and equipment assets under
finance leases were recorded as of December 31, 2019.

NOTE 9 - Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2018
Changes to purchase price accounting - Modspace
Effects of movements in foreign exchange rates
Balance at December 31, 2019
Acquisition of Mobile Mini
Effects of movements in foreign exchange rates

$

$

Balance at December 31, 2020

247,017
(13,479)
1,639
235,177
928,974
7,068
1,171,219

As discussed further in Note 2, the Company acquired Mobile Mini on July 1, 2020. Goodwill was preliminarily allocated to the NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and Pump
segments, as defined in Note 20, in the amounts of $726.5 million, $59.2 million and $143.3 million, respectively. The Company expects to finalize the valuation of the acquired net assets of
Mobile Mini, including the final assignment of goodwill to reporting units, within the one-year measurement period from the date of acquisition. The Company expects any adjustments to
goodwill for financial reporting to be non-deductible for income tax purposes.
The Company conducted its annual impairment test of goodwill as of October 1, 2020 and determined that there was no impairment of goodwill identified as a result of the annual
impairment analysis. The Company considered the economic environment resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic as part of its goodwill impairment test. Due to the uncertain and rapidly
evolving nature of the conditions surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, changes in economic outlook may change the Company's long-term projections.
Accumulated goodwill impairment losses were $792.8 million and pertain to the NA Modular segment. There were no goodwill impairments recorded for the years ended December
31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.
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Intangibles
Intangible assets other than goodwill at December 31, consisted of the following:
December 31, 2020
(in thousands)
Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Trade name - ModSpace
Mobile Mini customer relationships
Technology
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Trade name - Mobile Mini
Trade name - WillScot

Weighted average
remaining life (in
years)
0.7
8.0
5.5

Gross carrying
amount
$

$

Total intangible assets other than goodwill

3,000
217,000
1,500
164,000
125,000
510,500

Accumulated
amortization
$

$

Net book value

(2,375) $
(12,053)
(125)

625
204,947
1,375

—
—
(14,553) $

164,000
125,000
495,947

December 31, 2019
(in thousands)
Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Trade name - ModSpace
Total intangible assets subject to amortization

Weighted average
remaining life (in
years)
1.7

Gross carrying
amount
$

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Trade name - WillScot
$

Total intangible assets other than goodwill

3,000
3,000

125,000
128,000

Accumulated
amortization

Net book value

$

(1,375) $
(1,375)

$

(1,375) $

—

1,625
1,625

125,000
126,625

As discussed further in Note 2, the Company acquired Mobile Mini on July 1, 2020. The Company preliminarily recorded $164.0 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets and
$218.5 million of intangibles subject to amortization, related to Mobile Mini customer relationships and technology, respectively, in the NA Storage, UK Storage, and Tank and Pump
segments. The Company expects to finalize the valuation of the acquired net assets of Mobile Mini, including the related intangible assets, within the one-year measurement period from the
date of acquisition. The Company expects any adjustments to intangible assets for financial reporting to be non-deductible for income tax purposes.
In the 2018 ModSpace acquisition, the Company allocated $3.0 million to definite-lived intangible assets, related to the ModSpace trade name. At the time of the acquisition,
management estimated that the ModSpace trade name had an estimated useful life of three years.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate amount recorded to depreciation and amortization expense for intangible assets subject to amortization, was
$14.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2020, the expected future amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows:
(in thousands)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

Amortization Expense
$

$

Total
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27,167
26,542
26,542
26,542
26,542
73,612
206,947

NOTE 10 - Deferred Revenue and Customer Deposits
Deferred revenue and customer deposits at December 31 consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Current:
Deferred revenue
Customer deposits

2020
$

Total current deferred revenue and customer deposits
Long-term:
Deferred revenue
Total long-term deferred revenue and customer deposits

2019
$

$

133,156
2,329
135,485

$

81,303
1,675
82,978

$
$

12,060
12,060

$
$

12,342
12,342

Total long-term deferred revenue and customer deposits are included in Other non-current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 11 - Debt
The carrying value of debt outstanding at December 31 consisted of the following:
(in thousands, except rates)
2022 Secured Notes
2023 Secured Notes
2025 Secured Notes
ABL Facility(a)
2028 Secured Notes
Finance Leases
Total debt
Less: current portion of long-term debt

Interest rate
7.875%
6.875%
6.125%
Varies
4.625%
Varies

Year of maturity
2022
2023
2025
2025
2028
Varies

2020
$

$

Total long-term debt

2019
—
—
637,068
1,263,833
491,555
77,874
2,470,330
16,521
2,453,809

$

264,576
482,768
—
885,245
—
—
1,632,589
—
1,632,589

$

(a) As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no outstanding principal borrowings on the Multicurrency Facility and $7.9 million of related debt issuance costs. No related debt issuance costs were recorded as a
direct offset against the principal borrowings on the Multicurrency Facility, and the $7.9 million in excess of principal was included in other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31,
2019, the Company had no outstanding principal borrowings on the 2017 Canadian ABL Facility and $2.1 million of related debt issuance costs. No related debt issuance costs were recorded as a direct offset
against the principal of the 2017 Canadian ABL Facility, and the $2.1 million in excess of principal was included in other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Maturities
of
(in thousands)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

long-term

debt,

including

finance

leases,

during

the

years

subsequent

to

December

31,
$
$
$
$
$
$
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2020

are

as

follows:
18,252
17,158
13,707
10,786
1,965,505
513,410

The Company has debt issuance costs recorded as offsets against the carrying value of the related debt. These debt costs will be amortized and included as part of interest
expense over the remaining contractual terms of those debt instruments for each of the next five years as follows:
(in thousands)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$
$
$
$
$
$

Debt issuance cost amortization
14,317
14,540
14,778
15,031
8,050
3,365

Asset Backed Lending Facilities
2017 ABL Facility
On November 29, 2017, Williams Scotsman Holdings Corp ("Holdings"), Williams Scotsman International, Inc. ("WSII"), and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an ABL credit
agreement (the "2017 ABL Facility"), as amended, that provided a senior secured revolving credit facility that matured on May 29, 2022. The 2017 ABL Facility consisted of (i) a
$1.285 billion asset-backed revolving credit facility for WSII and certain of its domestic subsidiaries (the "2017 US ABL Facility"), (ii) a $140.0 million asset-based revolving credit facility (the
“2017 Canadian ABL Facility”) for certain Canadian subsidiaries of WSII, and (iii) an accordion feature that permitted the borrowers to increase the lenders’ commitments in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $375.0 million, subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions and lender approval, plus any voluntary prepayments that are accompanied by permanent
commitment reductions under the 2017 ABL Facility. Borrowing availability under the 2017 ABL Facility was equal to the lesser of $1.425 billion and the applicable borrowing bases. The
borrowing bases were a function of, among other things, the value of the assets in the collateral pool.
Borrowings under the 2017 ABL Facility bore interest at an adjusted LIBOR or base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. The initial applicable margin was 2.50% for LIBOR
borrowings and 1.50% for base rate borrowings. Commencing on March 31, 2018, the applicable margins were subject to one step down of 0.25% or one step-up of 0.25%, based on
excess availability levels with respect to the 2017 ABL Facility. The 2017 ABL Facility required the payment of an annual commitment fee on the unused available borrowings between
0.375% and 0.5% per annum. At December 31, 2019, the weighted average interest rate for borrowings under the 2017 ABL Facility was 4.51%. The weighted average interest rate on the
balance outstanding as of December 31, 2019, as adjusted for the effects of the interest rate swaps was 5.10%. Refer to Note 15 for a more detailed discussion on interest rate
management.
At December 31, 2019, under the 2017 ABL Facility, the aggregate Borrowing Base ("Line Cap") was $1.425 billion and the Borrowers had $509.1 million of available borrowing
capacity, including $369.3 million under the 2017 US ABL Facility and $139.8 million under the 2017 Canadian ABL Facility. Borrowing capacity under the 2017 US ABL Facility was made
available for up to $75 million of letters of credit and up to $75 million of swingline loans, and borrowing capacity under the 2017 Canadian ABL Facility was made available for up to
$60.0 million of letters of credit and $50 million of swingline loans. At December 31, 2019, letters of credit and bank guarantees carried fees of 2.875%. The Company had issued
$12.7 million of standby letters of credit under the 2017 ABL Facility at December 31, 2019.
The Company had $903.0 million in outstanding principal under the 2017 ABL Facility at December 31, 2019. Debt issuance costs of $17.8 million were included in the carrying
value of the 2017 ABL Facility at December 31, 2019.
2020 ABL Facility
On July 1, 2020, in connection with the completion of the Merger, Holdings, WSII, and certain of its subsidiaries, entered into a new asset-based credit agreement that provides for
revolving credit facilities in the aggregate principal amount of up to $2.4 billion, consisting of: (i) a senior secured asset-based US dollar revolving credit facility in the aggregate principal
amount of $2.0 billion (the "US Facility"), available to WSII and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the "US Borrowers"), and (ii) a $400.0 million senior secured asset-based multicurrency
revolving credit facility (the "Multicurrency Facility," together with the US Facility, the "2020 ABL Facility"), available to be drawn in US Dollars, Canadian Dollars, British Pounds Sterling or
Euros by the US Borrowers, and certain of WSII's wholly-owned subsidiaries organized in Canada and in the UK. On July 1, 2020, in connection with the completion of the Merger,
approximately $1.47 billion of proceeds from the 2020 ABL Facility were used to repay the 2017 ABL Facility and the asset-backed lending facility assumed in the transaction with Mobile
Mini, as well as, to pay fees and expense related to the Merger and the related financing transactions. In connection with the repayment of the 2017 ABL facility, the Company wrote off
$4.4 million of deferred financing costs to loss on extinguishment of debt. The 2020 ABL Facility matures on July 1, 2025.
Borrowings under the 2020 ABL Facility initially bear interest at (i) in the case of US Dollars, at WSII's option, either an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 1.875% or an alternative base rate
plus 0.875%, (ii) in the case of Canadian Dollars, at WSII's option, either a Canadian BA rate plus 1.875% or Canadian prime rate plus 0.875%, and (iii) in the case of Euros and British
Pounds Sterling, an adjusted LIBOR rate plus 1.875%. The 2020 ABL Facility requires the payment of an annual commitment
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fee on the unused available borrowings of 0.225% per annum. At December 31, 2020, the weighted average interest rate for borrowings under the 2020 ABL Facility was 2.05%. The
weighted average interest rate on the balance outstanding as of year end, as adjusted for the effects of the interest rate swap agreements was 2.94%. Refer to Note 15 for a more detailed
discussion on interest rate management.
Borrowing availability under the US Facility and the Multicurrency Facility is equal to the lesser of (i) the aggregate Revolver Commitments and (ii) the Line Cap. At December 31,
2020, the Line Cap was $2.4 billion and the Borrowers had $1.1 billion of available borrowing capacity under the 2020 ABL Facility, including $681.0 million under the US ABL Facility and
$400.0 million under the Multicurrency Facility. Borrowing capacity under the 2020 ABL Facility is made available for up to $205.6 million of letters of credit and up to $170.0 million of
swingline loans. At December 31, 2020, letters of credit and bank guarantees carried fees of 2.00%. The Company had issued $14.4 million of standby letters of credit under the 2020 ABL
Facility at December 31, 2020.
The Company had $1.3 billion outstanding principal under the 2020 ABL Facility at December 31, 2020. Debt issuance costs of $40.8 million were included in the carrying value of
the 2020 ABL Facility at December 31, 2020.
The obligations of the US Borrowers are unconditionally guaranteed by Holdings and each existing and subsequently acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly-owned US
organized restricted subsidiary of Holdings, other than excluded subsidiaries (together with Holdings, the "US Guarantors"). The obligations of the Multicurrency Borrowers are
unconditionally guaranteed by the US Borrowers and the US Guarantors, and each existing and subsequently acquired or organized direct or indirect wholly-owned Canadian organized
restricted subsidiary of Holdings other than certain excluded subsidiaries (together with the US Guarantors, the "ABL Guarantors").

2022 Senior Secured Notes
In 2017, WSII issued $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.875% senior secured notes due December 15, 2022 (the “2022 Secured Notes”) under an indenture dated
November 29, 2017. Interest was payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 beginning June 15, 2018.
On December 13, 2019, the Company completed a partial redemption of $30.0 million of the 2022 Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103% using proceeds from its 2017 ABL
Facility. The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.5 million, which included $0.9 million of an early redemption premium and $0.6 million related to the write-off of
unamortized deferred financing fees.
In connection with the Merger and related financing transactions in the third quarter of 2020, using proceeds from the 2025 Secured Notes discussed below, the Company
redeemed all of its 2022 Secured Notes and recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statements of operations of $15.2 million comprised of a redemption premium of
$10.6 million and write off of unamortized deferred financing fees of $4.6 million.
As of December 31, 2019, unamortized debt issuance costs pertaining to the 2022 Secured Notes were $5.4 million.

2023 Senior Secured Notes
In connection with the acquisition of ModSpace in 2018, $300.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its 6.875% senior secured notes due August 15, 2023 (the “2023 Secured
Notes”) were issued. Interest was payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year, beginning February 15, 2019.
On May 14, 2019, WSII completed a tack-on offering of $190.0 million in aggregate principal amount to the initial 2023 Secured Notes (the "Tack-On Notes"). The Tack-On Notes
were issued as additional securities under the 2023 Secured Notes indenture. The Tack-On Notes and the initial 2023 Secured Notes were treated as a single class of debt securities under
the 2023 Secured Notes indenture. The Tack-On Notes have identical terms to the initial 2023 Secured Notes, other than with respect to the issue date and issue price. WSII incurred a total
of $3.0 million in debt issuance costs in connection with the tack-on offering, which were deferred and were being amortized through the August 15, 2023 maturity date. Subsequent to the
Tack-On Notes, WSII had $490.0 million of 6.875% 2023 Secured Notes. On August 11, 2020, WSII redeemed 10% of the outstanding principal amount of the 2023 Secured Notes,
$49.0 million, at a redemption price of 103% plus accrued interest and unpaid interest. This repayment was funded by borrowings under the Company's 2020 ABL Facility.
On August 25, 2020, the Company completed a private offering of its 2028 Secured Notes, discussed below, and used the offering proceeds to repay, along with expenses, the
$441.0 million outstanding principal amount of its 2023 Secured Notes at a redemption price of 103.438% plus accrued interest and unpaid interest. The Company recorded a loss on
extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statements of operations of $22.7 million comprised of a redemption premium of $16.6 million and a write off of unamortized deferred financing
fees of $6.1 million.
Unamortized debt issuance costs of $7.2 million were included in the carrying value of the debt as of December 31, 2019.
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2025 Senior Secured Notes
In anticipation of the Merger, on June 15, 2020, Picasso Finance Sub, Inc., a newly-formed indirect finance subsidiary (the "Finance Sub") of the Company completed a private
offering of $650.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its 6.125% senior secured notes due 2025 (the "2025 Secured Notes"). The 2025 Secured Notes contained provisions requiring
repayment, without penalty, in the event the Merger was not consummated. The offering proceeds from the 2025 Secured Notes of $650.0 million and $5.1 million of interest due through
August 1, 2020 were deposited into an escrow account, pending the closing of the Merger. In connection with the completion of the Merger, on July 1, 2020, the offering proceeds were
released and the proceeds were used to repay the 2022 Secured Notes, repay Mobile Mini senior notes assumed in the acquisition and pay certain fees and expenses related to the Merger
and the related financing transactions. In addition, Finance Sub was merged into WSII on July 1, 2020. The Company recorded $14.3 million in deferred financing fees related to the 2025
Secured Notes.
The 2025 Secured Notes mature on June 15, 2025 and bear interest at a rate of 6.125% per annum. Interest is payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year,
beginning December 15, 2020.
The Company may redeem the 2025 Secured Notes at any time before June 15, 2022 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus a customary make
whole premium for the 2025 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but not including the redemption date. Before June 15, 2022, the Company may
redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Secured Notes at a price equal to 106.125% of the principal amount of the 2025 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but not including the redemption date with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings. At any time prior to June 15, 2022, the Company may also
redeem up to 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Secured Notes at a redemption price equal to 103% of the principal amount of the 2025 Secured Notes being redeemed
during each twelve-month period commencing with the issue date, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but not including the redemption date. If the Company undergoes a change of
control or sells certain of its assets, the Company may be required to offer to repurchase the 2025 Secured Notes.
On and after June 15, 2022, the Company may redeem the 2025 Secured Notes, in whole or in part, at the redemption prices expressed as percentages of principal amount set
forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest to but not including the applicable redemption date, subject to the holders' right to receive interest due on an interest payment date falling on or
prior to the redemption date, if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on June 15 of each of the years set forth below.
Year
Redemption Price
2022
103.063 %
2023
101.531 %
2024 and thereafter
100.000 %
The 2025 Secured Notes are unconditionally guaranteed by each of WSII's direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries and WSII's parent, Holdings (collectively, "the Note
Guarantors"). WillScot Mobile Mini is not a guarantor of the 2025 Secured Notes. The Note Guarantors, as well as certain of the Company’s non-US subsidiaries, are guarantors or
borrowers under the 2020 ABL Facility. To the extent lenders under the 2020 ABL Facility release the guarantee of any Note Guarantor, such Note Guarantor will also be released from
obligations under the 2025 Secured Notes. These guarantees are secured by a second priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of WSII and the Note Guarantors, subject to
customary exclusions. The guarantees of the 2025 Secured Notes by WillScot Equipment II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company which holds certain of WSII’s assets in the US, will be
subordinated to its obligations under the 2020 ABL Facility.
Unamortized deferred financing costs pertaining to the 2025 Secured Notes were $12.9 million as of December 31, 2020.

2028 Senior Secured Notes
On August 25, 2020, the Company completed a private offering of $500.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 4.625% senior secured notes due 2028 (the "2028 Secured
Notes").
The 2028 Secured Notes mature on August 15, 2028. They bear interest at a rate of 4.625% per annum. Interest is payable semi-annually on August 15 and February 15 of each
year, beginning February 15, 2021.
The Company may redeem the 2028 Secured Notes at any time before August 15, 2023 at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus a customary
make whole premium for the 2028 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but not including the redemption date. Before August 15, 2023, the Company
may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes at a price equal to 104.625% of the principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but not including the redemption date with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings. At any time prior to August 15, 2023, the Company may also
redeem up to 10% of the aggregate principal amount at a redemption price equal to 103% of the principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes being redeemed during each twelve-month
period commencing with the issue date, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but not including the redemption date. If the Company undergoes a change of control or sells certain of
its assets, the Company may be required to offer to repurchase the 2028 Secured Notes.
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On and after August 15, 2023, the Company may redeem the 2028 Secured Notes, in whole or in part, at the redemption prices expressed as percentages of principal amount set
forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest to but not including the applicable redemption date, subject to the holders' right to receive interest due on an interest payment date falling on or
prior to the redemption date, if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on August 15 of each of the years set forth below.
Year
2023
2024
2025 and thereafter

Redemption Price
102.313 %
101.156 %
100.000 %

The 2028 Secured Notes are unconditionally guaranteed by the Note Guarantors. WillScot Mobile Mini is not a guarantor of the 2028 Secured Notes. The Note Guarantors, as well
as certain of the Company’s non-US subsidiaries, are guarantors or borrowers under the 2020 ABL Facility. To the extent lenders under the 2020 ABL Facility release the guarantee of any
Note Guarantor, such Note Guarantor will also be released from obligations under the 2025 Secured Notes. These guarantees are secured by a second priority security interest in
substantially all of the assets of WSII and the Note Guarantors, subject to customary exclusions. The guarantees of the 2028 Secured Notes by WillScot Equipment II, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company which holds certain of WSII’s assets in the US, will be subordinated to its obligations under the 2020 ABL Facility.
Unamortized deferred financing costs pertaining to the 2028 Secured Notes were $8.4 million as of December 31, 2020.
The Company is in compliance with all debt covenants and restrictions for the aforementioned debt instruments as of December 31, 2020.

2023 Senior Unsecured Notes
The Company had $200.0 million in aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes due November 15, 2023. On June 19, 2019 (the "Redemption Date"), WSII used
proceeds from its US ABL Facility to redeem all $200.0 million in aggregate outstanding principal amount of the unsecured notes at a redemption price of 102.0%, plus a make-whole
premium of 1.126% and any accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the Redemption Date. The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of $7.2 million, which included
$6.2 million of make-whole premiums and $1.0 million related to the write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees.

Finance Leases
The Company maintains finance leases primarily related to transportation equipment. At December 31, 2020, obligations under the finance leases for certain real property and
transportation related equipment were $77.9 million. The Company had no finance leases at December 31, 2019.

Mobile Mini Debt
Mobile Mini had $250.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 5.875% senior notes outstanding prior to the Merger. Interest was payable semi-annually on January 1 and July 1.
In connection with the Merger, these notes were assumed by WillScot Mobile Mini and subsequently redeemed using proceeds from the 2025 Secured Notes discussed above.
Mobile Mini had a $1.0 billion first lien senior secured revolving credit facility. At June 30, 2020, Mobile Mini had $563.2 million of outstanding principal on the credit facility. In
connection with the Merger, this line of credit was assumed by WillScot Mobile Mini and subsequently repaid in full using proceeds from the 2020 ABL Facility discussed above.

NOTE 12 - Equity
Preferred Stock
WillScot Mobile Mini's certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of 1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. As of December 31, 2020,
the Company has zero shares of Preferred Stock issued and outstanding.

Common Stock
WillScot Mobile Mini's certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of 500,000,000 shares of Common Stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. The Company has
229,038,158 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020. The outstanding shares of the Company's Common Stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully
paid and non-assessable.
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On July 30, 2018, WillScot closed a public offering of 8,000,000 shares of its Class A Common Stock at an offering price of $16.00 per share. On August 10, 2018, the underwriters
exercised their right to purchase an additional 1,200,000 shares at the public offering price. The net offering proceeds, including the exercise of the over-allotment option, were $139.0
million, after deducting discount and offering expenses of $8.2 million. The Company used the proceeds to fund the ModSpace acquisition and to pay related fees and expenses.
On August 15, 2018, WillScot issued 6,458,229 unregistered shares of its Class A Common Stock to former ModSpace shareholders as part of the consideration paid for
ModSpace. In connection with the private placement, WillScot entered into a registration rights agreement dated July 26, 2018, under which WillScot granted customary registration rights to
the holders of the unregistered common shares. Subject to limited exception, the unregistered shares issued to former ModSpace shareholders could not be sold or otherwise transferred
prior to February 15, 2019.
On December 11, 2018, pursuant to the terms of the Warrant Exchange discussed in more detail below, the Company issued 8,205,841 registered Class A common shares.
In connection with the stock compensation vesting and stock option exercises described in Note 18, the Company issued 309,857 shares of Common Stock during the year ended
December 31, 2019.
On June 30, 2020, as contemplated by the Merger Agreement, Sapphire Holdings exchanged each of its shares of common stock of Holdings for 1.3261 shares of newly issued
WillScot Class A Common Stock (the "Sapphire Exchange"). As a result of the Sapphire Exchange, all issued and outstanding shares of WillScot's Class B Common Stock, par value
$0.0001 per share, were automatically canceled for no consideration and the existing exchange agreement was automatically terminated. As a result of the Sapphire Exchange, Sapphire
Holdings became a wholly-owned subsidiary of WillScot. Sapphire Holdings received 10,641,182 shares of Common Stock of WillScot in the Sapphire Exchange. Prior to the Sapphire
Exchange, Sapphire Holdings' ownership of Holdings was recorded as a non-controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements. Subsequent to the Sapphire Exchange, the
Company's subsidiaries are each wholly owned and there is no non-controlling interest. As a result of the Sapphire Exchange, non-controlling interest of $63.9 million was reclassified to
$66.9 million of additional paid-in-capital and $(3.0) million to accumulated other comprehensive loss, on the consolidated balance sheet.
In connection with the Merger on July 1, 2020, the Company issued 106,426,722 shares of Class A Common Stock in exchange for Mobile Mini Common Stock outstanding and
subsequently filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which reclassified all outstanding shares of the Class A Common Stock and converted such shares into shares of
Common Stock, par value of $0.0001 per share, of WillScot Mobile Mini.
In connection with the Sapphire Exchange described above, stock compensation vesting and stock option exercises described in Note 18, and the warrant exercises described
below, the Company issued 13,792,582 shares of Common Stock during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Stock Repurchase Program
On August 7, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program that authorizes the Company to repurchase up to $250 million of its outstanding
shares of Common Stock and equivalents. The stock repurchase program does not obligate the Company to purchase any particular number of shares, and the timing and exact amount of
any repurchases will depend on various factors, including market pricing, business, legal, accounting, and other considerations.
The Company may repurchase its shares in open market transactions from time to time or through privately negotiated transactions in accordance with federal securities laws, at
the Company's discretion. The repurchase program, which has no expiration date, may be increased, suspended, or terminated at any time. The program is expected to be implemented
over the course of several years and will be conducted subject to the covenants in the agreements governing our indebtedness.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, no shares of Common Stock were repurchased, and the Company repurchased $35.3 million warrants and share equivalents, including
withholding taxes on net share settlements of employee stock awards.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss ("AOCI"), net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, were as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2017
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications
Reclassifications from AOCI to income(a)
Reclassifications from AOCI to retained earnings(b)
Less other comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest
Balance at December 31, 2018
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Reclassifications from AOCI to income(a)
Less other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest
Balance at December 31, 2019
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Reclassifications from AOCI to income(a)
Less other comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest
Impact of elimination of non-controlling interest on accumulated other comprehensive income

$

$

Balance at December 31, 2020

Foreign Currency
Unrealized losses on
Translation
hedging activities
(49,497) $
— $
(11,639)
(6,240)
—
285
(2,540)
—
1,068
537
(62,608)
(5,418)
10,586
(7,930)
—
3,121
(960)
434
(52,982)
(9,793)
28,404
(11,874)
—
10,125
1,183
702
(1,299)
(1,673)
(24,694) $
(12,513) $

Total
(49,497)
(17,879)
285
(2,540)
1,605
(68,026)
2,656
3,121
(526)
(62,775)
16,530
10,125
1,885
(2,972)
(37,207)

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, $10.1 million, $3.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, was reclassified from AOCI into the consolidated statement of operations within interest
expense related to the interest rate swaps discussed in Note 14. For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded a tax benefit of $2.4 million, $0.8 million and $0.1 million
associated with this reclassification, respectively.
(b) In the first quarter of 2018, the Company elected to early adopt ASU 2018-02, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) - Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income, which resulted in a discrete reclassification of $2.5 million from accumulated other comprehensive loss to accumulated deficit effective January 1, 2018.

NOTE 13 - Warrants (as restated)
Warrants
2015 Public Warrants
WillScot was incorporated under the name Double Eagle Acquisition Corporation ("DEAC") on June 26, 2015. On November 29, 2017, DEAC acquired Williams Scotsman
International, Inc. (“WSII”) from Algeco Scotsman Global S.à r.l., which is majority owned by an investment fund managed by TDR Capital (the “Business Combination”). In connection with
the Business Combination, DEAC domesticated to Delaware and changed its name to WillScot Corporation.
As part of its initial public offering, DEAC issued 2015 Public Warrants. Each 2015 Public Warrant entitled the holder to purchase one-half of one share of WillScot Class A
Common Stock at a price of $5.75 per half share (or $11.50 per whole share), subject to adjustment. The Company was able to redeem the 2015 Public Warrants for $0.01 per warrant if the
closing price of WillScot’s Class A shares equaled or exceeded $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date the
Company sent a notice of redemption to the warrant holders, providing for a 30-day notice period.
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2015 Public Warrant Exchange
On November 8, 2018, WillScot commenced an offer to exchange the 2015 Public Warrants for shares of its Class A Common Stock in a cashless transaction (the “Warrant
Exchange”). In the tender offer, each warrant holder had the opportunity to receive 0.18182 registered share of Class A Common Stock in exchange for each warrant tendered by the holder
and exchanged pursuant to the offer. In connection, with the Warrant Exchange 45,131,827 of the outstanding 69,499,694 warrants were tendered and accepted for exchange and
8,205,841 shares of Class A Common Stock were issued. The Company capitalized $1.8 million of offering expenses within additional paid-in capital in December 2018 in connection with
the Warrant Exchange.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, 135,000 of the 2015 Public Warrants were exercised, resulting in the issuance of 67,500 shares of Class A Common Stock and
$0.8 million in proceeds.
2015 Public Warrant Redemption
The Company's share price performance target was achieved on January 21, 2020 and, on January 24, 2020, the Company delivered a notice (the "Redemption Notice") to redeem
all of its 2015 Public Warrants that remained unexercised on February 24, 2020. As further described in the Redemption Notice and permitted under the warrant agreement, holders of these
warrants who exercised them following the date of the Redemption Notice were required to do so on a cashless basis. From January 1, 2020 through January 24, 2020, 796,610 warrants
were exercised for cash, resulting in the Company receiving cash proceeds of $4.6 million and the Company issuing 398,305 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock. After
January 24, 2020 through February 24, 2020, 5,836,048 warrants were exercised on a cashless basis. An aggregate of 1,097,162 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock was
issued in connection with these cashless exercises. Thereafter, the Company completed the redemption of 38,509 remaining warrants under the Redemption Notice for $0.01 per warrant.
At December 31, 2020, no 2015 Public Warrants were outstanding.
2015 Private Warrants
DEAC also issued the 2015 Private Warrants to purchase its Common Stock in a private placement concurrently with its initial public offering. The 2015 Private Warrants were
purchased at a price of $0.50 per unit for an aggregate purchase price of $9.75 million. The 2015 Private Warrants are identical to the 2015 Public Warrants, except that, if held by certain
original investors (or their permitted assignees), the 2015 Private Warrants may be exercised on a cashless basis and are not subject to redemption.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 4,781,700 2015 Private Warrants were repurchased for $21.6 million and cancelled. Additionally, 70,000 2015 Private Warrants were
exercised, resulting in the Company receiving cash proceeds of $0.4 million and issuing 35,000 shares of Common Stock.
At December 31, 2020, 12,710,000 2015 Private Warrants were outstanding.
2018 Warrants
In connection with the ModSpace acquisition in 2018, WillScot issued the 2018 Warrants to purchase approximately 10.0 million WillScot Class A common shares to former
shareholders of ModSpace. Each 2018 Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one share of WillScot Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $15.50 per share, subject to
potential adjustment. Subject to limited exception, the 2018 Warrants were not exercisable or transferable until February 11, 2019. The 2018 Warrants expire on November 29, 2022. Under
a registration rights agreement dated July 26, 2018, WillScot agreed to file a registration statement by the six-month anniversary of the issuance date. The registration statement became
effective February 12, 2019.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased and terminated 22,063 of the 2018 Warrants for less than $0.1 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 195,410 2018 warrants were exercised, on a cashless basis, and 38,802 shares of the Company's Common Stock were issued. Also
during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased and subsequently cancelled 51,865 2018 warrants for approximately $0.3 million. At December 31, 2020, 9,730,241
2018 Warrants were outstanding.
The Company accounts for its warrants in the following ways: (i) the 2015 Private Warrants as liabilities for all periods presented, (ii) the 2015 Public Warrants as liabilities through
their final redemption in February 2020 and (iii) the 2018 Warrants as liabilities until June 30, 2020, the date all issued and outstanding shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock
were cancelled.
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The Company determined the following fair values for the outstanding warrants recorded as liabilities at December 31:
2020
(as restated)

(in thousands)
2015 Public Warrants
2015 Private Warrants
2018 Warrants

$

—
77,404
—
77,404

$

Total

2019
(as restated)
$

22,682
72,705
58,369
153,756

$

NOTE 14 – Income Taxes (as restated)
The components of income tax (benefit) expense for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are comprised of the following:
(in thousands)
US Federal and State
Current
Deferred
Outside of US
Current
Deferred

2020
$

1,601 $
(58,026)

2018
827
1,904

2,104
2,870
(51,451) $

$

Total income tax benefit

2019
$

668
(36,149)

(395)
(4,527)
(2,191) $

924
(4,043)
(38,600)

Income tax results differed from the amount computed by applying the US statutory income tax rate of 21% to the income (loss) before income taxes for the following reasons for
the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:
(in thousands)

2020
(as restated)

Income (loss) before income tax
US
Non-US

$

Total income (loss) before income tax

$

US Federal statutory income tax expense (benefit)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions
State income tax expense (benefit), net of federal benefit
Unremitted foreign earnings
Valuation allowances
Non-deductible items
Non-deductible executive compensation
Non-deductible transaction costs
Non-deductible (non-taxable) remeasurement of common stock warrant liabilities
Uncertain tax positions
Tax law changes (excluding valuation allowance) (a)
Other

$

$

Reported income tax benefit
Effective income tax rate
(a)

2019
(as restated)

6,597
17,292
23,889

$

5,017
128
3,962
—
(56,479)
187
1,449
4,425
(727)
(11,166)
2,523
(770)
(51,451)

$

(215.38)%

$

$

2018
(as restated)

(119,099)
(4,257)
(123,356)

$

(25,905)
(207)
1,829
—
961
(233)
490
(12)
23,021
—
(2,785)
650
(2,191)

$

$

$

1.78 %

Tax law changes include the following amounts: 2020 and 2019 primarily represents changes in tax law in non-US jurisdictions and 2018 primarily represents US tax reform items.
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(56,994)
(11,348)
(68,342)
(14,352)
(626)
(2,478)
(6,793)
(11,871)
—
—
1,134
(5,004)
—
64
1,326
(38,600)
56.48 %

Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases, as well as from net operating
loss and carryforwards. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets
Deferred interest expense
Employee benefit plans
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Operating lease liability
Other
Tax loss carryforwards
Deferred tax assets, gross
Valuation allowance
Net deferred income tax asset

2020
$

$

Deferred tax liabilities
Rental equipment and other property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
ROU asset
Deferred tax liability

$

$

Net deferred income tax liability

2019
128,346 $
3,532
10,692
32,412
58,044
13,628
295,326
541,980
(25,158)
516,822 $

138,206
1,916
8,494
20,951
37,438
7,817
231,503
446,325
(80,241)
366,084

(648,966) $
(117,403)
(57,820)
(824,189)
(307,367) $

(375,682)
(23,690)
(37,218)
(436,590)
(70,506)

In general, FASB ASC Section 740, “Income Taxes” (“ASC 740”) requires us to evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets and reduce the deferred tax assets by valuation
allowances to the extent we determine some or all of our deferred tax assets are not more likely than not realizable. To determine the realizability, ASC 740 requires consideration of sources
of available taxable income of the proper character and within the time period before which our deferred tax assets, if any, expire due to the passage of time.
The Company's valuation allowance decreased by $55.1 million from 2019. An increase of $1.5 million was recorded in purchase accounting for the Merger in relation to state net
operating losses deemed not more likely than not to be realized and a decrease in the change in estimate about the realizability of deferred tax assets for a total amount of $56.6 million was
recorded as a tax benefit.
Prior to the Merger, the Company's sources of taxable income were insufficient to realize a significant portion of WillScot's historical deferred tax assets. As a result, at December
31, 2019, the Company maintained valuation allowances of approximately $80.2 million to cover deferred tax assets that were not realizable. The significant WillScot historical deferred tax
assets covered by valuation allowances were net operating losses and deferred interest expense. On July 1, 2020, with the Merger, estimates for future taxable income increased
significantly; accordingly, the Company concluded that a substantial portion of WillScot's historical deferred tax assets that were previously covered by valuation allowances became more
likely than not realizable. As a result, the Company reversed $54.6 million of valuation allowances as a discrete benefit in the third quarter of 2020 relating to the Merger. The significant
deferred tax assets of the Company are comprised of net operating losses and deferred interest expense. A small percentage of the net operating losses are subject to an annual limitation
based on tax law for which a valuation allowance continues to be maintained.
Tax loss carryforwards at December 31, 2020 are outlined in the table below and include US Federal, US State and non-US (Mexico, Canada and UK). The availability of these tax
losses to offset future income varies by jurisdiction. Furthermore, the ability to utilize the tax losses may be subject to additional limitations upon the occurrence of certain events, such as a
change in the ownership of the Company. The Company anticipates that our remaining available net operating losses will be consumed prior to their expiration.
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The Company’s tax loss carryforwards are as follows at December 31, 2020:
Loss
Carryforward

(in thousands)
Jurisdiction:
US - Federal
US - State
Foreign - Mexico & Canada

$

$

Total

Expiration

1,187,500
700,500
14,100
1,902,100

2022 – 2037, Indefinite
2021 –2040, Indefinite
2025 – 2038

As of December 31, 2020, the total amount of the basis difference in investments outside the US, which are indefinitely reinvested and for which deferred taxes have not been
provided, is approximately $327.3 million. The tax, if any, associated with the recovery of the basis difference is dependent on the manner in which it is recovered and is not readily
determinable.

Unrecognized Tax Positions
The Company is subject to taxation in US, Canada, Mexico, UK, and state jurisdictions. The Company’s tax returns are subject to examination by the applicable tax authorities prior
to the expiration of statute of limitations for assessing additional taxes, which generally ranges from two to five years after the end of the applicable tax year. Therefore, as of December 31,
2020, tax years for 2014 through 2020 generally remain subject to examination by the tax authorities. In addition, in certain taxing jurisdictions, in the case of carryover tax attributes to years
open for assessment, such attributes may be subject to reduction by taxing authorities.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
(in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits – January 1,
Increases based on tax positions related to current period
Increases based on tax positions related to prior period
Decreases based on tax positions related to prior period
Decrease from expiration of statute of limitations

2020
$

$

Unrecognized tax benefits – December 31,

2019
63,747 $
1,211
—
—
(10,464)
54,494 $

2018
64,444 $
—
268
(287)
(678)
63,747 $

72,660
1,545
—
(9,016)
(745)
64,444

At December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, there were $53.2 million, $59.3 million and $60.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the
annual effective tax rate.
The Company classifies interest on tax deficiencies and income tax penalties within income tax expense. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the
Company recognized approximately $(0.9) million, $0.8 million, and $1.0 million in interest and penalties, respectively. The Company had approximately $1.5 million and $2.4 million for the
payment of interest and penalties accrued at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Future tax settlements or statute of limitation expirations could result in a change to the Company’s uncertain tax positions. The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that
approximately $11.3 million of unrecognized tax benefits, as of December 31, 2020, could decrease in the next twelve months as a result of statute of limitation expirations, audit settlements
or resolution of tax uncertainties.

NOTE 15 - Derivatives
On November 6, 2018, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement (the “Swap Agreement”) with a financial counterparty that effectively converts $400.0 million in
aggregate notional amount of variable-rate debt under the Company’s ABL Facility into fixed-rate debt. The Swap Agreement will terminate on May 29, 2022. Under the terms of the Swap
Agreement, the Company receives a floating rate equal to one-month LIBOR and makes payments based on a fixed rate of 3.06% on the notional amount. The receive rate under the terms
of the Swap Agreement was 0.15% and 1.74% at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The Swap Agreement was designated and qualified as a hedge of the Company’s exposure to changes in interest payment cash flows created by fluctuations in variable interest
rates on the ABL Facility.
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The location and the fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedges in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 was as follows:
(in thousands)
Cash Flow Hedges:
Interest rate swap
Interest rate swap

Balance Sheet Location

2020

Accrued liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

$
$

2019
11,619
5,308

$
$

5,348
8,943

The fair value of the interest rate swap is based on dealer quotes of market forward rates, a Level 2 input on the fair value hierarchy, and reflects the amount that the Company
would receive or pay as of December 31, 2020 for contracts involving the same attributes and maturity dates.
The following table discloses the impact of the interest rate swap, excluding the impact of income taxes, on other comprehensive income (“OCI”), AOCI and the Company’s
statement of operations for the years ended December 31:
2020

(in thousands)
Loss recognized in OCI
Location of loss recognized in income
Loss reclassified from AOCI into income (effective portion)

$
$

(2,288) $
Interest expense
(10,125) $

2019

2018

(6,280) $
Interest expense
(3,254) $

(7,777)
Interest expense
(373)

NOTE 16 - Fair Value Measures (as restated)
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in
a forced or liquidation sale.
The Company utilizes the suggested accounting guidance for the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 -

Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Observable inputs, other than Level 1 inputs in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly; and
Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions

The Company has assessed that the fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, capital lease and other financing obligations, and other current
liabilities approximate their carrying amounts.
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial liabilities which are disclosed, but not measured, at fair value, including their levels in the fair value
hierarchy:
December 31, 2020
(as restated)

December 31, 2019
(as restated)

Fair Value
(in thousands)
US ABL Facilities(a)
Multicurrency Facility(a)
2022 Secured Notes(a)
2023 Secured Notes(a)
2025 Secured Notes(a)
2028 Secured Notes(a)
Total

Carrying Amount
$
1,263,833 $
— $
—
—
637,068
491,555
$
2,392,456 $

Level 1
— $
—
—
—
—
—
— $

Level 2
Level 3
Carrying Amount
1,304,612 $
— $
885,245 $
—
—
—
—
—
264,576
—
—
482,768
694,876
—
—
518,820
—
—
2,518,308 $
— $
1,632,589 $

Fair Value
Level 1
— $
—
—
—
—
—
— $

Level 2
903,000 $
—
282,250
517,334
—
—
1,702,584 $

Level 3
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

(a) The carrying values of the US ABL Facilities, the Multicurrency Facility, the 2025 Secured Notes, and the 2028 Secured Notes included $40.8 million, $0, $12.9 million, and $8.4 million of unamortized debt
issuance costs as of December 31, 2020, which were presented as a direct reduction of the corresponding liability. The carrying values of the US ABL Facility, the Canadian ABL Facility, the 2022 Secured Notes,
and the 2023 Secured Notes included $17.8 million, $0, $5.4 million, and $7.2 million of unamortized debt issuance costs at December 31, 2019, which were presented as a direct reduction of the corresponding
liability.

The carrying value of the ABL Facility, excluding debt issuance costs, approximates fair value as the interest rates are variable and reflective of market rates. The fair value of the
2022 Secured Notes, the 2023 Secured Notes, the 2025 Secured Notes, and the 2028 Secured Notes is based on their last trading price at the end of each period obtained from a third
party.
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The location and the fair value of derivative assets and liabilities designated as hedges in the consolidated balance sheet are disclosed in Note 15.
As part of the Merger, on July 2, 2020, the Company converted Mobile Mini's outstanding fully vested stock options to 7,361,516 WillScot Mobile Mini stock options using a
conversion ratio of 2.405 as set by the Merger Agreement. The fair value of these options was valued at $19.3 million and is part of the purchase consideration. The value of the Mobile Mini
stock options converted to WillScot Mobile Mini stock options in connection with the Merger, was determined utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is affected by several
variables, the most significant of which are the expected life of the equity award, the exercise price of the stock option as compared to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the
Merger date, and the estimated volatility of the Common Stock over the term of the equity award. Estimated volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company's Common Stock.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the US Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the Merger. The key inputs utilized to determine the fair value of the stock options converted
included within the purchase price were expected volatility of 51.92%, risk free rate of interest 0.17%, dividend yield of zero and expected life of 2 years.
Prior to their redemption, the Company’s 2015 Public Warrants traded in active markets. When classified as liabilities, warrants traded in active markets with sufficient trading
volume represent Level 1 financial instruments as they were publicly traded in active markets and thus had observable market prices which were used to estimate the fair value adjustments
for the related common stock warrant liabilities. When classified as liabilities, warrants not traded in active markets, or traded with insufficient volume, represent Level 3 financial instruments
that are valued using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value adjustments for the related common stock warrant liabilities.
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial liabilities for which are measured at fair value:
December 31, 2020
(as restated)

December 31, 2019
(as restated)

Fair Value
(in thousands)
2015 Public Warrants
2015 Private Warrants
2018 Warrants
Total

Carrying Amount
—
77,404
—
$
77,404 $

Level 1

Fair Value

Level 2
—
—
—
— $

Level 3
—
—
—
— $

Carrying Amount
—
22,682
77,404
72,705
58,369
77,404 $
153,756 $

Level 1
22,682
—
—
22,682 $

Level 2

Level 3
—
—
— $

—
72,705
58,369
131,074

Level 3 Disclosures
The Company utilizes a Black Scholes option-pricing model to value the 2015 Private Warrants and 2018 Warrants at each reporting period and transaction date, with changes in
fair value recognized in the statements of operations. The estimated fair value of the common stock warrant liability is determined using Level 3 inputs. Inherent in the pricing model are
assumptions related to expected share-price volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. The Company estimates the volatility of its ordinary shares based on historical
volatility that matches the expected remaining life of the warrants. The risk-free interest rate is based on the US Treasury zero-coupon yield curve on the grant date for a maturity similar to
the expected remaining life of the warrants. The expected life of the warrants is assumed to be equivalent to their remaining contractual term. The dividend rate is based on the historical
rate, which the Company anticipates to remain at zero.
The following table provides quantitative information regarding Level 3 fair value measurements:

Stock Price
Strike Price
Expected Life
Volatility
Risk Free rate
Dividend yield
Fair value of warrants

$

December 31, 2020
2015 Private Warrants
(as restated)
23.17
11.50
1.91
41.2 %
0.13 %
—
12.17
$
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December 31, 2019
2015 Private Warrants
2018 Warrants
(as restated)
(as restated)
18.49
11.50
2.91
33.3 %
1.61 %
—
8.29 $

18.49
15.50
2.91
33.3 %
1.61 %
—
5.85

The following table presents changes in Level 3 liabilities measured at fair value for the year ended December 31, 2020:
(in thousands)
Balance- beginning of year
Exercise or conversion
Repurchase
Measurement adjustment
Reclassification to equity at June 30, 2020
Balance- end of year

$

$

2015 Private Warrants
(as restated)
72,705 $
(359)
(24,970)
30,028
—
77,404 $

2018 Warrants
(as restated)
58,369
(416)
—
(31,737)
(26,216)
—

The 2018 Warrants were reclassified to equity at June 30, 2020, the date all issued and outstanding shares of the Company's Class B Common Stock were cancelled. Therefore,
the 2018 Warrants were not recorded at fair value at December 31, 2020.
The following table presents changes in Level 3 liabilities measured at fair value for the year ended December 31, 2019:
(in thousands)
Balance- beginning of year
Transferred to public holders
Measurement adjustment
Repurchases
Balance- end of year

$

$

2015 Private Warrants
(as restated)
21,532 $
(1,889)
53,062
—
72,705 $

2018 Warrants
(as restated)
14,600
—
43,878
(109)
58,369

NOTE 17 - Restructuring
Restructuring costs include charges associated with exit or disposal activities that meet the definition of restructuring under FASB ASC Topic 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations
(“ASC 420”). The Company's restructuring plans are generally country or region specific and are typically completed within a one-year period. Restructuring costs incurred under these plans
include (i) one-time termination benefits related to employee separations, (ii) contract termination costs, and (iii) other related costs associated with exit or disposal activities including, but
not limited to, costs for consolidating or closing facilities. Lease exit costs related to the termination of leases for duplicative branches and corporate facilities are now recorded in operating
lease liabilities and are not part of the restructuring liabilities. Costs related to the integration of acquired businesses that do not meet the definition of restructuring under ASC 420, such as
employee training costs, duplicate facility costs, and professional services expenses, are included within SG&A expense.
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The Company incurred costs associated with restructuring plans designed to streamline operations and reduce costs of $6.5 million, $3.8 million, and $15.5 million net of reversals,
during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The following is a summary of the activity in the Company’s restructuring accruals for years ended December 31:
Year Ended December 31,
2020
(in thousands)
Beginning balance
Reclassification of liability to
operating lease asset at the
(a)
adoption of ASC 842
Charges
Cash payments
Foreign currency translation
Non-cash movements
Ending balance

2019

Facility Exit
Employee Costs
Costs
$
447 $
— $

$

—
6,510
(5,356)
30
119
1,750 $

—
17
—
—
(17)
— $

Total
Employee Costs
447 $
4,544 $
—
6,527
(5,356)
30
102
1,750 $

—
1,955
(5,694)
(136)
(222)
447 $

Facility Exit
Costs
972 $
(972)
1,800
—
—
(1,800)
— $

2018
Total
Employee Costs
5,516 $
227 $
(972)
3,755
(5,694)
(136)
(2,022)
447 $

—
10,182
(5,806)
(59)
—
4,544 $

Facility Exit
Costs
— $
—
5,286
(4,314)
—
—
972 $

Total
227
—
15,468
(10,120)
(59)
—
5,516

(a) As a result of the adoption of ASC 842, the January 1, 2019 restructuring liability attributable to “cease-use” locations was reclassified to operating lease assets and 2019 costs related to the termination of
leases for duplicative branches and corporate facilities are now recorded in lease impairment charges and other related costs.

The restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2020 are primarily driven by termination costs as a result of the elimination of positions due to the Merger and
reductions in force as a result of COVID-19.
The Company initiated certain restructuring plans associated with the ModSpace acquisition in order to capture operating synergies as a result of integrating ModSpace into
WillScot. The restructuring activities primarily include the termination of employees in connection with the consolidation of overlapping facilities and functions within our existing business.
The restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily relate to employee termination costs and lease exist costs in connection with the integration of Acton,
Tyson, and ModSpace acquisitions in order to capture operating synergies as a result of integrating these businesses into WillScot. The restructuring activities include the termination of
leases for 26 duplicative branch and corporate facilities and the termination of employees in connection with the consolidation of these overlapping facilities and functions within our existing
business.
Segments (as defined in Note 20)
The $6.5 million of restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2020 included: $2.1 million of charges pertaining to the NA Modular segment; $4.0 million of charges
related to the NA Storage segment; and $0.4 million of charges related to the UK Storage segment.
The $3.8 million of restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2019 included charges pertaining to the NA Modular segment.
The $15.5 million of restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2018 included charges pertaining to the NA Modular segment.
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NOTE 18 - Stock-Based Compensation
Restricted Stock Awards
The

following

table

summarizes

the

Company's

RSA

activity

Balance, December 31, 2017
Granted
Balance, December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Balance, December 31, 2019
Granted
Vested
Balance, December 31, 2020

during

the

years

ended

December
31,
Number of
Shares
—
72,053
72,053
52,755
(72,053)
52,755
65,959
(61,266)
57,448

2020,
2019
and
2018:
Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value
$
—
$
15.57
$
15.57
$
14.69
$
15.57
$
14.69
$
11.75
$
14.28
$
11.75

Compensation expense for RSAs recognized in SG&A expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $0.9 million, $1.0 million, and $0.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. At December 31, 2020, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to RSAs that was expected to be recognized
over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 0.4 years.

Time-Based RSUs
The following table summarizes the Company's Time-Based RSU activity during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:
Number of Shares
Balance, December 31, 2017
Granted
Forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Balance, December 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Balance, December 31, 2020

—
921,730
(68,997)
852,733
478,400
(52,648)
(213,180)
1,065,305
632,864
(33,558)
(538,845)
1,125,766

Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value
$
—
$
13.60
$
13.60
$
13.60
$
11.69
$
12.78
$
12.78
$
12.78
$
14.37
$
13.28
$
13.24
$
13.44

Compensation expense for Time-Based RSUs recognized in SG&A expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $5.6 million, $3.9 million, and $2.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. At December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation cost related to Time-Based RSUs totaled $13.3 million and was
expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 2.7 years.
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Performance-Based RSUs
The following table summarizes the Company's Performance-Based RSU award activity during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value
— $
—
302,182 $
13.22
(13,901) $
13.22
13.22
288,281 $
325,256 $
16.35
(12,700) $
14.70
(7,449) $
16.82
14.88
593,388 $

Number of Shares
Balance, December 31, 2018
Granted
Forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2019
Granted
Forfeited
Vested
Balance, December 31, 2020

Compensation expense for Performance-Based RSUs recognized in SG&A expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $2.5 million and $1.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2018, no compensation expense was recognized for Performance-Based RSUs. At December 31,
2020, unrecognized compensation cost related to Performance-Based RSUs totaled $5.4 million and was expected to be recognized over the remaining vesting period of 1.8 years.
Performance-Based RSUs vest based on the Company’s TSR Percentile Ranking as compared against the TSR for the companies comprising the Russell 3000 Group, measured
as of the end of the Performance Period, based on the performance goals set forth in the award agreement.

Stock Options
The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018:

Outstanding options, December 31, 2017
Granted
Outstanding options, December 31, 2018
Forfeited
Exercised
Outstanding options, December 31, 2019
Converted at Merger
Exercised
Cancelled in settlement, net of taxes
Outstanding options, December 31, 2020

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price per Share
— $
—
589,257 $
13.60
13.60
589,257 $
(41,302) $
13.60
(13,767) $
13.60
13.60
534,188 $
— $
—
— $
—
— $
—
13.60
534,188 $

Fully vested and exercisable options, December 31, 2018
Vested during 2019
Fully vested and exercisable options, December 31, 2019
Vested during 2020
Fully vested and exercisable options, December 31, 2020

—
133,547
133,547
133,547
267,094

WillScot Options

$
$
$
$

—
13.60
13.60
13.60

$

13.60

Converted
Mobile Mini Options

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price per Share
— $
—
— $
—
—
— $
— $
—
— $
—
—
— $
7,361,516 $
13.52
(428,653) $
13.07
(4,901,408) $
13.04
14.78
2,031,455 $
—
—
—
2,031,455
2,031,455

$
$
$
$

—
—
—
14.78

$

14.78

Under our stock option plans, the Company may issue shares on a net basis at the request of the option holder. This occurs by netting the option costs in shares from the shares
exercised.
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No options were granted in the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019. In the year ended December 31, 2018, the per share weighted-average fair value of all options granted
was $5.51.
At December 31, 2020, the intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and stock options fully vested and currently exercisable was $22.2 million and $19.6 million, respectively. At
December 31, 2020, the weighted-average remaining contractual term of options outstanding was 7.2 years for WillScot options and 5.3 years for converted Mobile Mini options.
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were $30.7 million and less than $0.1 million, respectively. No options were
exercised during the year ended December 31, 2018.
The total fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $31.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively. No stock options vested during
the year ended December 31, 2018.
WillScot Options
Compensation expense for stock option awards, recognized in SG&A expense in the consolidated statements of operations was $0.7 million, $0.8 million, and $0.6 million for the
years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. At December 31, 2020, unrecognized compensation cost related to stock option awards totaled $0.9 million and is expected
to be recognized over the remaining vesting period of 1.2 years.
Conversion of Mobile Mini Options at the Merger
As part of the Merger, on July 2, 2020 the Company converted Mobile Mini's outstanding fully vested stock options to 7,361,516 WillScot Mobile Mini stock options using a
conversion ratio of 2.405 as set by the Merger Agreement. The fair value of these options was valued at $19.3 million and is part of the purchase consideration.
The value of stock options converted was determined utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, and is affected by several variables, the most significant of which are the life
of the equity award, the exercise price of the stock option as compared to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the Merger date, and the estimated volatility of the Common Stock
over the term of the equity award. Estimated volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s Common Stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on the US Treasury yield curve
in effect at the time of the Merger.

NOTE 19 - Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, commitments for the acquisition of rental equipment and property, plant and equipment were $5.0 million and $4.5 million, respectively.

Contingencies - Legal Claims
The Company is involved in various lawsuits or claims in the ordinary course of business. Management believes that there is no pending claim or lawsuit which, if adversely
determined, would have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 20 - Segment Reporting (as restated)
As a result of the Merger, the Company has evaluated its operating structure and, accordingly, its segment structure and has determined it operates in four reportable segments as
follows: North America Modular Solutions ("NA Modular"), North America Storage Solutions ("NA Storage"), United Kingdom Storage Solutions ("UK Storage") and Tank and Pump Solutions
("Tank and Pump"). The NA Modular segment aligns with the WillScot legacy business prior to the Merger and the NA Storage, UK Storage and Tank and Pump segments align with the
Mobile Mini segments prior to the Merger. Total assets for each reportable segment are not available because the Company utilizes a centralized approach to working capital management.
Transactions between reportable segments are not significant.
In connection with the Merger, the Company determined its reportable segments as discussed above and retrospectively adjusted prior year's presentation to conform to the current
presentation of reportable segments.
The Company defines EBITDA as net income (loss) plus interest (income) expense, income tax (benefit) expense, depreciation and amortization. The Company reflects the further
adjustments to EBITDA (“Adjusted EBITDA”) to exclude certain non-cash items and the effect of what the Company considers transactions or events not related to its core business
operations. The Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") evaluates business segment performance utilizing Adjusted EBITDA as shown in the reconciliation of the Company’s
consolidated net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA below. Management believes that evaluating segment performance excluding such items is meaningful because it provides insight with
respect to the intrinsic operating results of the Company.
The Company also regularly evaluates gross profit by segment to assist in the assessment of its operational performance. The Company considers Adjusted EBITDA to be the
more important metric because it more fully captures the business performance of the segments, inclusive of indirect costs.
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Reportable Segments
The following tables set forth certain information regarding each of the Company’s reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
Consistent with the financial statements, the segment results only include results from Mobile Mini's operations after July 1, 2020, the Merger date. Please refer to the Management
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in this document, for pro forma results inclusive of Mobile Mini's financial results for periods prior to the
Merger date.
(in thousands)
Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total revenues

NA Modular

$

770,330
208,079

Year Ended December 31, 2020
UK Storage
Tank and Pump

NA Storage

$

166,128
42,655

$

32,633
9,409

$

Unallocated Costs

32,356
14,013

Total

$

1,001,447
274,156

41,858
30,895
1,051,162

6,976
6,070
221,829

3,124
1,195
46,361

1,135
789
48,293

53,093
38,949
1,367,645

194,442
175,705

19,925
27,029

7,391
6,353

5,618
11,015

227,376
220,102

$

4,244
4,261
9,585
156,785

$

2,301
1,026
1,648
27,642

$

741
272
6,743
23,904

$

34,841
24,772
200,581
659,973

$
$
$

99,837
66,533
14,969

$
$
$

17,822
11,468
1,693

$
$
$

17,843
12,804
2,394

$
$
$

530,307
424,679
172,383

Costs:
Cost of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Cost of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment
Gross profit

$

27,555
19,213
182,605
451,642

Other selected data:
Adjusted EBITDA
Selling, general and administrative expense (a)
Purchases of rental equipment and refurbishments

$
$
$

394,805
242,010
153,327

$
$
$

—
91,864
—

(a) Includes both SG&A expense and Transaction costs from the consolidated statement of operations.

(in thousands)
Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total Revenues

NA Modular

$

744,185
220,057

Year Ended December 31, 2019
UK Storage
Tank and Pump

NA Storage

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

Unallocated Costs

—
—

Total

$

744,185
220,057

59,085
40,338
1,063,665

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

59,085
40,338
1,063,665

213,151
194,107

—
—

—
—

—
—

213,151
194,107

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

42,160
26,255
174,679
413,313

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

356,548
271,004
205,106

Costs:
Cost of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Cost of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment
Gross profit

$

42,160
26,255
174,679
413,313

Other selected data:
Adjusted EBITDA
Selling, general and administrative expense
Purchases of rental equipment and refurbishments

$
$
$

356,548
235,228
205,106
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$
$
$

—
35,776
—

(in thousands)
Revenues:
Leasing and services revenue:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Sales revenue:
New units
Rental units
Total revenues

NA Modular

$

518,235
154,557

Year Ended December 31, 2018
UK Storage
Tank and Pump

NA Storage

$

—
—

$

—
—

$

Unallocated Costs

—
—

Total

$

518,235
154,557

53,603
25,017
751,412

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

53,603
25,017
751,412

143,120
143,950

—
—

—
—

—
—

143,120
143,950

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

36,863
16,659
121,436
289,384

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

215,533
254,871
160,883

Costs:
Cost of leasing and services:
Leasing
Delivery and installation
Cost of sales:
New units
Rental units
Depreciation of rental equipment
Gross profit

$

36,863
16,659
121,436
289,384

Other selected data:
Adjusted EBITDA
Selling, general and administrative expense (a)
Purchase of rental equipment and refurbishments

$
$
$

215,533
200,895
160,883

(a) Includes both SG&A expense and Transaction costs from the consolidated statement of operations.
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$
$
$

—
53,976
—

The following tables present a reconciliation of the Company’s net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
2020
2019
2018
(as restated)
(as restated)
(as restated)
Net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini
$
74,127
$
(120,744)
$
(25,210)
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest, net of
tax
1,213
(421)
(4,532)
Loss on extinguishment of debt
42,401
8,755
—
Income tax benefit
(51,451)
(2,191)
(38,600)
Interest expense
119,886
122,504
98,433
Depreciation and amortization
243,830
187,074
134,740
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities
(3,461)
109,622
(23,830)
Currency (gains) losses, net
(355)
(688)
2,454
Goodwill and other impairment charges
—
2,848
1,600
Restructuring costs, lease impairment expense and other
related charges
11,403
12,429
15,468
Transaction costs
64,053
—
20,051
Integration costs
18,338
26,607
30,006
Stock compensation expense
9,879
6,686
3,439
Other
444
4,067
1,514
$
530,307
$
356,548
$
215,533
Adjusted EBITDA

Assets
As discussed further in Note 2, the Company acquired Mobile Mini on July 1, 2020. The Company expects to finalize the valuation of the acquired net assets of Mobile Mini,
including the final assignment of goodwill to reporting units, within the one-year measurement period from the date of acquisition.
Assets related to the Company’s reportable segments include the following:
(in thousands)
As of December 31, 2020:
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Rental equipment, net
As of December 31, 2019:
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Rental equipment, net

NA Modular

NA Storage

UK Storage

Tank and Pump

Total

$
$
$

235,828
125,625
1,888,287

$
$
$

726,529
329,437
772,356

$
$
$

65,600
11,177
147,720

$
$
$

143,262
29,708
125,359

$
$
$

1,171,219
495,947
2,933,722

$
$
$

235,177
126,625
1,944,436

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

235,177
126,625
1,944,436

NOTE 21 - Related Parties
Related
party
balances
(in thousands)
Receivables due from affiliates
Amounts due to affiliates

included

in

the

Company’s
consolidated
balance
Financial statement line Item
Trade receivables, net of allowances for credit losses
Accrued liabilities

sheets

at

December
31,
2020
$
$

Total related party liabilities, net
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consisted
30
(461)
(431)

of
$
$

the
following:
2019
26
(236)
(210)

Related party transactions included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Leasing revenue from related parties
Rental unit sales to related parties
Consulting expense to related party (a)

Financial statement line item
Leasing revenue
Rental unit sales
Selling, general & administrative expense

2020
$

$

Total related party expense, net

2019
1,066 $
380
(5,194)
(3,748) $

2018
316 $
—
(1,029)
(713) $

720
1,548
(3,070)
(802)

(a) Two of the Company's directors also serve on the Board of Directors of a consulting firm from which the Company incurs professional fees.

On June 30, 2020, the Company completed the Sapphire Exchange, whereby Sapphire Holdings, an affiliate of TDR, exchanged shares of Class B Common Stock for 10,641,182
shares of Class A Common Stock. As a result of the Sapphire Exchange, all issued and outstanding shares of WillScot’s Class B Common Stock were automatically canceled for no
consideration and the existing exchange agreement was automatically terminated.
On August 22, 2018, WillScot’s majority stockholder, Sapphire Holdings, entered into a margin loan (the "Margin Loan") under which all of its WillScot Class A Common Stock was
pledged to secure $125.0 million of borrowings under the loan agreement. WillScot is not a party to the loan agreement and has no obligations thereunder, but WillScot delivered an issuer
agreement to the lenders under which WillScot has agreed to certain customary obligations relating to the shares pledged by Sapphire Holdings and, subject to applicable law and stock
exchange rules, not to take any actions that are intended to materially hinder or delay the exercise of any remedies with respect to the pledged shares. In connection with the Margin Loan,
on August 24, 2018, WSII entered into a two-year supply agreement with Target Logistics Management LLC, an affiliate controlled by Sapphire Holdings, under which, subject to limited
exceptions, WSII acquired the exclusive right to supply modular units, portable storage units, and other ancillary products ordered by the affiliate in the US.
On August 21, 2020, Sapphire Holdings entered into an amended and restated margin loan agreement which, among other things, extends the maturity date of the Margin Loan to
August 29, 2022. As of December 31, 2020, 59,725,558 shares of WillScot Mobile Mini Common Stock, representing approximately 26.1% of WillScot Mobile Mini’s issued and outstanding
Common Stock, and 4,850,000 warrants exercisable for one half share of Common Stock were pledged by Sapphire Holdings under the Margin Loan. The two-year supply agreement with
Target Logistics Management LLC was not renewed.
The Company purchased rental equipment from related party affiliates of $3.1 million, $4.7 million, and $4.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018,
respectively.
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NOTE 22 - Quarterly Financial Data (as restated)
The following tables present certain unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information for each of the eight quarters ended December 31, 2020.
In line with our filings with the SEC, prior to June 30, 2020, WillScot Mobile Mini refers to historical WillScot Corp. filed numbers. Post July 1, 2020, WillScot Mobile Mini refers to
the combined company.
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
2020
Leasing and services revenue
Total revenue
Gross profit
Operating income
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini
(Loss) earnings per share - basic
(Loss) earnings per share - diluted
Weighted average shares - basic
Weighted average shares - diluted
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
2019
Leasing and services revenue
Total revenue
Gross profit
Operating income
Net loss(1)
Net loss attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini(1)
Loss per share - basic(1)
Loss per share - diluted(1)
Weighted average shares - basic(1)
Weighted average shares - diluted(1)

March 31
$
$
$
$
$
$

239,422
255,821
106,190
25,373
91,655
91,785

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

0.84 $
(0.05) $
109,656,646
112,672,997

March 31
$
$
$
$
$
$

227,292
253,685
103,331
21,464
(27,574)
(26,816)

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

(0.25) $
(0.25) $
108,523,269
108,523,269

Quarter Ended (unaudited and as restated)
June 30
September 30
241,783 $
384,776
256,862 $
417,315
109,964 $
209,564
41,067 $
25,012
(14,130) $
(6,051)
(15,473) $
(6,051)
(0.14) $
(0.14) $
110,692,426
110,692,426

$
$
$
$
$
$

December 31
409,622
437,647
234,255
91,263
3,866
3,866

(0.03) $
(0.03) $
226,649,993
226,649,993

0.02
0.02
228,637,826
233,625,946

Quarter Ended (unaudited and as restated)
June 30
September 30
241,784 $
249,411
263,713 $
268,222
101,484 $
99,307
26,294 $
29,781
(56,836) $
(1,197)
(56,004) $
(1,492)
(0.52) $
(0.52) $
108,693,924
108,693,924

$
$
$
$
$
$

December 31
245,755
278,045
109,191
39,986
(35,558)
(36,432)

(0.01) $
(0.02) $
108,720,857
109,508,360

(0.33)
(0.33)
108,793,847
108,793,847

(1)

Due to the impact of the restatement described in Note 1, amounts presented herein do not agree to amounts included within previously filed Form 10-Q’s. For the quarters ended March
31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2019: Net loss and Net loss attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini has been adjusted by ($17,545), ($45,398), ($2,193), and ($44,486),
respectively; loss per share – basic has been adjusted by ($0.16), ($0.42), ($0.02), and ($0.40), respectively; loss per share – diluted has been adjusted by ($0.16), ($0.42), ($0.03), and
($0.40), respectively; and weighted average shares – dilutive has been adjusted by 0, 0, (2,535,605) and (5,286,212), respectively.

NOTE 23 - Earnings (Loss) Per Share (as restated)
Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini by the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding during the period. The shares of Common Stock issued as a result of the vesting of RSUs and RSAs as well as the exercise of stock options or redemption of warrants are
included in EPS based on the weighted average number of days in which they were outstanding during the period.
In 2018, 12,425,000 of WillScot's Class A common shares which had previously been held in escrow and excluded from the weighted average common shares calculation were
released from escrow as follows: 6,212,500 of the escrowed
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shares were released to shareholders on January 19, 2018, and the remaining escrowed shares were released to shareholders on August 21, 2018.
Prior to June 30, 2020, the Company had shares of Class B Common Stock which had no rights to dividends or distributions made by the Company and, in turn, were excluded
from the EPS calculation. On June 30, 2020, the Sapphire Exchange was completed, and all shares of Class B Common Stock were cancelled, and Sapphire Holdings received 10,641,182
shares of Common Stock.
Diluted EPS is computed similarly to basic EPS, except that it includes the potential dilution that could occur if dilutive securities were exercised. Effects of potentially dilutive
securities are presented only in periods in which they are dilutive. When liability-classified warrants are in the money and the impact of their inclusion on diluted EPS is dilutive, diluted EPS
also assumes share settlement of such instruments through an adjustment to net income available to common stockholders for the fair value (gain) loss on warrant liabilities and inclusion of
the number of dilutive shares in the denominator.
The following table reconciles net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders and the weighted average shares outstanding for the basic calculation to
net income (loss) attributable to WillScot Mobile Mini common shareholders and the weighted average shares outstanding for the diluted calculation for the years ended December 31, 2020
2019 and 2018:
2020
(as restated)

(in thousands)
Numerator:
Net income attributable to common shareholders - basic
Fair value (gain) loss on common stock warrant liabilities

$
$

Net income attributable to common shareholders - dilutive
Denominator:
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding - basic
Dilutive effect of outstanding securities:
Warrants
RSAs
Time-Based RSUs
Performance-Based and Market-Based RSUs
Stock Options
Class B common shares
Weighted average Common Shares outstanding - dilutive

74,127 $
(30,524)
43,603 $

2019
(as restated)
(120,744) $
—
(120,744) $

2018
(as restated)
(25,210)
(21,960)
(47,170)

169,230

108,684

87,210

752
39
778
544
634
5,291
177,268

—
—
—
—
—
—
108,684

1,741
—
—
—
—
—
88,951

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Warrants representing 2,365,806 shares of Common Stock were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would
have been anti-dilutive.
For the year ended December 31, 2019, Class B Common Shares, Time-Based RSUs, Market-Based RSUs, RSAs, and Warrants representing 10,641,182, 323,422, 273,943,
12,213, and 2,320,423 shares of Common Stock, respectively, were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, Class B Common Shares, Time-Based RSUs, RSAs, and Warrants representing 10,641,182, 756,055, 78,094, and 4,308,198 shares of
Common Stock, respectively, were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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ITEM 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. That evaluation included consideration of the views expressed in the SEC Staff Statement in which the SEC staff clarified its
interpretations of certain generally accepted accounting principles related to warrants issued by SPACs. Prior to the SEC Staff Statement, we believed that our warrant accounting was
consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. This position was consistent with market practice, informed by third-party advisors with whom we consult from time to time on
complex technical accounting matters, and was contained and fully disclosed in our audited financial statements, SEC filings and investor communications. However, based on the
clarifications expressed in the SEC Staff Statement which resulted in the restatement discussed further in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s management and
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2020 due to a material
weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to the accounting for warrants. As a result, a material weakness was determined to exist as described in Management’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting at December 31, 2020.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
As required by SEC rules and regulations, our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (“ICFR”), as such term
is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our ICFR is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our ICFR includes policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with the authorization of management and directors of
the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
ICFR, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations and may not prevent or detect misstatements in our consolidated financial statements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's ICFR as of December 31, 2020 using
the criteria set forth in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework). Based on that
assessment, on February 26, 2021, we filed the Original Filing, at which time the Company's management determined that, as of December 31, 2020, the Company's ICFR was effective
based on those criteria.
In connection with the restatement as discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, management has reassessed the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020. Management now concludes that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2020 and identified a material
weakness in our controls over the accounting for Warrants. The Company’s control to evaluate the accounting for warrants did not effectively apply the provisions of ASC 815-40 as further
interpreted by the SEC on April 12, 2021, and the Company’s controls were not appropriately designed to reassess the classification of the warrants at each reporting date thereafter. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal controls over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that the material misstatement of the
Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Subsequent to the SEC Staff Statement, we implemented a remediation plan that addressed the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, which related to the
accounting for our warrants. In connection with the warrant restatement on Form 10-K/A, the Company has conformed its accounting for its warrants to the SEC Statement. The Company
has also designed and implemented a new control to reassess the classification of liability- or equity-classified warrants to conform the accounting for warrants consistent with the SEC Staff
Statement, which will be executed at each reporting date by individuals with sufficient experience and training. The Company’s remediation plan has been implemented and as of April 30,
2021, we believe we have remediated this material weakness and will test the operational effectiveness of the control during 2021.
The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing below.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Amendment No. 1, the Company completed the Merger with Mobile Mini on July 1, 2020. As
permitted by interpretive guidance for newly acquired businesses issued by the SEC Staff, management has excluded the ICFR of Mobile Mini from the evaluation of the Company's
effectiveness of its ICFR as of December 31, 2020. Total assets and revenues of Mobile Mini that were excluded from management’s assessment constitute 26% of the Company’s
consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2020 and 23% of consolidated total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company is engaged in the process of integrating
policies, processes, people, technology and operations for the post-acquisition combined company, and it will continue to evaluate the impact of any related changes to ICFR.
In connection with the above described restatement, the Company has designed and implemented a new control to reassess the classification of liability- or equity-classified
warrants consistent with the SEC Staff Statement, which control will be executed at each reporting date. This new control is being executed by individuals with sufficient experience and
training.
Other than the items discussed above, there were no changes in our ICFR that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2020 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely
to materially affect, our ICFR.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material
weakness described below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. (the Company) has not maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.
In our report dated February 26, 2021, we expressed an unqualified opinion that the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria. Management has subsequently identified a deficiency in controls related to the accounting for warrants, and has further concluded that
such deficiency represented a material weakness as of December 31, 2020. As a result, management has revised its assessment, as presented in the accompanying Management's Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting; to conclude that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2020. Accordingly, our present
opinion on the effectiveness of December 31, 2020’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, as expressed herein, is different from that expressed in our previous
report.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the
company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management's
assessment. Management has identified a material weakness in controls as of December 31, 2020 related to the Company’s accounting for warrants.
As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Mobile Mini, Inc., which is included in the 2020 consolidated financial statements of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. and
constituted 26% of the Company's consolidated total assets as of December 31, 2020 and 23% of consolidated total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Mobile Mini, Inc.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 2020 consolidated financial statements of the
Company. This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2020 consolidated financial statements, and this
report does not affect our report dated February 26, 2021, except for the effects of the restatement described in Note 1, as to which the date is May 10, 2021, which expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
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expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
February 26, 2021, except for the effect of the material weakness described in the second paragraph above, as to which the date is May 10, 2021
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ITEM 9B.

Other Information

Transition of President and Chief Operating Officer
On February 25, 2021, the Company announced that Kelly Williams, its President and Chief Operating Officer, will leave the Company on July 31, 2021. The Company and Mr.
Williams entered into a transition, separation and release agreement on February 25, 2021 (the "Williams Separation Agreement") relating to his transition and ultimate departure from the
Company pursuant to which, among other things, in connection with his termination (i) Mr. Williams will receive a lump-sum cash payment, (ii) Mr. Williams' time-based equity will vest, and
(iii) Mr. Williams' performance-based equity will vest or not vest depending upon performance targets. Mr. Williams will support the Company in all matters relating to the orderly transition of
his duties and responsibilities and will be available to consult with the Company after his termination date.
The foregoing summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the William Separation Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit
10.16 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

Adoption of Second Amended and Restated Bylaws
On February 24, 2021, the Board of Directors unanimously approved and adopted the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (the "Second A&R Bylaws"). The
bylaws of the Company were amended and restated to remove the requirement that the Company "shall" have a President and Chief Operating Officer, providing instead that the Company
"may" appoint either of these roles.
The foregoing description of the Second A&R Bylaws is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Second A&R Bylaws, which are
filed as Exhibit 3.2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

Annual Executive Compensation Review
Pursuant to their Employment Agreements, the Compensation Committee of the Board has performed an annual review of executive compensation and made adjustments to the
compensation of Mr. Soultz and Mr. Boswell. Mr. Soutlz’ base salary was increased from $850,000 to $900,000, his annual target bonus was moved from 125% of base salary to 150% and
his annual long-term incentive grant will be increased from $2,600,000 to $3,500,000. Mr. Boswell’s base salary was increased from $525,000 to $600,000, his annual target bonus was
moved from 75% of base salary to 125% and his annual long-term incentive grant will be increased from $1,050,000 to $1,400,000. No amendments or modifications were made to their
Employment Agreements.

PART III
ITEM 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information to be included under the captions “Proposal 1 – Election of Directors,” “Codes of Business Conduct and Ethics,” and “Audit Committee,” if applicable, in the
Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021, is hereby incorporated by
reference in answer to this item.

ITEM 11.

Executive Compensation

The information to be included under the captions “Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” and “Compensation Committee
Report,” if applicable, in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021, is
hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.
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ITEM 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information to be included under the captions “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” if applicable,
in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021, is hereby incorporated by
reference in answer to this item.

ITEM 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and
Director Independence

The information to be included under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Director Independence,” if applicable, in the Company’s definitive
proxy statement for the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this
item.

ITEM 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information to be included under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fee Information,” if applicable, in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for
the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 23, 2021, is hereby incorporated by reference in answer to this item.

ITEM 15.

PART IV
Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

Consolidated Financial Statements
Page
Number
78

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018

80
81
82
83
84
86

Notes to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedule
All schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

147

Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Exhibit Index
Exhibit No.
2.1*
2.2
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8

Exhibit Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and among WillScot Corporation, Picasso Merger Sub, Inc. and Mobile Mini, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of WillScot Corporation, filed March 5, 2020).
Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 28, 2020, by and among WillScot Corporation, Mobile Mini, Inc. and Picasso Merger Sub, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K of WillScot Corporation, filed June 2, 2020).
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) to the Current Report on
Form 8-K of WillScot Corporation, filed July 1, 2020).
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
Specimen Common Stock Certificate
Warrant Agreement dated as of September 10, 2015 between Double Eagle Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of WillScot Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed September 16, 2015).
Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of WillScot Corporation’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed August 13, 2015).
Warrant Agreement between WillScot Corporation and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, dated as of August 15, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to WillScot Corporation's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 16, 2018).
Specimen Warrant Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of WillScot Corporation's Registration Statement on Form S-3. filed January 24, 2019).
Indenture, dated as of June 15, 2020, by and between Picasso Finance Sub, Inc., and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of WillScot Corporation’s Report on Form 8-K, filed June 16, 2020).
Supplemental Indenture, dated July 1, 2020, to the Indenture dated June 15, 2020, by and among Williams Scotsman International, Inc. (“WSII”) (as successor to
Picasso Finance Sub, Inc.), the guarantors party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
WillScot Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 1, 2020).
Indenture, dated as of August 25, 2020, by and between Williams Scotsman International, Inc., the guarantors named therein, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company
Americas, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to WillScot Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 27, 2020.
Shareholders Agreement, dated July 1, 2020, by and among WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp., Sapphire Holdings, S.á r.l., TDR Capital Holdings L.P. and TDR
Capital, L.L.P (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 1, 2020).
Description of Registered Securities
Private Placement Warrant Purchase Agreement dated September 10, 2015 among Double Eagle Acquisition Corp., Double Eagle Acquisition LLC, Harry E. Sloan,
Dennis A. Miller, James M. McNamara, Fredric D. Rosen, the Sara L. Rosen Trust, the Samuel N. Rosen 2015 Trust and the Fredric D. Rosen IRA, (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of WillScot Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed September 16, 2015).
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated November 29, 2017 by and among WillScot Corporation, Sapphire Holding S.á r.l., Algeco/Scotsman
Holdings S.á r.l., Double Eagle Acquisition LLC and the other parties named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of WillScot Corporation’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed December 5, 2017).
Registration Rights Agreement between WillScot Corporation and each of the ModSpace Investors defined therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
WillScot Corporation’s Form 8-K filed August 16, 2018).
ABL Credit Agreement, dated July 1, 2020, by and among Williams Scotsman Holdings Corp., WSII, the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and
Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
July 1, 2020).
Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 1, 2020).
WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. 2020 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 1,
2020).
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 1, 2020).
Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed July 1,
2020).
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10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
14.1
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and between WillScot Corporation and Bradley Soultz (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of WillScot
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 5, 2020).
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and between WillScot Corporation and Kelly Williams (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of WillScot
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 5, 2020).
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and between WillScot Corporation and Timothy Boswell (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
WillScot Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 5, 2020).
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and between WillScot Corporation and Christopher Miner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of
WillScot Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 5, 2020).
Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and between WillScot Corporation and Hezron Lopez (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of WillScot
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 5, 2020).
Employment Letter with Sally Shanks dated August 23, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of WillScot Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
filed March 16, 2018).
Amended Employment Letter with Sally Shanks dated March 18, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to WillScot Corporation’s Current Report on Form
8-K, filed March 21, 2019).
Separation and Release Agreement, dated as of February 25, 2021, by and between WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. and Kelly Williams.
Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, effective November 14, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 of WillScot
Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 15, 2019).
Subsidiaries of the registrant
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 USC. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 USC. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

*Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company hereby undertakes to furnish copies of any of the omitted schedules upon request by the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Signatures
behalf

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
by
the
undersigned,
thereunto
duly
authorized.
WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
By:
Date:

the

May 10, 2021

/s/ CHRISTOPHER J. MINER
Christopher J. Miner
Executive Vice President & Chief Legal Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on
dates
indicated.
Signature
Title
Date
/s/ BRADLEY L. SOULTZ
Bradley L. Soultz

Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

May 10, 2021

/s/ TIMOTHY D. BOSWELL
Timothy D. Boswell

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

May 10, 2021

/s/ SALLY J. SHANKS
Sally J. Shanks

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

May 10, 2021

/s/ ERIK OLSSON
Erik Olsson

Chairman of the Board

May 10, 2021

/s/ MARK S. BARTLETT
Mark S. Bartlett

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ SARA R. DIAL
Sara R. Dial

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ JEFFREY S. GOBLE
Jeffrey S. Goble

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ GERARD E. HOLTHAUS
Gerard E. Holthaus

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ GARY LINDSAY
Gary Lindsay

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ KIMBERLY J. MCWATERS
Kimberly J. McWaters

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ STEPHEN ROBERTSON
Stephen Robertson

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ JEFF SAGANSKY
Jeff Sagansky

Director

May 10, 2021

/s/ MICHAEL W. UPCHURCH
Michael W. Upchurch

Director

May 10, 2021
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS
OF
WILLSCOT MOBILE MINI HOLDINGS CORP.
February 24, 2021
Article 1

Stockholders
1.1
Place of Meetings. Meetings of stockholders of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), shall be held at the place, either
within or without the State of Delaware, as may be designated by the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the “Board of Directors”) from time to time; provided, that the Board of
Directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that a meeting of stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of remote communication as
authorized by Section 211(a)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”).
1.2
Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of stockholders shall be held at such date and time as fixed by the Board of Directors for the purpose of electing directors and
transacting any other business as may properly come before such meetings.
1.3
Special Meetings. Except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time only by the Board of
Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, to be held at such date and time as shall be designated in the notice or waiver of notice
thereof. Only business within the purposes described in the Corporation’s notice of meeting required by Section 1.4 may be conducted at the special meetings. The ability of the
stockholders to call a special meeting is specifically denied.
1.4
Notice of Meetings. Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a notice of the meeting shall be given that shall state the place, date
and hour of the meeting and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Corporation’s Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (as the same may be amended or restated from time to time, the “Certificate of Incorporation”) or these Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (the
“Bylaws”), the notice of any meeting shall be given no fewer than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting.
1.5
Postponement; Adjournments. The Board of Directors, acting by resolution, may postpone and reschedule or cancel any previously scheduled annual meeting or special
meeting of stockholders. Any annual meeting or special meeting may be adjourned from time to time, whether or not there is a quorum: at any time, upon a resolution by stockholders, if
the votes cast in favor of such resolution by the holders of shares of each voting group entitled to vote on any matter theretofore properly brought before the meeting exceed the number of
votes cast against such resolution by the holders of shares of each such voting group; or at any time prior to the transaction of any business at such meeting, by the Chairman of the Board
of Directors or pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors. If the adjournment is for more than 30 days, or if after the adjournment, a new record date is fixed for the adjourned
meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. At any adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or
represented, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed.
1.6
Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, at each meeting of stockholders, the presence in person or by proxy of
the holders of shares of stock having a majority of the votes that could be cast by the holders of all outstanding shares of stock entitled to vote at the meeting shall be

necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum, and the stockholders present at any duly convened meeting may continue to do business until adjournment notwithstanding any withdrawal
from the meeting of holders of shares counted in determining the existence of a quorum. In the absence of a quorum, the stockholders so present may adjourn the meeting from time to
time in the manner provided in Section 1.5 of these Bylaws until a quorum shall attend. Shares of its own stock belonging to the Corporation or any direct or indirect subsidiary of the
Corporation shall neither be entitled to vote nor be counted for quorum purposes; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not limit the right of the Corporation to vote stock, including
but not limited to its own stock, held by it in a fiduciary capacity.
1.7
Organization. Meetings of stockholders shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if any, or in his or her absence by the Vice Chairman of the
Board of the Directors, if any, or in his or her absence by the Chief Executive Officer, or in his or her absence by a chairman designated by the Board of Directors, or in the absence of such
designation, by a chairman chosen at the meeting. The Secretary shall act as secretary of the meeting, but in his or her absence the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act
as secretary of the meeting.
1.8

Voting; Proxies.

(a.)
Generally. Unless otherwise required by law or provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, each stockholder shall be entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, for each
share of capital stock held by such stockholder.
(b.)
Voting Matters Other than Elections of Directors. Unless otherwise required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws, any matter, other than the election
of directors, brought before any meeting of stockholders shall be decided by the affirmative vote of the majority of the voting power of the outstanding shares present in person or
represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the matter. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of a matter submitted for a vote of the stockholders as to which a
stockholder approval requirement is applicable under the stockholder approval policy of the Nasdaq Stock Market or any other exchange or quotation system on which the capital stock of
the Corporation is quoted or traded, the requirements of Rule 16b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), or any provision of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the vote required for approval shall be the requisite vote specified in such stockholder approval policy, Rule 16b-3 or Code provision, as
the case may be.
(c.)
Proxies. Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder by proxy, but no such proxy
shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. Such authorization may be in a writing executed by the stockholder or his or her
authorized officer, director, employee, or agent. To the extent permitted by law, a stockholder may authorize another person or persons to act for him or her as proxy by transmitting or
authorizing the transmission of an electronic transmission to the person who will be the holder of the proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support service organization, or like agent
duly authorized by the person who will be the holder of the proxy to receive such transmission, provided that the electronic transmission either sets forth or is submitted with information
from which it can be determined that the electronic transmission was authorized by the stockholder. A copy, facsimile transmission, or other reliable reproduction of the proxy (including
any electronic transmission) authorized by this Section 1.8(c) may be substituted for or used in lieu of the original writing or electronic transmission for any and all purposes for which the
original writing or electronic transmission could be used, provided that such copy, facsimile transmission, or other reproduction shall be a complete reproduction of the entire original
writing or electronic transmission. A proxy shall be irrevocable if it states that it is irrevocable and if, and only as long as, it is coupled with an interest sufficient in law to support an
irrevocable power. A stockholder may revoke any proxy that is not irrevocable by attending the meeting and voting in person or by delivering to the Secretary a revocation of the proxy or
a new proxy bearing a later date.
1.9.
Fixing of Record Dates. In order that the Corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment
thereof, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change,
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conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a record date for stockholders entitled to receive notice of the
meeting of stockholders or any other action, which, in the case of a meeting, shall not be more than 60 nor fewer than 10 days before the date of such meeting or, in the case of any other
action, shall not be more than 60 days prior to such other action. If the Board of Directors so fixes a date for the determination of stockholders entitled to receive notice of a meeting of
stockholders, such date shall also be the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the Board of Directors determines, at the time it fixes such
record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determination. If no record date is fixed: the record date for determining stockholders
entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given or, if notice is waived, at the close of
business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held; and the record date for determining stockholders for any other purpose shall be at the close of business on the day
on which the Board of Directors adopts the resolution relating thereto. A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to
any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting,
and in such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders
entitled to vote.
1.10.
List of Stockholders Entitled to Vote. The Corporation shall prepare, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to
vote at the meeting. The Corporation shall not be required to include electronic mail addresses or other electronic contact information on such list. Such list shall be open to the
examination of any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting, (i) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided,
that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting; or (ii) during ordinary business hours, at the Corporation’s principal place of business. If
the meeting is to be held at a place, then a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting shall be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof,
and may be examined by any stockholder who is present. If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication, then such list shall also be open to the examination of any
stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access such list shall be provided with the notice of the
meeting.
1.11.

Notice of Stockholder Business; Nominations.

(a)
Annual Meetings of Stockholders. Nominations of one or more individuals to the Board of Directors (each, a “Nomination,” and more than one, “Nominations,” and the
individual who is the subject of a Nomination, a “Nominee”) and the proposal of business other than Nominations (“Business”) to be considered by the stockholders of the Corporation
may be made at an annual meeting of stockholders only: pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting or any supplement thereto (provided, however, that reference in the Corporation’s
notice of meeting to the election of directors or to the election of members of the Board of Directors shall not include or be deemed to include Nominations); by or at the direction of the
Board of Directors; or by any stockholder of the Corporation who is a stockholder of record of the Corporation at the time the notice provided for in this Section 1.11 is received by the
Secretary of the Corporation, who is entitled to vote at the meeting, and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 1.11. Subclause (3) shall be the exclusive means
for a stockholder to make nominations or submit business (other than matters properly brought under Rule 14a-8 (or any successor thereto) under the Exchange Act and indicated in the
Corporation’s notice of meeting) before an annual meeting of stockholders.
(b)
Special Meetings of Stockholders. Only such Business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation as shall have been brought before the
meeting pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting (provided, however, that reference in the Corporation’s notice of meeting to the election of directors or to the election of members
of the Board of Directors shall not include or be deemed to include Nominations). Nominations may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected
pursuant to the Corporation’s notice of meeting: by or at the direction of the Board of Directors; or provided that the Board of Directors has determined that directors shall be elected at
such meeting, by any stockholder of the Corporation who
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is a stockholder of record at the time the notice provided for in this Section 1.11 is received by the Secretary of the Corporation, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and upon such
election, and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 1.11. In the event the Corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of electing one or
more directors to the Board of Directors, any such stockholder entitled to vote in such election of directors may make Nominations of one or more individuals (as the case may be) for
election to such positions as specified in the Corporation’s notice of meeting, if the stockholder’s notice required by Section 1.11(c)(1) shall be received by the Secretary of the Corporation
at the principal executive offices of the Corporation in accordance with Section 1.11(c)(1)(E).
(c)
Stockholder Nominations and Business. For Nominations and Business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant to Section 1.11(a)(3),
the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation in compliance with this Section 1.11, and any such proposed Business must constitute a
proper matter for stockholder action. For Nominations to be properly brought before a special meeting by a stockholder pursuant to Section 1.11(b)(2), the stockholder must have given
timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation in compliance with this Section 1.11. In either case, the stockholder shall also provide an Update (as defined below) at
the times and in the forms required by this Section 1.11.
(1)

Stockholder Nominations.

(A) Only individuals subject to a Nomination made in compliance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11 shall be eligible for election at an annual or
special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, and any individuals subject to a Nomination not made in compliance with this Section 1.11 shall not be considered nor acted upon at
such meeting of stockholders.
(B) For Nominations to be properly brought before an annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation by a stockholder pursuant to Section 1.11(a)(3)
or Section 1.11(b)(2), respectively, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation
pursuant to this Section 1.11. To be timely, the stockholder’s notice must be received by the Secretary of the Corporation as provided in Section 1.11(c)(1)(C) or Section 1.11(c)(1)(D), in
the case of an annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, and Section 1.11(c)(1)(E), in the case of a special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, respectively. In addition,
the stockholder shall provide an Update at the times and in the forms required by this Section 1.11.
(C) In the case of an annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, to be timely, any Nomination made pursuant to Section 1.11(a)(3) shall be received by the
Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the 90th day, nor earlier than the close of business on the 120th day,
prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting (provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60
days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the
close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made by the
Corporation). In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation commence a new time period (or
extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.
(D) Notwithstanding Section 1.11(c)(1)(C), in the event that the number of directors to be elected to the Board of Directors at an annual meeting of stockholders of
the Corporation is increased and there is no public announcement by the Corporation naming the nominees for the additional directorships at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of
the preceding year’s annual meeting, the stockholder’s notice required by this Section 1.11 shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for the additional
directorships, if it shall be received by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the 10th day following
the day on which such public announcement is first made by the Corporation.
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(E) In the case of a special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, to be timely, any Nomination made pursuant to Section 1.11(b)(2) shall be received by the
Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the
close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of such special
meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such special meeting. In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of a
special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.
(F) To be in proper form, a stockholder’s notice of Nomination(s) pursuant to Section 1.11(a)(3) or Section 1.11(b)(2) shall be signed by one or more stockholders
of record and by the beneficial owners or owners, if any, on whose behalf the stockholder or stockholders are acting, shall bear the date of signature of each such stockholder and any such
beneficial owner and shall set forth:
(i)
the name and address, as they appear on this Corporation’s books, of each such stockholder and the name and address of any such beneficial owner
who seeks to make a Nomination or Nominations;
(ii)

the Share Information (as defined below) relating to each such stockholder and beneficial owner making such Nomination(s);

(iii) a representation that each such stockholder is a holder of record of shares of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and such stockholder (or
qualified representative of the stockholder) intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such Nomination(s);
(iv) any other information relating to such stockholder and any such beneficial owner that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other
filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal and/or for the election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of
the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, including a representation whether the stockholder or any such beneficial owner intends, or is part of a group that
intends (x) to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s outstanding capital stock required to elect the Nominee(s); and/or (y)
otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders of the Corporation in support of such Nominee(s);
(v)

the manner in which each such stockholder and any such beneficial owner intend to comply with Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act in seeking to

(vi)

the name and residence address of each Nominee of any such stockholder and any such beneficial owner;

make any Nomination(s);

(vii) the Share Information relating to each Nominee; for purposes of these Bylaws, “Share Information” shall include: (i) the class or series and number of
shares of the Corporation that are owned, directly or indirectly, of record and/or beneficially by the person in question and any of its affiliates; (ii) any option, warrant, convertible security,
stock appreciation right, or similar right with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to any class or series of shares of the Corporation
or with a value derived in whole or in part from the value of any class or series of shares of the Corporation, whether or not such instrument or right shall be subject to settlement in the
underlying class or series of capital stock of the Corporation or otherwise (a “Derivative Instrument”) directly or indirectly owned beneficially by the person in question and any of its
affiliates, and any other direct or indirect opportunity to profit or share in any profit derived from any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Corporation; (iii) any proxy,
agreement, arrangement, understanding, or relationship pursuant to which such person or any of its affiliates has a right to vote any shares of any security of the Corporation; (iv) any short
interest in any security of the Corporation of such person or any of its affiliates (for purposes of these Bylaws, a person shall be deemed to have a short interest in a security if such person
directly or indirectly, through any agreement, arrangement, understanding, relationship, or otherwise, has the opportunity to
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profit or share in any profit derived from any decrease in the value of the subject security); (v) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Corporation owned beneficially by such person
and any of its affiliates that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Corporation; (vi) any proportionate interest in shares of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments
held, directly or indirectly, by a general or limited partnership in which such person or any of its affiliates is a general partner or, directly or indirectly, beneficially owns an interest in a
general partner; and (vii) any performance-related fees (other than asset-based fee) that such person or any of its affiliates is entitled to, based on any increase or decrease in the value of
shares of the Corporation or Derivative Instruments, if any, as of the date of such notice, including without limitation any such interests held by members of such person’s immediate
family sharing the same household;
(viii) a description of all agreements, arrangements or understandings between or among each such stockholder and any such beneficial owner and the
Nominee, and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which such stockholder and any such beneficial owner are seeking to elect or re-elect such
Nominee, including without limitation any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person as to how each Nominee, if elected as a director of the Corporation, will act or vote
on any issue or question;
(ix) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary agreements, arrangements and understandings during the past three
years, and any other material relationships, between or among such stockholder and any such beneficial owner and their respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert
therewith, on the one hand, and each Nominee, and his or her respective affiliates and associates, or others acting in concert therewith, on the other hand, including, without limitation, all
information that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 in Regulation S-K, promulgated by the SEC, if such stockholder and beneficial owner, or any affiliate or associate
thereof or person acting in concert therewith, were the “registrant” for purposes of such rule and each Nominee were a director or executive officer of such registrant;
(x) such other information regarding each Nominee as would be required to be disclosed in contested solicitations of proxies for elections of directors, or
would be otherwise required to be disclosed, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act;
(xi)

the written consent of each Nominee to be named in the Corporation’s proxy statement and to serve as a director of the Corporation if so elected;

(xii) any written representations or agreements reasonably requested by the Corporation with respect to or from any such Nominee; and
(xiii) such other information as may reasonably be requested by the Board of Directors or the Corporation from such stockholder and any such beneficial
owner seeking to elect or re-elect a Nominee and/or from any Nominee such stockholder and any such beneficial owner are seeking to elect or re-elect to determine the background,
qualifications, stock ownership, and the eligibility of such Nominee to serve as an independent director of the Corporation or that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s
understanding of the background, qualifications, stock ownership, and independence (or lack thereof) of such Nominee.
(2)

Stockholder Business.

(A) Only such Business shall be conducted at an annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation as shall have been brought before such meeting in
compliance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11, and any Business not brought in accordance with this Section 1.11 shall not be considered nor acted upon at such meeting of
stockholders.
(B) In the case of an annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, to be timely, any such written notice of a proposal of Business pursuant to Section 1.11(a)
(3) shall be received by the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the Corporation not later than the close of business on the 90th day nor earlier than the close of
business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting (provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than 30
days before or
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more than 60 days after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not
later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is
first made by the Corporation). In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation commence a new
time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above. In addition, the stockholder shall provide an Update at the times and in the forms
required by this Section 1.11.
(C) To be in proper form, a stockholder’s notice of a proposal of Business pursuant to Section 1.11(a)(3) shall be signed by one or more stockholders of record and
by the beneficial owners or owners, if any, on whose behalf the stockholder or stockholders are acting, shall bear the date of signature of each such stockholder and any such beneficial
owner and shall set forth:
(i)
as to the Business proposed by such stockholder: (a) a brief description of the corporate action desired to be authorized or taken; (b) the text of the
proposal or Business (including the text of any resolutions proposed for consideration and in the event that such Business includes a proposal to amend the Bylaws of the Corporation, the
language of the proposed amendment); (c) the reasons of each such stockholder and any such beneficial owner for authorizing or taking such corporate action; (d) any material interest in
such corporate action of each such stockholder and any such beneficial owner; and (e) a description of all agreements, arrangements or understandings between such stockholder and any
such beneficial owner and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) in connection with the proposal of such business by such stockholder;
(ii)

the name and address, as they appear on this Corporation’s books, of each such stockholder and any such beneficial owner who seeks to propose such

(iii)

the Share Information relating to each such stockholder and beneficial owner seeking to propose such Business;

Business;

(iv) a representation that each such stockholder is a holder of record of shares of the Corporation entitled to vote at such meeting and such stockholder (or
qualified representative of the stockholder) intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to propose such Business;
(v) any other information relating to such stockholder and any such beneficial owner that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement or other
filings required to be made in connection with solicitations of proxies for, as applicable, the proposal, including a representation whether the stockholder or any such beneficial owner
intends, or is part of a group that intends:
(a)

to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the Corporation’s outstanding capital stock required to approve such Business;

and/or
(b) otherwise to solicit proxies from stockholders of the Corporation in support of such Business; and
(vi)

the manner in which each such stockholder and any such beneficial owner intend to comply with Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act in proposing

such Business.
(d)

General.

(1)
Except as otherwise provided by law, the Chairman of the meeting of stockholders of the Corporation shall have the power and duty to determine whether a
Nomination or Business proposed to be brought before such meeting was made or proposed in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 1.11, and if any proposed
Nomination or Business was not made or proposed in compliance with this Section 1.11, to declare that such Nomination or Business shall be disregarded or that such proposed
Nomination or Business shall not be considered or transacted. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.11, if a stockholder (or a qualified representative of such
stockholder) does not appear at the annual or special meeting of stockholders of the
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Corporation to present a Nomination or Business, such Nomination or Business shall be disregarded and such Nomination or Business shall not be considered or transacted,
notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the Corporation. For purposes of this Section 1.11, to be considered a qualified representative of the
stockholder, a person must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or must be authorized by a writing executed by such stockholder or an electronic
transmission delivered by such stockholder to act for such stockholder as proxy at the meeting of stockholders and such person must produce such writing or electronic transmission, or a
reliable reproduction of the writing or electronic transmission, at the meeting of stockholders.
(2)
For purposes of this Section 1.11, “public announcement” shall include disclosure in a press release reported by a national news service or in a document
publicly filed by the Corporation with the SEC.
(3)
Nothing in this Section 1.11 shall be deemed to affect (a) the rights or obligations, if any, of stockholders of the Corporation to request inclusion of proposals in
the Corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 (or any successor thereto) under the Exchange Act or (b) the rights, if any, of the holders of any series of preferred stock of the
Corporation to elect directors pursuant to any applicable provisions of the certificate of incorporation of the Corporation.
(4)
A stockholder proposing a Nomination or Nominations or Business shall update and supplement its notice (an “Update”) to the Corporation of its intent to
propose Nominations or Business at an annual meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, if necessary, so that the information provided or required to be provided in such notice pursuant
to this Section 1.11 shall be true and correct as of the record date for stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and as of the date that is ten business days prior to the meeting or any
adjournment or postponement thereof, and such Update shall be delivered to, or mailed and received by, the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation not later than five business days after the record date for stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting (in the case of an Update required to be made as of such record date) and
not later than eight business days prior to the date for the meeting or, if practicable, any adjournment or postponement thereof (and, if not practicable, on the first practicable date prior to
the date to which the meeting has been adjourned or postponed) (in the case of an Update required to be made as of ten business days prior to the meeting or any adjournment or
postponement thereof) (such Updates within such time periods, “Timely Updates”). For the avoidance of doubt, the obligation to update and supplement as set forth in this paragraph or
any other Section of these Bylaws shall not limit the Corporation’s rights with respect to any deficiencies in any notice provided by a stockholder, extend any applicable deadlines
hereunder or enable or be deemed to permit a stockholder who has previously submitted notice hereunder to amend or update any proposal or to submit any new proposal or new or
additional Nominee, including by changing or adding matters, business or resolutions proposed to be brought before a meeting of the stockholders.
Article 2
Board of Directors
2.1
Regular Meetings. Prior to the Third AMS (as defined in Section 2.11(b) below), regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at the Corporation’s
headquarters and principal executive office, unless both the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer determine otherwise in their mutual discretion, at such
times as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine. From and after the Third AMS, regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at such places within or without
the State of Delaware and at such times as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, and if so determined, notices thereof need not be given.
2.2
Special Meetings. Prior to the Third AMS, special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any time but shall be held at the Corporation’s headquarters and
principal executive office unless both the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer determine otherwise in their mutual discretion. From and after the Third
AMS, special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any time or place within
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or without the State of Delaware whenever called by the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Board of Directors or a majority of the Whole Board.
2.3
Telephonic Meetings Permitted. Members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board of Directors, may participate in a meeting thereof by
means of conference telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and participation in a meeting pursuant
to this Section 2.3 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
2.4
Quorum; Vote Required for Action. At all meetings of the Board of Directors a majority of the Whole Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
Except in cases in which the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws or any agreement binding upon the Corporation otherwise provide, the vote of a majority of the directors present at
a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. The term “Whole Board” shall mean the total number of authorized directors whether or not there exist
any vacancies in previously authorized directorships. The Board of Directors and the Corporate Governance Committee shall endeavor to fill any vacancies as promptly as practicable.
2.5
Organization. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be presided over by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if any, or in his or her absence by the Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors, if any, or in his or her absence by the Chief Executive Officer, or in their absence by a chairman chosen at the meeting. The Secretary shall act as secretary of the
meeting, but in his or her absence the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person to act as secretary of the meeting.
2.6
Chairman, Vice Chairman, and Lead Director of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may, if it so determines, choose a Chairman of the Board of Directors. In
addition, the Board of Directors may, if it so determines, choose a Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors from among its members, who shall undertake duties as the Board of Directors
may assign. Further, the Board of Directors may, if it so determines, also select a Lead Director of the Board of Directors, who, if any, shall be a director of the Corporation who is not also
an officer of the Corporation and who shall undertake duties as the Board of Directors may assign, including, but not limited to, duties otherwise assigned to the Chairman of the Board of
Directors or the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. Among other duties, the Chairman of the Board of Directors will assist with, manage or delegate to the Lead Director, as
appropriate, the following tasks: (i) acting as the principal liaison between the Corporation’s independent directors and the Chief Executive Officer; (ii) overseeing and providing guidance
with regard to agendas for meetings of the Board of Directors; (iii) leading meetings of the Board of Directors, including executive sessions, but excluding any sessions with only
independent directors, which shall be led by the Lead Director for any period in which the Chairman of the Board of Directors is not independent; and (iv) addressing any other
responsibilities as the Board of Directors may designate, from time to time.
2.7
Board of Directors Action by Written Consent Without a Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any action required or
permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or of any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if all members of the
Board of Directors or such committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission, and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions.
After an action is taken, the consents shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors or such committee. Such filing shall be in paper form if such minutes are
maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if such minutes are maintained in electronic form.
2.8
Fees and Compensation of Directors. Unless otherwise restricted by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Board of Directors shall have the authority to
fix the compensation of directors, or may delegate such authority to an appropriate committee.
2.9

Elections of Directors.

(a)
Except as set forth in this Section 2.9, a majority of the votes cast at any meeting of the stockholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present shall elect
directors. For purposes of this
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provision, a “majority of the votes cast” means that the number of shares voted “for” a director’s election exceeds 50% of the number of votes cast with respect to that director’s election.
Votes cast shall include votes “for” and “against” that director’s election, in each case and exclude abstentions and broker nonvotes with respect to that director’s election. In the event of a
Contested Election, directors shall be elected by the vote of a plurality of the votes cast at any meeting for the election of directors at which a quorum is present. For purposes of this
provision, a “Contested Election” is an election of directors of the Corporation as to which the Chairman of the Board of Directors determines that, at the Determination Date, the number
of persons properly nominated to serve as directors exceeds the number of directors to be elected in such election. The “Determination Date” is: the day after the meeting of the Board of
Directors at which the nominees for director of the Board of Directors for such election are approved, when such meeting occurs after the last day on which a stockholder may propose the
nomination of a director for election in such election pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws; or the day after the last day on which a stockholder may propose the
nomination of a director for election in such election pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, when the last day for such a proposal occurs after the meeting of the
Board of Directors at which the nominees for director of the Board of Directors for such election are approved, whichever of clause (1) or (2) is applicable. This determination that an
election is a Contested Election shall be determinative only as to the timeliness of a notice of nomination and not otherwise as to its validity. In all cases, once an election is determined to
be a Contested Election, directors shall be elected by the vote of a plurality of the votes cast.
(b)
If, in an election of directors that is not a Contested Election, an incumbent director does not receive a greater number of votes “for” his or her election than votes
“against” his or her election, then such incumbent director shall, within five days following the certification of the election results, tender his or her written resignation to the Chairman of
the Board of Directors contingent on acceptance by the Board of Directors for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Corporate Governance
Committee”). The Corporate Governance Committee shall consider such resignation and, within 45 days following the date of the stockholders’ meeting at which the election of directors
occurred, shall make a recommendation to the Board of Directors concerning the acceptance or rejection of such resignation. In determining its recommendation to the Board of Directors,
the Corporate Governance Committee shall consider all factors deemed relevant by the members of the Corporate Governance Committee including, without limitation: the stated reason
or reasons (if any) why stockholders voted against such director’s reelection; the qualifications of the director (including, for example, whether the director serves on the Audit Committee
of the Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee”) as an “audit committee financial expert” and whether there are one or more other directors qualified, eligible, and available to serve on
the Audit Committee in such capacity); relevant stock exchange listing standards and rules and regulations, including those of the Nasdaq Stock Market and the SEC; and whether the
director’s resignation from the Board of Directors would be in the best interests of the Corporation and its stockholders.
The Corporate Governance Committee also shall consider a range of possible alternatives concerning the director’s tendered resignation as the members of the Corporate Governance
Committee deem appropriate, including, without limitation, acceptance of the resignation, rejection of the resignation, or rejection of the resignation coupled with a commitment to seek to
address and cure the underlying reasons reasonably believed by the Corporate Governance Committee to have substantially resulted in such director failing to receive the required number
of votes for re-election. The Board of Directors shall take formal action on the Corporate Governance Committee’s recommendation no later than 90 days following the date of the
stockholders’ meeting at which the election of directors occurred. In considering the Corporate Governance Committee’s recommendation, the Board of Directors shall consider the
information, factors, and alternatives considered by the Corporate Governance Committee and such additional information, factors, and alternatives as the Board of Directors deems
relevant in its sole discretion. No director who, in accordance with these provisions, is required to tender his or her resignation shall participate in the Corporate Governance Committee’s
deliberations or recommendation, or in the deliberations or determination of the Board of Directors, with respect to accepting or rejecting his or her resignation as a director.
If a majority of the members of the Corporate Governance Committee fail to receive the required number of votes for re-election, then the Board of Directors will establish an ad hoc
committee composed of independent directors then serving on the Board of Directors who were elected at the stockholders’ meeting at which the election occurred, and independent
directors, if any, who were not standing for election at such stockholders’ meeting (the “Ad Hoc
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Committee”), consisting of such number of directors as the Board of Directors may determine to be appropriate, solely for the purpose of considering and making a recommendation to the
Board with respect to the tendered resignations. The Ad Hoc Committee shall serve in place of the Corporate Governance Committee and perform the Corporate Governance Committee’s
duties for purposes of these provisions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Ad Hoc Committee would have been created but fewer than three directors would be eligible to serve on it, the
entire Board (other than the individual directors whose resignations are being considered) shall make the determination to accept or reject the tendered resignations without any
recommendation from the Corporate Governance Committee and without the creation of an Ad Hoc Committee. Following the decision of the Board of Directors on the Corporate
Governance Committee’s recommendation, the Corporation, within four business days after such decision is made, shall publicly disclose, in a Form 8-K filed with the SEC, the decision
of the Board of Directors, together with an explanation of the process by which the decision was made and, if applicable, the reason or reasons of the Board of Directors for rejecting the
tendered resignation.
(c)
If a director’s resignation is accepted by the Board of Directors pursuant to this Section 2.9, if a nominee for director is not elected and the nominee is not an incumbent
director whose term would otherwise have expired at the time of the election if a successor had been elected or if a director is no longer entitled to serve as a director, then such position
may be filled only: (i) until the Third AMS, by the Corporate Governance Committee and (ii) from and after the Third AMS, by a majority of the directors then in office, although less than
a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.
2.10

Additional Requirements For Valid Nomination of Candidates to Serve as Director and, If Elected, to Be Seated as Directors.

(a)
To be eligible to be a candidate for election as a director of the Corporation at an annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation, a Nominee must
be nominated in the manner prescribed in Section 1.11 and the Nominee, whether nominated by the Board of Directors or by a stockholder, must have previously delivered (in accordance
with the time period prescribed for delivery in a notice to such Nominee given by or on behalf of the Board of Directors), to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive
offices of the Corporation: a completed written questionnaire (in a form provided by the Corporation) with respect to the background, qualifications, stock ownership, and independence of
such Nominee; and a written representation and agreement (in form provided by the Corporation) that such Nominee: is not and, if elected as a director, during his or her term of office,
will not become a party to: any agreement, arrangement or understanding with, and has not given and will not give any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such
Nominee, if elected as a director of the Corporation, will act or vote on any issue or question (a “Voting Commitment”); or any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such
Nominee’s ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Corporation, with such Nominee’s fiduciary duties under applicable law; is not, and will not become a party to, any agreement,
arrangement, or understanding with any person or entity, other than the Corporation, with respect to any direct or indirect compensation or reimbursement for service as a director that has
not been disclosed therein; if elected as a director of the Corporation, will comply with all applicable corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality, stock ownership and
trading, and other policies and guidelines of the Corporation applicable to directors and in effect during such person’s term in office as a director (and, if requested by any Nominee, the
Secretary of the Corporation shall provide to such Nominee all such policies and guidelines then in effect); and if elected as director of the Corporation, intends to serve the entire term
until the next meeting at which such Nominee would face re-election.
(b)
The Board of Directors may also require any Nominee to furnish such other information as may reasonably be requested by the Board of Directors in writing prior to the
meeting of stockholders at which such Nominee’s nomination is to be acted upon for the Board of Directors to determine the eligibility of such Nominee to be an independent director of
the Corporation.
2.11

Board Composition.

(a)
The total number of authorized directors shall be fixed from time to time by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Whole Board. The Board of Directors as of the date
of these Bylaws shall consist of eleven
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directors. Six of such directors shall be Mark S. Bartlett, Gerard E. Holthaus, Gary Lindsay, Stephen Robertson, Jeff Sagansky and Bradley L. Soultz, each of which shall be designated by
WillScot Corporation (“WillScot”) (such individuals, together with each individual elected to replace such individuals, whether as the immediately succeeding director or a future
succeeding director for such individual, the “WillScot Continuing Directors”). Five of such directors shall be Sara R. Dial, Jeffrey S. Goble, Kimberly J. McWaters, Erik Olsson and
Michael W. Upchurch, each of which shall be designated by Mobile Mini, Inc. (“Mobile Mini”) (such individuals, together with each individual elected to replace such individuals,
whether as the immediately succeeding director or a future succeeding director for such individual, the “Mobile Mini Continuing Directors”). For the avoidance of doubt, Gary Lindsay
and Stephen Robertson shall be appointed by TDR Capital LLP (“TDR”), and any individual (the “TDR Continuing Directors”) elected to replace a TDR Continuing Director, whether as
the immediately succeeding director or a future succeeding director for such individual, shall be deemed a WillScot Continuing Director. Mr. Olsson shall be the Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Mr. Holthaus shall be the Lead Director of the Board of Directors (the “Lead Director”).
(b)
The members of the Board of Directors shall be designated into three classes: (i) the Class I Directors, (ii) the Class II Directors and (iii) the Class III Directors. The
individuals classified as Class I Directors shall be subject to reelection at the first annual meeting of the stockholders following the closing of the transactions contemplated by that certain
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 1, 2020, by and among WillScot, Mobile Mini and Picasso Merger Sub, Inc. (the “Merger Agreement”), which was effective July 1,
2020 (the “Closing Date”). The individuals classified as Class II Directors shall be subject to reelection at the second annual meeting of the stockholders following the Closing Date (the
“Second AMS”). The individuals classified as Class III Directors shall be subject to reelection at the third annual meeting of stockholders following the Closing Date (the “Third AMS”).
Effective as of the Closing Date, the directors were classified as follows:
1.Class I: Ms. Dial, Mr. Holthaus, Mr. Lindsay and Ms. McWaters;
2.Class II: Mr. Goble, Mr. Robertson and Mr. Sagansky; and
3.Class III: Mr. Bartlett, Mr. Olsson, Mr. Soultz, and Mr. Upchurch.
(c)

On or after the Second AMS, the Board of Directors shall reevaluate and determine the independence of Mr. Olsson under applicable laws and regulations.

2.12
Powers of the Board. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. In addition to the powers and
authority expressly conferred upon them by statute, by the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the directors are hereby empowered to exercise all such powers and do all such acts
and things as may be exercised or done by the Corporation. As of the date of these Bylaws, the Board of Directors has approved that certain (i) Business Plan, Operating Model and
Financial Plan and (ii) Synergies Plan (together with clause (i), the “Company Strategic Plans”). The Board of Directors shall have the power to amend or repeal the Company Strategic
Plans; provided that, prior to the Third AMS, any material changes to the Synergies Plan, or the provisions relating to: (a) the SAP operating system, (b) the storage branch network, (c) the
Mobile Mini branch managers retaining P&L and (d) the Mobile Mini insider sales representative structure, each included in the Company Strategic Plans (such provisions (a)-(d), the
“Strategic Plan Provisions”), shall require Supermajority Approval (as defined in Section 3.1(c)). For the avoidance of doubt, except as expressly provided in this Section 2.12, the
implementation and execution of the Company Strategic Plans shall be conducted by the Corporation’s management team with appropriate oversight and supervision by the Board, from
time to time.
Article 3
Committees
3.1

Committees.
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(a)
Subject to Section 3.1(b) and Section 3.1(c), the Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the Whole Board, designate one or more committees, each
committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the Corporation (each, a “Committee”). The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any
Committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee; provided that, until the Third AMS, any alternate who replaces any absent or
disqualified member on any Committee, including any Initial Committee (as defined below), must be a (x) WillScot Continuing Director, if the absent or disqualified member is a WillScot
Continuing Director or (y) Mobile Mini Continuing Director, if the absent or disqualified member is a Mobile Mini Continuing Director. In the absence or disqualification of a member of
the committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another
member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in place of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent permitted by law and to the extent provided
in the resolution of the Board of Directors, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the
Corporation and may authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all pages that may require it.
(b)
The Corporation shall have the following committees (the “Initial Committees”) to serve at least until the Third AMS. The Initial Committees shall have the powers and
responsibilities set forth in the respective charter for each committee (as attached to the Merger Agreement) and shall be comprised of only the directors meeting the following
qualifications:
(1)

Audit Committee: two qualifying directors from each of the WillScot Continuing Directors and the Mobile Mini Continuing Directors;

(2)

Compensation Committee: two qualifying directors from each of the WillScot Continuing Directors and the Mobile Mini Continuing Directors;

(3)

Corporate Governance Committee: two qualifying directors from each of the WillScot Continuing Directors and the Mobile Mini Continuing Directors; and

(4)
Related Party Transactions Committee: subject to Section 3.1(d), three qualifying directors from each of the WillScot Continuing Directors and the Mobile Mini
Continuing Directors, excluding any director nominated or appointed by TDR or otherwise considered interested as it relates to TDR; provided that, such committee shall be disbanded on
the first date on which TDR and its affiliates, in the aggregate, beneficially own less than 5% of the outstanding shares of the Corporation.
(c)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 3.1(a), until the Third AMS (i) the designation or formation of any committee (other than (x) the Initial Committees
(including the Ad Hoc Committee, if applicable) and (y) a customary pricing Committee to approve pricing in capital markets transactions (a “Customary Pricing Committee”), which
shall require a resolution passed by a majority of the Whole Board) shall require a resolution passed by at least eight directors (“Supermajority Approval”) and (ii) all Committees (other
than a Customary Pricing Committee) shall consist of an equal number of directors from the WillScot Continuing Directors and the Mobile Mini Continuing Directors.
(d)
Any TDR Continuing Director may be appointed to the Customary Pricing Committee at any time after the date hereof. To the extent a TDR Continuing Director
satisfies all applicable independence requirements for any committee, including any Initial Committee, pursuant to applicable laws and regulations, such TDR Continuing Director may be
appointed to such Committee by the Board; provided that under no circumstances shall a TDR Continuing Director be entitled to be appointed to the Related Party Transactions
Committee.
3.2.
Committee Charters and Rules. Unless the Board of Directors or the charter of any such committee otherwise provides, each committee designated by the Board of
Directors may make, alter and repeal rules for the conduct of its business; including such rules as may be contained in such committee’s charter; provided that, prior to the Third AMS,
making any change to the charter of any of the Initial Committees shall require a resolution passed by Supermajority Approval. In the absence of such rules each committee shall conduct
its business
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in the same manner as the Board of Directors conducts its business pursuant to Article 2 of these Bylaws. Each committee and subcommittee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and
report the same to the board of directors, or the committee, when required.
Article 4
Officers
4.1
Executive Officers; Election; Qualifications; Term of Office; Resignation; Removal; Vacancies. The Board of Directors as of the date of these Bylaws shall appoint the
following officers of the Corporation, to take office as of the date of these Bylaws: a Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and General Counsel. The Board of Directors or
Chief Executive Officer or other duly appointed officer authorized by the Board of Directors may also elect or appoint such other officers as it, he or she shall deem necessary or
appropriate to the management and operation of the Corporation, including, without limitation, a President, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Human Resources Officer, Chief Information
Officer, Chief Administrative Officer, Chief Marketing Officer, and one or more Executive Vice Presidents, Senior Vice Presidents, Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries, Controllers,
Assistant Controllers, and such other officers as the Board of Directors or officer making the election or appointment deems necessary. Except as set forth in Section 4.2(b) hereof, each
such officer shall hold office for the term for which he or she is elected or appointed and until his or her successor has been elected or appointed and qualified, or until his or her death, or
until he or she shall resign, or until he or she shall have been removed in the manner hereinafter provided. Any officer may resign at any time upon written or electronic notice to the
Corporation. The Board of Directors may remove any officer with or without cause at any time, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contractual rights of such officer, if any,
with the Corporation. An officer that elects or appoints another officer may remove such officer with or without cause at any time, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the
contractual rights of such officer, if any, with the Corporation. Any number of offices may be held by the same person. Any vacancy occurring in any office of the Corporation by death,
resignation, removal, or otherwise may be filled for the unexpired portion of the term at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors (or by any officer authorized to fill such
vacancy).
4.2
Powers and Duties of Executive Officers. (a) The officers of the Corporation shall have such powers and duties in the management of the Corporation as may be
prescribed by the Board of Directors, and to the extent not so prescribed, they shall each have such powers and authority and perform such duties in the management of the property and
affairs of the Corporation, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, as generally pertain to their respective offices. The Board of Directors may require any officer, agent or
employee to give security for the faithful performance of his or her duties. Without limitation of the foregoing:
(1)
Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall be the principal executive officer of the Corporation. Subject to the control of the Board of Directors,
the Chief Executive Officer shall have general supervision over the business of the Corporation and shall have such other powers and duties as chief executive officers of corporations
usually have or as the Board of Directors may assign. The Chief Executive Officer shall maintain his or her primary office in Phoenix, Arizona.
(2)
Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall be the principal financial officer of the Corporation and shall have custody of all funds and securities
of the Corporation and shall sign all instruments and documents as require his or her signature. The Chief Financial Officer shall undertake such other duties or responsibilities as the
Board of Directors may assign. The Chief Financial Officer shall maintain his or her primary office in Phoenix, Arizona; provided, however, he or she may remain in Baltimore for a
limited period of time following the date hereof to ensure a smooth transition of duties and responsibilities, in accordance with the Company Strategic Plan.
(3)
General Counsel. The General Counsel shall serve as the Corporation’s primary in-house legal counsel and shall have such other powers and duties as the Board
of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer may assign. The General Counsel shall maintain his or her primary office in Phoenix, Arizona. The Company may also appoint a Chief Legal
Officer who serves as the General Counsel for purposes of these Bylaws.
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(4)

Vice President. Each Vice President shall have such powers and duties as the Board of Directors or Chief Executive Officer may assign.

(5)
Secretary. The Secretary shall issue notices of all meetings of the stockholders and the Board of Directors where notices of such meetings are required by law or
these Bylaws and shall keep the minutes of such meetings. The Secretary shall sign such instruments and attest such documents as require his or her signature of attestation and affix the
corporate seal thereto where appropriate.
(b)
As of the date of these Bylaws, Bradley Soultz shall be the Chief Executive Officer, Tim Boswell shall be the Chief Financial Officer and Chris Miner shall be the
General Counsel, until removed or replaced in accordance with Section 4.1.
4.3
Compensation. The salaries of the officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors. Nothing contained herein shall preclude any officer from serving
the Corporation in any other capacity, including that of director, or from serving any of its stockholders, subsidiaries or affiliated entities in any capacity and receiving proper
compensation therefor.
4.4
Representation of Shares of Other Entities. Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer or any other person authorized by the Board
of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer is authorized to vote, represent and exercise on behalf of the Corporation all rights incident to any and all shares or interests of any other entities
standing in the name of the Corporation. The authority granted herein may be exercised either by such person directly or by any other person authorized to do so by proxy or power of
attorney duly executed by such person having the authority.
Article 5
Stock
5.1

Certificates.

(a)
The shares of the Corporation shall be represented by certificates; provided that the Board of Directors may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or
all classes or series of stock shall be uncertificated shares. The shares of the common stock of the Corporation shall be registered on the books of the Corporation in the order in which they
shall be issued. Any certificates for shares of the common stock, and any other shares of capital stock of the Corporation represented by certificates, shall be numbered and shall be signed
by any two of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President, any Vice President, the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, or any other
authorized officers of the Corporation. Any or all of the signatures on a certificate may be a facsimile signature. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose
facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Corporation
with the same effect as if he, she or it were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated stock, the
Corporation shall send, or cause to be sent, to the record owner thereof a notice in writing or by electronic transmission setting forth the name of the Corporation, the name of the
stockholder, the number and class of shares and such other information as is required by law, including Section 151(f) of the DGCL. Any stock certificates issued and any notices given
shall include such other information and legends as shall be required by law or necessary to give effect to any applicable transfer, voting or similar restrictions.
(b)

No certificate representing shares of stock shall be issued until the full amount of consideration therefor has been paid, except as otherwise permitted by law.

5.2
Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Stock Certificates; Issuance of New Certificates. The Corporation may issue a new certificate of stock in the place of any certificate theretofore
issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, and the Corporation may require the owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or his or
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her legal representative, to give the Corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any
such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate. If shares represented by a stock certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed have become uncertificated shares, the
Corporation may, in lieu of issuing a new certificate, cause such shares to be reflected on its books as uncertificated shares and may require the owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed
certificate, or his or her legal representative, to give the Corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged loss, theft or
destruction of any such certificate.
5.3
Dividends. The Board of Directors, subject to any restrictions contained in the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable law, may declare and pay dividends upon the
shares of the Corporation’s capital stock. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the Corporation’s capital stock, subject to the provisions of the Certificate of
Incorporation. The Board of Directors may set apart out of any of the funds of the Corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and may abolish any
such reserve. Such purposes shall include but not be limited to equalizing dividends, repairing or maintaining any property of the Corporation, and meeting contingencies.
5.4

Transfer of Shares.

(a)
Transfers of shares shall be made upon the books of the Corporation only by the holder of record thereof, or by a duly authorized agent, transferee or legal representative
and in the case of certificated shares, upon the surrender to the Corporation of the certificate or certificates for such shares duly endorsed or accompanied by proper evidence of succession,
assignment, or authority to transfer, it shall be the duty of the Corporation to issue a new certificate to the person entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate and record the transaction upon
its books.
(b)
The Corporation shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share or shares of stock as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes and, accordingly, shall not be
bound to recognize any legal, equitable or other claim to, or interest in, such share or shares of stock on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice
thereof, except as otherwise expressly provided by law.
5.5
Transfer Agent; Registrar. The Board of Directors may appoint a transfer agent and one or more co-transfer agents and registrar and one or more co-registrars and may
make, or authorize any such agent to make, all such rules and regulations deemed expedient concerning the issue, transfer and registration of shares of stock of the Corporation.
Article 6
Indemnification of Officers and Directors
6.1
Right of Indemnification. The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists or may hereafter be
amended, any person (a “Covered Person”) who was or is made or is threatened to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative (a “proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person for whom he or she is the legal representative, is or was a director or officer of the
corporation or, while a director or officer of the corporation, is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a
partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) reasonably incurred by such Covered Person. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise provided in Section 6.5, the corporation shall be required to
indemnify a Covered Person in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) commenced by such Covered Person only if the commencement of such proceeding (or part thereof) by the
Covered Person was authorized in the specific case by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
6.2
Advancement of Expenses. The Corporation shall to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law pay the expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by a
Covered Person in defending any proceeding in
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advance of its final disposition, provided, however, that, to the extent required by law, such payment of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding shall be made only
upon receipt of an undertaking by the Covered Person to repay all amounts advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified under
this Article 6 or otherwise.
6.3
Claims. If a claim for indemnification under this Article 6 (following the final disposition of such proceeding) is not paid in full within sixty days after the Corporation
has received a claim therefor by the Covered Person, or if a claim for any advancement of expenses under this Article 6 is not paid in full within thirty days after the Corporation has
received a statement or statements requesting such amounts to be advanced, the Covered Person shall thereupon (but not before) be entitled to file suit to recover the unpaid amount of
such claim. If successful in whole or in part, the Covered Person shall be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim to the fullest extent permitted by law. In any such action,
the Corporation shall have the burden of proving that the Covered Person is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under applicable law.
6.4
Non-Exclusivity of Rights. The rights conferred on any Covered Person by this Article 6 shall not be exclusive of any other rights which such Covered Person may have
or hereafter acquire under any statute, provision of the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.
6.5
Other Sources. The Corporation’s obligation, if any, to indemnify or to advance expenses to any Covered Person who was or is serving at its request as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or nonprofit entity shall be reduced by any amount such Covered Person may collect as
indemnification or advancement of expenses from such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or non-profit enterprise.
6.6
Amendment or Repeal. Any right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses of any Covered Person arising hereunder shall not be eliminated or impaired by an
amendment to or repeal of these Bylaws after the occurrence of the act or omission that is the subject of the civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding for
which indemnification or advancement of expenses is sought.
6.7
Other Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses. This Article 6 shall not limit the right of the Corporation, to the extent and in the manner permitted by law, to
indemnify and to advance expenses to persons other than Covered Persons when and as authorized by appropriate corporate action.
Article7
Miscellaneous
7.1
Execution of Corporate Contracts and Instruments. Subject to such limitations, restrictions, or prohibitions as the Board of Directors or any officer may impose, the
officers of the Corporation shall have power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement and to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or for any
amount.
7.2

Fiscal Year; Headquarters and Principal Executive Office.

(a)
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be the calendar year, unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Board of Directors; provided that any such determination
prior to the Third AMS shall require Supermajority Approval.
(b)
The Corporation’s headquarters and principal executive office shall be located in Phoenix, Arizona, unless otherwise determined by resolution of the Board of Directors;
provided that any determination relating to the location of the Corporation’s headquarters and principal executive office prior to the Third AMS shall require Supermajority Approval.
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7.3
Directors.
7.4

Seal. The corporate seal shall have the name of the Corporation inscribed thereon and shall be in such form as may be approved from time to time by the Board of
Notices.

(a)
Notice to Directors. Whenever under applicable law, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws notice is required to be given to any director, such notice shall be
given: in writing and sent by mail, hand delivery or by a nationally recognized delivery service; by means of facsimile telecommunication or other form of electronic transmission; or by
oral notice given personally or by telephone. A notice to a director will be deemed given and shall be timely as follows: (A) if given by hand delivery, orally, or by telephone, when
actually received by the director at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting; (B) if sent through the United States mail, after being deposited in the United States mail, with postage
and fees thereon prepaid, addressed to the director at the director’s address appearing on the records of the Corporation at least four days prior to the meeting; (C) if sent for delivery by a
nationally recognized delivery service, if deposited for next day delivery with an overnight delivery service, with fees thereon prepaid, addressed to the director at the director’s address
appearing on the records of the Corporation at least two days prior to the meeting; (D) if sent by facsimile telecommunication, when sent to the facsimile transmission number for such
director appearing on the records of the Corporation at least 24 hours prior to the time of the meeting; (E) if sent by electronic mail, when sent to the electronic mail address for such
director appearing on the records of the Corporation at least 24 hours prior to the time of the meeting; or (F) if sent by any other form of electronic transmission, when sent to the address,
location or number (as applicable) for such director appearing on the records of the Corporation at least 24 hours prior to the time of the meeting.
(b)
Notice to Stockholders. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders, any notice to stockholders given by the
Corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws may be given in writing directed to the stockholder’s mailing address (or by electronic
transmission directed to the stockholder’s electronic mail address, as applicable) as it appears on the records of the Corporation. Notice shall be given (i) if mailed, when deposited in the
United States mail, postage prepaid, (ii) if delivered by courier service, the earlier of when the notice is received or left at the stockholder’s address, or (iii) if given by electronic mail,
when directed to such stockholder’s electronic mail address (unless the stockholder has notified the Corporation in writing or by electronic transmission of an objection to receiving notice
by electronic mail or such notice is prohibited by the DGCL to be given by electronic transmission). A notice by electronic mail must include a prominent legend that the communication is
an important notice regarding the Corporation. A notice by electronic mail will include any files attached thereto and any information hyperlinked to a website if such electronic mail
includes the contact information of an officer or agent of the corporation who is available to assist with accessing such files or information. Any notice to stockholders given by the
Corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws provided by means of electronic transmission (other than any such notice given by
electronic mail) may only be given in a form consented to by such stockholder, and any such notice by such means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to be given as provided by
the DGCL.
(c)
Electronic Transmission. “Electronic transmission” means any form of communication, not directly involving the physical transmission of paper, including the use of, or
participation in, one or more electronic networks or databases (including one or more distributed networks or databases), that creates a record that may be retained, retrieved and reviewed
by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated process, including but not limited to transmission by telex, facsimile
telecommunication, electronic mail, telegram and cablegram.
(d)
Notice to Stockholders Sharing Same Address. Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively by the Corporation to stockholders, any
notice to stockholders given by the Corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation, or these Bylaws shall be effective if given by a single written notice to
stockholders who share an address if consented to by the stockholders at that address to whom such notice is given. A stockholder may revoke such stockholder’s consent by delivering
written notice of such revocation to the Corporation. Any stockholder who fails to object in writing to the Corporation
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within 60 days of having been given written notice by the Corporation of its intention to send such a single written notice shall be deemed to have consented to receiving such single
written notice.
(e)
Exceptions to Notice Requirements. Whenever notice is required to be given, under the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to any person with
whom communication is unlawful, the giving of such notice to such person shall not be required and there shall be no duty to apply to any governmental authority or agency for a license
or permit to give such notice to such person. Any action or meeting that shall be taken or held without notice to any such person with whom communication is unlawful shall have the
same force and effect as if such notice had been duly given. In the event that the action taken by the Corporation is such as to require the filing of a certificate with the Secretary of State of
Delaware, the certificate shall state, if such is the fact and if notice is required, that notice was given to all persons entitled to receive notice except such persons with whom
communication is unlawful.
Whenever notice is required to be given by the Corporation, under any provision of the DGCL, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, to any stockholder to whom: (1) notice of
two consecutive annual meetings of stockholders and all notices of stockholders’ meetings during the period between such two consecutive annual meetings; or (2) all, and at least two,
payments (if sent by first-class mail) of dividends or interest on securities during a 12-month period, have been mailed addressed to such stockholder at such stockholder’s address as
shown on the records of the Corporation and have been returned undeliverable, the giving of such notice to such stockholder shall not be required. Any action or meeting that shall be
taken or held without notice to such stockholder shall have the same force and effect as if such notice had been duly given. If any such stockholder shall deliver to the Corporation a
written notice setting forth such stockholder’s then current address, the requirement that notice be given to such stockholder shall be reinstated. In the event that the action taken by the
Corporation is such as to require the filing of a certificate with the Secretary of State of Delaware, the certificate need not state that notice was not given to persons to whom notice was not
required to be given pursuant to Section 230(b) of the DGCL. The exception in Section 7.4(e)(1) of the first sentence of this paragraph to the requirement that notice be given shall not be
applicable to any notice returned as undeliverable if the notice was given by electronic transmission.
7.5
Waiver of Notice of Meetings of Stockholders, Directors and Committees. Whenever any notice is required to be given under applicable law, the Certificate of
Incorporation, or these Bylaws, a written waiver of such notice, signed before or after the date of such meeting by the person or persons entitled to said notice, or a waiver by electronic
transmission by the person entitled to said notice, shall be deemed equivalent to such required notice. All such waivers shall be kept with the books of the Corporation. Attendance at a
meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a person attends for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of any
business on the ground that the meeting was not lawfully called or convened.
7.6
Interested Directors; Quorum. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Corporation and any other
corporation, partnership, association or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers, or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable
solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof that authorizes the contract or
transaction, or solely because his, her or their votes are counted for such purpose, if: the material facts as to his or her relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are
disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative votes of a
majority of disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; the material facts as to his or her relationship or interest and as to the contract or
transaction are disclosed or are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or the
contract or transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified by the Board of Directors, a committee thereof, or the stockholders. All directors,
including interested directors, may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee that authorizes the contract or transaction.
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7.7
Form of Records. Any records administered by or on behalf of the Corporation in the regular course of its business, including its stock ledger, books of account, and
minute books, may be kept on, or by means of, or be in the form of, any information storage device, method, or one or more electronic networks or databases (including one or more
distributed electronic networks or databases), provided that the records so kept can be converted into clearly legible paper form within a reasonable time. The Corporation shall convert any
records so kept into clearly legible paper form upon the request of any person entitled to inspect such records pursuant to any provision of the DGCL. When records are kept in such
manner, a clearly legible paper form prepared from or by means of the information storage device, method, or one or more electronic networks or databases (including one or more
distributed electronic networks or databases) shall be valid and admissible in evidence, and accepted for all other purposes, to the same extent as an original paper record of the same
information would have been, provided the paper form accurately portrays the record.
7.8

Amendments.

(a)
The Board of Directors shall have the power to amend, supplement or repeal these Bylaws of, or adopt new bylaws for, the Corporation; provided that: (i) prior to the
first annual meeting of stockholders following the Closing Date, amending, supplementing or repealing any provision of these Bylaws shall require a resolution passed by Supermajority
Approval and (ii) thereafter (A) until the Second AMS, amending, supplementing or repealing (or adopting any bylaw that is directly or indirectly inconsistent with) any provision of
Section 2.4 of these Bylaws shall require a resolution passed by Supermajority Approval and (B) until the Third AMS, amending, supplementing or repealing (or adopting any bylaw that
is directly or indirectly inconsistent with) any provision of Section 1.3, Section 1.11, Section 2.1, Section 2.2, the definition of “Whole Board” as set forth in Section 2.4, Section 2.6,
Section 2.7, Section 2.9(c), Section 2.11, Section 2.12, Section 3.1, the first sentence of Section 3.2, Section 4.1, Section 4.2(a), Section 4.2(b), Section 7.2, Section 7.4(a) or Section 7.8 of
these Bylaws shall require a resolution passed by Supermajority Approval. Any such bylaws, or any alternation, amendment, supplement or repeal of these Bylaws, may be subsequently
amended, supplemented or repealed by the stockholders as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation.
(b)
Amending, supplementing or repealing any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation prior to the first annual meeting of stockholders following the Closing Date shall
require a resolution of the Board of Directors passed by Supermajority Approval. Amending, supplementing or repealing (or adopting any provision that is directly or indirectly
inconsistent with) Articles V, VI, VII, XI or XII of the Certificate of Incorporation prior to the Third AMS shall require a resolution of the Board of Directors passed by Supermajority
Approval.
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Exhibit 4.1

NUMBER
C-

SHARES

SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

CUSIP 971378104
WILLSCOT MOBILE MINI HOLDINGS CORP.
INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
COMMON STOCK

This Certifies that _______________ is the owner of ______________ fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock of the par of the par value of $0.0001 each of
WILLSCOT MOBILE MINI HOLDINGS CORP., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), transferable on the books of the Company in person or by duly authorized attorney upon surrender
of this certificate properly endorsed.
This certificate is not valid unless countersigned by the Transfer Agent and registered by the Registrar.

Authorized Signatory

Transfer Agent

1

Exhibit 4.1

WILLSCOT MOBILE MINI HOLDINGS CORP.
The Company will furnish without charge to each shareholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class
of shares or series thereof of the Company and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. This certificate and the shares represented thereby are issued
and shall be held subject to all the provisions of the amended and restated certificate of incorporation and all amendments thereto and resolutions of the Board of Directors providing for the
issue of securities (copies of which may be obtained from the secretary of the Company), to all of which the holder of this certificate by acceptance hereof assents.
The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or regulations:
TEN
COM -

as tenants in common

UNIF GIFT MIN ACT

-

Custodian
(Cust)

(Minor)

TEN
ENT -

JT
TEN -

as tenants by the entireties

Under Uniform Gifts to Minors Act

as joint tenants with right of
survivorship and not as tenants
in common

(State)

Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
For value received,____________________ hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto ______________
(PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER IDENTIFYING NUMBER(S) OF ASSIGNEE(S))
(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES), INCLUDING ZIP CODE, OF ASSIGNEE(S))
Shares of the capital stock represented by the Certificate, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints
Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the within named Company with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated
Notice:

The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the
face of the certificate in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any
change whatever.

Signature(s) Guaranteed:

THE SIGNATURE(S) MUST BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS, STOCKBROKERS,SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT
UNIONS WITH MEMBERSHIP IN AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM, PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-15 (OR ANY SUCCESSOR RULE) UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF1933, AS AMENDED).
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DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK AND WARRANTS REGISTERED UNDER SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
As of December 31, 2020, WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us”), had three class of securities registered under Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended: 1) our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share; 2) warrants to purchase common stock that were issued in connection with the initial
public offering of Double Eagle Acquisition Corp., the Company’s legal predecessor company (“Double Eagle”), in September 2015, which are exercisable for one-half of one share of
common stock for an exercise price of $5.75; and 3) warrants to purchase common stock that were issued in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Modular Space Holdings, Inc., a
Delaware Corporation (“ModSpace”), in August 2018, which are exercisable for one share of common stock at an exercise price of $15.50 per share.
The following description of our common stock and warrants summarizes material terms and provisions that apply to those securities. The summary is subject to and qualified in its entirety
by reference to certain documents, including our amended and restated certificate of incorporation (“Certificate of Incorporation”), our amended and restated bylaws (“Bylaws”), and certain
other documents pertaining to our capital stock and warrants specified below, which are filed as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part, and applicable
Delaware law, including the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). This description includes not only our common stock, but also our authorized preferred stock,
and our warrants, certain terms of which affect the common stock.
Authorized and Outstanding Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 501,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of: (i) 500,000,000 shares of common stock and (ii) 1,000,000 shares of preferred
stock.
Common Stock
This section describes the general terms and provisions of our common stock. For more detailed information, you should refer to our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, copies of which
have been filed with the SEC. These documents are also incorporated by reference into the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part.
The holders of shares of common stock possess all voting power for the election of our directors and all other matters requiring stockholder action and will at all times vote together as one
class on all matters properly submitted to a vote of the stockholders of the Company. Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted on by stockholders,
provided, however that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of common stock shall not be entitled to vote on any amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (including any
preferred designation) that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of preferred stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together as a
class with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation (including any preferred designation) or pursuant to the DGCL.
Holders of common stock will be entitled to receive dividends if and when declared by our board of directors (the “Board”) out of funds legally available therefor and shall share equally on a
per share basis in such dividends and distributions. The Board may set apart out of any of the funds of the Company available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose
and may abolish any such reserve. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our Company, the holders of the common stock will be entitled to receive an equal amount per share of all
of our assets available for distribution, after the rights of the holders of any preferred stock have been satisfied. Our stockholders have no preemptive, subscription, redemption or
conversion rights and there are no sinking fund or redemption provisions applicable to our common stock. Delaware law and our Bylaws permit us to issue uncertificated shares of common
stock by resolution of the Board. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock that the Company
may designate and issue in the future.
As of December 31, 2020, we had 229,038,158 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
Preferred Stock
This section describes the general terms and provisions of our preferred stock. For more detailed information, you should refer to our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, copies of which
have been filed with the SEC. These documents are also incorporated by reference into the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part.
Preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. Our Board can fix the rights, preferences and privileges applicable to the shares of each series and any of its
qualifications, limitations or restrictions, including without limitation authority to fix by resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and
terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, and liquidation preferences of any such series, and the number of shares constituting any such series
and the designation thereof. Our Board is authorized, without stockholder approval, to issue preferred stock with voting and other rights that could adversely affect the voting power and
other rights of the holders of the common stock and could have anti-takeover effects. The ability of our Board to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval could have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us or the removal of existing management.
As of December 31, 2020, we had no preferred stock outstanding.
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Our Board will fix the designations, voting powers, preferences and rights of each series, as well as the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of the preferred stock of each series
that we offer under any applicable prospectus or prospectus supplements in the certificate of designation relating to that series. We will file as an exhibit to any applicable registration
statement the form of any certificate of designation that describes the terms of the series of preferred stock we are offering before the issuance of that series of preferred stock. This
description will include:
•

the title and stated value;

•

the number of shares we are offering;

•

the liquidation preference per share;

•

the purchase price per share;

•

the dividend rate per share, dividend period and payment dates and method of calculation for dividends;

•

whether dividends will be cumulative or non-cumulative and, if cumulative, the date from which dividends will accumulate;

•

our right, if any, to defer payment of dividends and the maximum length of any such deferral period;

•

the procedures for any auction and remarketing, if any;

•

the provisions for a sinking fund, if any;

•

the provisions for redemption or repurchase, if applicable, and any restrictions on our ability to exercise those redemption and repurchase rights;

•

any listing of the preferred stock on any securities exchange or market;

•

whether the preferred stock will be convertible into our common stock or other securities of ours, including depositary shares and warrants, and, if applicable, the conversion period,
the conversion price, or how it will be calculated, and under what circumstances it may be adjusted;

•

whether the preferred stock will be exchangeable into debt securities, and, if applicable, the exchange period, the exchange price, or how it will be calculated, and under what
circumstances it may be adjusted;

•

voting rights, if any, of the preferred stock;

•

preemption rights, if any;

•

restrictions on transfer, sale or other assignment, if any;

•

whether interests in the preferred stock will be represented by depositary shares;

•

a discussion of any material or special United States federal income tax considerations applicable to the preferred stock;

•

the relative ranking and preferences of the preferred stock as to dividend rights and rights if we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our affairs;

•

any limitations on issuances of any class or series of preferred stock ranking senior to or on a parity with the series of preferred stock being issued as to dividend rights and rights if
we liquidate, dissolve or wind up our affairs; and

•

any other specific terms, rights, preferences, privileges, qualifications or restrictions of the preferred stock.

The DGCL provides that the holders of preferred stock will have the right to vote separately as a class (or, in some cases, as a series) on an amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation if
the amendment would change the par value or, unless our Certificate of Incorporation provided otherwise, the number of authorized shares of the class or change the powers, preferences
or special rights of the class or series so as to adversely affect the class or series, as the case may be. This right is in addition to any voting rights that may be provided for in the applicable
certificate of designation.
Warrants
We have outstanding warrants exercisable for common stock, consisting of: (i) warrants issued in a private placement in connection with our initial public offering, each exercisable for onehalf of one share of common stock, (the “2015 Private Warrants); and (ii) the ModSpace warrants, each exercisable for one share of common stock issued in connection with our acquisition
of ModSpace (the “ModSpace Warrants”). The 2015 Private Warrants were issued under a warrant agreement dated September 10, 2015, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, as warrant agent, and Double Eagle (the “2015 Warrant Agreement”). The ModSpace Warrants were issued under a warrant agreement dated August 15, 2018, between
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and us (the “ModSpace Warrant Agreement”).
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Private Warrants
The founders of Double Eagle and our former independent directors purchased 19,500,000 2015 Private Warrants at a price of $0.50 per Private Warrant for an aggregate purchase price of
$9,750,000 in a private placement that occurred simultaneously with Double Eagle’s initial public offering. The 2015 Private Warrants became exercisable on December 29, 2017 and expire
five years after that date, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. So long as the Private Warrants are held by the initial stockholders or their permitted transferees, such warrants may be
exercised on a cashless basis and will not be redeemable by us. If the Private Warrants are held by holders other than the initial stockholders or their permitted transferees, each 2105
Private Warrant will be redeemable by us and exerciseable one half of one share of our common stock for and exercise price of $5.75 per half share, subject to adjustment, at any time. If
redeemable by us, we may call the 2015 Private Warrants for redemption in whole and not in part, at a price of $0.01 per warrant, upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of
redemption to each warrant holder and if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the common stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day
period ending three business days before we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.
The 2015 Private Warrants may be exercised only for a whole number of shares of common stock. No fractional shares will be issued upon exercise of the 2015 Private Warrants. If, upon
exercise of the 2015 Private Warrants, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share, we will, upon exercise, round down to the nearest whole number the number of
shares of common stock to be issued to the 2015 Private Warrant holder.
The 2015 Private Warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of common stock and any voting rights until they exercise their 2015 Private Warrants and receive shares of
common stock. After the issuance of shares of common stock upon exercise of the 2015 Private Warrants, each holder will be entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all
matters to be voted on by stockholders.
As of December 31, 2020, there were 12,710,000 2015 Private Warrants outstanding. The 2015 Private Warrants have not traded in an established public trading market within the two most
recent fiscal years.
The 2015 Private Warrants were issued under the 2015 Warrant Agreement. You should review a copy of the 2015 Warrant Agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on
Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part, for a complete description of the terms and conditions applicable to such warrants.
ModSpace Warrants
The ModSpace Warrants entitle the registered holder to purchase shares of common stock at an exercise price of $15.50 per share on a one to one basis, which may be adjusted in the
event of an increase in the number of outstanding shares of common stock by share dividends (or a share split up or the payment of extraordinary dividends), a decrease in the number of
shares of common stock by a consolidation, reverse split or similar transaction and in the in the event of certain reorganization transactions. Under the ModSpace Warrant Agreement, the
ModSpace Warrants are not redeemable and may be replaced for replacement securities upon the occurrence of certain reorganization transactions of ours (other than those that would
lead to an adjustment in the exercise price of the ModSpace Warrants). The ModSpace Warrants became exercisable on February 11, 2019, the 180th day after closing of the ModSpace
Acquisition, and expire on November 29, 2022. As of December 31, 2020, 9,730,241 ModSpace Warrants were outstanding.
The ModSpace Warrants were issued under the ModSpace Warrant Agreement. You should review a copy of the ModSpace Warrant Agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part, for a complete description of the terms and conditions applicable to such warrants.
Dividends
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon our results of operations, capital
requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends is within the discretion of our Board. In addition, our Board is not currently contemplating and does not
anticipate declaring any stock dividends in the foreseeable future. Further, our ability to declare dividends is limited by restrictive covenants contained in the agreements governing the
indebtedness of our subsidiaries.
Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of Delaware Law, Our Certificate of Incorporation and Our Bylaws
We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which we refer to as “Section 203,” regulating corporate takeovers.
Section 203 prevents certain Delaware corporations, under certain circumstances, from engaging in a “business combination” with:
•

a stockholder who owns fifteen percent (15%) or more of our outstanding voting stock (otherwise known as an “interested stockholder”);

•

an affiliate of an interested stockholder; or

•

an associate of an interested stockholder, for three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder.
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•

A “business combination” includes a merger or sale of more than ten percent (10%) of our assets. However, the above provisions of Section 203 do not apply if:

•

our Board approves the transaction that made the stockholder an “interested stockholder,” prior to the date of the transaction;

•

after the completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, that stockholder owned at least eighty-five percent (85%) of our voting
stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, other than statutorily excluded shares of common stock; or

•

on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by our Board and authorized at a meeting of our stockholders, and not by written consent, by
an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder.

Our Certificate of Incorporation, our Bylaws and the DGCL contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition deemed undesirable
by our Board. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the members of our Board or taking
other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. For instance, our Certificate of Incorporation provides that our Board is classified into three classes of directors. As
a result, in most circumstances, a person can gain control of our Board only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at three or more annual meetings.
In addition, our Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of directors. Our Board is empowered to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the
expansion of the Board or the resignation, death, or removal of a director in certain circumstances; and the advance notice provisions of our Bylaws require that stockholders must comply
with certain procedures and meet strict deadlines to nominate candidates to our Board or to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting.
Our Bylaws provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of stockholders for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time only by the Board, the Chairman of
the Board, or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, to be held at such date and time as shall be designated in the notice or waiver of notice thereof. Only business within the purposes
described in the Corporation’s notice of meeting may be conducted at the special meetings. The ability of the stockholders to call a special meeting is specifically denied.
Our Bylaws also provide our Board with discretion in postponing stockholder meetings, including, within certain limits, special meetings of stockholders. Additionally, our chairman or Board
(acting by resolution) may adjourn a stockholder meeting at any time prior to the transaction of business at such meeting, within certain limits. Our Bylaws also include additional procedures
that apply to stockholder actions by written consent.
Our authorized but unissued common stock and preferred stock are available for future issuances without stockholder approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes,
including future offerings to raise additional capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved common stock and preferred stock
could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise.
Stockholders Rights Plan
The Company does not have a stockholder rights plan currently in effect.
Transfer Agent and Warrant Agent
The transfer agent and warrant agent for our common stock and warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.
Listing of Securities
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “WSC.” Our 2015 Warrants were listed on Nasdaq under the symbol “WSCWW,” were removed from listing on
Nasdaq on October 8, 2018, and currently trade on the OTC Markets Group Inc. under the symbol “WSCWW.” The ModSpace Warrants currently trade on the OTC Markets Group Inc.
under the symbol “WSCTW.”
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TRANSITION, SEPARATION AND RELEASE AGREEMENT
This Confidential Transition, Separation and Release Agreement (“Agreement”) is between Kelly Williams (“Executive”) and WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. (formerly
known as WillScot Corporation) (the “Company”) (hereinafter the “parties”), and is entered into as of February 25, 2021. This Agreement will not become effective until the expiration of
seven (7) days from Executive’s execution of this Agreement (the “Effective Date”).
WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by Company and is a party to that certain Employment Agreement dated March 1, 2020 (the “Employment Agreement”);
WHEREAS, the Executive’s employment with Company will terminate effective as of July 31, 2021 (the “Termination Date”);
WHEREAS, Company and Executive desire to avoid disputes and/or litigation regarding Executive’s termination from employment or any events or circumstances preceding
or coincident with the termination from employment;
WHEREAS, Company and Executive have agreed upon the terms on which Executive is willing, for sufficient and lawful consideration, to compromise any claims known and
unknown which Executive may have against Company; and
WHEREAS, the parties desire to settle fully and finally, in the manner set forth herein, all differences between them which have arisen, or which may arise, prior to, or at the
time of, the execution of this Agreement, including, but in no way limited to, any and all claims and controversies arising out of the employment relationship between Executive and
Company, and the termination thereof.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these recitals and the promises and agreements set forth in this Agreement, Executive’s employment with Company will terminate
upon the following terms (any capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Employment Agreement):
1.

Termination Date and Transition Period; Consulting:
(a) Executive’s last day of employment with the Company will be the Termination Date and, for the sake of clarity, such date shall be a “separation from service” for purposes of Section
409A of the Code. After the Termination Date, Executive will not represent himself as being an employee, officer, attorney, agent, or representative of the Company for any purpose but
may disclose that he remains an advisor to the Company in accordance with Section 1(b) below. Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, the Termination Date is the
employment separation date for Executive for all purposes, meaning Executive is not entitled to any further compensation, monies, or other benefits from the Company, including
coverage under any benefit plans or programs sponsored by the Company, as of the Termination Date. By the Termination Date, Executive must return all Company property, including
identification cards or badges, access codes or devices, keys, laptops, computers, telephones, mobile phones, hand-held electronic devices, credit cards, electronically stored
documents or files, physical files, and any other Company property in Executive’s possession other than the Executive’s cell phone and laptop. Executive shall remain employed by the
Company as of the date hereof until the Termination Date (the “Transition Period”), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Employment Agreement. During the
Transition Period, Executive will remain an active employee of the Company and will continue receiving all payments, benefits and equity grants he is currently receiving or entitled to
receive as an active employee for the performance of his services, including, but not limited to, those under the Employment Agreement.
(b) Executive will support the Company in all matters relating to the orderly transition of his duties and responsibilities. On and after the Termination Date, given the importance of
Executive’s knowledge and experience, to the extent requested by the Company, he hereby agrees to be reasonably available to assist and consult with the Company upon mutually
agreeable times and places on matters related to the Company, provided that the Company will make reasonable efforts to minimize any interruption to his personal and any other
professional commitments and fiduciary duties to a subsequent employer. The Company shall reimburse Executive for reasonable expenses incurred in connection with the provision of
such consultation.

2.

Executive Representations: Executive specifically represents, warrants, and confirms that Executive (i) has not filed any claims, complaints, or actions of any kind against the Company
with any court of law, or local, state, or federal government or agency; (ii) has been properly paid for all hours worked for the Company; (iii) has received all salary, wages, commissions,
bonuses, and other compensation due to Executive (aside from amounts due in connection with the Employment Agreement or this Agreement, including Executive’s final payroll check
for
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salary through and including the Termination Date, which will be paid on the next regularly scheduled payroll date for the pay period including the Termination Date); and (iv) has as not
engaged in and is not aware of any unlawful conduct relating to the business of the Company. If any of these statements is not true, Executive cannot sign this Agreement and must
notify the Company immediately in writing of the statements that are not true. This notice will not automatically disqualify Executive from receiving the benefits described herein, but will
require the Company’s further review and consideration.
3.

General Release: Executive for himself and on behalf of Executive’s attorneys, heirs, assigns, successors, executors, and administrators IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY
RELEASES, ACQUITS AND FOREVER DISCHARGES Company and any current or former stockholders, directors, parent, subsidiary, affiliated, and related corporations, firms,
associations, partnerships, and entities, and their successors and assigns, from any and all claims and causes of action whatsoever, whether known or unknown or whether connected
with Executive’s employment by Company or not, which may have arisen, or which may arise, prior to, or at the time of, the execution of this Agreement, including, but not limited to,
any claim or cause of action arising out of any contract, express or implied, any covenant of good faith and fair dealing, express or implied, any tort (whether intentional or released in
this agreement), or under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification (WARN) Act, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Discrimination in Employment Act, the Persons With Disabilities Employment Protection Act, the Delaware
Whistleblowers' Protection Act, the Wage Payment and Collection Act, the Delaware Fair Employment Practices Act, Delaware's social media law, (all as amended) or any other
municipal, local, state, or federal law, common or statutory, but excluding any claims with respect to the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, the Employment Agreement, any
claims relating to vested benefits under any Company employee benefit plan (including without limitation any such plan subject to the Executive Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, as amended) and any claims which Executive cannot release as a matter of applicable law. Furthermore, neither this Agreement nor the Employment Agreement shall apply to,
modify or in any way supersede obligations arising from any of (i) the terms of directors and officers insurance or (ii) any indemnification agreement for the benefit of the Executive as a
result of the Executive’s position as a director or officer of the Company or one of its affiliates.

4.

Covenant Not to Sue: Executive also COVENANTS NOT TO SUE, OR OTHERWISE PARTICIPATE IN ANY ACTION OR CLASS ACTION against Company or any of the released
parties based upon any of the claims released in this Agreement.

5.

Severance Terms: In consideration for Executive’s execution of this Agreement, and provided that this Agreement has become effective in accordance with its terms, and compliance
with the promises, covenants, agreements, and releases set forth herein and in the Employment Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to receive the following payments and benefits
to which he would not otherwise be entitled (the “Severance Benefits”):

The severance benefits as defined in and pursuant to Section 6(b) the Employment Agreement, including the treatment provided for therein of any unvested equity awards
granted to Executive, including without limitation, the unvested portion of the grants to be made in March 2021 in consideration of the Executive’s performance of his duties to the Company;
provided that the total amount of cash severance Executive is entitled to receive, under Section 6(b)(ii) of the Employment Agreement, shall be reduced by $233,333; provided further that
the benefits Executive is entitled to receive, under Section 6(b)(iv) of the Employment Agreement, shall be for a period of twenty (20) months following the Termination Date. The Severance
Benefits will be payable in accordance with Section 6(b) of the Employment Agreement, except as otherwise may be required under Section 24(b) of the Employment Agreement if the
Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
Executive understands, acknowledges, and agrees that these benefits exceed what Executive is otherwise entitled to receive on separation from employment, and that these benefits
are being given as consideration in exchange for executing this Agreement and the general release contained herein.
6.

Right to Revoke: Executive may revoke this Agreement by delivering notice to Chris Miner, Chief Legal Officer, in writing, received within seven (7) days of the date of its execution by
Executive (the “Revocation Period”). Executive agrees that Executive will not receive the benefits provided by this Agreement if Executive revokes this Agreement. Executive also
acknowledges and agrees that if Company has not received from Executive notice of Executive’s revocation of this Agreement prior to the expiration of the Revocation Period,
Executive will have forever waived Executive’s right to revoke this Agreement, and this Agreement shall thereafter be enforceable and have full force and effect. This Agreement shall
not become effective until the eighth (8th) day after Executive signs, without revoking, this Agreement. No payments due to Executive under this Agreement shall be made or begin
before the Effective Date.
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7.

Acknowledgement: Executive acknowledges and agrees that: (A) except as to any Severance Benefits which remain unpaid as of the date of this Agreement, no additional
consideration, including salary, wages, bonuses or Equity Awards as described in the Employment Agreement, is to be paid to him by Company in connection with this Agreement; (B)
except as provided by this Agreement, Executive has no contractual right or claim to the Severance Benefits; and, (C) payments pursuant to this Agreement shall terminate immediately
if Executive breaches any of the provisions of this Agreement.

8.

Non-Admissions: Executive acknowledges that by entering into this Agreement, Company does not admit, and does specifically deny, any violation of any local, state, or federal law.

9.

Confidentiality: Executive agrees that Executive shall not directly or indirectly disclose the terms, amount or fact of this Agreement to anyone other than Executive’s immediate family or
counsel, bankers or financial advisors, except as such disclosure may be required for accounting or tax reporting purposes or as otherwise may be required by law.

10. Nondisparagement: Each party agrees that it will not make any statements, written or verbal, or cause or encourage others to make any statements, written or verbal, that defame,
disparage or in any way criticize the personal or business reputation, practices or conduct of the other including, in the case of Company, its employees, directors and stockholders.
11. Acknowledgement of Restrictions; Confidential Information: Executive acknowledges and agrees that Executive has continuing non-competition, non-solicitation and non-disclosure
obligations under the Employment Agreement, and Executive acknowledges and reaffirms his obligation to continue abide fully and completely with all post-employment provisions of
the Employment Agreement and agrees that nothing in this Agreement shall operate to excuse or otherwise relieve Executive of such obligations; provided however that Executive’s
non-competition and non-solicitation obligations shall be as set forth in Section 12 of this Agreement.
12. Covenant Not to Compete:
(i) Executive agrees that during the term of this Agreement and for a period of three (3) years following the Termination Date, Executive shall not either directly or indirectly,
for himself or on behalf of or in conjunction with any other person, persons, company, firm, partnership, corporation, business, group or other entity (each, a “Person”), engage in any
business or activity, whether as an employee, consultant, partner, principal, agent, representative, stockholder or other individual, corporate, or representative capacity, or render any
services or provide any advice or substantial assistance to any business, person or entity engaged in the portable storage, modular office, tank and pump or similar business or directly or
indirectly will in any way compete with the Company (a “Competing Business”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, for purposes of this Section 12, it is understood that
Competing Businesses shall include any business that is in direct competition with the Company, including General Finance Corporation, McGrath RentCorp, and United Rentals; provided,
however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive may make passive investments in up to four percent (4%) of the outstanding publicly traded common stock of an entity which
operates a Competing Business.
(ii) Executive agrees that during the term of this Agreement and for a period of five (5) years following the Termination Date, Executive shall not either directly or indirectly, for
himself or on behalf of or in conjunction with any other Person (a) solicit any Person who is, or who is, at the time of termination of Executive’s employment, or has been within six (6)
months prior to the time of termination of Executive’s employment, an employee of the Company for the purpose or with the intent of enticing such employee away from the employ of the
Company; or (b) solicit any Person who is, or who is, at the time of termination of Executive’s employment, or has been within six (6) months prior to the time of termination of Executive’s
employment, a customer or supplier of the Company for the purpose or with the intent of (A) inducing or attempting to induce such Person to cease doing business with the Company or (B)
in any way interfering with the relationship between such Person and the Company.
For the avoidance of any doubt, references to the Company in this Section 12 shall refer equally to any direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company.
13. Severability: If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, such provision shall be fully severable and/or construed in remaining part to the full extent
allowed by law, with the remaining provisions of this Agreement continuing in full force and effect.
14. Entire Agreement: This Agreement, along with the Employment Agreement (including any exhibits thereto), constitute the entire agreement between the Executive and Company, and
supersede all prior and
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contemporaneous negotiations and agreements, oral or written. This Agreement cannot be changed or terminated except pursuant to a written agreement executed by the parties.
15. Governing Law: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, except where preempted by federal law.
16. Statement of Understanding: By executing this Agreement, Executive acknowledges that (a) Executive has had at least twenty-one (21) days, as applicable in accordance with the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, (the “ADEA”) to consider the terms of this Agreement (and any attachment necessary or desirable in accordance with the ADEA)
and has considered its terms for such a period of time or has knowingly and voluntarily waived Executive’s right to do so by executing this Agreement and returning it to Company; (b)
Executive has been advised by Company to consult with an attorney regarding the terms of this Agreement; (c) Executive has consulted with, or has had sufficient opportunity to consult
with, an attorney of Executive’s own choosing regarding the terms of this Agreement; (d) any and all questions regarding the terms of this Agreement have been asked and answered to
Executive’s complete satisfaction; (e) Executive has read this Agreement and fully understands its terms and their import; (f) except as provided by this Agreement, Executive has no
contractual right or claim to the benefits and payments described herein; (g) the consideration provided for herein is good and valuable; and (h) Executive is entering into this
Agreement voluntarily, of Executive’s own free will, and without any coercion, undue influence, threat, or intimidation of any kind or type whatsoever.
HAVING READ AND UNDERSTOOD THIS AGREEMENT, CONSULTED COUNSEL OR VOLUNTARILY ELECTED NOT TO CONSULT COUNSEL, AND HAVING HAD SUFFICIENT TIME
TO CONSIDER WHETHER TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT, THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT ON THE DATES SET FORTH BELOW.
EXECUTIVE

WILLSCOT MOBILE MINI HOLDINGS CORP.

/s/ Kelly Williams
Kelly Williams
Date: 2/25/2021

By: /s/ Bradley L. Soultz
Name: Bradley L. Soultz
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: 2/25/2021

EX 21.1

Subsidiaries of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.
The following is a listing of Subsidiaries of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp., including the name under which they do business and their jurisdictions of incorporation, as of December 31,
2020.
Company Name
Acton Mobile Holdings LLC
New Acton Mobile Industries, LLC
ModSpace Financial Services Canada, Ltd
ModSpace Government Financial Services, LLC
Modular Space, LLC (f/k/a Modular Space Corporation)
Onsite Space LLC (d/b/a Tyson Onsite)
Resun Chippewa, LLC
Resun ModSpace, LLC
Williams Scotsman Holdings Corp.
WS Equipment II, LLC
Williams Scotsman, Inc.
Williams Scotsman International, Inc.
Williams Scotsman Mexico S. de R. L. de C.V.
Williams Scotsman of Canada, Inc.
WS Servicios de Mexico, S. de R. L. de C.V.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Delaware
Delaware
Ontario, Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Maryland
Delaware
The Federal District (Mexico City)
Ontario, Canada
The Federal District (Mexico City)

EX 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-223715) of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.,

(2)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-227480) of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.,

(3)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-229339) of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp., and

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-239626) pertaining to the Employees' Savings Plan of WillScot
Mobile Mini Holdings Corp.;
of our reports dated February 26, 2021, except for the impact of the matter discussed in Note 1 - Restatement of Previously Reported Financial Statements, as to which the date is May 10,
2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. and our report dated February 26, 2021 except for the effect of the material weakness
described in the second paragraph therein, as to which the date is May 10, 2021, with respect to the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings
Corp. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K/A) of WillScot Mobile Mini Holdings Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2020.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
May 10, 2021
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Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Bradley L. Soultz, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of WillScot Mobile Mini Corp.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: May 10, 2021

/s/ BRADLEY L. SOULTZ
Bradley L. Soultz
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive
Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Timothy D. Boswell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of WillScot Mobile Mini Corp.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
Date: May 10, 2021
/s/ TIMOTHY D. BOSWELL
Timothy D. Boswell
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of WillScot Mobile Mini Corp. (the “Company”) hereby
certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:
(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d),
as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: May 10, 2021
/s/ BRADLEY L. SOULTZ
Bradley L. Soultz
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal
Executive Officer)
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to WillScot Mobile Mini Corporation and will be retained by
WillScot Mobile Mini Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of WillScot Mobile Mini Corp. (the “Company”) hereby
certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:
(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2020 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d),
as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: May 10, 2021
/s/ TIMOTHY D. BOSWELL
Timothy D. Boswell
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to WillScot Mobile Mini Corporation and will be retained by
WillScot Mobile Mini Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

